#### UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN SOUTHERN DIVISION

In re:

City of Detroit, Michigan,

Debtor.

Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 Judge Thomas J. Tucker

Chapter 9

#### **CITY OF DETROIT'S MOTION FOR AUTHORITY** TO MODIFY THE CONFIRMED PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT WITH RESPECT TO THE COMBINED PLANS FOR THE POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AND THE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF DETROIT TO PERMIT A SUPPLEMENTAL ONE-TIME PAYMENT TO RETIREES

The City of Detroit, Michigan ("City"), files its City of Detroit's Motion for Authority to Modify the Confirmed Plan of Adjustment with Respect to the Combined Plans for the Police and Fire Retirement System and the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit to Permit a Supplemental One-Time Payment to Retirees ("Motion"). In support of this Motion, the City respectfully states as follows:

#### I. **Introduction**

43248841.6/022765.00213

Although the City's retirees were spared significant reduction of their pensions in the City's bankruptcy case, they did not emerge completely unscathed under the City's plan of adjustment. They, too, shared in the joint sacrifices made by all of the City's creditors and have expressed to the City the hardships that they have endured due to the pension reductions. In order to provide some relief to those retirees and beneficiaries, the City included a \$10 million appropriation in the City's



Fiscal Year 2025 budget for a one-time supplemental check to each retiree or beneficiary, which was approved by the Detroit City Council.

The Combined Plans (as defined below) of the Police and Fire Retirement System ("PFRS") and the General Retirement System ("GRS"), however, arguably include restrictions on providing this additional one-time supplemental check to retirees. These restrictions were intended to prevent the City or the retirement systems from reinstating what was historically referred to as the "13th check" program. Although the proposed supplemental checks have, at times, also been referred to as a "13<sup>th</sup> check," they are by no means a reinstatement of the prior "13<sup>th</sup> check" program or anything like it. Historically, the "13<sup>th</sup> check" program provided payouts on so-called "excess returns" on retirement system investments. In contrast, the proposed one-time supplemental payments will have no impact on the funded status of the Combined Plans. Instead, the Combined Plans are merely serving as a pass-through conduit to facilitate distribution of funds specifically budgeted and appropriated from the general revenues of the City. Although the City could technically make the one-time payments itself, the City desires to transfer \$5 million to the PFRS and \$5 million to the GRS because they are in the best position to deliver the payments to the approximately 19,000 retirees and beneficiaries.

Thus, the City respectfully asks the Court to enter an order permitting the City to amend Component II of each of the Combined Plans as specified by the proposed order attached as **Exhibit 1**. This relief is supported by the PFRS and the GRS.

#### II. Background

#### A. Relevant background from the City's Bankruptcy Case.

# 1. This request relates to "Component II" of each of the City's two pension systems, relating to benefits earned prior to July 1, 2014.

On July 18, 2013 ("<u>Petition Date</u>"), the City commenced this chapter 9 case ("<u>Bankruptcy Case</u>"). On November 12, 2014, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming ("<u>Confirmation Order</u>") the *Eighth Amended Plan of the Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit (October 22, 2014)* ("<u>Plan</u>," Doc. No. 8045). On December 10, 2014 ("<u>Effective Date</u>"), the Plan became effective. [Doc. No. 8649.]

Class 10 of the Plan provides for treatment of pension claims of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City ("<u>PFRS</u>"). Plan, Art. II.B.3.q, p. 38. These claims were allowed in the aggregate amount of approximately \$1,250,000,000. *Id*. The Plan provides that the PFRS pension plan in effect on the Petition Date would be frozen as of July 1, 2014. *Supplemental Opinion Regarding Plan Confirmation, Approving Settlements, and Approving Exit Financing* ("<u>Supplemental Opinion</u>," Doc. No. 8993), p. 43 of 219. This change and others are set forth in the Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan (Amendment and Restatement Effective July 1, 2014) ("<u>Combined PFRS Plan</u>"). The Combined PFRS Plan has two components: Component I, or the "New PFRS Active Pension Plan," applies to benefits accrued by PFRS members on and after July 1, 2014, and to the operation of the PFRS on and after July 1, 2014 (*i.e.*, to active employees). **Exhibit 6C**.<sup>1</sup> Component II generally applies to benefits accrued by PFRS members prior to July 1, 2014. The Plan identifies Component II as the "Prior PFRS Pension Plan." **Exhibit 6D**.

Similarly, Class 11 of the Plan provides for treatment of pension claims of the General Retirement System of the City ("<u>GRS</u>"). Plan, Art. II.B.3.r, p. 39. These claims were allowed in the aggregate amount of approximately \$1,879,000,000. *Id.* The Plan froze the GRS pension plan in effect on the Petition Date as well. Supplemental Opinion, p. 43 of 219. Similar to the Combined PFRS Plan, a new Combined Plan for the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan (Amendment and Restatement Effective July 1, 2014) was created ("<u>Combined GRS</u> <u>Plan</u>", and together with the Combined PFRS Plan, the "<u>Combined Plans</u>"), with a Component I that applies to benefits accrued by GRS members on and after July 1,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Exhibits 6C through 6F are the retirement plans in the forms that were appended to the Final Emergency Manager Order, Order # 44, dated December 8, 2014.

2014 (**Exhibit 6E**), and a Component II that generally applies to benefits accrued by GRS members prior to July 1, 2014 (**Exhibit 6F**).

2. Component II of each of the Combined Plans contains a broadly written restriction that may restrict each pension system's ability to distribute the payment contemplated here unless amended

Prior to the City's bankruptcy filing, the GRS had made additional distributions of retirement system assets beyond those required by the retirement plans in the form of a "13<sup>th</sup> check." See *Fourth Amended Disclosure Statement with Respect to Fourth Amended Plan for the Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit,* Art. VII.B.5.b.iii.A, Doc. No. 4391 ("<u>Disclosure Statement</u>"), p. 121 of 197. The "13<sup>th</sup> check" program was funded with earnings that were over and above the assumed rate of return for the GRS. *Id.* This practice deprived the GRS of assets that would be needed to support liabilities, especially in light of the fact that in certain years, the GRS' investment returns inevitably would fall short of their assumed rates of return. *Id.* 

To prevent this issue, the Combined PFRS Plan and the Combined GRS Plan state that no additional payments to retirees may be made other than those provided under each respective plan. The Combined PFRS Plan states this in two provisions of Component I, each of which are incorporated into Component II.<sup>2</sup> The Combined GRS Plan likewise states this in two provisions of Component I, each of which are incorporated into Component II, and also states it in one other provision of Component II.<sup>3</sup>

The one-time supplemental check proposed here differs markedly from, and should not be confused with, the "13<sup>th</sup> check" program that existed prior to the City's bankruptcy filing. *See* Disclosure Statement (defined below), Art. VII.B.5.b.iii.A, p. 121 of 197, for a description of the "13<sup>th</sup> check" program. The "13<sup>th</sup> checks" issued by the General Retirement System in the pre-bankruptcy years were payouts of so-called "excess returns" on retirement system investments in years when returns exceeded expectations. *Id.* Of course, distributing "excess returns" in good years meant that the retirement system had no counterbalance or excess for years when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Exhibit 6C, p. 7, § 1.18(2) (stating that the PFRS "shall not make any payment to active or retired Members other than payments that are required by the governing documents of the [PFRS]"); *Id.*, p. 55 § 14.1(3) (similar); Exhibit 6D, pp. 73-74 (pp. 2 and 3 of Exhibit 6D PDF), § A-1(a), (d) (incorporating these Component I sections into Component II).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Exhibit 6E, p. 7, § 1.16(2) (stating that the GRS "shall not make any payment to active or retired Members other than payments that are required by the governing documents of the [GRS]"); *Id.*, p. 46, § 13.1(3) (similar); Exhibit 6F, pp. 64-65 (second and third page of Exhibit 6F PDF), § A-1(a), (d) (incorporating these Component I sections into Component II); *Id.*, p. 93, § E-16(a) (similar to § 1.16(2) and § 13.1(3) of Component I).

returns failed to meet expectations. These distributions of excess plan assets contributed to the unfunded actuarial liability of the retirement system.

In this instance, the funds the City seeks to distribute here are budgeted and appropriated from the City's general revenues, not drawn from the resources of the retirement systems. Further, the City is not requesting any change to the City's existing commitment to make contributions to the retirements systems in the future.

Additionally, the City proposes that it transfer \$5 million to the PFRS and \$5 million to the GRS because the systems are in the best position to deliver these payments to the retirees and beneficiaries. **Exhibit 6A**, p. 1. In that regard, the GRS and PFRS already pay monthly retirement benefits to retirees and beneficiaries using direct deposit processed through the respective systems' payroll system. *Id.* Using the June 2023 census of retirees and beneficiaries as an example only, the census would result in a one-time supplemental check to GRS retirees and beneficiaries of \$463<sup>4</sup> and PFRS retirees and beneficiaries of \$601.<sup>5</sup>

In short, this distribution is truly supplemental to retirees; it does not draw down or adversely affect retirement system resources in any way.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This figure is calculated by taking the \$5 million contributed by the City and dividing it by the 10,792 retirees and beneficiaries receiving a benefit from Component II of the Combined GRS Plan. Exhibit 6A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This figure is calculating by taking the \$5 million contributed by the City and dividing it by the 8,319 retirees and beneficiaries receiving a benefit from the Component II of the Combined PFRS Plan. Exhibit 6A.

# B. The proposed modifications to the Combined PFRS Plan and the Combined GRS Plan

In January 2025, the Detroit City Council approved the additional one-time supplemental payment. **Exhibits 6A** (Proposed Resolution Presented to City Council); and **6B** (Approval of City Council of Proposed Resolution).

The City thus proposes a clarifying modification to the Combined PFRS Plan and the Combined GRS Plan to enable this single proposed supplemental payment to be made to its retirees and beneficiaries out of the budgeted and appropriated general revenues of the City in 2025. The City proposes to add new section F-31 to Component II of the Combined PFRS Plan with the following language.

#### Part M – 2025 Supplemental Distributions

#### Sec. F-31. 2025 Additional Distribution

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Component II of the Retirement System, including without limitation, sections 1.18(2) and 14.1(3) of Component I (made applicable to Component II by section A-1(a) and (d) of Component II), the Retirement System and the Trustees charged with management of the System are authorized, in calendar year 2025, to make one additional payment to each Retiree and Beneficiary who was receiving benefits as of the first of the month prior to date on which the distribution is processed in an amount equal to five million dollars, divided equally by the number of Retirees and Beneficiaries eligible to receive such a distribution. The supplemental distributions authorized by this Section shall be funded by a separate 2025 appropriation and contribution to the Retirement System by the City in addition to the amounts the City is otherwise required to fund by this Component II.

Likewise, the City proposes to add new section E-20 to Component II of the

Combined GRS Plan with the following language.

#### Sec. E-20. 2025 Additional Distribution

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Component II of the Retirement System, including without limitation, sections 1.16(2) and 13.1(3) of Component I (made applicable to Component II by section A-1(a) and (d) of Component II) and section E-16(a) of this Component II, the Retirement System and the Trustees charged with management of the System are authorized, in calendar year 2025, to make one additional payment to each Retiree and Beneficiary who was receiving benefits as of the first of the month prior to date on which the distribution is processed in an amount equal to five million dollars, divided equally by the number of Retirees and Beneficiaries eligible to receive such a distribution. The supplemental distributions authorized by this Section shall be funded by a separate 2025 appropriation and contribution to the Retirement System by the City in addition to the amounts the City is otherwise required to fund by this Component II.

As noted in the resolution adopted by the Detroit City Council, the total cost

to the City of this payment to both the PFRS and the GRS combined is \$10 million.<sup>6</sup>

See Exhibit 6B. The actuary for the Combined Plans, Gabriel, Roeder, Smith &

Company, stated that the "financial impact to the Systems will be de-minimis."

Exhibit 6G, Actuary Report, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For reference, the total 2025 budget for the City is approximately \$2.7 billion. The General Fund constitutes approximately \$1.46 billion of this amount. *See* https://www.freep.com/story/news/local/michigan/detroit/2024/04/09/detroit-city-council-approves-budget-2025-fiscal-year/73178742007/. The proposed payment accounts for approximately 0.7% of planned 2025 General Fund expenditures.

#### III. Argument

#### A. The Plan and Confirmation Order permit the modification.

The Plan anticipates the possibility that modifications might become necessary at some point after confirmation.

Subject to section 942 and 1127(d) of the Bankruptcy Code, the City may alter, amend or modify the Plan or the Exhibits at any time prior to or after the Confirmation Date but prior to the substantial consummation of the Plan. A Holder of a Claim that has accepted the Plan shall be deemed to have accepted the Plan as altered, amended or modified so long as the proposed alteration, amendment or modification does not materially and adversely change the treatment of the Claim of such Holder.

Plan, Art. VIII.B., p. 71.

The City is hereby authorized to make non-material modifications or amendments to the Plan at any time prior to the substantial consummation of the Plan, without further order of the Court. In addition, without the need for a further order or authorization of this Court, but subject to the express provisions of this Order, the City shall be, and hereby is, authorized and empowered to make non-material modifications to the documents filed with the Court, including Exhibits or documents forming part of the evidentiary record at the Confirmation Hearing, in its reasonable business judgment as may be necessary or appropriate.

Confirmation Order, ¶ 73, p. 117; see also id., ¶ 74 (noting that modifications to the

Plan may not impair Class 9 treatment or adversely affect FGIC without FGIC's

written consent). Thus, prior to substantial consummation of the Plan, the City could

modify its Plan without Court approval. After substantial consummation, however,

a Court order may be required. The Court retains jurisdiction to enter such an order.

Pursuant to sections 105(c), 945 and 1142(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and notwithstanding entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court will retain exclusive jurisdiction over all matters arising out of, and related to, the Chapter 9 Case and the Plan to the fullest extent permitted by law, including, among other things, jurisdiction to [...]

Approve any modification of the Plan or approve any modification of the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document created in connection with the Plan or the Confirmation Order, or remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistency in any order, the Plan, the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document created in connection with the Plan or the Confirmation Order, or enter any order in aid of confirmation Order, or enter any order in aid of confirmation pursuant to sections 945 and 1142(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, in such manner as may be necessary or appropriate to consummate the Plan [...]

Plan, Art. VII.H, p. 70; *see also* Confirmation Order, ¶92, pp. 125-26 ("Notwithstanding the entry of this Order, from and after the Effective Date, the Court shall retain such jurisdiction over the Chapter 9 Case to the fullest extent permitted by law, including, among other things, jurisdiction over those matters and issues described in Article VII of the Plan . . . ."); 11 U.S.C. § 945(a) ("The court may retain jurisdiction over the case for such period of time as is necessary for the successful implementation of the plan.").

B. A confirmed and substantially consummated chapter 9 plan may be modified when no creditor will be treated less favorably by the modification.

The Plan has been confirmed and substantially consummated. *In re City of Detroit, Mich.*, 838 F.3d 792, 799 (6th Cir. 2016), *cert. denied sub nom. Ochadleus v. City of Detroit, Mich.*, 137 S. Ct. 1584, 197 L. Ed. 2d 707 (2017), *and cert. denied sub nom. Quinn v. City of Detroit, Mich.*, 137 S. Ct. 2270, 198 L. Ed. 2d 714 (2017). However, it may still be modified to authorize the revisions proposed in this Motion.

"The Bankruptcy Code does not explicitly provide for modification of a plan after confirmation. Neither did the Bankruptcy Act. However, two cases have held that such modification is permissible." 6 COLLIER ON BANKRUPTCY ¶ 942.03 (Alan N. Resnick & Henry J. Sommer eds., 16th ed.) (citing *Am. United Life Ins. Co. v. Haines City, Fla.*, 117 F.2d 574 (5th Cir. 1941) and *Wells Fargo Bank & Union Trust Co. v. Imperial Irrigation Dist.*, 136 F.2d 539 (9th Cir. 1943)).

The American United Life Insurance Company case considered whether Congress's failure to include any provision in the Bankruptcy Act for postconfirmation modification of a Chapter IX plan meant that such modifications were impermissible. 117 F.2d at 576. The Fifth Circuit considered an argument "against the possible modification of a confirmed plan [] based on the words of the statute [...] 'Before a plan is confirmed, changes and modifications may be made therein, with the approval of the judge after hearing,' etc. The implication is urged that afterwards changes cannot be made." *Id.* The court rejected that argument, stating that it was "unwilling to put a plan into such a strait jacket" and that "[t]here ought to be some leeway for such adjustments." *Id.* The main requirement is that the modification sought must be justified and fair. *Id.* 

The *Wells Fargo Bank & Union Trust Company* court faced a slightly different question. In that case, the debtor sought to confirm a plan that contained provisions allowing for post-confirmation modification without court approval, so long as certain conditions were met. 136 F.2d at 548-50. The Ninth Circuit found these provisions permissible. *Id.* at 550. The fact that the Bankruptcy Act did not expressly provide for them did not make them unlawful. *Id.* 

More recent cases agree. For example, in *Ault v. Emblem Corporation (In re Wolf Creek Valley Metropolitan District Number IV)*, one creditor wanted to buy property from another, but the second creditor would not sell to the first. 138 B.R. 610, 613 (D. Colo. 1992). In retaliation, the first creditor pressured the municipal debtor to amend its plan on the day of confirmation to the detriment of the second creditor and apparently without notice to him. *Id.* The amended plan was confirmed and the confirmation order became final before the second creditor was able to object. *Id.* The second creditor moved the bankruptcy court to amend the plan to "cure defects" in it, but the bankruptcy court denied the motion, in part because the court felt that it could not authorize any amendments to the plan because the plan had been consummated. *Id.* at 613-14, 619.

The district court reversed, focusing on the fact that the sought-after plan modification affected only the two creditors. *Id.* at 620. Because of this, it was possible to amend the plan without disrupting the legitimate expectations of others. *Id.* The court felt this made modification of the confirmed plan possible. *Id.* 

Another court reviewed the case law and concluded that post-confirmation modifications of chapter 9 plans are permissible. *In re Barnwell Cnty. Hosp.*, 491 B.R. 408, 414-16 (Bankr. D.S.C. 2013). That court found only one case that held to the contrary, *In re East Shoshone Hospital District*, No. 98-20934-9, 2000 WL 33712301 (Bankr. D. Idaho Apr. 27, 2000). *Id.* at 415, 416.

The *Barnwell* court distinguished *East Shoshone* on the basis that the proposed modification in *East Shoshone* "would dramatically alter the treatment of a creditor who objected to the modification,"<sup>7</sup> whereas the change under consideration in *Barnwell* would not. *Id.* at 416. The *Barnwell County Hospital* court also afforded more weight to the two published appellate court decisions, *Wolf Creek Valley Metropolitan District Number IV* and *American United Life Insurance* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "Here the proposed modification changes dramatically the treatment of the Trust under the plan. It does not simply correct some overlooked matter nor does it address something which has arisen to the mutual surprise of the parties after confirmation." *E. Shoshone Hosp. Dist.*, 2000 WL 33712301 at \*4.

Company, than it did to East Shoshone, an unpublished bankruptcy court opinion.

*Id.* Finally, the *Barnwell* court noted that the plan at issue in its case expressly provided for modifications. *Id.* For these reasons, the court concluded it had the ability to approve a proposed modification to the confirmed chapter 9 plan. *Id.* 

For these reasons, Colliers concludes that:

Given the Bankruptcy Code's silence on postconfirmation modifications, there is no basis to impose a *per se* rule prohibiting such modifications. Whether based on the reasoning that: (i) a chapter 9 plan should not be confined to a "straightjacket" as a matter of equity; (ii) a plan of reorganization is a contract subject to modification for surprise or mistake; (iii) a plan itself can provide for postconfirmation modifications; (iv) a plan has not been consummated; or (v) the bankruptcy court has continuing jurisdiction over a chapter 9 plan under the terms of the plan and section 945(a), a bankruptcy court has sufficient authority to consider, after such notice and a hearing as is appropriate under the circumstances, postconfirmation modifications and authorize such modifications that are necessary for the successful adjustment of the chapter 9 debtor's debts.

6 COLLIER ON BANKRUPTCY ¶ 942.03 (footnotes and citations omitted).

Here, the Plan and Confirmation Order provide the City with the ability to make changes to the Plan prior to substantial confirmation *without a Court order*. Plan, Art. VIII.B, p. 71; Confirmation Order, ¶ 73, p. 117. They do not speak to changes after substantial consummation, the implication being that such changes at that time may require a Court order. In fact, the Court retained jurisdiction to enter orders modifying the Plan if needed for that purpose. Plan, Art. VII.H, p.70; Confirmation Order, ¶ 92, pp. 125-26.<sup>8</sup>

The modification sought here affects only the City and its retirees—no other creditor is helped or harmed in any way—so the modification sought is permissible under the Plan and case law. *Wolf Creek Valley Metro. Dist. No. IV*, 138 B.R. at 620; *see also Am. United Life Ins.*, 117 F.2d at 576.

Further, these modifications arguably "remedy any [. . .] omission [. . .] in [. . .] the Plan" as noted in Article VII.H of the Plan. Plan, p. 70. The drafters of Component II in each Plan likely were not contemplating that the retirement systems might be asked to act as a conduit for distribution of specifically appropriated funds in this manner. Accordingly, neither Component II is drafted to address the situation described here, where the City has the means and the desire to provide additional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The likely effect of the absence in the Plan or Confirmation Order of any restriction on amendments or modifications to the Combined Plans at any time after June 30, 2024, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, is that the City may already have the authority to make such amendments or modifications to the Combined Plans without the requirement of obtaining prior court authorization or approval thereof as a result of section 904 of the Bankruptcy Code. Plan, pp. 39, 42. Section 904 provides that unless the City "consents or the plan so provides" the Court may not interfere with the exercise of any governmental powers, or the use of any properties or revenues of the City, which would include this appropriation from the City's general fund. However, in an excess of caution and to avoid any uncertainty in light of the minimal reported precedent cited above, the City elected to proceed by this Motion. The City expressly reserves, and does not waive, any rights it may have under section 904.

relief for retirees—*i.e.*, an omission from the Plan documents that the City now seeks to address.

The cost of the proposed amendments has been accounted for and included in the City's adopted fiscal year 2025 budget. Furthermore, the cost of the proposed amendments does not negatively affect the claims of any of the City creditors, including the retirees themselves. Indeed, the actuary for the Combined Plans stated that the "financial impact for the Systems will be de-minimis." Exhibit 6G. As the proposed amendments are justified, fair, and do not affect any distribution to, or treatment of, any claim or creditor in any Class under the Plan except for City retirees—and as to retirees, the proposed amendments are a direct benefit, not a reduction of any prior promised claim treatment—the City respectfully requests that the Court enter an order authorizing and approving the modification.

#### IV. Conclusion

WHEREFORE, the City respectfully requests that this Court enter an order, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit 1, granting the relief requested in this Motion and granting the City such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. February 14, 2025

Respectfully submitted,

By: <u>/s/ Marc N. Swanson</u> Marc N. Swanson (P71149) MILLER, CANFIELD, PADDOCK AND STONE, P.L.C. 150 West Jefferson, Suite 2500 Detroit, Michigan 48226 Telephone: (313) 496-7591 Facsimile: (313) 496-8451 swansonm@millercanfield.com

#### ATTORNEYS FOR THE CITY OF DETROIT

#### **EXHIBIT LIST**

- Exhibit 1 Proposed Order
- Exhibit 2 Notice
- Exhibit 3 None
- Exhibit 4 Certificate of Service
- Exhibit 5 None
- Exhibit 6A Proposed Resolution Presented to City Council
- Exhibit 6B Approval of City Council of Proposed Resolution
- Exhibit 6C Component I New PFRS Active Pension Plan
- Exhibit 6D Component II Prior PFRS Pension Plan
- Exhibit 6E Component I New GRS Active Pension Plan
- Exhibit 6F Component II Prior GRS Pension Plan
- Exhibit 6G Actuarial Report

#### EXHIBIT 1 – PROPOSED ORDER

#### UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN SOUTHERN DIVISION

In re:

City of Detroit, Michigan,

Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 Judge Thomas J. Tucker

Debtor.

Chapter 9

#### [PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING CITY OF DETROIT'S MOTION FOR AUTHORITY TO MODIFY THE CONFIRMED PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT WITH RESPECT TO THE COMBINED PLANS FOR THE POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AND THE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF DETROIT TO PERMIT A SUPPLEMENTAL ONE-TIME PAYMENT TO RETIREES

This matter, having come before the court on the *City of Detroit's Motion for Authority to Modify the Confirmed Plan of Adjustment with Respect to the Combined Plans for the Police and Fire Retirement System and the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit to Permit a Supplemental One-Time Payment to Retirees* ("<u>Motion</u>," Doc. No. \_\_\_\_);<sup>1</sup> and the Court having jurisdiction over the Motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334 and Article VII of the Plan; and due and proper notice of the Motion having been given as provided in the Motion; and it appearing that no other or further notice of the Motion need be given; and a hearing on the Motion having been held before the Court; and any objections or other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Order shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Motion.

responses to the Motion having been overruled or withdrawn; and the Court finding that the legal and factual basis set forth in the Motion and at the hearing establish just cause for the relief granted; and the Court being fully advised in the premises; and there being good cause to grant the relief requested,

#### THE COURT ORDERS THAT:

- 1. The Motion is granted as set forth herein.
- 2. The City is authorized to amend Component II of the Combined PFRS

Plan to add a provision which is substantially similar to the following:

#### **Part M – 2025 Supplemental Distributions**

#### Sec. F-31. 2025 Additional Distribution

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Component II of the Retirement System, including without limitation, sections 1.18(2) and 14.1(3) of Component I (made applicable to Component II by section A-1(a) and (d) of Component II), the Retirement System and the Trustees charged with management of the System are authorized, in calendar year 2025, to make one additional payment to each Retiree and Beneficiary who was receiving benefits as of the first of the month prior to date on which the distribution is processed in an amount equal to five million dollars, divided equally by the number of Retirees and Beneficiaries eligible to receive such a distribution. The supplemental distributions authorized by this Section shall be funded by a separate 2025 appropriation and contribution to the Retirement System by the City in addition to the amounts the City is otherwise required to fund by this Component II.

3. The City is authorized to amend Component II of the Combined GRS

Plan to add a provision which is substantially similar to the following:

#### Sec. E-20. 2025 Additional Distribution

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Component II of the Retirement System, including without limitation, sections 1.16(2) and 13.1(3) of Component I (made applicable to Component II by section A-1(a) and (d) of Component II) and section E-16(a) of this Component II, the Retirement System and the Trustees charged with management of the System are authorized, in calendar year 2025, to make one additional payment to each Retiree and Beneficiary who was receiving benefits as of the first of the month prior to date on which the distribution is processed in an amount equal to five million dollars, divided equally by the number of Retirees and Beneficiaries eligible to receive such a distribution. The supplemental distributions authorized by this Section shall be funded by a separate 2025 appropriation and contribution to the Retirement System by the City in addition to the amounts the City is otherwise required to fund by this Component II.

4. Nothing in this Order is intended to constitute, will constitute, or may

be deemed as constituting, the City's consent under section 904 of the Bankruptcy Code to this Court's interference with (a) any of the political or governmental powers of the City, (b) any of the property or revenues of the City or (c) the City's use or enjoyment of any income-producing property.

5. The Court retains jurisdiction over any and all matters arising from the interpretation or implementation of this Order.

#### **EXHIBIT 2 – NOTICE**

#### UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN SOUTHERN DIVISION

In re:

City of Detroit, Michigan,

Debtor.

Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 Judge Thomas J. Tucker

Chapter 9

#### NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY TO RESPOND TO CITY OF DETROIT'S MOTION FOR AUTHORITY TO MODIFY THE CONFIRMED PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT WITH RESPECT TO THE COMBINED PLANS FOR THE POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AND THE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF DETROIT TO PERMIT A SUPPLEMENTAL ONE-TIME PAYMENT TO RETIREES

The City has filed its City of Detroit's Motion for Authority to Modify the

Confirmed Plan of Adjustment with Respect to the Combined Plans for the Police

and Fire Retirement System and the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit

to Permit a Supplemental One-Time Payment to Retirees (the "Motion"). Your

rights may be affected. You should read these papers carefully and discuss

them with your attorney. If you do not want the Court to enter an Order granting

the Motion, within 14 days, you or your attorney must:

1. File with the court a written response or an answer explaining your position at:<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Response or answer must comply with F. R. Civ. P. 8(b), (c) and (e).

United States Bankruptcy Court 211 W. Fort St., Suite 1900 Detroit, Michigan 48226

If you mail your response to the court for filing, you must mail it early enough so that the court will **receive** it on or before the date stated above. You must also mail a copy to:

> Miller, Canfield, Paddock & Stone, PLC Attn: Marc N. Swanson 150 West Jefferson, Suite 2500 Detroit, Michigan 48226

2. If a response or answer is timely filed and served, the clerk will schedule a hearing on the Motion and you will be served with a notice of the date, time, and location of that hearing.

If you or your attorney do not take these steps, the court may decide that you do not oppose the relief sought in the motion or objection and may enter an order granting that relief.

MILLER, CANFIELD, PADDOCK AND STONE, P.L.C.

By: /s/ Marc N. Swanson

Marc N. Swanson (P71149) 150 West Jefferson, Suite 2500 Detroit, Michigan 48226 Telephone: (313) 496-7591 Facsimile: (313) 496-8451 swansonm@millercanfield.com

Dated: February 14, 2025

## **EXHIBIT 3 – NONE**

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 25 of 40

#### **EXHIBIT 4 – CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

#### UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN SOUTHERN DIVISION

In re:

City of Detroit, Michigan, Debtor. Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 Judge Thomas J. Tucker Chapter 9

#### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

The undersigned hereby certifies that on February 14, 2025, he electronically filed the *City of Detroit's Motion for Authority to Modify the Confirmed Plan of Adjustment with Respect to the Combined Plans for the Police and Fire Retirement System and the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit to Permit a One-Time Supplemental Payment to Retirees (the "Motion") with the Clerk of the Court which sends notice by operation of the Court's electronic filing service to all ECF participants registered to receive notice in this case. The City has engaged a Noticing Agent, which will serve the Motion on all parties identified on the Special Service List; and the General Service List maintained by the Noticing Agent; and will file a subsequent Proof of Service after it has performed the service.* 

DATED: February 14, 2025

By: /s/ Marc N. Swanson

Marc N. Swanson 150 West Jefferson, Suite 2500 Detroit, Michigan 48226 Telephone: (313) 496-7591 Facsimile: (313) 496-8451 swansonm@millercanfield.com

## **EXHIBIT 5 - NONE**

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 28 of 40

## EXHIBIT 6A

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 29 of 40



Coleman A. Young Municipal Center 2 Woodward Avenue, Suite 332 Detroit, Michigan 48226 Phone 313•224•3860 Fax 313•224•0738 www.detroitmi.gov

January 10, 2025

#### HONORABLE CITY COUNCIL:

#### **RE: Supplemental Checks for City Retirees and Beneficiaries**

As you know, the City's Fiscal Year 2025 adopted budget includes a \$10 million appropriation to fund supplemental checks for City retirees and beneficiaries.

The City's bankruptcy plan of adjustment provided for reductions in the accrued benefits of retirees in each of the General Retirement System (GRS) and Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS). In addition to the reductions in the accrued benefits, all participants' remaining benefits were frozen, and the plan was closed to new participants as of June 30, 2014. This plan became known as the Component II plan for each system.

The City Administration and City Council have heard from many GRS and PFRS retirees and beneficiaries as to the hardships they have endured because of the City's bankruptcy and the resulting reduction of their retirement benefits.

In order to provide some relief to those retirees and beneficiaries it was envisioned that the \$10 million appropriation in the City's Fiscal Year 2025 budget would be used to send a one-time supplemental check to each retiree or beneficiary. This is not an annual benefit.

The Administration recommends that these supplemental checks, sometimes referred to as a 13<sup>th</sup> check, be distributed to all retirees and beneficiaries of the Component II plans. There are 10,792 retirees and beneficiaries receiving a benefit from the GRS Component II plan and there are 8,319 retirees and beneficiaries of the PFRS Component II plan as of June 30, 2023.

The Administration further recommends that \$5 million be allocated to make the one-time supplemental check to GRS retirees and beneficiaries and \$5 million be allocated to make the one-time supplemental check to PFRS retirees and beneficiaries.

The GRS and PFRS are best able to execute these payments because they currently pay the monthly retirement benefits to retirees and beneficiaries using direct deposit processed through the respective Retirement System's payroll system.

We recommend transferring \$5 million to GRS and \$5 million to PFRS and to instruct GRS and PFRS to each divide \$5 million by the number of living retirees and beneficiaries as of the distribution date.

Using the June 30, 2023 census of retirees and beneficiaries as an example only, that census would result in a one-time supplemental check to GRS retirees and beneficiaries of \$463 (\$5,000,000 divided by 10,792) and PFRS retirees and beneficiaries of \$601 (\$5,000,000 divided by 8,319).

Therefore, the Labor Relations Division respectfully requests that your Honorable Body pass a resolution which approves the transfer of these funds from the City to GRS and PFRS and instructs them to make the distribution of the one-time supplemental checks to retirees and beneficiaries of GRS and PFRS. We further respectfully request that your Honorable Body Adopt the following resolution with a Waiver of Reconsideration.

Respectfully submitted,

Valuie a. Collies formuede

Valerie A. Colbert-Osamuede Labor Relations Director

#### By Council Member \_

**WHEREAS**, On July 18, 2013, the City filed a petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Michigan (the "Bankruptcy Court") seeking protection from its creditors under chapter 9 of title 11 of the United States Code, (11 U.S.C. § 101, *et seq.*); and

**WHEREAS,** On October 22, 2014, the City filed the *Eighth Amended Plan For the Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit*, which was confirmed by Order entered November 12, 2014 (the "Plan of Adjustment" or "POA"). The Plan of Adjustment was effective on December 10, 2014; and

**WHEREAS**, The General Retirement System (GRS) and the Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) of the City of Detroit are governed by the provisions of (1) the Combined Plan for the General Retirement System and the Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan, respectively, each as amended and restated effective July 1, 2014 through Emergency Manager Order No. 44 (the "Combined Plans"), (2) the Contribution Agreement with the Michigan Settlement Administration Authority (the "State Contribution Agreement") and, (3) the Plan of Adjustment; and

**WHEREAS,** Upon the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, the Combined Plans and the POA provided for reductions in the accrued benefits of GRS and PFRS members, retirees and beneficiaries; and

WHEREAS, the Combined Plans indicate that the Retirement Board and the Retirement System shall not make any payment to active or retired Members or Beneficiaries other than payments that are required by the Retirement System as established by the Combined Plans' plan documents and this prohibition applies to all payments that are not authorized by the Combined Plans' plan documents, whether such payments are those commonly referred to as a "thirteenth check" or payments by any other name; and

**WHEREAS,** the City desires to amend the Combined Plans to provide for such supplemental payments; and

**WHEREAS**, The City's Approved Budget for Fiscal Year 2025 contains an appropriation of \$10 Million dollars to fund a supplemental distribution to retirees and beneficiaries of GRS and PFRS; and

**WHEREAS**, The City Administration and City Council have heard from many GRS and PFRS retirees and beneficiaries as to the hardships endured because of the City's bankruptcy reductions to retirement benefits; and

**WHEREAS,** The GRS and PFRS are the most appropriate entities to disburse the supplemental benefits because they possess the direct deposit information for the affected retirees and beneficiaries; and

**WHEREAS**, The City Council and Administration believe that the distribution of a supplemental benefit for Fiscal Year 2025 in the total amount of \$5 Million dollars for GRS and an additional \$5 Million dollars for PFRS should be to those retirees, or their surviving beneficiaries, on a pro-rata basis. Based upon an estimated 10,792 eligible retirees and beneficiaries in the GRS, this would mean a supplemental benefit check in the amount of approximately \$463 to each eligible GRS retiree or beneficiary; and based on an estimated 8,319 eligible retirees and beneficiaries in the PFRS, this would mean a supplemental benefit check in the amount of retirees and beneficiaries in the pFRS, this would mean a supplemental benefit check in the amount of approximately \$601 to each eligible PFRS retiree or beneficiary,

**WHEREAS**, The City Council and Administration understand that the amendments to the Combined Plans to provide for a one-time lump sum payments need to be approved by the Bankruptcy Court,

**THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED**, the City Council authorizes the Administration to provide for the transfer of the budgeted \$5 Million dollars to the GRS and the transfer of an additional budgeted \$5 Million dollars to the PFRS, in each case, for distribution of the one-time supplemental benefit to eligible retirees and beneficiaries in accordance with the following:

- A. <u>Eligibility</u> Those retirees and beneficiaries of the GRS and PFRS Component II plans that are in receipt of benefits on the first of the month prior to the date of the disbursement.
- B. <u>Benefit</u> The \$5 Million shall be disbursed as a one-time lump sum payment to all eligible GRS retirees and beneficiaries, on a pro-rata basis, by dividing the total \$5 Million dollars by the total number of eligible retirees and beneficiaries and the additional \$5 Million shall be disbursed to eligible PFRS retirees and beneficiaries, on a pro-rata basis, by dividing the total \$5 Million dollars by the total number of eligible retirees and beneficiaries.
- C. <u>Non-Precedent Setting</u> The issuance of the supplemental benefit, the amount of the total distribution, benefit eligibility, and distribution methodology shall not set a precedent for future distributions. All elements of this supplemental benefit distribution shall be reviewed and may be revised as deemed appropriate by City Council in the future. This is not an annual supplemental benefit.
- D. <u>Timing</u> Such one-time lump sum payments shall be made as soon as administratively feasible after the approval of the 13<sup>th</sup> check pension benefit by the bankruptcy court.

**BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,** that Component II of each of the Combined Plans is hereby amended to provide for a one-time lump sum payment payable to the class of eligible retirees and beneficiaries described in "A" above, in the amount calculated pursuant to "B" above, with such payments to be made as soon as administratively feasible following the approval of these resolutions and the transfer of the budgeted funds.

#### EXHIBIT 6B

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 34 of 40

#### TRUE COPY CERTIFICATE

Form C of D-16-CE

#### STATE OF MICHIGAN, SS

City of Detroit

#### CITY CLERK'S OFFICE, DETROIT

I. Janice Winfrey

, City Clerk of the City of Detroit, in said Lessolu tion

					J					
State,	do hereby	certify	that	the	annexed	рарег	is a	TRUE	COPY	OF.

adopted (passed) by the City Council at session of

2005 Sanuary

and approved by Mayor

as appears from the Journal of said City Council in the office of the City Clerk of Detroit, aforesaid; that I have compared the same with the original, and the same is a correct transcript therefrom, and of the whole of such original.

> In Witness Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of said City, at

Detroit, this A.D. 20 25 day of CITY CLERK



Caleman A. Young Municipal Center 2 Woodward Avenue, Suite 332 Detroit, Michigan 48226 Phone 313+224+3860 Fax 313+224+0738 www.detroitmi.gov

January 10, 2025

#### HONORABLE CITY COUNCIL:

#### **RE: Supplemental Checks for City Retirees and Beneficiaries**

As you know, the City's Fiscal Year 2025 adopted budget includes a \$10 million appropriation to fund supplemental checks for City retirees and beneficiaries.

The City's bankruptcy plan of adjustment provided for reductions in the accrued benefits of retirees in each of the General Retirement System (GRS) and Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS). In addition to the reductions in the accrued benefits, all participants' remaining benefits were frozen, and the plan was closed to new participants as of June 30, 2014. This plan became known as the Component II plan for each system.

The City Administration and City Council have heard from many GRS and PFRS retirees and beneficiaries as to the hardships they have endured because of the City's bankruptcy and the resulting reduction of their retirement benefits.

In order to provide some relief to those retirees and beneficiaries it was envisioned that the \$10 million appropriation in the City's Fiscal Year 2025 budget would be used to send a one-time supplemental check to each retiree or beneficiary. This is not an annual benefit.

The Administration recommends that these supplemental checks, sometimes referred to as a 13<sup>th</sup> check, be distributed to all retirees and beneficiaries of the Component II plans. There are 10,792 retirees and beneficiaries receiving a benefit from the GRS Component II plan and there are 8,319 retirees and beneficiaries of the PFRS Component II plan as of June 30, 2023.

The Administration further recommends that \$5 million be allocated to make the one-time supplemental check to GRS retirees and beneficiaries and \$5 million be allocated to make the one-time supplemental check to PFRS retirees and beneficiaries.

The GRS and PFRS are best able to execute these payments because they currently pay the monthly retirement benefits to retirees and beneficiaries using direct deposit processed through the respective Retirement System's payroll system.

We recommend transferring \$5 million to GRS and \$5 million to PFRS and to instruct GRS and PFRS to each divide \$5 million by the number of living retirees and beneficiaries as of the distribution date.

Using the June 30, 2023 census of retirees and beneficiaries as an example only, that census would result in a one-time supplemental check to GRS retirees and beneficiaries of \$463 (\$5,000,000 divided by 10,792) and PFRS retirees and beneficiaries of \$601 (\$5,000,000 divided by 8,319).

Therefore, the Labor Relations Division respectfully requests that your Honorable Body pass a resolution which approves the transfer of these funds from the City to GRS and PFRS and instructs them to make the distribution of the one-time supplemental checks to retirees and beneficiaries of GRS and PFRS. We further respectfully request that your Honorable Body Adopt the following resolution with a Waiver of Reconsideration.

Respectfully submitted,

Valuie a. Collect Commede

Valerie A. Colbert-Osamuede Labor Relations Director

#### By Council Member\_

WHEREAS, On July 18, 2013, the City filed a petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Michigan (the "Bankruptcy Court") seeking protection from its creditors under chapter 9 of title 11 of the United States Code, (11 U.S.C. § 101, *et seq.*); and

ohnson

**WHEREAS,** On October 22, 2014, the City filed the *Eighth Amended Plan For the Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit*, which was confirmed by Order entered November 12, 2014 (the "Plan of Adjustment" or "POA"). The Plan of Adjustment was effective on December 10, 2014; and

**WHEREAS**, The General Retirement System (GRS) and the Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) of the City of Detroit are governed by the provisions of (1) the Combined Plan for the General Retirement System and the Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan, respectively, each as amended and restated effective July 1, 2014 through Emergency Manager Order No. 44 (the "Combined Plans"), (2) the Contribution Agreement with the Michigan Settlement Administration Authority (the "State Contribution Agreement") and, (3) the Plan of Adjustment; and

**WHEREAS,** Upon the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, the Combined Plans and the POA provided for reductions in the accrued benefits of GRS and PFRS members, retirees and beneficiaries; and

WHEREAS, the Combined Plans indicate that the Retirement Board and the Retirement System shall not make any payment to active or retired Members or Beneficiaries other than payments that are required by the Retirement System as established by the Combined Plans' plan documents and this prohibition applies to all payments that are not authorized by the Combined Plans' plan documents, whether such payments are those commonly referred to as a "thirteenth check" or payments by any other name; and

**WHEREAS**, the City desires to amend the Combined Plans to provide for such supplemental payments; and

WHEREAS, The City's Approved Budget for Fiscal Year 2025 contains an appropriation of \$10 Million dollars to fund a supplemental distribution to retirees and beneficiaries of GRS and PFRS; and

**WHEREAS**, The City Administration and City Council have heard from many GRS and PFRS retirees and beneficiaries as to the hardships endured because of the City's bankruptcy reductions to retirement benefits; and

WHEREAS, The GRS and PFRS are the most appropriate entities to disburse the supplemental benefits because they possess the direct deposit information for the affected retirees and beneficiaries; and

WHEREAS, The City Council and Administration believe that the distribution of a supplemental benefit for Fiscal Year 2025 in the total amount of \$5 Million dollars for GRS and an additional \$5 Million dollars for PFRS should be to those retirees, or their surviving beneficiaries, on a prorata basis. Based upon an estimated 10,792 eligible retirees and beneficiaries in the GRS, this would mean a supplemental benefit check in the amount of approximately \$463 to each eligible GRS retiree or beneficiary; and based on an estimated 8,319 eligible retirees and beneficiaries in the PFRS, this would mean a supplemental benefit check in the amount of approximately \$601 to each eligible PFRS retiree or beneficiary,

**THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED**, the City Council authorizes the Administration to provide for the transfer of the budgeted \$5 Million dollars to the GRS and the transfer of an additional budgeted \$5 Million dollars to the PFRS, in each case, for distribution of the one-time supplemental benefit to eligible retirees and beneficiaries in accordance with the following:

- A. <u>Eligibility</u> Those retirees and beneficiaries of the GRS and PFRS Component II plans that are in receipt of benefits on the first of the month prior to the date of the disbursement.
- B. <u>Benefit</u> The \$5 Million shall be disbursed as a one-time lump sum payment to all eligible GRS retirees and beneficiaries, on a pro-rata basis, by dividing the total \$5 Million dollars by the total number of eligible retirees and beneficiaries and the additional \$5 Million shall be disbursed to eligible PFRS retirees and beneficiaries, on a pro-rata basis, by dividing the total \$5 Million dollars by the total number of eligible retirees and beneficiaries.
- C. <u>Non-Precedent Setting</u> The issuance of the supplemental benefit, the amount of the total distribution, benefit eligibility, and distribution methodology shall not set a precedent for future distributions. All elements of this supplemental benefit distribution shall be reviewed and may be revised as deemed appropriate by City Council in the future. This is not an annual supplemental benefit.

**BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,** that Component II of each of the Combined Plans is hereby amended to provide for a one-time lump sum payment payable to the class of eligible retirees and beneficiaries described in "A" above, in the amount calculated pursuant to "B" above, with such payments to be made as soon as administratively feasible following the approval of these resolutions and the transfer of the budgeted funds.

# ADOPTED AS FOLLOWS COUNCIL MEMBERS

YEAS	NAYS
V	
	ļ
1	
-	
1	1
	1
	-
1	1
17	10

## EXHIBIT 6C

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 1 of 83

43248841.6/022765.00213

# COMBINED PLAN FOR THE POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN

Amendment and Restatement Effective July 1, 2014

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 2 of 83

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

COMPONENT I	
ARTICLE 1.	GENERAL PROVISIONS1
Sec 1.1.	Police and Fire Retirement System Established; Adoption of 2014 Plan Document1
Sec 1.2.	Retirement System Intended to be Tax-Qualified; Governmental Plan1
Sec 1.3.	Compliance With Plan of Adjustment1
Sec 1.4.	Board of Trustees
Sec 1.5.	Board of Trustees – Membership; Appointment2
Sec 1.6.	Board of Trustees; Scheduling of Elections for Active and Retiree Trustees
Sec 1.7.	Procedures for election of Retiree Trustees
Sec 1.8.	Board of Trustees; Oath; Term; Vacancies4
Sec 1.9.	Board of Trustees; Officers and Employees4
Sec 1.10.	Board of Trustees; Meetings; Rules of Procedure; Votes; Quorum4
Sec 1.11.	Board of Trustees; Compensation; Expenses
Sec 1.12.	Rules for Administration of Funds5
Sec 1.13.	Board of Trustees; Certain Data to be Kept
Sec 1.14.	Board of Trustees; Annual Audit Report5
Sec 1.15.	Board of Trustees; Legal Advisors5
Sec 1.16.	Board of Trustees; Medical Director
Sec 1.17.	Designation of Actuary; Authority to Engage Additional Actuaries6
Sec 1.18.	Board of Trustees; Adoption of Mortality and Other Tables of Experience and Rates of Interest; Limitations on Payments by the Retirement System
Sec 1.19.	Board of Trustees; Annual Actuarial Valuation of Assets and Liabilities
Sec 1.20.	Board of Trustees; Powers and Duties; Fiduciary Status; Fiduciary Duties7
Sec 1.21.	Investment Committee; Establishment; Purpose; Fiduciary Status; Fiduciary Duties
Sec 1.22.	Investment Committee; Membership; Appointment8

Sec 1.23.	Investment Committee; Term; Resignation and Removal; Vacancies	9
Sec 1.24.	Investment Committee; Operation; Meetings; Quorum; Voting	.10
Sec 1.25.	Investment Committee; Compensation; Expenses; Employment of Advisors	. 11
Sec 1.26.	Investment Committee; Special Reporting Obligation	<sub>e</sub> 11
ARTICLE 2.	DEFINITIONS	.14
Sec 2.1.	Definitions	.14
ARTICLE 3.	MEMBERSHIP	.22
Sec 3.1.	Eligible Employees	.22
Sec 3.2.	Cessation of Membership; Re-Employment	22
Sec 3.3.	Report From City	23
ARTICLE 4.	SERVICE CREDIT	24
Sec 4.1.	Credited Service	24
Sec 4.2.	Vesting Service	24
Sec 4.3.	Service Credit; Military Service	24
Sec 4.4.	Service Credit; Qualified Military Service	25
ARTICLE 5.	ELIGIBILITY FOR RETIREMENT	26
Sec 5.1.	Eligibility for Unreduced Normal Retirement Benefit	26
Sec 5.2.	Eligibility for Deferred Vested Retirement Benefit	26
Sec 5.3.	Eligibility for Disability Retirement Benefit – Duty Disability	26
Sec 5.4.	Eligibility for Disability Retirement Benefit – Non-Duty Disability	28
Sec 5.5.	Disability Retirees; Reexamination	29
Sec 5.6.	Disability Benefits; Procedures for Determination of Disability	30
Sec 5.7.	Return of Accumulated Mandatory Contributions to Non-Vested Member	32
Sec 5.8.	Benefits Offset by Workers' Compensation and Benefits; Subrogation	32
ARTICLE 6.	RETIREMENT ALLOWANCE; VARIABLE PENSION IMPROVEMENT FACTOR (ESCALATOR)	33
Sec 6.1.	Retirement Allowance	33
Sec 6.2.	Variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)	33

ARTICLE 7.	DEATH BENEFITS	34
Sec 7.1.	Accidental Death Benefit; Performance of Duty	34
Sec 7.2.	Non-Duty Death Benefits	35
Sec 7.3.	Refund of Accumulated Mandatory Contributions Upon Death of Member	35
ARTICLE 8.	FORMS OF PAYMENT	36
Sec 8.1.	Retirement Allowance Options	36
Sec 8.2.	Disposition of Surplus Benefits upon Death of Retiree and Beneficiary	37
ARTICLE 9.	FUNDING AND RESERVES	38
Sec 9.1.	Funding Objective of the Retirement System	38
Sec 9.2.	Funds	38
Sec 9.3.	Method of Financing Retirement System Benefits	39
Sec 9.4.	Member Contributions Picked-Up	40
Sec 9.5.	Fiscal Responsibility: Benefit Reductions and Increased Funding Obligations	40
ARTICLE 10.	VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	43
Sec 10.1.	Voluntary Employee Contributions; Amount; Vesting	43
Sec 10.2.	Changing an Election to Contribute	43
Sec 10.3.	Individual Member Accounting; Crediting of Earnings	43
Sec 10.4.	Distribution of Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions	43
ARTICLE 11.	LOAN PROGRAM FOR VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	45
Sec 11.1.	The Loan Program	45
Sec 11.2.	Eligibility for Loan	45
Sec 11.3.	Amount of Loan	45
Sec 11.4.	Terms and Conditions	45
Sec 11.5.	Loan Balance	46
Sec 11.6.	Default	46
Sec 11.7.	Distribution	47
Sec 11.8.	Annual Report	47

ARTICLE 12.	DEFERRED RETIREMENT OPTION PLAN ("DROP") PROGRAM	48
Sec 12.1.	General Provisions	48
Sec 12.2.	Conversion to Retirement Allowance	48
Sec 12.3.	Investment of DROP Assets	48
Sec 12.4.	Distribution of Amounts Credited to DROP Account	49
Sec 12.5.	Death of Member While Participating in the DROP Program	49
Sec 12.6.	Disability of Member While Participating in the DROP Program	50
Sec 12.7.	Cost Neutrality	50
ARTICLE 13.	LIMITATION ON BENEFITS AND CONTRIBUTIONS	51
Sec 13.1.	Compliance With Code Section 415(b) And Regulations	51
Sec 13.2.	Compliance with Code Section 415(c) and Regulations	54
ARTICLE 14.	RETIREMENT SYSTEM ADMINISTRATION	55
Sec 14.1.	Board of Trustees as Retirement System Administrator	55
Sec 14.2.	Powers and Duties of Board	55
Sec 14.3.	Executive Director; Employees	57
Sec 14.4.	Discretionary Authority	57
Sec 14.5.	Administrator's Decision Binding	58
ARTICLE 15.	MANAGEMENT OF FUNDS	59
Sec 15.1.	Board as Trustee of Retirement System Assets	59
Sec 15.2.	Maintenance of Segregated Funds	59
Sec 15.3.	Custodian of Funds	59
Sec 15.4.	Exclusive Purpose	59
Sec 15.5.	Prohibited Conduct	59
ARTICLE 16.	INVESTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEM ASSETS	61
Sec 16.1.	Investment Powers of the Board and the Investment Committee	61
Sec 16.2.	Investment Management	62
Sec 16.3.	Best Practices	63
Sec 16.4.	Chief Investment Officer	63
Sec 16.5.	Investment Consultants	64
ARTICLE 17.	RETIREE MEDICAL ACCOUNT	66

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

## (continued)

Sec 17.1.	Establishment of Account	66
Sec 17.2.	Effective Date	66
Sec 17.3.	Funding of Benefits	66
Sec 17.4.	Limitation on Contributions	66
Sec 17.5.	Impossibility of Diversion	67
Sec 17.6.	Administration	67
Sec 17.7.	Right to Amend or Terminate Medical Plans	67
Sec 17.8.	Reversion	67
Sec 17.9.	Limitation of Rights	67
ARTICLE 18.	MISCELLANEOUS	68
Sec 18.1.	Nonduplication of Benefits	68
Sec 18.2.	Assignments Prohibited	.68
Sec 18.3.	Protection Against Fraud	.68
Sec 18.4.	Errors	.68
Sec 18.5.	Conviction of Felony; Forfeiture of Rights	.68
Sec 18.6.	Amendment; Termination; Exclusive Benefit	.69
Sec 18.7.	Expenses of Administration; Forfeitures Not to Increase Benefits	.69
Sec 18.8.	Required Distributions - Compliance with Code Section 401(a)(9) and Regulations	.69
Sec 18.9.	Direct Rollovers	.70
Sec 18.10.	Construction	.71
Sec 18.11.	Severability	.71
COMPONENT II	- -	.72
ARTICLE A.	COMMON PROVISIONS OF THE POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM	.73
Sec. A-1.	Common Provisions	.73
ARTICLE B.	FREEZE OF POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AS OF JUNE 30, 2014	.75
Sec. B-1.	Freeze of Police and Fire Retirement System as of June 30, 2014	75
ARTICLE C.	DEFINITIONS	.78
Sec. C-1.	Definitions	78

ARTICLE D.	MEMBERSHIP	85
Sec. D-1.	Generally	85
Sec. D-2.	Membership election option prior to July 1, 2014	86
Sec. D-3.	Cessation of membership	87
ARTICLE E.	SERVICE CREDITABLE	88
Sec. E-1.	Members to file statement of service, etc	88
Sec. E-2.	Credit for service	88
Sec. E-3.	Employees in military service commencing prior to July 1, 2014	88
Sec. E-4.	Verification of service claimed	91
Sec. E-5.	Prior Service certificates	91
Sec. E-6.	Creditable service at retirement	91
ARTICLE F.	BENEFITS PROVIDED TO MEMBERS	92
Sec. F-1.	Petition for retirement, mandatory age	92
Sec. F-2.	Old Plan/New Plan	94
Sec. F-3.	Pension Multiplier	95
Sec. F-4.	Disposition of surplus benefits upon death of retired member	96
Sec. F-5.	Retirement allowance for certain persons leaving City employment after eight years service (40 & 8)	96
Sec. F-6.	Reduced Early Pension Benefits (40 & 8 Vesting Retirees)	97
Sec. F-7.	Duty disability	98
Sec. F-8.	Duty disability benefits; Members in service on or after July 1, 1941 but prior to January 1, 1969	98
Sec. F-9.	Duty disability benefits; Members beginning service on or after January 1, 1969 and becoming disabled prior to the dates set forth in Section F-10	100
Sec. F-10.	Duty Disability benefits; DFFA, DPOA and DPLSA members beginning service on or after January 1, 1969 and becoming disabled on or after the dates set forth below	101
Sec. F-11.	Non-duty disability	103
Sec. F-12.	Disability retirement procedures	105
Sec. F-13.	Generally	107
Sec. F-14.	Increase of Benefits; Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)	107

Sec. F-15.	Payment	108
Sec. F-16.	Generally	108
Sec. F-17.	Payment of Accumulated Contributions	110
Sec. F-18.	Allowances to surviving spouses	110
Sec. F-19.	Payment of benefits to employees who became Members before January 1, 1969	112
Sec. F-20.	Payment of benefits to employees who became Members on or after January 1, 1969	113
Sec. F-21.	Deferred vested benefits	113
Sec. F-22.	Forfeiture of rights	113
Sec. F-23.	Generally	114
Sec. F-24.	Disposition of surplus benefits upon death of Member and Beneficiary	116
Sec. F-25.	Generally	<b>1</b> 16
Sec. F-26.	Generally	116
Sec. F-27.	Authority of Board	116
Sec. F-28.	Member With Twenty or Twenty-Five Years of Service	117
Sec. F-29.	Disabled Member	118
Sec. F-30.	Optional Annuity Withdrawal	118
ARTICLE G.	METHOD OF FINANCING	121
Sec. G-1.	General	121
Sec. G-2.	Annuity Savings Fund	121
Sec. G-3.	Annuity Reserve Fund	122
Sec. G-4.	Alternative Financing Method	122
Sec. G-5.	Contributions to and payments from Pension Accumulation Fund	123
Sec. G-6.	Retiree payments from Pension Reserve Fund; reinstatement of disability Retirees to active service	124
Sec. G-7.	Expense Fund	124
Sec. G-8.	Deferred Retirement Option Plan Fund	
Sec. G-9.	Appropriations prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023	124
Sec. G-10.	Maintenance of reserves	124

Sec. G-11	. Survivors Benefit Fund	125
Sec. G-12	. Computation of Annuity and Pension Reserve liabilities for Members, Retirees and Beneficiaries	126
Sec. G-13	. Determination of City's annual contribution — Disability Pension liabilities	129
Sec. G-14	. Determination of City's annual contribution — Death Pension liabilities	129
Sec. G-15	Determination of City's annual contribution — Actuarial evaluation of annuity and Pension Reserve liabilities	130
Sec. G-16	Determination of City's annual contribution — Service Pension liabilities for Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023	130
Sec. G-17.	Board of trustees to compute City's annual contribution	130
Sec. G-18.	Employer Contribution	131
ARTICLE H.	MISCELLANEOUS	132
Sec. H-1.	Recall of Retirees during emergencies	132
ARTICLE I.	DEFERRED RETIREMENT OPTION PLAN	133
Sec. I-1.	General provisions	133
Sec. I-2.	Conversion to Retirement Allowance	133
Sec. I-3.	Investment of DROP assets	133
Sec. I-4.	Distribution of amounts credited to DROP Account	134
Sec. I-5.	Death of Member while participating in the DROP program	134
Sec. I-6.	Disability of Member While Participating in the DROP Program	135
Sec. I-7.	Cost Neutrality	135
ARTICLE J.	PARTICIPANT ANNUITY SAVINGS FUND LOAN PROGRAM	137
Sec. J-1.	Participant Annuity Savings Fund Loan Program	137
ARTICLE K.	SPECIAL PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT PROVISIONS	140
Sec. K-1.	Benefit Changes implemented in accordance with the terms of the Plan Of Adjustment	140
Sec. K-2.	Income Stabilization Benefits	140
Sec. K-3.	Restoration of Pension Benefits	143
APPENDIX A		152

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 83 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 10 of

### Page

ARTICLE IX, SECTION 24 OF STATE OF MICHIGAN CONSTITUTION	
CITY OF DETROIT CHARTER	
DETROIT CITY CODE	154
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENTS	

-ix-

# **COMPONENT I**

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 12 of 83

#### **ARTICLE 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS**

#### Sec 1.1. Police and Fire Retirement System Established; Adoption of 2014 Plan Document

Effective July 1, 1941, a Pension System for Policemen and Firemen of the City of Detroit was established for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and death benefits for Policemen and Firemen and their beneficiaries by amendment to the Charter of the City of Detroit. That Pension System was amended on numerous occasions after July 1, 1941, including an amendment renaming the Retirement System as the "Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit." The provisions of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit. The provisions of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, as in effect July 1, 2014, were set forth in a Combined Plan Document (including Appendix A attached thereto). As provided in Ordinance 15-14 and Ordinance 16-14 and Section 47-1-2 of the Detroit City Code, the Combined Plan Document replaced the provisions of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit City Code and any conflicting provisions in any collective bargaining agreements, rulings or opinions covering Members (including, without limitation, City Employment Terms). All resolutions and policies of the Board previously enacted which were inconsistent with the provisions of the Combined Plan Document were also repealed to the extent of such inconsistency.

This Combined Plan Document is hereby amended and restated effective July 1, 2014, in the form of this instrument. Component I of the Plan Document applies to benefits accrued by Members on and after July 1, 2014 and to operation of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit on and after July 1, 2014. Component II of the Plan Document generally applies to benefits accrued by Members prior to July 1, 2014. Except as specifically provided in Component II, benefits provided under Component II of the Plan Document are frozen effective June 30, 2014.

#### Sec 1.2. Retirement System Intended to be Tax-Qualified; Governmental Plan

The Retirement System is a governmental plan under Section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code which is intended to be a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. The Board shall construe and administer the provisions of the Retirement System in a manner that gives effect to the tax-qualified status of the Retirement System.

#### Sec 1.3. Compliance With Plan of Adjustment

The Retirement System is intended to comply with all relevant provisions (including Exhibits) of the Plan for the Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit, as approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court in *In re City of Detroit, Michigan, Case No. 13-53846* ("Plan of Adjustment"). Component I and Component II of the Combined Plan shall be interpreted and construed by the City, the Board of Trustees and the Retirement System to give full effect to the Plan of Adjustment. To the extent that a conflict arises between the Combined Plan Document and the Plan of Adjustment, the City, the Board of Trustees, the Investment Committee and the

Retirement System are directed to interpret any inconsistency or ambiguity to give full effect to the Plan of Adjustment.

#### Sec 1.4. Board of Trustees

Effective July 1, 1941, a Board of Trustees of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit was created. The Board is vested with responsibility for the general administration, management and operation of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit and with the trust and investment powers conferred in this Combined Plan Document.

#### Sec 1.5. Board of Trustees – Membership; Appointment

The Board of Trustees of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit shall consist of seventeen Trustees, as follows:

- (1) The Mayor, *ex-officio*, or the Mayor's designee;
- (2) The President of City Council or a member thereof elected by the City Council, *exofficio*;
- (3) The City Treasurer or Deputy City Treasurer, *ex-officio*;
- (4) The City Finance Director, or a designated representative, *ex-officio*;
- (5) The City Budget Director, or a designated representative, *ex-officio*;
- (6) The Corporation Counsel of the City, or a designated representative, *ex-officio*;
- (7) Three Fire Members of the Retirement System to be elected by the Fire Members under such rules and regulations as may be established by the Board of Fire Commissioners to govern such elections, as follows:
  - (a) Two to be elected by and from Members holding the rank of lieutenant (or its equivalent) and lower ranks; and
  - (b) One to be elected by and from Members holding ranks above the rank of lieutenant (or its equivalent);
- (8) Three Police Members of the Retirement System to be elected by the Police Members under the rules and regulations as may be established by the Commissioner of Police to govern such elections, as follows:
  - (a) Two to be elected by and from Members holding the rank of lieutenant (or its equivalent) and lower ranks; and
  - (b) One to be elected by and from Members holding a rank above lieutenant (or its equivalent); and

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 14 of

- (9) One individual who neither is a Member of the Retirement System nor an employee of the City in any capacity to be selected by the Board;
- (10) Two Retirees receiving benefits under the Retirement System, one of whom shall be elected by Retired Police Members and one of whom will be elected by Retired Fire Members pursuant to Sections 1.6 and 1.7 below;
- (11) One Trustee appointed by the Mayor upon election of a Retiree Police Trustee; and
- (12) One Trustee appointed by the Mayor upon election of a Retiree Fire Trustee.

#### Sec 1.6. Board of Trustees; Scheduling of Elections for Active and Retiree Trustees

- (1) Annual elections for active Police Officers and Fire Fighters shall be held in the Police and Fire Departments during the month of May to elect a trustee to fill the vacancy created by the expiration of a term.
- (2) Elections to fill vacancies created by the expiration of a term for a Retiree Trustee shall be held every three years during the month of May.
- (3) A special election for Retiree Trustees shall be held as soon as practicable after the Plan of Adjustment is confirmed. Unless a Retiree Trustee elected by reason of this special election resigns or is removed from the position of Trustee in accordance with the terms of the Combined Plan Document, a Retiree elected to the office of Trustee in the special election shall be eligible to serve a full term of three (3) years from the date of the special election, plus such period of time until the last day of June that follows the third anniversary of the special election, at which time an election for Retiree Trustees shall be held in accordance with Section 1.7.

#### Sec 1.7. Procedures for election of Retiree Trustees

The procedures for the election of the Retiree Trustees shall be as follows:

- (1) Notice. Notice of a primary election shall be sent to each Retiree by United States Mail.
- (2) *Notice of Candidacy.* A proposed candidate shall submit a notarized letter to the executive director notifying the Retirement System of his or her candidacy.
- (3) *Ballot*. Each candidate whose name appears on the ballot at any election held for the office of Retiree Trustee shall be identified by the title of the position the Retiree held at the time of retirement and by the word "incumbent" if the candidate is a current trustee seeking re-election. No ballot shall contain any organizational or political designation or mark. Rotation and arrangement of names on the ballot shall be in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Board.
- (4) *Voting.* Procedures regarding mailing of ballots, poll lists, custody of ballots, marking of ballots, return of ballots, handling of return envelopes received, and sealed ballot boxes

-3-13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 15 of shall be the same as those adopted and followed by the Board in the immediately preceding election of an active employee Trustee.

- (5) *Procedures*. Procedures regarding the selection and certification of successful candidates for nomination, the selection of Trustees from nominees, tie votes, and the destruction of ballots shall be the same as those adopted and followed by the Board in the immediately preceding election of an active employee Trustee.
- (6) *Board Rules.* Any matters relative to the election of the Retiree member of the Board not covered by this Section 1.7 shall be handled in accordance with such rules and regulations as the Board may adopt and Michigan law.

#### Sec 1.8. Board of Trustees; Oath; Term; Vacancies

Within ten days after appointment or election, each Trustee shall take an oath of office to be administered by the City Clerk.

The term of office for each elected Trustee under Sections 1.5(7), (8) and (10) shall be three years. The term of office for the Trustee who is selected by the Board under Section 1.5(9) shall be two years. The term of office for the Trustees appointed by the Mayor under Sections 1.5(11) and (12) shall be three years. Except as provided in Section 1.6(3), elected Trustees holding office on June 30, 2014 shall serve the remainder of their terms.

If a Trustee resigns or is removed by the other Trustees for cause, or if an elected or appointed Trustee fails to attend three consecutive scheduled Board meetings without being excused for cause by the Trustees attending such meetings, the Trustee shall be considered to have resigned from the Board. If a vacancy occurs in the office of Trustee from any cause other than expiration of a term, the vacancy for the unexpired term shall be filled within sixty days of the date of said vacancy in the same manner as the office was previously filled. No vacancy shall result by reason of a change in the rank or grade of a Trustee during the term of office.

#### Sec 1.9. Board of Trustees; Officers and Employees

The Board shall elect from its membership a chairman and a vice chairman. The executive director of the Retirement System or his or her representative shall serve as secretary of the Board. The Board may employ such special actuarial, medical and other contractors and employees as shall be required, subject to the powers and authority reserved to the Investment Committee and subject to the Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.

#### Sec 1.10. Board of Trustees; Meetings; Rules of Procedure; Votes; Quorum

(1) The Board shall hold regular meetings, at least one in each month, and shall hold special meetings as necessary. The Board shall designate the time and place thereof in advance. The Board shall adopt its own rules of procedure, including provisions for special meetings and notice thereof, and shall keep a record of proceedings. All meetings of the Board shall be public and are subject to the *Michigan Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 et seq.* All Board meetings shall be held within the City of Detroit.

# 13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 16 of

- (2) Each Trustee shall be entitled to one vote on each question before the Board. A majority vote of the Trustees present shall be necessary for a decision by the Trustees at any meeting of the Board.
- (3) Eight members of the Board, four of whom must be elected members, shall constitute a quorum.

#### Sec 1.11. Board of Trustees; Compensation; Expenses

All members of the Board of Trustees shall serve without additional compensation from the City or the Retirement System; however Retiree Trustees shall receive a hourly stipend from the Retirement System equal to the lowest rate of pay received by an active employee Trustee for attending Board meetings, educational time and travel out of the City on official business of the Retirement System. All Trustees shall be reimbursed from the Expense Fund for all actual, reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties as Trustees.

#### Sec 1.12. Rules for Administration of Funds.

Subject to the limitations contained in this Combined Plan Document, the Board of Trustees shall, from time to time, establish rules and regulations for the administration of the funds created by this Combined Plan Document and for the transaction of its business.

#### Sec 1.13. Board of Trustees; Certain Data to be Kept

The Board of Trustees shall keep, or cause to be kept, in convenient form, such data as shall be necessary for the actuarial valuation of the various funds of the Retirement System and for checking and compiling the experience of the Retirement System. The ordinary actuarial, accounting and clerical services for the operation of the Retirement System shall be performed by the employees of the Retirement System.

#### Sec 1.14. Board of Trustees; Annual Audit Report

The Board shall render a report to the Mayor, the City Council and the Investment Committee on or before the fifteenth day of January, showing the fiscal transactions of the Retirement System for the year ending on the preceding thirtieth day of June, the amounts of accumulated cash and securities in the various funds of the System, and the last balance sheet showing the financial condition of the Retirement System by means of an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Retirement System.

#### Sec 1.15. Board of Trustees; Legal Advisors

(1) The Board shall appoint legal advisors (including a general counsel) who shall be directly responsible to and shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees. Any legal advisor to the Board of Trustees shall be an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Michigan and shall be experienced in matters relating to pension systems. The qualifications of legal counsel shall be approved by the Board of Trustees.

- (2) Legal advisors to the Board of Trustees shall have such duties relative to pension matters as shall be assigned by the Board of Trustees.
- (3) Costs and expenses relative to the position of legal advisors to the Board shall be payable out of the assets of the Retirement System, subject to the provisions of the *Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.*

#### Sec 1.16. Board of Trustees; Medical Director

- (1) The Board shall appoint a Medical Director who is directly responsible to and shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board. The Medical Director shall be a physician who has not at any time been regularly or permanently employed by any department, board, or commission of the City, county, or state, has not held an elective, appointive, or salaried office in any city, county, or state government at any time, and is not eligible to participate in a retirement system maintained by the City. However, service as an intern in any city, county, or state hospital or sanitarium and service in any state military body shall not disqualify a physician for appointment as Medical Director.
- (2) The Medical Director shall arrange for and pass upon all medical examinations required under the provisions of the Combined Plan, and shall report in writing to the Board of Trustees his or her conclusions and recommendations on medical matters referred to it.

#### Sec 1.17. Designation of Actuary; Authority to Engage Additional Actuaries

The Retirement System actuary as of July 1, 2014 shall continue to serve as such until resignation or removal by the Board. In the event the Board desires to retain a new actuary, the Board and the Investment Committee shall collectively participate in the evaluation and selection of a qualified actuary. The Retirement System actuary shall be responsible for assisting the Board and the Investment Committee in performing its actuarial duties and shall comply with all requests for information or modeling requested by the Board and the Investment Committee, and shall attend meetings of the Board and Investment Committee as requested, so as to allow the Board and the Investment Committee to perform satisfactorily the rights and duties set forth in the Combined Plan, the term sheet regarding Investment Committee Governance for Police and Fire Retirement System, attached to that certain agreement by and between the Michigan Settlement Administration Authority, a Michigan body public corporation (the "Authority"), the Retirement System, the General Retirement system for the City of Detroit, Michigan ("GRS"), and the City (the "State Contribution Agreement") as Exhibit B (the "Governance Term Sheet"), and the Plan of Adjustment. Furthermore, the Board shall not act on any recommendation made by the Retirement System's actuary based on any calculation, assumption or assessment rejected by the Investment Committee.

Nothing herein shall be interpreted as limiting the Investment Committee's authority to engage an actuarial consulting firm other than the Retirement System's actuary to perform actuarial services deemed necessary to fulfill its fiduciary and other duties to the Retirement System as set forth in the Governance Term Sheet and the Plan of Adjustment.

#### Sec 1.18. Board of Trustees; Adoption of Mortality and Other Tables of Experience and Rates of Interest; Limitations on Payments by the Retirement System

- (1) Subject to Section 16.1, the Board shall adopt such mortality and other tables of experience, and a rate or rates of interest, as shall be necessary for the operation of the System on an actuarial basis, provided, that the authority granted by this Section shall not permit or be used to provide for an interest rate which would violate the prohibitions of Subsection (2) or (3) of this Section.
- (2) The Retirement System and the Trustees charged with management of the System shall not make any payment to active or retired Members other than payments that are required by the governing documents of the Retirement System. This prohibition applies to all payments that are not authorized by this Combined Plan, whether such payments are those commonly referred to as a "thirteenth check" or by any other name.
- (3) Anything in this Combined Plan Document or any other document to the contrary notwithstanding, the annual actuarial interest rate assumption for the period commencing July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2023 shall be six and three-quarters percent (6.75%).

#### Sec 1.19. Board of Trustees; Annual Actuarial Valuation of Assets and Liabilities

Subject to Section 16.1, each year, on the basis of such mortality and other tables of experience, and such rate or rates of regular interest as the Board shall adopt pursuant to Section 1.18, the Board shall cause to be made an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Retirement System.

#### Sec 1.20. Board of Trustees; Powers and Duties; Fiduciary Status; Fiduciary Duties

The Board of Trustees shall have such powers and duties as are necessary for the proper administration of the Retirement System and the custody and investment of Retirement System assets, other than those powers and duties reserved to the Investment Committee. To the extent the Board exercises discretion with respect to investment of Retirement System assets, each member of the Board of Trustees shall be an investment fiduciary as defined in the *Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.*, and shall discharge his or her duties with respect to the Retirement System in compliance with the provisions of the *Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.*, and shall and caution under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an activity of like character and purpose. Board members shall comply with all Board governance policies and procedures, including the Ethics and Code of Conduct Policies, unless such compliance would violate the member's fiduciary duties or conflicts with the provisions set forth in this Combined Plan Document.

# Sec 1.21. Investment Committee; Establishment; Purpose; Fiduciary Status; Fiduciary Duties

As of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, but subject to consummation of the State Contribution Agreement, an Investment Committee is hereby created for the purpose of making recommendations to the Board of Trustees and taking action under and with respect to certain investment management matters relating to the Retirement System. The creation and operation of the Investment Committee is controlled by the Governance Term Sheet. The Investment Committee shall remain in effect for a period of not less than twenty years following the date of confirmation of the Plan of Adjustment. The Investment Committee shall be an investment fiduciary as defined in the Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq. and shall have all powers granted fiduciaries under the first sentence of MCL 38.1133(5) and (6). The Investment Committee shall serve in a fiduciary capacity with respect to the investment management of Retirement System assets, determination of the investment return assumptions, and Board compliance with provisions of the governing documents of the Retirement System. An Investment Committee member shall discharge his or her duties with respect to the Retirement System in compliance with the provisions of the Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq. An Investment Committee member shall discharge his or her duties with the care, skill and caution under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an activity of like character and purpose. Investment Committee members shall comply with all Board governance policies and procedures, including the Ethics and Code of Conduct Policies, unless such compliance would violate the member's fiduciary duties or conflict with the provisions set forth in the Governance Term Sheet.

#### Sec 1.22. Investment Committee; Membership; Appointment

The Investment Committee shall consist of nine (9) members, determined as follows:

(1)Five independent members, at least two of whom must be residents of the State of Michigan, and none of whom may be a party in interest with respect to the Retirement System, as defined in as defined in Section 38.1132d(4) of the Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq. Each independent Investment Committee member shall have expert knowledge or extensive experience with respect to either (a) economics, finance, or institutional investments, or (b) administration of public or private retirement plans, executive management, benefits administration or actuarial science. At least one of the independent Investment Committee members shall satisfy the requirements of (a) above and at least one of the independent Investment Committee members shall satisfy the requirements of (b) above. The initial independent Investment Committee members shall be selected by mutual agreement of the appropriate representatives of the State of Michigan, the City and the Board, in consultation with the Foundation for Detroit's Future (the "Foundation"), and shall be named in the Plan of Adjustment. If one or more of the five initial independent Investment Committee members are not selected by mutual agreement prior to confirmation of the Plan of Adjustment, then the United States Bankruptcy Court, Eastern District of Michigan shall designate such number of independent Investment Committee

members as necessary to bring the number of independent Investment Committee members to five (5);

- (2) Two Retirees who shall be appointed by the Board consisting of one elected retired Police Member and one elected retired Fire Member who are serving on the Board and who are receiving benefit payments under the Retirement System; and
- (3) Two Employee members who shall be appointed by the Board consisting of one Fire Department Employee and one Police Department Employee who are active members of the Board.

#### Sec 1.23. Investment Committee; Term; Resignation and Removal; Vacancies

The term of office for the independent members of the Investment Committee shall be six years; provided, however, that the initial term for the independent Investment Committee members shall be determined as follows:

Independent Member	<u>Term of Office</u>
(1)	2 years
(2)	3 years
(3)	4 years
(4)	5 years
(5)	6 years

The term of office for a Retiree or Employee Investment Committee member shall be the number of years remaining on such individual's term of office as a member of the Board of Trustees. Each Investment Committee member shall serve until his or her successor is appointed at the expiration of his or her term of office, or until his or her death, incapacity, resignation or removal, if earlier. Notwithstanding any provision of this Combined Plan Document, an initial independent Investment Committee member shall not be prohibited from becoming a successor independent Investment Committee member after expiration of his or her initial term.

An Investment Committee member may resign at any time by giving ninety days' prior written notice to the Investment Committee, the City and the Board, which notice or time period may be waived by the Investment Committee. An Investment Committee member may be removed from office by majority vote of the remaining Investment Committee members for any of the following reasons: (a) the member is legally incapacitated from executing his or her duties as a member of the Investment Committee and neglects to perform those duties; (b) the member has committed a material breach of the provisions of the Retirement System or the policies or procedures of the Retirement System and the removal of the member is in the interests of the Retirement System or its Members and Beneficiaries; (c) the member is convicted of a violation of law and the removal is accomplished by a vote of the members of the Investment Committee in accordance with the voting procedure set forth in Section 1.24; or (d) if the member holds a license to practice and such license is revoked for misconduct by any State or federal government. A member who fails to attend four (4) consecutive scheduled meetings of the Investment Committee shall be deemed to have resigned, unless in each case his or her absence is excused for cause by the remaining members attending such meetings. In the event of any removal or resignation, the Investment Committee shall by resolution declare the office of the member vacated as of the date such resolution is adopted.

Any vacancy occurring on the Investment Committee shall be filled within sixty (60) days following the date of the vacancy for the unexpired portion of the term, in the same manner in which the office was previously filled.

Successor independent Investment Committee members shall be recommended by a majority of the remaining independent Investment Committee members and shall be confirmed by the Board and the Treasurer of the State of Michigan ("State Treasurer"), in consultation with the Foundation, in accordance with such rules and regulations as may be adopted by the Investment Committee (provided that such rules are not inconsistent with the Governance Term Sheet or the Plan of Adjustment). In the event the Board and the State Treasurer cannot agree on a successor independent Investment Committee member within thirty (30) days of the receipt of the recommendation of the Investment Committee, the remaining independent Investment Committee members shall appoint the successor independent Investment Committee member.

In the event the United States Bankruptcy Court, Eastern District of Michigan appoints one or more of the initial independent Investment Committee members, a successor to any such independent Investment Committee member shall be appointed in the same manner as provided in the preceding paragraph following three (3) weeks' notice to the Board of the individuals appointed, in accordance with such rules and regulations as may be adopted by the Investment Committee (provided that such rules are not inconsistent with either the Governance Term Sheet or the Plan of Adjustment).

Successor Investment Committee members shall have the powers and duties conferred on Investment Committee members herein.

#### Sec 1.24. Investment Committee; Operation; Meetings; Quorum; Voting

The Investment Committee members shall select from among the independent members a chair and a vice chair. The Investment Committee members shall select from among themselves a secretary. The Investment Committee shall hold regular meetings, not less frequently than once every other month, and shall hold special meetings as necessary. The Investment Committee shall designate the time and place thereof in advance. The secretary or his or her designee shall be responsible for providing meeting notices to the other Investment Committee members. The Investment Committee shall adopt its own rules of procedure and shall keep a record of proceedings. Notice and conduct of all Investment Committee meetings, both regular and special, shall be subject to the *Michigan Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 et seq.* All Investment Committee meetings shall be held within the City of Detroit.

Five Investment Committee members shall constitute a quorum at any meeting, as long as at least three of the independent Investment Committee members are in attendance. Each independent Investment Committee member shall be entitled to one vote on each question before the Investment Committee. Each Retiree and Employee member shall be entitled to one-half vote on each question before the Investment Committee. Except as otherwise provided in the Governance Term Sheet, at least four concurring votes shall be necessary for a decision by the Investment Committee and each Investment Committee member shall be entitled to one vote on each question before the Investment Committee.

An Investment Committee member may have his or her voting privileges temporarily suspended by a 70% or higher vote of the other members if the member is indicted or sued by a state or federal government for an alleged violation of the law that relates to his or her service on the Investment Committee, or for other alleged financial crimes, including fraud.

#### Sec 1.25. Investment Committee; Compensation; Expenses; Employment of Advisors

Investment Committee members shall not receive any compensation from the Retirement System for their services; Investment Committee members shall, however, be reimbursed for the reasonable, actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties. All reasonable and proper expenses related to the administration of the Investment Committee, including but not limited to the purchase of insurance, shall be payable out of the assets of the Retirement System. The Investment Committee may retain actuarial, legal counsel, audit or other professional or support personnel to provide advice to the Investment Committee as it deems reasonably necessary to perform its functions, and such parties or persons may be reasonably compensated from the assets of the Retirement System. Such engagements shall not be subject to approval of the Board.

#### Sec 1.26. Investment Committee; Special Reporting Obligation

- (1) Beginning in calendar year 2015, pursuant to Section 6 of the State Contribution Agreement, the Investment Committee shall provide compliance reports to the State Treasurer on a semi-annual basis and at such other times as the State Treasurer reasonably may request (each, a "Compliance Report") that certifies that the Investment Committee is not aware of any defaults under the State Contribution Agreement, or, if the Investment Committee is aware of a default under the State Contribution Agreement, specifically identifying the facts of such default.
- (2) In the event the Retirement System receives a written notice from the State Treasurer declaring and specifically identifying the facts of an alleged default under the State Contribution Agreement ("Default Notice"), and such default is cured as provided in the State Contribution Agreement, the Investment Committee must provide to the State Treasurer a written certification that (i) the default has been cured, and (ii) no material damages have been caused by the default that have not otherwise been remedied (the "Cure Certification").
- (3) Beginning in calendar year 2015, the Investment Committee shall provide to the City not later than December 31 of each year evidence reasonably necessary to show that the internal controls governing the investment of Retirement System assets are in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Plan of Adjustment.
- (4) Beginning in calendar year 2015 and for each calendar year thereafter, as of a date which is not later than December 31 of each such calendar year the Investment Committee shall provide to the Foundation the following information:

-11 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 23 of 83

- (a) a copy of the audited annual financial statement and the corresponding management letter for the Retirement System for the Fiscal Year ending June 30 of such calendar year, containing a non-qualified opinion of an independent external auditor to the Retirement System;
- (b) a certification from the Chair of the Investment Committee on behalf of the Investment Committee ("Pension Certificate") in a form reasonably acceptable to the Foundation that, as of the date of the annual report required to be provided by the City to the Foundation under the Omnibus Transaction Agreement by and among the City, The Detroit Institute of Arts and Foundation For Detroit's Future ("Annual Report"):
  - (i) the City is current in its obligation to contribute to Component II of the Combined Plan determined in accordance with the Plan of Adjustment;
  - (ii) the Investment Committee has been operated in accordance with the terms set forth in this Component I of the Combined Plan Document; and
  - (iii) the City continues to maintain the pension governance terms reflected in this Component I of the Combined Plan as of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, without modification or amendment during the twenty (20) year period following the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, except as required to comply with applicable federal law, including without limitation to maintain the tax qualified status of the Retirement System under the Internal Revenue Code, or to comply with the Plan of Adjustment;
- (c) a copy of (i) the Compliance Report covering the calendar year for which the Annual Report is made; (ii) any additional Compliance Reports provided during the calendar year for which the Annual Report is made as requested by the State Treasurer; (iii) either the certificate of compliance or the Default Notice, within the meaning of Section 6 of the State Contribution Agreement, as applicable, that was provided to the Investment Committee by the State Treasurer; and (iv) in the event that the State Treasurer issued a Default Notice, the Cure Certification, within the meaning of Section 6 of the State Contribution Agreement, provided by the Investment Committee. Notwithstanding anything in this paragraph (c) to the contrary, if the parties to the State Contribution Agreement agree to revise the requirements of Section 6 of the State Contribution Agreement or the information required in the Compliance Report, in order to meet the obligations of this paragraph (c), the Investment Committee shall be required only to provide documentation to the Foundation that meets such revised requirements; and
- (d) any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Foundation from time to time.
- (e) Beginning in calendar year 2016, before May 15<sup>th</sup> of each calendar year, the Investment Committee shall provide to the Chief Financial Officer of the City

confirmation that, as of the date of the City's report to the Foundation, there has been no impairment or modification of the information contained in the most recent Pension Certificate since the date of such Pension Certificate.

#### **ARTICLE 2. DEFINITIONS**

#### Sec 2.1. Definitions

Unless a different definition is contained within this Combined Plan Document, or a different meaning is plainly required by context, for purposes of this Combined Plan Document the following words and phrases have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

- (1) Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions means the sum of all amounts deducted from the Compensation of a Member and credited to the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund for periods on and after July 1, 2014.
- (2) Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions means the total balance in a Member's individual account under Component I of the Retirement System representing after-tax amounts deducted from the Compensation of the Member, together with earnings on such contributions.
- (3) Actuarial Equivalent or Actuarially Equivalent means a Retirement Allowance or benefit amount having the same Actuarial Equivalent Value as another applicable benefit.
- (4) Actuarial Equivalent Value means the value of an applicable Retirement Allowance or benefit amount, where values are calculated under generally accepted actuarial methods and using the applicable tables, interest rates and other factors established by the Board upon recommendation of the Investment Committee. The rates of interest, tables and factors adopted by the Board from time to time to determine Actuarial Equivalence shall not violate the terms of the Plan of Adjustment.
- (5) Administrative Rules and Regulations means rules and regulations promulgated by the Board of Trustees for the administration of the Retirement System and for the transaction of its business.
- (6) Age, Attainment of means the age an individual reaches on the day of his or her birthday.
- (7) Average Final Compensation means the average Compensation received by a Member during the five consecutive years of Credited Service which immediately precede the date of the Member's last termination of City employment as an employee of the Police Department or the Fire Department. If a Member has less than five years of Credited Service, the Average Final Compensation shall be the average of the annual Compensation received by the Member during the Member's total years of Credited Service.
- (8) *Beneficiary* means any person or persons (designated by a Member pursuant to procedures established by the Board) who are entitled to receive a Retirement Allowance or Pension payable from funds of the Retirement System due to the participation of a Member.
- (9) Board of Trustees or Board or Retirement Board means the Board of Trustees of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 26 of 83

- (10) *City* means the City of Detroit, Michigan, a municipal corporation.
- (11) *City Council or Council* means the legislative body of the City.
- (12) Combined Plan means the Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan, effective July 1, 2014, and as amended thereafter.
- (13) Compensation means a Member's base salary or wages actually paid to the Member for personal services rendered to the Employer, excluding bonuses, overtime pay, payment of unused accrued sick leave, longevity pay, payment for unused accrued vacation, the cost or value of fringe benefits provided to the Member, termination or severance pay, reimbursement of expenses, or other extra payment of any kind. Compensation will include any amount which is contributed by the City to a plan or program pursuant to a salary reduction agreement and which is not includable in the taxable income of the Member under Sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h) or 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code or which is contributed by the City on behalf of a Member as provided in Section 9.3(3) and 9.5 pursuant to a qualified "pick-up program".

For periods of time prior to July 1, 2014, the City shall provide to the Retirement System actual base salary or wages paid to Members using the best and most reliable sources of information available to the City. In the event the City is unable to provide actual base wages to the Retirement System, the City shall make reasonable estimates of each Member's base salary or wages for purposes of determining a Member's Compensation for periods prior to July 1, 2014.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, solely for purposes of determining a Member's Voluntary Employee Contributions, Compensation shall mean the gross salary or wages paid to the Member for personal services rendered to the City.

The annual Compensation of each Member taken into account for the purposes of determining all benefits provided under the Retirement System for any determination period shall not exceed the limitation set forth in Code Section 401(a)(17) (\$260,000 for the Plan Year commencing July 1, 2014). Such limitation shall be adjusted for the cost-of-living in accordance with Section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code. The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to any determination period beginning in such calendar year. If Compensation for any prior determination period is taken into account in determining a Member's benefits for the current determination period, the Compensation for such prior determination period. If a determination period consists of fewer than 12 months, the annual compensation limit is an amount equal to the otherwise applicable annual compensation limit multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the short determination period, and the denominator of which is 12.

(14) Component I means the portion of the Retirement System described in this Combined Plan and which consists of:

- 15 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 27 of 83

- (a) the 2014 Defined Benefit Plan, which is a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code; and
- (b) the 2014 Defined Contribution Plan which is a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (15) Component II means the portion of the Retirement System described in this Combined Plan and which consists of:
  - (a) the Frozen Defined Benefit Plan, which is a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code; and
  - (b) the Frozen Defined Contribution Plan, which is a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (16) *Credited Service* means service credited to a Member to the extent provided in Article 4 of Component I of this Combined Plan Document.
- (17) Disability or Disabled: see Total Disability or Totally Disabled.
- (18) *DFFA* means the Detroit Fire Fighters Association.
- (19) DPCOA means the Detroit Police Command Officers Association.
- (20) DPLSA means the Detroit Police Lieutenants and Sergeants Association.
- (21) DPOA means the Detroit Police Officers Association.
- (22) *DROP Account* means the account established by the Board for a Member who is eligible for and who elects to participate in the DROP Program.
- (23) *DROP Program* means a program established for eligible Members pursuant to Article 12.
- (24) *Employee* means an employee of the City's Police Department who has taken an oath of office or a Fire Fighter providing services to the City, but does not include:
  - (a) individuals whose City services are compensated on a contractual or fee basis;
  - (b) any person during any period when such person is classified by the City as a noncommon-law employee or an independent contractor for federal income tax and withholding purposes whose compensation for services is reported on a form other than Form W-2 or any successor form for reporting wages paid to and taxes withheld from employees, even if a court or administrative agency determines that such person is a common-law employee of the City;
  - (c) the Medical Director of the Retirement System.

If a person described in (b) above is reclassified by the City as a common-law employee of the City and otherwise meets the definition of an Employee, the person will be eligible to participate in the Retirement System prospectively as of the actual date of such reclassification only (and only to the extent such individual otherwise qualifies as an Employee).

- (25) *Employer* means the City.
- (26) *Final Compensation* means the annual compensation of a Member at the time of his or her termination of employment.
- (27) *Fire Fighter* means the rank in the Fire Department currently or formerly classified by the civil service commission as Fire Fighter.
- (28) *Fire Member* means an employee of the Fire Department of the City of Detroit who is a participant in the Retirement System.
- (29) Fiscal Year means the twelve month period commencing each July 1 and ending on the following June 30.
- (30) *Hour of Service* means (i) each hour for which a Member is paid or entitled to payment by the City for the performance of duties, and (ii) each hour for which a Member is directly paid or entitled to payment by the City for reasons other than the performance of duties (such as vacation, holiday, illness or approved leave of absence).
- (31) Internal Revenue Code or Code means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- (32) *Investment Committee* means the committee established pursuant to Section 1.22 which shall have the powers and duties described herein.
- (33) *Mandatory Employee Contributions* mean the contributions made by a Member to the Retirement System pursuant to Section 9.3(3).
- (34) *Medical Beneficiary* means a Member who has retired from employment with the City and the Spouses and dependents of such Member who are receiving post-retirement benefits in accordance with the terms of a retiree medical plan sponsored or maintained by the City.
- (35) *Medical Benefits* mean the provision of payments for certain sickness, accident, hospitalization and medical benefits within the meaning of Treasury Regulation section 1.401-14(a), including dental, vision and mental health benefits, as designated by the City.
- (36) *Medical Benefits Account* means the bookkeeping account established under Section 17.1 to provide for the payment of Medical Benefits on behalf of Medical Beneficiaries.
- (37) Medical Director means the physician appointed by the Board pursuant to Section 1.16.

- 17 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 29 of 83

- (38) Member means any Police Member or Fire Member who has not retired or died.
- (39) Normal Retirement Age means for any Member Age fifty with twenty-five years of Credited Service, with the following transition period for a Member who is an active employee on June 30, 2014 regarding payment of Component I benefits only:

Fiscal Year	Age and Credited Service
2015	Age 43 and 20 years
2016	Age 43 and 20 years
2017	Age 44 and 21 years
2018	Age 45 and 22 years
2019	Age 46 and 23 years
2020	Age 47 and 24 years
2021 and thereafter	Age 50 and 25 years

Pursuant to Code Section 411(e), as in effect in 1974, a Member shall be 100% vested in his or her accrued benefit under the Retirement System upon Attainment of Normal Retirement Age while in Service.

- (40) Notice to Members, Beneficiaries, and Retirees means a mailing using First Class United States Mail to the Members, Beneficiaries, and Retirees at their last known addresses.
- (41) *Patrolman* means the rank in the Police Department currently or formerly known as patrolman.
- (42) Pension Reserve means the present value of all payments to be made on account of any Retirement Allowance payable under Component I of the Combined Plan. Such Pension Reserve shall be computed upon the basis of such mortality and other tables of experience, and interest, as provided herein until June 30, 2023 and, thereafter, as shall be adopted by the Board upon the recommendation of the Investment Committee.
- (43) *Plan Actuary or Actuary* means the enrolled actuary or actuarial firm appointed as provided in Section 1.17 to serve as technical advisor to the Investment Committee and the Board on matters regarding the funding and operation of the Retirement System and to perform such other duties as the Investment Committee or the Board may direct.
- (44) *Plan Document or Combined Plan Document* means this instrument, effective as of July 1, 2014, with all amendments hereafter adopted.
- (45) *Plan of Adjustment* means the Plan for the Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit, which has been approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court in *In re City of Detroit, Michigan,* Case No. 13-53846.
- (46) *Plan Year* means the twelve month period commencing on July 1 and ending on June 30.
- (47) Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit or Retirement System means the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit created and, prior to July 1, 2014, memorialized in Title IX, Chapter VI, of the 1918 Detroit City Charter, as

amended, continued in effect through the 1974, 1997 and 2012 Detroit City Charters, Article 47 of the Detroit City Code, Article 54 of the Detroit City Code of 1964, and collective bargaining agreements and, on and after July 1, 2014, pursuant to Section 47-1-2 of the Detroit City Code, memorialized in this Combined Plan Document, as amended from time to time.

The Retirement System consists of:

- (a) The 2014 Defined Benefit Plan, which is described in Component I hereof;
- (b) the 2014 Defined Contribution Plan, consisting of the Voluntary Employee Contribution Account, which is described in Component I hereof;
- (c) the Frozen Defined Benefit Plan, which is described in Component II hereof; and
- (d) the Frozen Defined Contribution Plan, which is described in Component II hereof.

References to the words Retirement System in Component I of the Plan Document shall mean the provisions of the 2014 Defined Benefit Plan and/or the 2014 Defined Contribution Plan described in Component I, unless a different meaning is plainly required by context.

- (48) *Police Member* means a Police Officer who has taken the oath of office as prescribed in the Detroit City Charter, excluding patrolmen of other City departments, privately employed patrolmen and special patrolmen, who is a participant in the Retirement System.
- (49) *Police Officer* means the rank in the Police Department currently or formerly known as Police Officer.
- (50) *Prior Service* means the service credit awarded to a Member before July 1, 2014 under the terms of the Retirement System as in effect on June 30, 2014, as certified by the Board of Trustees.
- (51) *Retiree* means a former Member who is receiving a Retirement Allowance from the Retirement System.
- (52) *Retirement* means a Member's withdrawal from the employ of the City with a Retirement Allowance paid by the Retirement System.
- (53) *Retirement Allowance* means an annual amount payable in monthly installments by the Retirement System, whether payable for a temporary period or throughout the future life of a Retiree or Beneficiary.
- (54) Service means personal services rendered to the City by an employee of the Police Department or Fire Department, provided such person is compensated by the City for such personal services.

- 19 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 31 of 83

- (55) *Spouse* means the person to whom a Member is legally married under applicable law at the time a determination is made.
- (56) Straight Life Retirement Allowance means payment of a Member's Retirement Allowance over the Member's lifetime.
- (57) Total Disability or Totally Disabled means:
  - (a) during the first twenty-four (24) months that a Member receives benefits from the Retirement System due to injury, illness or disease, that the Member is unable to perform, for wage or profit, the material and substantial duties of the Member's occupation; and
  - (b) during all subsequent months that a Member receives benefits from the Retirement System due to illness, injury or disease, that the Member is unable to perform, for wage or profit, the material and substantial duties of any occupation for which the Member is suited, based on education, training and experience.
- (58) Vesting Service means service credited to a Member to the extent provided in Article 4 of Component I of this Combined Plan Document.
- (59) Voluntary Employee Contributions mean the after-tax contributions made by a Member to the Retirement System pursuant to Section 10.1.
- (60) Voluntary Employee Contributions Account means the account established pursuant to Section 10.3 for a Member who elects to make Voluntary Employee Contributions.

The following terms shall have the meanings given to them in the Sections of this Combined Plan Document set forth opposite such term:

Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund	Section 9.2(1) Section $9.2(2)$
Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contribution Fund	Section 9.2(2)
Annual Addition	Section 13.2(1)
Annual Report	Section 1.26(4)(b)
Authority	Section 1.17
cash refund annuity	Section 5.4(1)(a)
compensation	Section 13.1(12)
Compliance Report	Section 1.26(1)
Cure Certification	Section 1.26(2)
current active	Section 9.3(3)
Default Notice	Section 1.26(2)
Deferred Retirement Option Plan Fund	Section 9.2(5)
Deferred Retirement Option Plan Program (DROP)	Section 12.1
Differential Wage Payment	Section 4.4
Direct rollover	Section 18.9(1)(b)
Distributee	Section 18.9(1)(c)
Dollar Limit	Section 13.1(3)(b)
Disability Retirement Review Board/DRRB	Section 5.6(2)

Eligible retirement plan	Section 18.9(1)(d)
Eligible rollover distribution	Section 18.9(1)(e)
Expense Fund	Section 9.2(7)
Foundation	Section 1.22(1)
funding level	Section $9.5(3)$
Governance Term Sheet	Section 1.17
Income Fund	Section 9.2(8)
ING	Section 12.3(1)
investment management decisions/investment	Section 16.2
management matters	
limitation year	Section 13.1(2)
Medical Benefits Account Fund	Section 9.2(6)
Medical Plans	Section 17.1
new employee	Section 9.3(3)
Option "A". Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor	Section $8.1(1)(c)$
Allowance	
Option "B". Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor	Section 8.1(1)(e)
Allowance	
Option One. Modified Cash Refund Annuity	Section 8.1(1)(a)
Option Three. Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor	Section $8.1(1)(d)$
Allowance	
Option Two. Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor	Section 8.1(1)(b)
Allowance	
Pension Accumulation Fund	Section 9.2(3)
Pension Certificate	Section $1.26(4)(b)$
Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)	Section 6.2
Plan of Adjustment	Section 1.3
Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit	Section 1.1
Pop-up Form	Section 8.1(2)(b)
Rate Stabilization Fund	Section 9.2(4)
Standard Form	Section $8.1(2)(a)$
State Contribution Agreement	Section 1.17
State Treasurer	Section 1.23
Straight Life Retirement Allowance	Section 8.1(1)

# **ARTICLE 3. MEMBERSHIP**

### Sec 3.1. Eligible Employees

- (1) Except as provided in Section 3.2, the membership of the Retirement System shall consist of all persons who are employed with the Police and Fire Departments of the City and who are employed as Police Officers or Fire Fighters according to the rules and regulations of the respective Departments. An eligible Employee's membership in the Retirement System shall be automatic; no eligible Employee shall have the option to elect to become a Member of the Retirement System.
- (2) Any appointive official of the Police Department or Fire Department appointed from the membership thereof shall be permitted to remain a Member, paying contributions and entitled to benefits as though he or she had remained in the rank, grade or position held at the date of his or her appointment.
- (3) Any Police Officer or Fire Fighter who, prior to being confirmed, shall be killed or Totally Disabled as the result of the performance of active duty, shall be deemed to have been a Member as of his or her date of death.
- (4) Any Member who shall be transferred to a civilian position in his or her Department shall continue as a Member, subject to all the obligations of a Member.

### Sec 3.2. Cessation of Membership; Re-Employment

- (1) If a Member dies, or is separated from service with the City by resignation, dismissal, retirement or Disability, he or she shall cease to be a Member. A Member who elects to participate in the DROP Program under Component I, Component II or both shall be considered to have separated from service with the City by reason of retirement and shall not accrue a benefit under the Retirement System, be required to make Mandatory Employee Contributions to the Retirement System pursuant to Section 9.3(3) or 9.5, or be permitted to make Voluntary Employee Contributions pursuant to Section 10.1.
- (2) If a vested Member ceases to be a Member under paragraph (1) other than by reason of participation in the DROP Program and later becomes a Police Officer or Fire Fighter other than in the position of Police Assistant, he or she shall again become a Member, subject to the obligations of a Member. The benefit payable to the Member upon a subsequent termination shall be based upon his or her total Credited Service earned on and after July 1, 2014, provided that, if the Member received a distribution of his or her Accumulated Mandatory Contributions following termination, the Member recontributes the Accumulated Mandatory Contributions to the Retirement System within two years of his or her re-employment date. If a Member who receives a distribution of his or her Accumulated Mandatory Contributions fails to recontribute such amount to the Retirement System within two years of re-employment, only the Credited Service earned on and after the Member's re-employment date shall be taken into consideration in determining his or her Retirement Allowance.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 34 of

- (3) If a Member ceases to be a Member under paragraph (1) and later becomes employed as a Police Assistant, such Member shall not become a Member upon re-employment. If such Member was receiving a Retirement Allowance from the Retirement System prior to his or her date of rehire, such Retirement Allowance shall not be suspended during the period of the Member's reemployment as a Police Assistant.
- (4) Retirement benefits for a Retiree who returns to active full time employment other than as a Police Assistant shall be subject to the following:
  - (a) A Retiree who returns to work will have his or her Retirement Allowance suspended upon re-employment. The variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) shall not be added to the amount of the original Retirement Allowance during the Retiree's re-employment period.
  - (b) A Retiree who returns to work will be entitled to receive a second Retirement Allowance in accordance with the provisions of the Retirement System in effect during his or her re-employment period.
  - (c) A Retiree's Average Final Compensation and Credited Service for purposes of determining the Retiree's second Retirement Allowance will be based upon the Compensation and Credited Service earned by the Retiree after he or she returns to work.
  - (d) An individual who retires for a second time will not be allowed to change the payment option selected by the Member with respect to the original Retirement Allowance. However, the individual may select a separate payment option with respect to his or her second Retirement Allowance.

# Sec 3.3. Report From City

It shall be the duty of the City to submit to the Board of Trustees a statement showing the name, title, compensation, duties, date of birth, date of hire, and length of service of each Member, and such other information as the Board of Trustees may require or reasonably request for proper administration of the Retirement System.

# **ARTICLE 4. SERVICE CREDIT**

# Sec 4.1. Credited Service

- (1) The Board shall keep an accurate record of each Member's accumulated Credited Service from the date of commencement of employment with the City to the date of termination of employment with the City.
- (2) A Member shall be credited with one month of Credited Service for each calendar month during which he or she performs one hundred forty (140) or more Hours of Service for the City as a Member beginning on the later of (i) July 1, 2014 or (ii) his or her date of hire with the City as a Police Officer or Fire Fighter and ending on the date his or her employment with the City as a Police Officer or Fire Fighter is terminated. Service shall be credited in years and twelfths (1/12<sup>th</sup>) of a year. Not more than one-twelfth (1/12<sup>th</sup>) of a year of Credited Service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service rendered to the City in a calendar month. Not more than one year of Credited Service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service shall be credited to a Member on account of all service rendered to the City in any period of 12 consecutive months.
- (3) Not more than one month of Credited Service shall be granted for any period of more than one month during which the Member is absent without pay; notwithstanding the foregoing, any Member who shall be suspended from duty and subsequently reinstated to duty without further disciplinary action shall receive credit for the time of such period of suspension.
- (4) Solely for purposes of determining eligibility for a retirement benefit under Sections 5.1 and 5.4, a Member shall be credited with the sum of his or her Prior Service as determined by the Board and his or her Credited Service on and after July 1, 2014 determined under Section 4.1(2). The period of time during which a Member is on layoff from the service of the City shall be included in the Member's Credited Service solely for the purposes of determining whether the Member has attained his or her Normal Retirement Age for purposes of Section 5.1.

# Sec 4.2. Vesting Service

- (1) A Member shall be credited with a year of Vesting Service for each Plan Year commencing on or after July 1, 2014 during which the Member performs 1,000 or more Hours of Service for the City.
- (2) A Member's total Vesting Service shall be the sum of his or her Prior Service and his or her Vesting Service determined under Section 4.2(1).

# Sec 4.3. Service Credit; Military Service

A Member who enters the military service of the United States while employed with the City shall have the period of such military service credited as Credited Service and Vesting Service in the same manner as if the Member had served the City without interruption, provided that (1) the Member's entry into such military service and re-employment thereafter shall be in

accordance with applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations of the State of Michigan and the City, (2) he or she is re-employed by the City upon completion of such military service, and (3) the Member contributes to the Retirement System the Mandatory Employee Contributions that would have been made by the Member but for the Member's military service. The Member shall be permitted to make such contributions in accordance with Code Section 414(u) and regulations thereunder. During the period of military service and until return to City employment, the Member's Mandatory Employee Contributions to the Retirement System shall be suspended.

### Sec 4.4. Service Credit; Qualified Military Service

Notwithstanding any provision of this Combined Plan Document to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with respect to qualified military service under Component I, shall be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if a Member dies while performing qualified military service (as defined in Code Section 414(u)), to the extent required by Code Section 401(a)(37), the survivors of the Member are entitled to any additional benefits (if any, and other than benefit accruals relating to the period of qualified military service) provided under the Retirement System as if the Member had resumed and then terminated employment on account of death.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if the City decides to provide Differential Wage Payments to individuals who are performing service in the uniformed services (as defined in Chapter 43 of Title 238, United States Code) while on active duty for a period of more than thirty days, such Differential Wage Payment will be treated as compensation under the Code Section 415(c)(3) limits, but not for purposes of benefit accruals under the Retirement System. For these purposes the term "Differential Wage Payment" means a payment defined in Code Section 3401(h)(2) that is made by the City to an individual who is performing service in the uniformed services while on active duty for a period of more than thirty days.

### **ARTICLE 5. ELIGIBILITY FOR RETIREMENT**

#### Sec 5.1. Eligibility for Unreduced Normal Retirement Benefit

Any Member who attains his or her Normal Retirement Age while employed by the City may retire upon written application filed with the Board setting forth the date on which the Member desires to be retired. The date of retirement shall be effective as of the first day following the later of (i) the Member's last day on the City payroll, or (ii) the date the Member executes and files an application for retirement, notwithstanding that the Member may have separated from service during the notification period. Such a Member shall be entitled to receive an unreduced Retirement Allowance calculated as provided in Section 6.1 and payable in a form of payment selected by the Member pursuant to Section 8.1.

#### Sec 5.2. Eligibility for Deferred Vested Retirement Benefit

Any Member who terminates employment with the City prior to satisfying the requirements for receipt of a retirement benefit under Section 5.1 and who is credited with ten (10) or more years of Vesting Service upon his or her termination of employment (regardless of Age) shall be entitled to receive an unreduced Retirement Allowance calculated pursuant to Section 6.1 commencing at any time following his or her Attainment of Age sixty-two; provided that any member of DPLSA or DPCOA who is credited with ten (10) or more years of Vesting Service upon his or her termination of employment (regardless of Age) shall be entitled to receive an unreduced Retirement Allowance commencing at any time following his or her Attainment of Age fifty-five. Any Member (other than a member of DPLSA or DPCOA), may elect to begin receiving a Retirement Allowance following his or her Attainment of Age fiftyfive, actuarially reduced for commencement prior to age sixty-two, in lieu of an unreduced Retirement Allowance beginning at age sixty-two. The Retirement Allowance payable to a Member who makes such an election shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the deferred Retirement Allowance that would be payable to the Member at his Normal Retirement Date pursuant to Section 6.1, assuming the Member terminated employment on the early retirement date, as determined by the Plan Actuary based upon factors, assumptions and methods adopted by the Board upon recommendation of the Investment Committee. Deferred vested retirement benefits shall be payable in accordance with a form of payment selected by the Member pursuant to Section 8.1.

#### Sec 5.3. Eligibility for Disability Retirement Benefit – Duty Disability

(1) If, prior to attainment of his or her Normal Retirement Date, a Member shall become Totally Disabled for duty by reason of injury, illness or disease resulting from performance of duty and if, pursuant to Section 5.6, the Board shall find such injury, illness or disease to have resulted from the performance of duty, on written application to the Board by or on behalf of such Member or by the head of his or her Department such Member shall be retired, notwithstanding that during such period of notification he or she may have separated from service and provided further that the Medical Director, after examination of such Member shall certify to the Board the Member's Total Disability. A Member who retires as a result of duty disability shall receive for a period of twenty-four months the sum of:

-26 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 38 of 83

- (a) a basic benefit equal to fifty percent (50%) of his or her Final Compensation at the time his or her duty disability retirement begins, and
- (b) a supplemental benefit equal to sixteen and two-thirds percent (16-2/3%) of his or her Final Compensation at the time his or her duty disability retirement begins.

Subject to Section 9.5, on the first day of each Plan Year, a Member's duty disability benefit will be increased as provided in Section 6.2.

- (2) After a Member receives benefits hereunder for a period of twenty-four months, the Board will determine whether the Member is disabled from any occupation. If the Member is disabled from any occupation, the Member shall continue to receive the benefit provided in paragraphs (1)(a) and (1)(b) until such time as the Member would have attained twenty-five years of Credited Service had he or she continued in active service with the City. At that time, the Member shall continue to receive the benefit described in paragraph 1(a) above; however, benefits described in paragraph (1)(b) above will cease. If the Member is not disabled from any occupation, he or she shall continue to receive the benefit described in paragraph (1)(a) above; benefits described in paragraph (1)(b) will cease.
- (3) Duty disability benefits shall continue to be paid to a Member on duty disability retirement after the Member has attained twenty-five years of Credited Service to the earlier of (i) the Member's Attainment of Age sixty-five, or (ii) the date the Member ceases to be Totally Disabled as determined by the Board. Upon termination of disability or Attainment of Age sixty-five, a Member with twenty-five years of Credited Service shall be eligible to receive a Retirement Allowance as provided in Section 6.1. The amount of such Retirement Allowance shall be equal to the amount which would have been payable to the Member if the Member's conversion from duty disability retirement to a Retirement Allowance had occurred on the date the Member attained twenty-five years of Credited Service.
- (4) If a Member on duty disability retirement returns to active service with the City and shall re-qualify for duty disability retirement for the same or related reasons within twenty-four months of his or her return to active service, then the disability shall be deemed a continuation of the prior Total Disability and the period of the Member's active service following the return to work will not qualify the Member to be entitled to a new initial determination of disability for purposes of determining the benefit payable to the Member. Instead, such Member will return to duty disability retirement benefits based on the number of months of disability with which the Member was credited at the time of his or her return to active service, as if there had not been a break in his or her period of duty disability retirement.
- (5) During the period a Member is eligible to receive duty disability benefits under this Section 5.3, the Member shall continue to be credited with Credited Service until the Member accrues twenty-five years of Credited Service, at which time accrual of Credited Service shall cease.

(6) In the event that a recipient of a duty disability retirement benefit receives earned income from gainful employment during a calendar year, the amount of the Member's disability benefit payable during the next subsequent Plan Year will be adjusted so it does not exceed the difference between (i) the Member's Compensation at the date of duty disability, increased by the Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) (if any) applicable to such benefit pursuant to Section 6.2 during the period of duty disability, and (ii) the amount of the Member's remuneration from gainful employment during the prior calendar year. The amount of income received by a Member shall be determined by the Board based upon information received from the Member or based upon information secured from other reliable sources. Furnishing such information to the Board at such times as the Board shall require shall be a condition for the Member's continued eligibility for duty disability benefits. In the event a Member's Retirement Allowance was not appropriately reduced for any period in which he or she is engaged in a gainful occupation, the Board shall adjust future benefit payments to such Member until the amount of the overpayment is recouped by the Retirement System.

# Sec 5.4. Eligibility for Disability Retirement Benefit – Non-Duty Disability

- (1) Upon the application of a Member or the Member's Department head, a Member who becomes totally and permanently disabled prior to his or her Normal Retirement Age in the employ of the City not resulting from the performance of duty shall be retired by the Board; provided that the Medical Director shall certify to the Board after a medical examination, that such Member is Totally Disabled. Such a Member shall receive the following applicable benefits:
  - (a) If such Member has less than five years of Credited Service at the time of his or her disability retirement, his or her Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions Fund shall be returned to him or her, or at his or her option he or she shall receive a cash refund annuity which shall have the Actuarial Equivalent Value of his or her Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions. For purposes of this Section 5.4(1)(a), a "cash refund annuity" is an annuity that provides a death benefit equal to the positive difference, if any, between the original cost of the annuity and the sum of annuity payments received by the Member prior to his or her death.
  - (b) If such Member has five or more years of Credited Service at the time of his or her disability retirement, he or she shall receive a disability Retirement Allowance commencing as of the date of disability computed in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.1 and payable in any of the optional forms provided in Section 8.1 hereof. His or her annual Straight Life Retirement Allowance shall not be less than twenty per cent (20%) of his or her Average Final Compensation.
- (2) If a Member receiving non-duty disability retirement benefits is or becomes engaged in a gainful occupation, business, or employment paying more than the difference between the disabled Member's Retirement Allowance increased by the Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) (if any) applicable to such benefit pursuant to Section 6.2, and his or

her Average Final Compensation determined as of the date of non-duty disability, the Member's Retirement Allowance shall be reduced by the amount of such difference. If the amount of the Member's earnings changes, the Retirement Allowance may be adjusted accordingly. The amount of income received by a Member shall be determined by the Board based upon information received from the Member or based upon information secured from other reliable sources. Furnishing such information to the Board at such times as the Board shall require shall be a condition for the Member's continued eligibility for non-duty disability benefits. In the event a Member's Retirement Allowance was not appropriately reduced for any period in which he or she is engaged in a gainful occupation, the Board shall adjust future benefit payments to such Member until the amount of the overpayment is recouped by the Retirement System.

#### Sec 5.5. Disability Retirees; Reexamination

- (1)At least once each year following the retirement of a Member under Section 5.3 or Section 5.4, the Board shall require that such disabled Member who has not attained his or her Normal Retirement Age undergo a medical examination, to be made by, or under the direction of the Medical Director; provided, however, that medical examinations shall not be required if the Medical Director determines that the Member's condition is permanent and there is no need for further reexamination. Members shall be reimbursed for reasonable costs actually incurred by the Members in connection with such examinations. Should any such Retiree who has not attained Normal Retirement Age fail to submit to a required medical examination, the Member's Retirement Allowance may be suspended by the Board until the examination is completed. Should such failure continue for one year, all of the disabled Member's rights in and to the duty or non-duty disability Retirement Allowance may be revoked by the Board. If upon such examination of a Member, the examiner reports that the Member is no longer Totally Disabled, and such report is concurred in by the Board, the Member shall be restored to active service with the City and the Retirement Allowance paid pursuant to Section 5.3 or Section 5.4 shall be suspended until the Member terminates active service with the City.
- (2) A disabled Member who has been, or shall be, reinstated to active service in the employ of the City shall again become an active Member. All Credited Service at the time of reinstatement, in the case of a duty disabled Member, or at the time of the disability retirement, for a non-duty disabled Member, shall be restored to the Member; provided that, if a non-duty disabled Member received a distribution of his or her Accumulated Mandatory Contributions following the disability retirement pursuant to Section 5.4(1)(a), the Member recontributes the Accumulated Mandatory Contributions to the Retirement System within two years of his or her re-employment date. If a Member who receives a distribution of his or her Accumulated Mandatory Contributions fails to recontribute such amount to the Retirement System within two years of re-employment, only the Credited Service earned on and after the Member's re-employment date shall be taken into consideration in determining his or her Retirement Allowance.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 41 of

# Sec 5.6. Disability Benefits; Procedures for Determination of Disability

- (1) The Board shall establish procedures for determining whether a Member is Totally Disabled. Such procedures shall be consistent with any collective bargaining agreements between the City and the unions covering Police Employees and Fire Employees.
- (2)If a Member is determined to be Totally Disabled under Section 5.3(1) or 5.4(1), the Board or its designee will examine the pension file, including the submissions of the Member and the Police or Fire Department, to determine if there is any dispute as to whether the disability "resulted from the performance of duty" within the meaning of the Combined Plan. If it is undisputed that the disability did result from the performance of duty, the Board will grant duty disability retirement benefits. If it is undisputed that the disability did not result from the performance of duty, the Board will grant non-duty disability retirement benefits, provided the Member meets the other conditions of eligibility. If the performance of duty issue is in dispute, the Board will refer the matter to arbitration by a member of the Disability Retirement Review Board ("DRRB"). The decision of the DRRB member as to whether the disability resulted from the performance of duty shall be final and binding upon the Member, the Department and the Board. The DRRB shall consist of three qualified arbitrators who will be individually assigned in rotating order to decide the matters referred to arbitration by the Board. The three members of the DRRB shall be disinterested persons qualified as labor arbitrators and shall be selected in accordance with agreements between the City and the unions representing Members. The procedure for the termination of DRRB members and the selection of new DRRB members also shall be carried out in accordance with the agreements between the City and the unions representing Members.
- (3) The hearing before a member of the DRRB will be conducted in accordance with the following procedures:
  - (a) The Member and the City will have the right to appear in person or otherwise may be represented by counsel if they wish and will be afforded an equal opportunity to present evidence relevant to the issues;
  - (b) A court reporter will be present and make a stenographic record of the proceedings;
  - (c) The hearing will be closed to the public, except that the Member may select one person to be with him or her in the hearing room; provided, however, that person may not testify;
  - (d) The witnesses will be sequestered;
  - (e) The witnesses will be sworn by the court reporter and testify under oath;
  - (f) The Member may not be called by the City as an adverse witness;
  - (g) The DRRB member will apply the rules of evidence and follow the procedures which are customarily applied and followed in labor arbitration cases;

- (h) If the Member wishes to have an employee of the City released from duty to appear as a witness on his or her behalf, the Member may so inform the Board in writing which, in turn, will submit a written request to the appropriate Department executive for the release of the employee for the purpose of so testifying;
- (i) The DRRB member will afford the parties an opportunity for the presentation of oral argument and/or the submission of briefs;
- (j) The DRRB member will issue a written decision containing credibility resolutions as necessary, findings of fact and conclusions with respect to all relevant issues in dispute;
- (k) The authority of the DRRB member is limited to deciding whether or not the Member's disability "resulted from the performance of duty" within the meaning of the Combined Plan. The DRRB member shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, modify or disregard the terms of the Combined Plan; and
- (1) The costs associated with the hearing, including the arbitrator's fees and expenses and the court reporter's fees and expenses, will be paid by the Retirement System.
- (4) If a disabled Member is determined by the Board to no longer be Totally Disabled, he or she may appeal that determination within seven (7) days thereof by filing a written request with the Board for a re-examination. The Board shall promptly arrange for such re-examination. The Member's disability benefits will be continued pending that final and binding medical finding, and if the finding is that the Member is no longer Totally Disabled, his or her disability benefits will be further continued while the Police or Fire Department conducts such examinations and/or investigations as necessary to determine whether the Member is qualified for reappointment to active duty. In the event that the examinations and/or investigations conducted by the Police Department result in a determination that a Member is not qualified, for medical reasons, for reappointment to active duty, disability benefits will be continued.
- (5) The Board shall not act upon or grant the application filed by a Member who, although he or she is not capable of performing the full duties of a Police Employee or Fire Employee, has not suffered any diminishment of his or her base wages or benefits because he or she is either:
  - (a) regularly assigned to a position, the full duties of which he or she is capable of performing; or
  - (b) assigned to a restricted duty position, unless the Member's Department advises that it intends to seek a disability retirement for the Member in the foreseeable future.
- (6) The provisions in paragraph (5) above are not intended to and will not:
  - (a) affect the right of a Member to seek a disability retirement when no restricted duty position is available; or

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 43 of 83

(b) restrict in any way the existing authority of the Chief of Police or the Fire Commissioner to seek a duty or non-duty disability retirement for a Member or for that Member, at that time, to request a duty or non-duty disability retirement.

# Sec 5.7. Return of Accumulated Mandatory Contributions to Non-Vested Member

If a Member ceases employment with the City other than by reason of retirement, death or Disability, the Member may elect to receive distribution of the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions made to the Retirement System by such Member. If a Member elects to receive his or her Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions, such amounts shall be paid to the Member in a lump sum payment or in equal monthly installments for a period not to exceed three years, according to such rules and regulations as the Board may adopt from time to time. Other than as provided in Section 3.2(2), a Member who receives a refund of his or her Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions shall not receive a Retirement Allowance from Component I of the Retirement System.

# Sec 5.8. Benefits Offset by Workers' Compensation and Benefits; Subrogation

- (1) Any amounts which may be paid or payable to a Member, Retiree, or Beneficiary on account of disability or death under the provisions of any Workers' Compensation, pension, or similar law, except federal Social Security old-age and survivors' and disability insurance benefits, shall be an offset against any amounts payable from funds of the Retirement System (Component I and Component II combined) on account of the same disability or death. If the present value of the benefits payable under said Workers' Compensation, pension, or similar law, is less than the Retirement Allowance payable by the Retirement System (under both Component I and Component II), the present value of the said Workers' Compensation, pension, or similar law, or similar legal benefit shall be deducted from the amounts payable by the Retirement System (under both Component I and Component I and Component I II), and such amounts as may be provided by the Retirement System, so reduced, shall be payable as provided in this Combined Plan Document.
- (2) In the event a person becomes entitled to a pension payable by the Retirement System because of an accident or injury caused by the act of a third party, the Retirement System shall be subrogated to the rights of said person against such third party to the extent of the benefit which the Retirement System pays or becomes liable to pay.

# ARTICLE 6. RETIREMENT ALLOWANCE; VARIABLE PENSION IMPROVEMENT FACTOR (ESCALATOR)

#### Sec 6.1. Retirement Allowance

The Retirement Allowance payable to a Member commencing at the later of his or her Normal Retirement Age or his or her actual retirement from employment with the City in the form of a Straight Life Retirement Allowance shall be equal to two percent (2%) of the Member's Average Final Compensation multiplied by the Member's years (computed to the nearest one-twelfth ( $1/12^{th}$ ) year) of Credited Service earned after June 30, 2014.

## Sec 6.2. Variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)

Except as provided in Section 9.5, beginning July 1, 2015 and effective the first day of each Plan Year thereafter, the Board may determine that the annual Retirement Allowance of a Member payable under this Component I shall be increased by a factor of one percent (1.0%), compounded ("Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)"); provided, that the recipient of said Retirement Allowance shall have been receiving a Retirement Allowance for a period of not less than twelve months prior to the first day of such Plan Year.

# **ARTICLE 7. DEATH BENEFITS**

#### Sec 7.1. Accidental Death Benefit; Performance of Duty

- (1) If a Member is killed in the performance of duty in the service of the City, or dies as the result of illness contracted or injuries received while in the performance of duty in the service of the City, and such death, illness, or injury resulting in death, is found by the Board to have resulted from the actual performance of duty in the service of the City, the following benefits shall be paid:
  - (a) the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions Fund at the time of his or her death shall be paid to such person or persons as the Member shall have nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board. If no such designated person survives the Member, the said Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions shall be paid to the Member's legal representative, subject to paragraph (e) of this Section 7.1(1).
  - the Member's surviving Spouse shall receive a pension of five-elevenths of the (b) Member's Final Compensation payable for the Spouse's lifetime. If the Member's child or children under age eighteen years also survive the deceased Member, each such child shall receive a pension of one-tenth of such Final Compensation; provided, that if there are more than two such surviving children under age eighteen years, each such child's pension shall be an equal share of seven thirty-thirds of such Final Compensation. Upon the death, marriage, adoption, or Attainment of Age eighteen years of any such child, his or her pension shall terminate and there shall be a redistribution of the benefit by the Board to the deceased Member's remaining eligible children, if any; provided. that in no case shall any such child's pension exceed one-tenth of the Member's Final Compensation. In no case shall the total of the benefits provided for in this paragraph (b), payable on account of the death of a Member exceed two-thirds of the Member's Final Compensation.
  - (c) if no surviving Spouse survives the deceased Member or if the Member's surviving Spouse dies before his or her youngest unmarried surviving child attains Age eighteen years, his or her unmarried child or children under Age eighteen years shall each receive a pension of one-fourth of the Member's Final Compensation; provided that if there are more than two such surviving children under Age eighteen years, each such child's pension shall be an equal share of one-half of such Final Compensation. Upon the death, marriage, adoption, or Attainment of Age eighteen years of any such child, his or her pension shall terminate and there shall be a redistribution by the Board to the deceased Member's remaining eligible children, if any; provided, that in no case shall any such child's pension exceed one-fourth of the Member's Final Compensation.
  - (d) if the Member has no surviving Spouse or surviving children under Age eighteen years and if the Member leaves surviving either a father or mother or both, whom

the Board shall find to be actually dependent upon such Member for financial support, such dependent father and mother shall each receive a pension of onesixth of the Member's Final Compensation.

(e) If a Member dies intestate, without having designated a person or persons, as provided in paragraph (a) of this Section 7.1(1), and without heirs, the amount of his or her Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions in the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund, not to exceed a reasonable sum, to be determined by the Board, shall be used to pay his or her burial expenses, provided the Member leaves no other estate sufficient for such purpose. Any balance credited to such Member in the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund which is not used for burial expenses shall remain a part of the funds of the Retirement System and shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund.

#### Sec 7.2. Non-Duty Death Benefits

The surviving Spouse of any Member who dies while in the employ of the City (other than in the performance of duty) after the date such Member has earned ten or more years of Vesting Service, shall receive a Retirement Allowance computed in the same manner in all respects as if said Member had (i) retired effective on the day preceding the Member's death, notwithstanding that the Member had not attained Normal Retirement Age, (ii) elected a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance as described in Section 8.1, and (iii) nominated the surviving Spouse as Beneficiary.

#### Sec 7.3. Refund of Accumulated Mandatory Contributions Upon Death of Member

If a Member who is not covered by Section 7.1 or 7.2 dies while employed by the City or following termination of employment but prior to commencement of a Retirement Allowance, the Member's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions to the Retirement System at the time of death shall be paid to the Beneficiary nominated in a written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. In the event there is no such designated Beneficiary surviving, the Member's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions shall be paid to the Member's estate. If a Member who dies without a legal will has not nominated a Beneficiary, the Member's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions at the time of death may be used to pay burial expenses if the Member leaves no other estate sufficient for such purpose. Such expenses shall not exceed a reasonable amount as determined by the Board. Any balance credited to such Member in the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund which is not used for burial expenses shall remain a part of the funds of the Retirement System and shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund.

# **ARTICLE 8. FORMS OF PAYMENT**

### Sec 8.1. Retirement Allowance Options

- (1) Until the date the first Retirement Allowance payment check is issued, any Member may elect to receive a Straight Life Retirement Allowance payable throughout life, or the Member may elect to receive the Actuarial Equivalent of the Straight Life Retirement Allowance computed as of the effective date of retirement, in a reduced Retirement Allowance payable throughout life, and nominate a Beneficiary, in accordance with the options set forth below:
  - (a) Option One. Modified Cash Refund Annuity. A Retiree will receive a reduced Retirement Allowance for as long as he or she lives, provided that if the Retiree dies before payment of the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions made to the Retirement System on and after July 1, 2014 has been received in an aggregate amount equal to, but not exceeding the Retiree's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions at the time of retirement, the difference between said Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions and the aggregate amount of annuity payments already received, shall be paid in a single lump sum to a Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. If there is no such designated Beneficiary surviving said Retiree, any such difference shall be paid to the Retiree's estate.
  - (b) Option Two. Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a Retiree who elected a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance, one hundred percent of the Member's reduced Retirement Allowance shall be paid to and continued throughout the life of the Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance becomes due.
  - (c) Option "A". Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a Retiree who elected a Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor Allowance, seventy-five percent of the Member's reduced Retirement Allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance becomes due.
  - (d) Option Three. Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a Retiree who elected a Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor Allowance, fifty percent of the Member's reduced Retirement Allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance becomes due.
  - (e) Option "B". Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a Retiree who elected a Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor Allowance, twenty-five percent of the Member's reduced Retirement Allowance shall be

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 48 of

continued throughout the life of and paid to the Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance becomes due.

- (2) Joint and Survivor Optional Forms of Payment. The Joint and Survivor Optional Forms of Payment provided under the Retirement System shall be made available in either the standard form or the pop-up form, as follows:
  - (a) Standard Form. Under the Standard Form, the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be paid throughout the lifetime of the Retiree.
  - (b) *Pop-up Form.* Under the Pop-up Form, the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be paid throughout the lifetime of the Retiree and the designated Beneficiary. In the event of the death of the designated Beneficiary during the lifetime of the Retiree, the amount of the Retirement Allowance payable to the Retiree shall be changed to the amount that would have been payable had the Retiree elected the Straight Life Retirement Allowance Form of Payment.

## Sec 8.2. Disposition of Surplus Benefits upon Death of Retiree and Beneficiary

If under a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor allowance, a Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor allowance, a Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor allowance or a Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor allowance as provided for under Section 8.1, both a Retiree and Beneficiary die before they have received in Retirement Allowance payments an aggregate amount equal to the Retiree's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions (and if the Retiree makes an election pursuant to Section 10.4(2), his or her Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions) at the time of retirement, the difference between the said Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions (and Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions, if applicable) and the aggregate amount of Retirement Allowances paid to the Retiree and Beneficiary, shall be paid in a single lump sum to such person or persons nominated by written designation of the Retiree duly executed and filed with the Board. If there is no such person or persons surviving the Retiree and the Beneficiary, any such difference shall be paid to the estate of the Retiree or the Beneficiary, whichever of them is the last to die.

# **ARTICLE 9. FUNDING AND RESERVES**

# Sec 9.1. Funding Objective of the Retirement System

The funding objective of Component I of the Retirement System is to establish and receive City and Member contributions during each Plan Year that are sufficient to fully cover the actuarial cost of benefits anticipated to be paid on account of Credited Service rendered by Members during the Plan Year (the normal cost requirements of the Retirement System), and to amortize the unfunded actuarial costs of benefits likely to be paid on account of Credited Service rendered Service rendered on or after July 1, 2014 and before the first day of the Plan Year (the unfunded actuarial accrued liability of Component I of the Retirement System).

### Sec 9.2. Funds

Component I of the Retirement System shall consist of the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund, the Accumulated Voluntary Contribution Fund, the Pension Accumulation Fund, the Rate Stabilization Fund, the Deferred Retirement Option Program Fund (if applicable), the Medical Benefits Account Fund, the Expense Fund and the Income Fund, as follows:

- (1) The Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund shall be the Fund in which shall be accumulated the contributions of Members to provide their Retirement Allowances. Upon the retirement, termination, disability or death of a Member with a Retirement Allowance, the Member's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions shall be deemed to be part of the Pension Reserve which shall be used to pay the Member's or Beneficiary's Retirement Allowance.
- (2) The Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contribution Fund shall be the Fund in which shall be accumulated the voluntary after-tax contributions of Members, together with earnings thereon.
- (3) The Pension Accumulation Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated reserves for the Retirement Allowances and other benefits payable from that portion of the City's annual contribution as is designated by the City to be utilized for payment of Retirement Allowances, and amounts transferred to Component I as provided in Section G-2(f) of Component II to finance Transition Cost (as defined in Section G-2(f) of Component II), together with earnings thereon, and from which shall be paid Retirement Allowances and other benefits on account of Members.
- (4) The Rate Stabilization Fund shall be the Fund to which shall be credited the City's contributions in excess of the amount of the City's contribution which is credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund, together with earnings thereon, and amounts transferred to Component I as provided in Section G-2(f) of Component II.
- (5) The Deferred Retirement Option Plan Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated the amounts credited to the DROP Accounts of Members who have elected to participate in the DROP Program pursuant to Article 12, together with earnings

-38 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 50 of thereon, provided that the DROP Accounts are held and invested within the Retirement System.

- (6) The Medical Benefits Account Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated the amounts contributed to the Retirement System for the purposes of funding Medical Benefits, together with earnings thereon.
- (7) The Expense Fund shall be the fund to which shall be credited funds, if any, provided to the Retirement System by the City to pay the administrative expenses of the Retirement System, and from which shall be paid certain expenses incurred in connection with the administration and operation of the Retirement System.
- (8) The Income Fund shall be the Fund to which shall be credited all interest, dividends, and other income derived from the investments of the assets of Component I of the Retirement System and earnings thereon, all gifts and bequests received by Component I of the Retirement System, and all other moneys credited to Component I of the Retirement System, the disposition of which is not specifically provided for in this Article 9. There shall be paid or transferred from the Income Fund, all amounts required to credit earnings and losses to the various Funds of the Retirement System in accordance with the provisions of Component I of this Combined Plan Document. Amounts credited to the Income Fund in excess of amounts needed to credit earnings and losses of the Retirement System as provided in this Component I for any Plan Year shall be used in the following manner in the following order: (i) to pay administrative expenses of Component I (to the extent there are insufficient funds for this purpose credited to the Expense Fund), and/or (ii) transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund and used to pay Retirement Allowances and other benefits on account of Members.

# Sec 9.3. Method of Financing Retirement System Benefits

- (1) The pension liabilities for Members under this Component I shall be determined by the Plan's Actuary using the Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method of actuarial valuation.
- (2)The City's annual contribution to finance the prospective pension liabilities during the nine Plan Year period commencing July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2023 shall be (a) eleven and two-tenths percent (11.2%) of the Compensation of active employees who are members of the DFFA (for pay periods ending on or before November 6, 2014) and members of DPOA (for pay periods ending on or before October 3, 2014) and (b) twelve and one-quarter percent (12.25%) of the Compensation of active employees who are members of the DPCOA, the DPLSA, the DPOA (for pay periods beginning on or after October 3, 2014) and the DFFA (for pay periods beginning on or after November 6, 2014). A portion of the City's annual contribution for each Plan Year shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund and a portion shall be credited to the Rate Stabilization Fund, each amount as determined by the City in its sole discretion. For plan years commencing July 1, 2023 and later, the accrued pension liabilities for Members shall be determined by the Actuary using reasonable and appropriate actuarial assumptions approved by the Board and the Investment Committee. The City's annual contributions to finance the normal cost of benefits and any such unfunded accrued pension liabilities

- 39 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 51 of 83 shall be determined by the Actuary amortizing such unfunded accrued pension liabilities over a period or periods of future years as established by the Board and approved by the Investment Committee.

(3) Except as provided in Section 9.5, for each Plan Year, a Member who was an active employee as of June 30, 2014 ("current active") shall contribute to the Retirement System an amount equal to six percent (6%) of his or her Compensation for such Plan Year and a Member who is hired or rehired by the City on or after July 1, 2014 ("new employee") shall contribute to the Retirement System an amount equal to eight percent (8%) of his or her Compensation for such Plan Year. A Member's Mandatory Employee Contributions for the Plan Year beginning July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2015 shall commence as of the Member's first payroll date occurring in August 2014. The officer or officers responsible for processing the payroll shall cause a Member's Mandatory Employee Contributions to be deducted from the Member's Compensation on each and every payroll, for each and every payroll period, from the later of (i) the Member's first payroll date occurring in August 2014 and (ii) the Member's date of hire, to the date he or she ceases to be an active Member. The contribution shall be deducted from a Member's Compensation, notwithstanding that the minimum compensation provided by law for any Member shall be reduced thereby. Payment of compensation, less said Mandatory Employee Contributions, shall be a complete discharge of all claims and demands whatsoever for the services rendered by the said Member during the period covered by such payment. Member Mandatory Employee Contributions will be used for the purpose of funding the normal cost of the Retirement System.

# Sec 9.4. Member Contributions Picked-Up

- (1) The City shall pick up Member Mandatory Employee Contributions required pursuant to Sections 9.3(3) and 9.5 in accordance with Code Section 414(h).
- (2) The picked-up contributions, although designated as employee contributions shall be treated as City contributions for the purpose of determining a Member's tax treatment under the Internal Revenue Code. The City shall pay the contributions picked-up on behalf of a Member from the same source of funds that are used for paying compensation to the Member.
- (3) The City shall pick up Member Mandatory Employee Contributions by a reduction in the Member's cash salary or an offset against a future salary increase, or both. The City shall designate the Mandatory Employee Contributions that are picked-up and paid to the Retirement System as employer contributions and not as employee contributions. No Member who participates in the Retirement System shall have the option of choosing to receive the contributed amounts directly instead of having those amounts paid by the City to the Retirement System.

# Sec 9.5. Fiscal Responsibility: Benefit Reductions and Increased Funding Obligations

(1) To safeguard the long-term actuarial and financial integrity of the Retirement System, in the event the funding level of Component I of the Retirement System projected over a

five year period falls below ninety percent (90%), the Trustee may not award the variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) described in Section 6.2 to any individual beginning with the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which such determination is made and continuing until the funding level is restored to not less than ninety percent (90%).

- (2) In the event the funding level of the Retirement System projected over a five year period falls below ninety percent (90%), the following remedial action shall be required in the order set forth below, beginning with the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which such determination is made and continuing until the funding level is projected to be not less than one hundred percent (100%) on a market value basis within the next five years:
  - (a) the remedial action required in Section 9.5(1) shall be implemented or continued;
  - (b) all amounts credited to the Rate Stabilization Fund shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund for the purposes of funding benefits payable under the Retirement System;
  - (c) Mandatory Employee Contributions for active and new employees shall be increased by one percent (1%) per year for up to the next following five Plan Years;
  - (d) Mandatory Employee Contributions for active and new employees shall be increased by an additional one percent (1%) per year for up to the next following five Plan Years;
  - (e) Mandatory Employee Contributions for active and new employees shall be increased by an additional one percent (1%) per year for up to the next following five Plan Years;
  - (f) the Retirement Allowance payable to a Retiree shall not include the variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) that was most recently paid to the Retiree on the date the funding level is projected to fall below ninety percent (90%);
  - (g) the Retirement Allowance payable to a Retiree shall not include the variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) that was most recently added to the Member's Retirement Allowance for the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year referenced in paragraph (f) above;
  - (h) Mandatory Employee Contributions for active and new employees shall be increased by an additional one percent (1%) per year for up to the next following five Plan Years; and
  - (i) contributions made to the Retirement System by the City shall be increased, consistent with applicable actuarial principles and the *Public Employee* Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.

-41 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 53 of 83 (3) For purposes of this Section 9.5, the "funding level" of Component I of the Retirement System shall mean the ratio of the market value of the assets of Component I of the Retirement System to the actuarial accrued liability of Component I of the Retirement System. The actuarial accrued liability shall be calculated by the Plan's Actuary utilizing an interest rate assumption of six and three-quarters percent (6.75%) and other reasonable assumptions as directed by the Board upon the recommendation of the Investment Committee. The market value of assets shall be determined on the basis of a three-year look back period of smoothed investment returns.

## **ARTICLE 10. VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS**

#### Sec 10.1. Voluntary Employee Contributions; Amount; Vesting

Subject to procedures established by the Board, a Member who is covered by a collective bargaining agreement with the City that permits the Member to make Voluntary Employee Contributions to Component I of the Retirement System may elect to contribute a whole percentage not less than one percent (1%) nor more than ten percent (10%) of his or her Compensation for a Plan Year to a Voluntary Employee Contribution Account maintained on his or her behalf under Component I of the Retirement System. A Member represented by the DPOA may elect to reduce the amount paid to him or her by the City for accumulated sick leave in excess of 400 hours by a whole percentage not less than one percent (1%) nor more than one hundred percent (10%) of such amount and have such amount contributed by the City to a Voluntary Employee Contribution Account maintained on his or her behalf under Component I of the Retirement on his or her behalf under Component I of such amount and have such amount contributed by the City to a Voluntary Employee Contribution Account maintained on his or her behalf under Component I of the Retirement System. Voluntary Employee Contributions shall be made to the Retirement System on an after-tax basis. Amounts credited to a Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account shall be one hundred percent (100%) vested at all times.

#### Sec 10.2. Changing an Election to Contribute

A Member may change or revoke an election to make Voluntary Employee Contributions to the Retirement System pursuant to this Article 10 in such manner and with such advance notice as the City shall determine. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Member shall be permitted to change such election not less frequently than annually.

#### Sec 10.3. Individual Member Accounting; Crediting of Earnings

The Board shall maintain a Voluntary Employee Contribution Account on behalf of each Member who elects to make Voluntary Employee Contributions to the Retirement System. Each Plan Year, a Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account shall be credited with earnings at a rate equal to the actual net investment rate of return on the assets of the Retirement System for the second Fiscal Year immediately preceding the Fiscal Year in which the earnings are credited; in no event, however, shall the earnings rate credited to a Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account for any Plan Year be less than zero percent (0%) nor greater than five and one-quarter percent (5.25%).

#### Sec 10.4. Distribution of Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions

- (1) If a Member ceases employment with the City other than by reason of death, the Member may elect to receive distribution of the Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions credited to his or her Voluntary Employee Contribution Account. If a Member elects to receive his or her Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions, such amounts shall be paid to the Member in a lump sum payment or in equal monthly installments for a period not to exceed three years, according to such rules and regulations as the Board may adopt from time to time.
- (2) In lieu of receiving distribution of his or her Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions as provided in Section 10.4(1), a Member may elect to have the Actuarial

- 43 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 55 of 83 Equivalent Value of his or her Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions added to his or her Retirement Allowance and paid in the form of an annuity described in Section 8.1. Any such annuity shall be subject to market rates of investment return and other market-related assumptions, as adopted by the Board upon recommendation of the Investment Committee.

(3) If a Member dies while employed by the City or following termination of employment but prior to receiving distribution of the Member's Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions, the amounts credited to the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account at the time of death shall be paid to the Beneficiary nominated in a written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. In the event there is no such designated Beneficiary surviving, the Member's Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions shall be paid to the Member's estate. If a Member who dies without a legal will has not nominated a Beneficiary, the Member's Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions at the time of death may be used to pay burial expenses if the Member leaves no other estate sufficient for such purpose. Such expenses shall not exceed a reasonable amount as determined by the Board.

# **ARTICLE 11. LOAN PROGRAM FOR VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS**

### Sec 11.1. The Loan Program

A loan program shall be available to Members who have amounts credited to a Voluntary Employee Contributions Account under Component I of the Retirement System. The Board is authorized to adopt rules and regulations, from time to time, to govern the administration and the operation of the loan program. Copies of the rules shall be made available to eligible Members in the offices of the Retirement System. Any loans granted or renewed under the Retirement System shall be made and administered pursuant to and in compliance with Section 72(p) of the Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

### Sec 11.2. Eligibility for Loan

Subject to the rules and procedures established by the Board, loans may be made to eligible Members from such Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account. An eligible Member is any Member who has participated in the Retirement System for twelve months or more. Former Members, Spouses and Beneficiaries are not eligible to receive any loans from the Retirement System. No Member shall have more than two outstanding loans from the Retirement System (Component I and/or Component II) at any time. A Member who has previously defaulted on a loan under either Component I or Component II shall not be eligible for a loan from the Retirement System.

### Sec 11.3. Amount of Loan

An eligible Member who has satisfied applicable rules and procedures established by the Board may borrow from his or her Voluntary Employee Contribution Account an amount which does not exceed the lesser of (i) fifty percent (50%) of the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account balance, and (ii) Fifteen Thousand Dollars (\$15,000.00), in each case reduced by: (1) the Member's highest outstanding loan balance under the Retirement System (both Component I and Component II) during the one year period ending on the day before the date on which the loan is made, or (2) the outstanding loan balance under the Retirement System (both Component I and Component II) on the date on which the loan is made, whichever is less. The minimum loan amount shall be One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00).

#### Sec 11.4. Terms and Conditions

In addition to such rules and procedures that are established by the Board, all loans shall comply with the following terms and conditions:

- (a) Each loan application shall be made in writing.
- (b) All loans shall be memorialized by a collateral promissory note for the amount of the loan, including interest, payable to the order of the Retirement System and properly executed by the Member.
- (c) Each loan shall be repaid by substantially equal payroll deductions over a period not to exceed five years, or, where the loan is for the purpose of buying a

principal residence, a period not to exceed fifteen years. In no case shall the amount of the payroll deduction be less than Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) for any two-week pay period. A Member receiving a loan will be required to authorize payroll deductions from his or her compensation in an amount sufficient to repay the loan over its term.

- (d) An amount equal to the principal amount of the loan to a Member (but not more than one half of the Member's vested interest in the Defined Contribution Plans of the Retirement System) will be designated as collateral for guaranteeing the loan.
- (e) Each loan shall bear interest at a rate determined by the Board. The Board shall not discriminate among Members in its determination of interest rates on loans. However, loans initiated at different times may bear different interest rates, where, in the opinion of the Board, the difference in rates is supported by a change in market interest rates or a change in the Retirement System's current assumed rate of return. The loan interest rate shall bear a reasonable relationship to market rates for secured loans of a similar duration and shall bear a reasonable relationship to the costs to the Retirement System of administering the loan. The loan interest rate shall be calculated in a manner that will not negatively affect either the City's costs with respect to the Retirement System or the investment return allocated to Members.
- (f) Loan repayments shall be suspended during a period of military service, as permitted by Section 414(u)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code. A Member who has an outstanding loan balance from the Retirement System who is absent from employment with the City, and who has satisfied the requirements of Section 414(u) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not be required to make loan repayments to the Retirement System during said periods of absence.

#### Sec 11.5. Loan Balance

A Member's outstanding loan balance shall be considered a directed investment by the Member and interest payments shall be credited to the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account (provided that the interest credited to the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account shall be reduced appropriately to cover the administrative costs of the loan program and avoid negatively affecting the City's costs or the Retirement System's investment returns), and shall not be part of the Retirement System's net investment income or part of the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account balance for the purpose of allocation of net investment income under the Retirement System.

#### Sec 11.6. Default

In the event a Member defaults on a loan before the loan is repaid in full, the unpaid balance thereof will become due and payable and, to the extent that the outstanding amount is not repaid by the end of the calendar quarter which follows the calendar quarter in which the last payment was received, such amount shall be deemed to have been distributed to the Member for tax purposes, consistent with Section 72(p) of the Internal Revenue Code.

#### Sec 11.7. Distribution

No distribution shall be made to a Member, former Member, Spouse or Beneficiary from the Retirement System until all outstanding loan balances and applicable accrued interest have been repaid or offset against amounts distributable to the Member from the Retirement System.

### Sec 11.8. Annual Report

The Retirement System shall include, in its annual report to all Members, an accounting of the loan program established by this Component I, which contains the number and amount of loans made, the costs of administering the program, the amount of payments made including interest received by the Retirement System, the amount of loans outstanding, including any defaults or delinquencies, and an evaluation as to whether the interest charged in the Fiscal Year covered the costs of administering the loan program.

# **ARTICLE 12. DEFERRED RETIREMENT OPTION PLAN ("DROP") PROGRAM**

## Sec 12.1. General Provisions

The following provisions are hereby established as the Deferred Retirement Option Plan ("DROP") Program under Component I, which shall be available to Members who are covered by collective bargaining agreements with the City that permit such Members to participate in the DROP program and those non-union executives of the Police Department and the Fire Department.

- (1) In lieu of terminating employment and accepting a Retirement Allowance under the Component I, any Member of the Retirement System who is eligible for the DROP program and who is eligible to immediately retire and receive an unreduced Retirement Allowance under Section 5.1 may elect to participate in the DROP program and defer the receipt of his or her Retirement Allowance in accordance with the provisions of this Article 12. Any such election shall be irrevocable.
- (2) A Member shall be entitled to participate in the DROP program under Component I for a maximum of five years. At the end of such five year period of participation in the DROP program, the Member shall be retired from employment.

## Sec 12.2. Conversion to Retirement Allowance

Upon the effective date of a Member's participation in the DROP program, the Member shall cease to accrue a Retirement Allowance pursuant to Section 6.1 and shall elect a form of payment for his or her Retirement Allowance pursuant to Section 8.1. Seventy-five percent (75%) of the monthly Retirement Allowance (including applicable variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) increases) that would have been payable, had the Member elected to terminate employment with the City on the effective date of his or her DROP election and receive an immediate Retirement Allowance, shall be paid into a DROP Account established on behalf of the Member under the Retirement System or in an entity selected by the Board.

# Sec 12.3. Investment of DROP Assets

- (1) ING was previously selected by the Board as the DROP administration and investment entity for Members who elect to participate in the DROP program. ING shall continue to be the DROP administration and investment entity, unless and until such time as the Board terminates the agreement with ING as provided in paragraph (4) or determines that it is administratively feasible for the DROP program to be administered and invested under the Retirement System.
- (2) As soon as possible after July 1, 2014, the Board shall determine whether it is administratively feasible for the DROP program to be administered and the assets in DROP accounts invested under the Retirement System. If the Board determines that it is feasible to administer the DROP program under the Retirement System, the Board shall promptly take appropriate steps to implement such decision.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 60 of

- (3) If amounts credited to a DROP Account are invested under the Retirement System, such amounts shall be comingled with the assets of the Retirement System for investment purposes and shall be invested by the Trustees. A Member's DROP Account shall be credited with annual earnings at a rate equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of the actual net earnings rate of the assets of the Retirement System; however, in no event shall the earnings rate applied to a Member's DROP Account for any Plan Year be less than zero percent (0%) nor greater than seven and three-quarters percent (7.75%).
- (4) The Board of Trustees previously entered into an administrative services agreement with ING. Such agreement shall remain in effect until such time as it is terminated by the Board as provided therein.
- (5) The Board of Trustees may replace ING with a trust-type vehicle or the Board may determine that amounts subject to a DROP election will be invested with Retirement System assets as provided above.
- (6) Any fees associated with the maintenance of DROP Accounts outside of the Retirement System shall be paid by the Members by means of deduction from their DROP Accounts.

### Sec 12.4. Distribution of Amounts Credited to DROP Account

A Member shall not receive a distribution of amounts credited to his or her DROP Account prior to his or her termination of employment with the City. Upon termination of employment, a Member who is a participant in the DROP program shall receive, at his or her option either a lump sum payment from the DROP Account equal to the amount then credited to the DROP Account or an annuity based upon the amount credited to his or her DROP Account. Any such annuity shall be subject to market rates of interest return and other market-related assumptions as adopted by the Board upon recommendation of the Investment Committee. In addition, one hundred percent (100%) of the Member's monthly Retirement Allowance that otherwise would have been paid as of the date the Member's participation in the DROP program commenced (together with any applicable variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) increases) shall commence to the Member in accordance with the form of payment selected by the Member at the commencement of his or her participation in the DROP program. Termination of employment includes termination of any kind, such as resignation, retirement, discharge or disability.

#### Sec 12.5. Death of Member While Participating in the DROP Program

If a Member dies while participating in the DROP program, a lump sum payment equal to the Member's DROP Account balance shall be paid to the Beneficiary named by the Member, or if no Beneficiary has been designated, to the Member's estate. In addition, one hundred percent (100%) of the Member's Retirement Allowance (together with any applicable variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) increases) that would have been paid to the Member but for the Member's decision to participate in the DROP program will be restored. Survivor benefits, if any, shall be paid in accordance with the payment option elected by the deceased Member at the time the Member elected to participate in the DROP program.

#### Sec 12.6. Disability of Member While Participating in the DROP Program

If a Member becomes Totally Disabled while participating in the DROP program and while still an Employee and his or her employment with the City is terminated because he or she is Totally Disabled, such Member (a) shall be immediately retired and one hundred percent (100%) of the Retirement Allowance that would have been paid to the Member as of the date the Member's participation in the DROP program commenced (together with any applicable variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) increases) will commence in accordance with the payment option selected by the Member at the commencement of the Member's participation in the DROP program as provided in Section 12.1(2), and (b) shall be entitled to receive payment of the funds in his or her DROP Account (in the form of a lump sum or other Actuarially Equivalent form of payment described in Section 8.1). Such Member shall not be entitled to disability retirement benefits under Section 5.3 or Section 5.4 hereof.

#### Sec 12.7. Cost Neutrality

- (1) The DROP program shall be effective only for as long as it is cost-neutral to the City, provided however, that the DROP program shall continue during the pendency of proceedings, described in paragraph (2) below, designed to restore the Retirement System to cost neutrality.
- (2)If the City contends that the DROP program is not cost-neutral, including, but not limited to, making the City's annual contribution to the Retirement System higher than it would be if the DROP program was not in effect, the Board and the City, along with the Plan Actuary and an actuary appointed by the City (who will be an associate or a fellow of the Society of Actuaries and a member of the American Academy of Actuaries) shall meet and confer in good faith regarding the cost. If the Board and the City are unable to reach an agreement as to cost, the matter shall be submitted to a third, independent, actuary chosen or agreed upon by the Plan Actuary and the City's actuary. This actuary, when rendering a decision, will be limited to ordering implementation of changes necessary to make the DROP program cost-neutral. Upon the implementation of changes necessary to make the DROP program cost-neutral, Members shall have thirty days to elect to either (a) retire from active employment with the City, or (b) withdraw from the DROP program and resume active participation in Component I of the Retirement System. The Board shall notify DROP participants of these changes prior to implementation. Those DROP participants resuming participation in Component I of the Retirement System shall not accumulate Credited Service for any time that they were participating in the DROP program (under either Component I or Component II). Those not making either election shall continue to participate in the DROP program.
- (3) In the event the DROP program cannot be changed to restore cost neutrality, it shall be discontinued and Members participating in the DROP program at that time shall have the option to either (i) retire, or (ii) continue active employment with the City and resume active participation in Component I of the Retirement System. DROP participants resuming participation in Component I of the Retirement System shall not accumulate Credited Service for the time during which such DROP participants participated in the DROP program (under either Component I or Component II).

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 62 of

# **ARTICLE 13. LIMITATION ON BENEFITS AND CONTRIBUTIONS**

### Sec 13.1. Compliance With Code Section 415(b) And Regulations

- (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Combined Plan Document, the defined benefit component of the Retirement System shall be administered in compliance with the provisions of Code Section 415(b) and regulations thereunder that are applicable to governmental plans.
- (2) The maximum annual benefit accrued by a Member during a "limitation year" (which shall be the Plan Year) and the maximum annual benefit payable under the Retirement System to a Member at any time within a Plan Year, when expressed as an annual benefit in the form of a straight life annuity (with no ancillary benefits), shall be equal to \$160,000 (as such amount is adjusted pursuant to Code Section 415(d) for such Plan Year).
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing:
  - (a) if the benefit under the Retirement System is payable in any form other than a straight life annuity, the determination as to whether the limitation described in Section 13.1(2) has been satisfied shall be made, in accordance with the regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, by adjusting such benefit to the Actuarially Equivalent straight life annuity beginning at the same time, in accordance with Section 13.1(9) or (10);
  - if the benefit under the Retirement System commences before Age sixty-two, the (b) determination of whether the limitation set forth in Section 13.1(2) (the "Dollar Limit") has been satisfied shall be made, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, by reducing the Dollar Limit so that the Dollar Limit (as so reduced) is equal to an annual benefit payable in the form of a straight life annuity, commencing when such benefit under the Retirement System commences, which is Actuarially Equivalent to a benefit in the amount of the Dollar Limit commencing at Age sixty-two (adjusted for participation of fewer than 10 years, if applicable); provided, however, if the Retirement System has an immediately commencing straight life annuity commencing both at Age sixty-two and the age of benefit commencement, then the Dollar Limit (as so reduced) shall equal the lesser of (i) the amount determined under this Section 13.1(3)(b) without regard to this proviso, or (ii) the Dollar Limit multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing straight life annuity under the Retirement System and the denominator of which is the annual amount of the straight life annuity under the Retirement System, commencing at Age sixty-two; and
  - (c) if the benefit under the Retirement System commences after Age sixty-five, the determination of whether the Dollar Limit has been satisfied shall be made, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, by increasing the Dollar Limit so that the Dollar Limit (as so increased) is equal to an

- 51 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 63 of 83 annual benefit payable in the form of a straight life annuity, commencing when the benefit under the Retirement System commences, which is Actuarially Equivalent to a benefit in the amount of the Dollar Limit commencing at Age sixty-five; provided, however, if the Retirement System has an immediately commencing straight life annuity commencing both at Age sixty-five and the Age of benefit commencement, the Dollar Limit (as so increased) shall equal the lesser of (i) the amount determined under this Section 13.1(3)(c) without regard to this proviso, or (ii) the Dollar Limit multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing straight life annuity under the Retirement System and the denominator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing straight life annuity under the Retirement System and the denominator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing straight life annuity under the Retirement System and the denominator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing straight life annuity under the Retirement System, commencing at Age sixty-five.

- (4) The adjustments in Sections 13.1(3)(b) shall not apply to a Member with at least 15 years of Credited Service as a Police Member or a Fire Member within the meaning of Code Section 415(b)(2)(H). In addition, the adjustments in Sections 13.1(3)(b) and 13.1(6) shall not apply to benefits payable on account of the disability or the death of a Member.
- (5) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 13.1, except as provided in Section 13.1(6), the maximum annual benefit specified in Section 13.1(2) above shall not apply to a particular Retirement System benefit if (a) the annual amount of such Retirement System benefit, together with the aggregate annual amount of any other pensions payable with respect to such Member under all other defined benefit plans maintained by the City, does not exceed \$10,000 for the Plan Year or any prior Plan Year, and (b) the Member was not at any time a participant in a Defined Contribution Plan maintained by the City.
- (6) In the case of a Member who has less than ten years of participation in the Retirement System, the limitation set forth in Section 13.1(2) shall be such limitation (without regard to this Section 13.1(6)), multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of years of participation in the Retirement System (or parts thereof) credited to the Member and the denominator of which is ten. In the case of a Member who has less than ten years of Vesting Service, the limitations set forth in Section 13.1(2) and in Section 13.1(5) shall be such limitations (determined without regard to this Section 13.1(6)) multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of years of Vesting Service, or parts thereof, credited to the Member and the denominator of which is the number of years of Vesting Service, or parts thereof, credited to the Member and the denominator of which is ten. The adjustment in this Section 13.1(6) shall not apply to benefits paid on account of the disability or death of a Member.
- (7) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 13.1 to the contrary, if the annual benefit of a Member who has terminated employment with the City is limited pursuant to the limitations set forth in Section 13.1(2), such annual benefit shall be increased in accordance with the cost-of-living adjustments of Code Section 415(d).
- (8) For purposes of determining actuarial equivalence under Paragraph (b) or (c) of Section 13.1(3), the interest rate assumption shall be five percent (5%) and the mortality table used shall be the applicable mortality table specified by the Board.

- (9) The Actuarially Equivalent straight life annuity for purposes of adjusting any benefit payable in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) does not apply, as required by Paragraph (a) of Section 13.1(3), is equal to the greater of (a) the annual amount of the straight life annuity payable under the Retirement System commencing at the same annuity starting date as the form of benefit payable to the Member, or (b) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, computed using the interest rate and mortality assumptions set forth in Section 13.1(8).
- (10) The Actuarially Equivalent straight life annuity for purposes of adjusting any benefit payable in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) applies, as required by Paragraph (a) of Section 13.1(3), is equal to the greatest of (a) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same Actuarial Equivalent present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, (b) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same Actuarial Equivalent present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, (b) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, computed using a five and one-half percent (5.5%) interest rate assumption and the applicable mortality table specified by the Board, or (c) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, divided by 1.05.
- (11) For purposes of applying the limitations set forth in this Section 13.1, all qualified defined benefit plans (whether or not terminated) ever maintained by the City shall be treated as one defined benefit plan.
- (12) For purposes of this Section 13.1, the term "compensation" shall include those items of remuneration specified in Treasury Regulation § 1.415(c)-2(b) and shall exclude those items of remuneration specified in Treasury Regulation § 1.415(c)-2(c), taking into account the timing rules specified in Treasury Regulation § 1.415(c)-2(e), but shall not include any amount in excess of the limitation under Code Section 401(a)(17) in effect for the year. The term "compensation" as defined in the preceding sentence shall include any payments made to a Member by the later of (a) two and one-half months after the date of the Member's severance from employment with the City or (b) the end of the limitation year that includes the date of the Member's severance from employment, such payments would have been paid to the Member while the Member continued in employment with the City and are regular compensation for services performed during the Member's regular working hours, compensation for services outside the Member's regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential pay), commissions, bonuses or other similar compensation.
- (13) This Section 13.1 shall be administered in conformity with the regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury interpreting Code Section 415 including, but not limited to those interpreting Section 415(b)(2)(H), and any regulation providing for the "grandfathering" of any benefit accrued prior to the effective date of such regulations or statutory provision.

- 53 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 65 of 83

# Sec 13.2. Compliance with Code Section 415(c) and Regulations

- (1) The "Annual Addition" with respect to a Member for a limitation year shall in no event exceed the lesser of:
  - (a) \$40,000 (adjusted as provided in Code Section 415(d)); or
  - (b) One hundred percent (100%) of the Member's compensation, as defined in Code Section 415(c)(3) and regulations issued thereunder, for the limitation year.
- (2) The Annual Addition with respect to a Member for a limitation year means the sum of his or her Voluntary Employee Contributions made to the Retirement System, and the employer contributions, employee contributions and forfeitures allocated to his or her accounts under any other qualified Defined Contribution Plan (whether or not terminated) maintained by the City, and the amounts described in Code Sections 415(1)(2) and 419A(d)(2) allocated to his or her account.
- (3) In the event the Annual Addition to the Retirement System on behalf of a Member would otherwise exceed the amount that may be applied for his or her benefit under the limitation contained in this Section 13.2, the limitation shall be satisfied by reducing the Member's Voluntary Employee Contributions to the extent necessary and distributing such amounts to the Member.

# **ARTICLE 14. RETIREMENT SYSTEM ADMINISTRATION**

### Sec 14.1. Board of Trustees as Retirement System Administrator

- (1) The Retirement Board shall have the power and authority to manage and administer the Retirement System in accordance with the provisions of this Combined Plan Document.
- (2) The Retirement Board shall provide procedures for the processing and review of benefit claims, corrections of errors, and similar matters, as further described in Section 14.2.
- (3) The Retirement Board and the Retirement System shall not make any payment to active or retired Members or Beneficiaries other than payments that are required by the Retirement System as established by this Combined Plan Document. This prohibition applies to all payments that are not authorized by this Combined Plan Document, whether such payments are those commonly referred to as a "thirteenth check" or payments by any other name.

### Sec 14.2. Powers and Duties of Board

- (1) The Board shall have the following powers and duties:
  - (a) exclusive authority regarding the administration, management and operation of the Retirement System, including, but not limited to, the right to contract for office space, computer hardware and software, and human resource services (any or all of which may be obtained from the City), and to make rules and regulations with respect to the operation of the Retirement System not inconsistent with the terms of the Combined Plan Document and applicable law, and to amend or rescind such rules and regulations;
  - (b) to determine questions of law or fact that may arise as to the rights of any person claiming rights under the Retirement System;
  - (c) to determine the contributions to the Retirement System required of the City and Members pursuant to the documents governing operation of the Retirement System, including the Plan of Adjustment;
  - (d) to construe and interpret the provisions of the Retirement System and to reconcile any inconsistencies;
  - (e) to perform ministerial functions, whether or not expressly authorized, which the Board may deem necessary or desirable in carrying out its duties under the Retirement System;
  - (f) except to the extent authority is vested in the Investment Committee, authority to employ, contract and pay for professional services including, but not limited to, actuarial, investment, legal, accounting, medical, and any other services that the Board considers necessary for the proper operation of the Retirement System;

- 55 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 67 of 83

- (g) except to the extent authority or responsibility is vested in the Investment Committee, to arrange for annual audits of the records and accounts of the Retirement System by a certified public accountant or by a firm of certified public accountants pursuant to generally accepted auditing standards;
- (h) to prepare an annual report for the Retirement System for each Fiscal Year in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. The report shall contain information regarding the financial, actuarial, and other activities of the Retirement System during the Fiscal Year. The Board shall furnish a copy of the annual report to the Mayor and finance director of the City, to the chair of the City Council and the Investment Committee. The report shall also contain a review of the latest actuarial valuation of the Retirement System;
- (i) to maintain or cause to be maintained such separate funds and accounts as are required to be maintained under the provisions of Components I and II of the Combined Plan Document and such additional accounts as the Board deems necessary or expedient for the proper administration of the Retirement System and the administration and investment of the assets of the Retirement System. The Board shall maintain suitable records, data and information in connection with the performance of its functions, including, but not limited to, accurate and detailed accounts of all investments, receipts, disbursements, and other actions, including the proportionate interest therein and contributions of each Member who has made contributions to the Retirement System;
- (j) to correct any error in the records of the Retirement System that results in overpayment or underpayment of contributions to the Retirement System by the City or a Member, or overpayment or underpayment of benefits to a Member, former Member, or Beneficiary by the Retirement System. In the event of overpayment to a Member, former Member or Beneficiary, the Board may, as far as practicable, adjust future payments to such individual in such a manner that the Actuarial Equivalent of the benefit to which such individual was entitled shall be paid;
- (k) to the extent permissible under Michigan law (and consistent with the Retirement System's favorable tax qualified status under Code Section 401(a)), purchase one or more insurance policies to indemnify any person and such person's heirs and legal representatives who is made a party to (or threatened to be made a party to) any action, suit or proceeding whether brought by or in the right of the Board, the Investment Committee or the Retirement System or otherwise, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a Board member, Investment Committee member, director, officer, employee or agent of the Board (or an advisory body or committee of the Board) or the Retirement System. The insurance policies purchased by the Board shall not indemnify any person who is judicially determined to have incurred liability due to fraud, gross negligence or malfeasance in the performance of his or her duties; and

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 68 of

(1) except to the extent authority or responsibility is vested in the Investment Committee, to perform any other function that is required for the proper administration of the Retirement System.

#### Sec 14.3. Executive Director; Employees

The Board shall employ on behalf of the Retirement System an executive director and any other employees for which the Board establishes positions. The executive director shall do all of the following:

- (a) manage and administer the Retirement System under the supervision and direction of the Board;
- (b) annually prepare and submit to the Board for review, amendment, and adoption an itemized budget projecting the amount required to pay the Retirement System's expenses for the following Fiscal Year; and
- (c) perform such other duties as the Board shall delegate to the executive director.

The executive director, unless such power is retained by the Board, shall determine the compensation of all employees of the Retirement System (except the executive director, whose compensation shall be determined by the Board and the chief investment officer, whose compensation shall be determined by the Investment Committee) and such compensation shall be payable from the Retirement System. Any person employed by the Retirement System may but need not be an employee of the City.

## Sec 14.4. Discretionary Authority

The Board shall have sole and absolute discretion to:

- (a) interpret the provisions of the Retirement System;
- (b) make factual findings with respect to any and all issues arising under the Retirement System;
- (c) determine the rights and status of Members, Retirees, Beneficiaries and other persons under the Retirement System;
- (d) decide benefit claims and disputes arising under the Retirement System pursuant to such procedures as the Board shall adopt; and
- (e) make determinations and findings (including factual findings) with respect to the benefits payable hereunder and the persons entitled thereto as may be required for the purposes of the Retirement System.

# Sec 14.5. Administrator's Decision Binding

The Board's decision on any matter arising in connection with administration and interpretation of the Retirement System shall be final and binding on Members, Retirees and Beneficiaries.

#### **ARTICLE 15. MANAGEMENT OF FUNDS**

#### Sec 15.1. Board as Trustee of Retirement System Assets

The Board of Trustees shall be the trustee of the funds held under the Retirement System, shall receive and accept all sums of money and other property paid or transferred to it by or at the direction of the City, and subject to the terms of Article 16, shall have the power to hold, invest, reinvest, manage, administer and distribute such money and other property subject to all terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions imposed on the investment of assets of public employee retirement systems or plans by *Act No. 314* of the *Public Acts of 1965, being sections 38.1132 et seq. of the Michigan Compiled Laws*, as amended.

#### Sec 15.2. Maintenance of Segregated Funds

The Board of Trustees shall maintain separate funds as required for the proper administration of the Retirement System and shall not commingle the assets held under the Retirement System for the purpose of funding benefits accrued by Members prior to July 1, 2014, together with earnings and losses on such assets (or replacement assets), as more fully described in Component II of this Combined Plan Document, with the assets of the Retirement System held for the purpose of paying benefits accrued by Members on and after July 1, 2014 as described in this Component I of the Combined Plan Document. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the assets held under Components I and II of this Combined Plan Document may be commingled for investment purposes, and transferred as provided in Section G-2(f) of Component II.

#### Sec 15.3. Custodian of Funds

The Board of Trustees shall appoint or employ custodians of the assets of the Retirement System. The custodians shall perform all duties necessary and incidental to the custodial responsibility and shall make disbursements as authorized by the Board.

#### Sec 15.4. Exclusive Purpose

All money and other assets of the Retirement System shall be held by the Trustees and invested for the sole purpose of paying benefits to Members and Beneficiaries and shall be used for no other purpose other than payment of the reasonable expenses of maintaining the Retirement System. In exercising its discretionary authority with respect to the management of the money and other assets of the Retirement System, the Trustees shall exercise the care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing, that a person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an enterprise of like character with like aims.

#### Sec 15.5. Prohibited Conduct

Members of the Board and employees of the Retirement System are prohibited from:

(1) Having any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any investment of the Retirement System;

- 59 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 71 of 83

- (2) Being an obligor or providing surety for any money loaned to or borrowed from the Retirement System;
- (3) Except as provided in Article 11, borrowing any money or other assets of the Retirement System; and
- (4) Receiving any pay or other compensation from any person, other than compensation paid by the Retirement System, with respect to investments of the Retirement System.

#### **ARTICLE 16. INVESTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEM ASSETS**

#### Sec 16.1. Investment Powers of the Board and the Investment Committee

Subject to the requirements set forth in this Article 16, the Board shall have the power and authority to manage, control, invest and reinvest money and other assets of the Retirement System subject to all terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions imposed on the investment of assets of public employee retirement systems or plans by *Act No. 314* of the *Public Acts of 1965*, *being sections 38.1132 et seq. of the Michigan Compiled Laws*, as amended. Notwithstanding anything in this Combined Plan Document to the contrary, for the twenty year period following the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, the Investment Committee shall make recommendations to the Board with respect to investment management matters as provided in this Article 16.

All investment management decisions made by the Board, as more fully described in Section 16.2, shall require a recommendation by an affirmative vote of the Investment Committee as provided in this Combined Plan Document. The Board shall take no action with respect to any matter for which the Investment Committee has responsibility and authority, including the investment management matters described in Section 16.2, unless and until such action has been approved by affirmative vote of the Investment Committee. All actions and recommendations of the Investment Committee shall be forwarded to the Board for consideration and are subject to Board approval. If (a) the Board fails to approve or disapprove an investment Committee, and such failure continues for forty-five days after the date that the recommendation was made to the Board, or (b) the Board disapproves an investment management decision within such forty-five day period but fails to provide to the Investment Committee within such forty-five day period a detailed written response outlining the reasons for such disapproval, then the Investment Committee and the chief investment officer are authorized to implement the decision.

If the Board disapproves an investment management decision within such forty-five day period and provides to the Investment Committee within such forty-five day period a detailed written response outlining the reasons for such disapproval, then the Investment Committee shall have forty-five days after the receipt of the Board response to either (a) withdraw the recommended investment management decision, or (b) request, in writing, a conference with the Board to be held within ten days, but not less than five business days, of the request by the Investment Committee to discuss the disapproval by the Board described in the written response. Any such conference shall be conducted with at least three independent Investment Committee members present in person or by phone. Within ten days of the commencement of the conference or twenty days following the Investment Committee's request for a conference if no conference is held, the Investment Committee shall either withdraw the recommended investment management decision or provide the Board with a written explanation of the Investment Committee's decision to proceed with the recommended investment management decision. After delivery of such written explanation by the Investment Committee, the Investment Committee and the chief investment officer are authorized to implement the decision. Any action taken by the Board or the Investment Committee in violation of the terms of this Article 16 shall constitute an ultra vires act and the Investment Committee or the Board is

granted the express right to seek to preliminarily enjoin such action without the need to show irreparable harm.

#### Sec 16.2. Investment Management

- (1) For purposes of this Combined Plan, "investment management decisions" and "investment management matters" shall include:
  - (a) development of an investment policy statement with sound and consistent investment goals, objectives, and performance measurement standards which are consistent with the needs of the Retirement System;
  - (b) within 120 days after the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, placement of all of the assets of the Retirement System not already under qualified management with qualified investment managers selected by the Investment Committee;
  - (c) evaluation, retention, termination and selection of qualified managers to invest and manage the Retirement System's assets;
  - (d) review and affirmation or rejection of the correctness of any and all calculations, actuarial assumptions and/or assessments used by the Actuary including, but not limited to (i) those underlying the restoration of pension benefits, funding levels and amortization thereof, all in accordance with the pension restoration program attached to the Plan of Adjustment (as more fully described in Article K of Component II of this Combined Plan Document), (ii) those underlying the determination of annual funding levels and amortization thereof, and (iii) on or after Fiscal Year 2024, the recommended annual contributions to the Retirement System in accordance with applicable law;
  - (e) in accordance with approved actuarial work as provided in paragraph (d) above and based on the annual actuarial valuation reports and any other projections or reports as applicable from the Actuary or other professional advisors, the determination of the extent of restoration of pension benefits, including but not limited to the payment of all or a portion of the lost COLA payments, all in conformance with the pension restoration program attached to the Plan of Adjustment;
  - (f) communication of the Retirement System's investment goals, objectives, and standards to the investment managers, including any material changes that may subsequently occur;
  - (g) determination and approval of the Retirement System's investment and asset allocation guidelines, taking into account the appropriate liquidity needs of the Retirement System;
  - (h) the taking of corrective action deemed prudent and appropriate when an investment manager fails to perform as expected;

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 74 of

- (i) interpretation of Retirement System governing documents, existing law, the Plan of Adjustment or other financial determination that could affect funding or benefit levels;
- (j) review and approval, prior to final issuance, of the annual audit and all financial reports prepared on behalf of the Retirement System and meet and confer with the Auditor or other professional advisors as necessary prior to approval of the annual audit or other financial reports;
- (k) determination of the funding status of the Retirement System and any remedial action to be taken pursuant to Section 9.5; and
- (1) performance of an asset/liability valuation study for the Retirement System every three years, or more often as requested by the Investment Committee or the Board.

All actions of the Investment Committee shall comply with the provisions of pertinent federal, state, and local laws and regulations, specifically *Public Act 314* and *Plan Investment Guidelines*.

## Sec 16.3. Best Practices

Prior to adopting investment guidelines and asset allocation policies, selecting investment managers or adopting investment return assumptions, the Investment Committee shall have an understanding of and shall give appropriate consideration to the following:

- (a) the fiduciary best practices and institutional standards for the investment of public employee retirement system plan assets;
- (b) the objective to obtain investment returns above the established actuarial investment return assumption to support the restoration of benefits under the pension restoration program described in the Plan of Adjustment and Component II of this Combined Plan Document, to the extent that it is prudent and consistent with the overall funding, liquidity needs and actuarial assumptions governing the Retirement System; and
- (c) the liquidity needs of the Retirement System.

# Sec 16.4. Chief Investment Officer

The Investment Committee shall have the exclusive power to select, retain and terminate the services of a chief investment officer for the Retirement System. The Investment Committee shall determine any and all compensation and other terms of employment of any chief investment officer hired by it. The chief investment officer shall report directly to the Investment Committee and the Executive Director of the Board. The chief investment officer shall be responsible for assisting the Investment Committee and the Board with respect to oversight of the Retirement System's investment portfolio. The chief investment officer shall provide such periodic reports relating to the Retirement System's assets to the Investment Committee and the Board as it or they shall request.

#### Sec 16.5. Investment Consultants

The Board and/or Investment Committee may retain the services of one or more investment consultants who shall be responsible for assisting the Board and the Investment Committee with oversight of the Retirement System's investment portfolio. Any such investment consultant shall be a registered advisor with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and shall be a nationally recognized institutional investment consultant with expertise in the investment of public pension plan assets. Any such investment consultant shall acknowledge in writing its role as investment fiduciary with respect to the Retirement System as defined in the *Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.* The Board or the Investment Committee, as appropriate, shall determine the compensation and other terms of employment of any investment consultant hired by it. The duties of an investment consultant may include, but shall not be limited to:

- (a) providing an asset/liability valuation study for the Retirement System;
- (b) reviewing the Retirement System's asset allocation based on current market assumptions;
- (c) identifying and recommending to the Investment Committee and the Board appropriate investment strategies based on the financial condition of the Retirement System;
- (d) implementing the approved investment strategies, such as recommending to the Investment Committee, for Board approval, an asset allocation strategy, building an investment structure for the Retirement System, and identifying qualified investment managers (through an organized search process) to execute and implement investment strategies;
- (e) monitoring and evaluating the ongoing progress of the investment managers toward stated investment goals and objectives;
- (f) recommending to the Investment Committee and the Board any necessary corrective actions, including adjustments to the investment structure or investment management organizations in the event of a deviation from expectations;
- (g) communicating the investment policies of the Retirement System to the investment managers;
- (h) reviewing the investment policies with the appropriate employees of the Retirement System;
- (i) aiding the Investment Committee in providing recommendations on issues relating to rebalancing and cash flow management, securities lending, transition management, cash equalization and other investment related topics;

-64 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 76 of 83

- (j) attending Investment Committee and Board meetings in person, or telephonically, as needed or as requested;
- (k) meeting with the Investment Committee and the Board to provide detailed quarterly performance reports and executive summaries of performance;
- (1) meeting with the Investment Committee and the Board to review capital markets and inform the Board and Retirement System employees on the current investment environment; and
- (m) meeting with the Investment Committee and the Board to provide recommendations on asset allocation, investment structure, and manager selections.

#### **ARTICLE 17. RETIREE MEDICAL ACCOUNT**

#### Sec 17.1. Establishment of Account

A Medical Benefits Account shall be established and maintained under the Retirement System out of which the Board shall pay the cost, which would otherwise be borne by the City, for certain medical and related benefits provided under the plans or programs maintained by the City to provide Medical Benefits (the "Medical Plans") for the benefit of the Medical Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Article 17 are intended to comply with Section 401(h) of the Code and shall be construed to comply therewith.

#### Sec 17.2. Effective Date

Medical Benefits shall be paid from the Medical Benefits Account beginning October 19, 2014 or such other date recommended by an enrolled actuary (within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(35) of the Code) and approved by the Board and Investment Committee.

#### Sec 17.3. Funding of Benefits

Subject to the Plan of Adjustment and the right reserved to the City to amend or terminate the provision of Medical Benefits under its general power to amend the Combined Plan Document under Section 18.6, the City expects and intends to make actuarially determined contributions under the Retirement System from time to time to fund the Medical Benefits Account. The assets of the Medical Benefits Account may be invested together with the other assets of the Retirement System, in which case earnings of the Retirement System shall be allocated to the Medical Benefits Account on a reasonable basis or such assets may be invested separately. In any event, no part of the Retirement System, other than the assets of the Medical Benefits Account, shall be available to pay for any part of the cost of Medical Benefits.

The amount determined by the City to be contributed for any Plan Year pursuant to the paragraph above shall be reasonable and ascertainable and shall not exceed the total cost for such Plan Year of providing Medical Benefits to the Medical Beneficiaries, determined in accordance with generally accepted actuarial methods and assumptions that are reasonable in view of the provisions and coverage of the medical and other welfare plans providing such benefits, the funding medium and any other applicable considerations. At the time the City makes a contribution to the Trustee, the City shall designate the portion thereof that is allocable to the Medical Benefits Account.

#### Sec 17.4. Limitation on Contributions

At all times the aggregate of the contributions made by the City to provide Medical Benefits shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the sum of the aggregate contributions made by the City to the Plan under Sections 9.3, 9.4 and 9.5, other than the contributions to fund past service credits, plus the aggregate contributions to the Medical Benefits Account. In the event that a contribution under Section 17.3 shall exceed the amount described in the preceding sentence, such contribution shall be reduced by the excess amount.

#### Sec 17.5. Impossibility of Diversion

In no event, prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities to provide Medical Benefits shall the Medical Benefits Account be used for, or diverted to, any purpose other than the payment of such benefits and any necessary or appropriate expenses of administration associated therewith. Any amounts credited to the Medical Benefits Account following the satisfaction of all such liabilities shall be returned to the City.

#### Sec 17.6. Administration

The Medical Plans shall continue to be administered, and claims processed, under their respective terms. The interpretation and administration of the terms of this Article 17 shall be as provided in the provisions of the Combined Plan Document.

#### Sec 17.7. Right to Amend or Terminate Medical Plans

The City expressly reserves the exclusive right, retroactively to the extent permitted by law, to amend, modify, change, terminate or revoke any medical or other welfare plan or policy maintained by the City that provides medical or other welfare benefits, including but not limited to Medical Benefits, and to require Members, former Members, their eligible Spouses and dependents to pay all or any portion of the cost of such medical benefits.

#### Sec 17.8. Reversion

At no time prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities under the Retirement System to provide Medical Benefits, shall any part of the Medical Benefits Account be used for any purpose other than providing Medical Benefits, and any necessary or appropriate expenses attributable to the administration of the Medical Benefits Account. If any residual assets remain in the Medical Benefits Account after the satisfaction of all obligations of the City to provide Medical Benefits to the Medical Beneficiaries, such assets shall be returned to the City. In the event a Medical Beneficiary's interest in the Medical Benefits Account is forfeited prior to the termination of the Retirement System, an amount equal to such forfeiture shall be applied as soon as possible to reduce the City's contributions to the Medical Benefits Account.

#### Sec 17.9. Limitation of Rights

A Medical Beneficiary shall have no right, title or claim in any specific asset of the Medical Benefits Account, but shall have the right only to the Medical Benefits provided from time to time under the Medical Benefits Account.

#### **ARTICLE 18. MISCELLANEOUS**

#### Sec 18.1. Nonduplication of Benefits

If any Member is a participant in another defined benefit pension plan, retirement system or annuity plan sponsored by the City (including Component II of this Retirement System) and the Member is or becomes entitled to accrue pension benefits under such plan or retirement system (including Component II of this Retirement System) with respect to any period of service for which he or she is entitled to accrue a benefit under Component I of this Retirement System, such Member shall not be eligible to accrue or receive payment of a benefit under Component I with respect to such period of service.

#### Sec 18.2. Assignments Prohibited

The right of a person to a pension, annuity, the return of Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions and/or the return of Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions, the Retirement Allowance itself, to any optional form of benefit, to any other right accrued or accruing to any person under the provisions of this Retirement System, and the monies in the various funds of the Retirement System shall not be assignable and shall not be subject to execution, garnishment, attachment, the operation of bankruptcy or insolvency law, or any other process of law whatsoever, except as specifically provided in this Combined Plan Document or by an eligible domestic relations order of a lawful court.

#### Sec 18.3. Protection Against Fraud

A person who, with intent to deceive, makes any statements or reports required under this Retirement System that are untrue, or who falsifies or permits to be falsified any record or records of this Retirement System, or who otherwise violates, with intent to deceive, any terms or provisions of the Retirement System, shall be subject to prosecution under applicable law.

#### Sec 18.4. Errors

If any change or error in the records results in any person receiving from the Retirement System more or less than the person would have been entitled to receive from the Retirement System had the records been correct, the Board shall correct such error and, as far as practicable, shall adjust the payment in such a manner that the Actuarially Equivalent benefit of the benefit to which such person was correctly entitled shall be paid.

#### Sec 18.5. Conviction of Felony; Forfeiture of Rights

If a Member or Retiree shall be convicted of by a court of competent jurisdiction or enters a nolo contendere plea accepted by a court for a felony against the City arising out of his or her service as an employee of the City and while a Member of the Retirement System, the court may order the forfeiture of all or a portion of the rights of the Member to benefits hereunder, except the return of his or her Accumulated Contributions, as provided in the *Public Employee Retirement Benefits Forfeiture Act, MCL 38.2701, et. seq.* In such case, the Retirement System shall pay to an individual, if any, who would otherwise be a Beneficiary of the Member or Retiree whose retirement benefit is being forfeited under this Section 18.5 an

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 80 of 83

Actuarially Equivalent monthly retirement allowance at the Age that the Member or Retiree would have become eligible for unreduced retirement benefits under the Retirement System.

#### Sec 18.6. Amendment; Termination; Exclusive Benefit

The City reserves the right to amend the Combined Plan Document created hereunder at any time; such amendments may include termination of the Retirement System; provided, however, that following the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, no amendment other than amendments permitted under the terms of the Plan of Adjustment (including amendments contemplated in Section K-3(5) of Component II) may be made to the terms, conditions and rules of operation of the Retirement System, the Combined Plan Document or any successors plan or trust that govern the calculation of pension benefits during the period ending June 30, 2023, nor may any amendment or termination deprive any Member, former Member or Beneficiary of any then vested benefit under the Retirement System, except as provided in the Plan of Adjustment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City and the Board have the authority to amend the Combined Plan Document as necessary to retain the tax qualified status of the Retirement System under the Internal Revenue Code. The City shall make no amendment or amendments to the Retirement System which causes any part of the assets of the Retirement System to be used for, or diverted to, any purpose other than the exclusive benefit of Members, former Members or their Beneficiaries; provided, that the City may make any amendment necessary, with or without retroactive effect, to comply with applicable federal law. Any amendment of the Retirement System by the City must be approved by the Council or a person standing in the stead of the Council.

Upon termination of the Retirement System or upon complete discontinuance of contributions to the Retirement System, the rights of all Members to benefits accrued to the date of such termination or discontinuance, to the extent then funded, shall be nonforfeitable.

#### Sec 18.7. Expenses of Administration; Forfeitures Not to Increase Benefits

All expenses relating to administration of Component I of the Retirement System shall be paid from the assets maintained under this Component I and all expenses relating to administration of Component II of the Retirement System shall be paid from the assets maintained under Component II. Any forfeitures arising under the Retirement System due to a Member's termination of employment or death, or for any other reason, shall be used to pay expenses of the appropriate Component of the Retirement System and shall not be applied to increase the benefits any Member would otherwise receive under the Retirement System at any time prior to termination of the Retirement System.

# Sec 18.8. Required Distributions - Compliance with Code Section 401(a)(9) and Regulations

The Retirement System will apply the minimum distribution requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) in accordance with the final regulations issued thereunder, notwithstanding any provision in the Combined Plan Document to the contrary. Pursuant to Code Section 401(a)(9)(A)(ii), a Member's interest must begin to be distributed by the later of (i) the April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year that he or she attains the Age of seventy and one-

- 69 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-1 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 81 of half (70-1/2), or (ii) April 1 of the calendar year following the year in which he or she retires. Distributions will be made in accordance with Regulations Sections 1.401(a)(9)-2 through 1.401(a)(9)-9. The provisions of this Section 18.8 and the regulations cited herein and incorporated by reference override any inconsistent plan distribution options.

#### Sec 18.9. Direct Rollovers

- (1) For purposes of compliance with Code Section 401(a)(31), a distribute may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Board, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distribute in a direct rollover.
  - (a) For purposes of this Section 18.9, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
  - (b) "Direct rollover" means a payment by the Retirement System to an eligible retirement plan specified by a distributee.
  - (c) "Distributee" means a Member or former Member. It also includes the Member's or former Member's surviving Spouse, a Spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under an eligible domestic relations order, or a nonspouse Beneficiary who is a designated beneficiary as defined by Code Section 401(a)(9)(E). However, a nonspouse Beneficiary may only make a direct rollover to an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity established for the purpose of receiving the distribution, and the account or annuity will be treated as an "inherited" individual retirement account or annuity.
  - (d) "Eligible retirement plan" means any of the following that accepts a distributee's eligible rollover distribution:
    - (i) a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a);
    - (ii) an annuity plan described in Code Section 403(a);
    - (iii) an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b);
    - (iv) an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a);
    - (v) an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b);
    - (vi) a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A; or
    - (vii) a plan eligible under Code Section 457(b) that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or a political subdivision of a state that agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into that plan from the Retirement System.

(e) "Eligible rollover distribution" means any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of a distributee under the Retirement System, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or the life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code Section 401(a)(9); the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income; and any other distribution which the Internal Revenue Service does not consider eligible for rollover treatment, such as any distribution that is reasonably expected to total less than \$200 during the year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a portion of a distribution will not fail to be an "eligible rollover distribution" merely because the portion consists of after-tax contributions that are not includible in Member's gross income upon distribution from the Retirement System. However, such portion may be transferred only (i) to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or (b) or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Code Section 401(a) that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred (and earnings thereon), including separately accounting for the portion of the distribution that is includible in gross income and the portion of the distribution that is not so includible; (ii) to a qualified defined benefit plan described in Code Section 401(a) or to an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b) that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred (and earnings thereon), including separately accounting for the portion of the distribution that is includible in gross income and the portion of the distribution that is not so includible; or (iii) to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A.

#### Sec 18.10. Construction

Words in the singular should be read and construed as though used in the plural, and words in the plural should be read and construed as though used in the singular, where appropriate. The words "hereof", "herein", and "hereunder" and other similar compounds of the word "here", shall mean and refer to Component I and/or Component II of this Combined Plan Document or to the Combined Plan Document in its entirety, as the context may require, and not to any particular provision or section thereof. The table of contents, article and section headings are included for convenience of reference, and are not intended to add to, or subtract from, the terms of the Combined Plan Document or the Retirement System created hereunder.

#### Sec 18.11. Severability

If any section or part of a section of this Combined Plan Document or provision relating to the Retirement System is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such holding shall not be construed as affecting the validity of the remaining sections of the Combined Plan Document or Retirement System or of the Combined Plan Document or Retirement System in its entirety.

# EXHIBIT 6D

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 1 of 85

43248841.6/022765.00213

# **COMPONENT II**

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 2 of 85

# ARTICLE A. COMMON PROVISIONS OF THE POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

#### Sec. A-1. Common Provisions

Certain provisions of the Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan described below are common to both Component I and this Component II as in effect July 1, 2014. Those provisions are set forth in the following Articles and

Sections of Component I:

- (a) Article I (General Provisions);
- (b) Article II (Definitions):

Actuarial Equivalent or Actuarially Equivalent

Actuarially Equivalent Value

Administrative Board of Trustees

Administrative Rules and Regulations

Age; Attainment of

Board of Trustees or Board or Retirement Board

City

City Council or Council

Combined Plan

Component I

Component II

DFFA

DPLSA

DPCOA

DPOA

Detroit Police and Fire Retirement System or Retirement System

**Fiscal Year** 

Internal Revenue Code or Code

Investment Committee

Medical Director

Notice to Members, Beneficiaries and Retirees;

Plan Actuary or Actuary;

Plan Document or Combined Plan Document;

Plan of Adjustment;

Plan Year;

Spouse;

Straight Life Retirement Allowance; and

Total Disability or Totally Disabled;

- (c) Article 13 (Limitation on Benefits and Contributions);
- (d) Article 14 (Retirement System Administration);
- (e) Article 15 (Management of Funds);
- (f) Article 16 (Investment of Retirement System Assets); and
- (g) Article 18 (Miscellaneous).

# ARTICLE B. FREEZE OF POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AS OF JUNE 30, 2014

#### Sec. B-1. Freeze of Police and Fire Retirement System as of June 30, 2014.

Notwithstanding anything in Chapter 47 of the 1984 Detroit City Code, or in Chapter 54, Article II of the 1964 Detroit City Code, or any ordinances, resolutions, or orders, or parts thereof, whether codified or not codified, or any collective bargaining agreement or other documents governing terms of employment to the contrary, effective as of June 30, 2014 (the "Freeze Date"):

- (a) No new employee hired by the City on or after July 1, 2014 shall become a Member who is eligible to accrue a benefit under the terms of the Police and Fire Retirement System in effect as of the Freeze Date;
- (b) No employee who is rehired by the City on or after July 1, 2014 and who received a distribution of his or her accumulated employee contributions prior to July 1, 2014, shall become a Member who is eligible to accrue a benefit under the terms of the Police and Fire Retirement System in effect as of the Freeze Date; provided, however, that if a Member who is entitled to a Frozen Accrued Benefit as defined in subsection (d) of this Section B-1 and who is rehired by the City on or after July 1, 2014 repays to the Police and Fire Retirement System in accordance with a payment schedule approved by the Board of Trustees the amount of accumulated employee contributions that he or she withdrew, then such Member shall be eligible to accrue service credit under this Component II following rehire solely for the purpose of determining the Member's eligibility for payment of his or her Frozen Accrued Benefit;
- (c) No Member shall make contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund under the Police and Fire Retirement System in effect as of June 30, 2014 with respect to payroll dates occurring on or after August 1, 2014 and all Member contributions made with respect to payroll dates occurring on or after August 1, 2014 shall be made to and in accordance with the terms of Component I of the Combined Plan;
- (d) Benefit accruals for Members with respect to service rendered prior to July 1, 2014 will be frozen based on a Member's years of service and Average Final Compensation and the pension multiplier formulae as of such Freeze Date ("Frozen Accrued Benefit");
- (e) Except as otherwise provided in this Section B-1, compensation of a Member shall be frozen effective as of the Freeze Date for purposes of determining the Member's Frozen Accrued Benefit. No compensation of any type earned by a Member after the Freeze Date shall be taken into consideration for purposes of determining the Member's Frozen Accrued Benefit under the Police and Fire Retirement System;
- (f) Any Member who, as of June 30, 2014, would have been eligible to elect to use a portion of the unused accrued sick leave that he or she could have received in cash upon retirement ("Cashable Sick Leave") to increase his or her Average Final

Compensation if the Member had been eligible to retire and had elected to retire as of June 30, 2014, shall have a one-time election to have the value of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Member's Cashable Sick Leave as of June 30, 2014 included in the computation of the Member's Average Final Compensation for purposes of determining the Member's Frozen Accrued Benefit ("Sick Leave Election"); provided, however, that the amount of the member's Cashable Sick Leave at the time the completed election form is received by the Retirement System is at least equal to the value of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Member's Cashable Sick Leave as of June 30, 2014 and, provided further that the completed election form is received by the Retirement System no later than the dates established by the City. A Member's Sick Leave Election shall be made in the manner set forth by the Board of Trustees and the Police and Fire Retirement System. Notwithstanding anything in this subsection (f) to the contrary, a Member's Sick Leave Election will be void and the determination of the Member's Average Final Compensation for purposes of calculating the Member's Frozen Accrued Benefit will not take into account any of the Member's Cashable Sick Leave, if (i) the electing Member would not have been eligible to receive an immediate service retirement benefit if he or she retired as of June 30, 2014, and (ii) the electing Member's employment with the City is terminated before the electing Member becomes eligible for an immediate service retirement benefit under the Police and Fire Retirement System. In any such case, the value of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Member's Cashable Sick Leave shall be restored to such Member;

- (g) Service earned after the Freeze Date shall be credited to a Member under this Component II solely for purposes of determining a Member's vesting in and eligibility for payment of his or her Frozen Accrued Benefit and to a rehired Member solely for purposes of determining the Member's eligibility for payment of his or her Frozen Accrued Benefit. Service credit for all Members for benefit accrual purposes under the terms of the Police and Fire Retirement System in effect as of the Freeze Date shall be frozen effective as of the Freeze Date and no Member shall earn service credit with respect to benefits payable under the terms of the Police and Fire Retirement System in effect as of the Freeze Date (except for vesting and benefit payment eligibility purposes) after the Freeze Date; and
- (h) The Deferred Retirement Option Plan ("DROP") program shall remain in effect for all Members who have either enrolled in or elected to participate in the DROP program as of June 30, 2014. Members also may elect to participate in the DROP program after June 30, 2014 with respect to their Frozen Accrued Benefits; however, a Member's participation in the DROP program with respect to such Frozen Accrued Benefits shall be limited to five years.

The foregoing terms of Section B-1 shall be referred to as the "Freeze" of the provisions of the Police and Fire Retirement System as in effect on the Freeze Date and the provisions of Component II of the Police and Fire Retirement System shall be interpreted and construed by the Board of Trustees and the Police and Fire Retirement System to give full effect to the Freeze. To the extent that a conflict arises between this Section B-1 and the provisions of Chapter 54 of the 1964 Detroit City Code, or any Charter, ordinances, resolutions, or orders, or parts thereof, whether codified or not codified, or any collective bargaining agreement or other document governing terms of employment of an employee, the Board of Trustees and the Police and Fire Retirement System are directed to interpret any inconsistency or ambiguity to give full effect to the Freeze.

## **ARTICLE C. DEFINITIONS**

#### Sec. C-1. **Definitions.**

Unless a different meaning is plainly required by context, for purposes of this Component II the following words and phrases have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this Section C-1:

- (1) Accrued Service shall mean a Member's credited service for employment rendered before the date of an actuarial valuation of the Retirement System and before July 1, 2014.
- (2)Accumulated Contributions shall mean the sum of all amounts deducted from the compensation of a Member and credited to his or her individual account in the Annuity Savings Fund, together with Regular Interest, as provided in this Component II of the Combined Plan.
- (3) Annuity shall mean payments derived from the Accumulated Contributions of a Member.
- (4) Annuity Reserve shall mean the present value of all payments to be made on account of any Annuity, or benefits in lieu of any Annuity, computed on the basis of such mortality tables and Regular Interest as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees.
- (5) Average Final Compensation shall mean:
  - With respect to an "Old Plan Member" (an employee described in Section a. F-2(a)) the current maximum salary for the rank(s), grade(s) or position(s) held by the Member over the sixty (60) months immediately preceding the earlier of: (i) the date his or her employment with the City last terminated and (ii) June 30, 2014. The salary shall be obtained from the official compensation schedule for the Fiscal Year in which the earlier of the dates described in (i) or (ii) occurs and an average shall be determined. A Member who retires on or after July 1, 2000 (for DPCOA and DFFA members) or July 1, 1998 (for all other Members) and in each case prior to July 1, 2014 shall have the Member's most recent full longevity payment included in his or her Average Final Compensation.
  - Ъ. With respect to a "New Plan Member" (an employee described in Section F-2(b)) the current maximum salary for the rank(s), grade(s) or position(s) held by the Member over the sixty (60) months immediately preceding the earlier of: (i) the date his or her employment with the City last terminated and (ii) June 30, 2014. The salary shall be obtained from the official compensation schedule for the Fiscal Year in which the earlier of the dates described in (i) or (ii) occurs and an average shall be determined. If more than one (1) rank, grade or position has been held over the sixty (60)

month period, a weighted average is determined based on time spent in each rank, grade or position during this sixty (60) month period.

- (i) A Member who retires on or after July 1, 2000 (for DPCOA and fire equivalents) or July 1, 1998 (for all other Members) and in each case prior to July 1, 2014 shall have the Member's most recent full longevity payment included in his or her Average Final Compensation.
- (ii) Effective July 1, 2000, Average Final Compensation shall be calculated for members of the DPCOA, executive members and their fire equivalents by using the current maximum salary for the rank(s), grade(s) or position(s) held by the Member over the thirty-six (36) months immediately preceding the earlier of: (i) the date his or her employment with the City last terminated and (ii) June 30, 2014.
- c. With respect to reduced duty disability retirements occurring on or after July 1, 1992, notwithstanding the provisions of Article F, Part B, Section F-8, for those Members who receive benefits under Article F, Part B, Section F-9(a), the Average Final Compensation used in the computation of the reduced duty disability allowance shall mean the maximum salary at the earlier of (i) the date of conversion to reduced duty disability retirement for the rank(s), grade(s), or positions(s) which were held by the Member over the sixty (60) months prior to his or her duty disability retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014.
- d. Subject to Section B-1(f), for purposes of computing the Average Final Compensation received by a Member who retires on or after July 1, 2008 and prior to July 1, 2014, the Member shall have the option of adding the value of the three year average of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Member's unused accrued sick leave at the time of retirement to the earnings used in computing the Average Final Compensation.
- e. The Average Final Compensation for "Old Plan" and "New Plan" Members represented by DFFA retiring on or after July 1, 1992 or on or after July 1, 2000 for Members represented by DPOA is calculated pursuant to paragraph (b) above. The salary is obtained from the Official Compensation Schedule for the Fiscal Year prior to the earlier of (i) the Member's elective date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014 and an average shall be determined.
- f. Effective July 1, 2000, for Members represented by DFFA with a parity relationship with the DPCOA Inspector, Average Final Compensation shall be calculated pursuant to paragraph (b)(ii) above. The salary is obtained from the Official Compensation Schedule for the Fiscal Year

prior to the earlier of (i) the Member's elective date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014 and an average shall be determined.

- g. For Members represented by DFFA who have a parity relationship with the DPLSA and the DPCOA Inspector, who retire on or after July 1, 1998 and for those having a parity relationship with the DPOA who retire on or after July 1, 2000 and in each case prior to July 1, 2014, the amount of the Member's most recent full longevity payment shall be included in the definition of Average Final Compensation.
- h. Subject to Section B-1(f), all Members represented by DFFA who retire on or after July 1, 2008 and prior to July 1, 2014, may choose to receive the 3-year average of twenty-five percent (25%) of the unused accrued sick leave bank and have that sum included in the average compensation used to compute the Members' service Pension portion of their Retirement Allowance.
- i. Subject to Section B-1(f), non-union uniformed Police and Fire executives represented by DPCOA who retire on or after January 15, 2010 and prior to July 1, 2014 may choose to receive the 3-year average of twenty-five percent (25%) of the unused accrued sick leave bank, and have that sum included in the Average Final Compensation used to compute the Members' service Pension portion of their Retirement Allowance.
- j. Subject to Section B-1(f), a Member represented by DPLSA who retires on or after July 1, 2008 and prior to July 1, 2014 may choose to receive the 3-year average of twenty-five percent (25%) of eighty-five percent (85%) of his or her unused accrued sick leave bank, and have that sum included in the Average Final Compensation used to compute the Member's service Pension of their Retirement Allowance.
- (6) *Beneficiary* shall mean any person or persons (designated by a Member pursuant to procedures established by the Board) who are in receipt of a Retirement Allowance or Pension payable from funds of the Retirement System due to the participation of a Member.
- (7) Decrement Probabilities shall mean the probabilities of a Member's withdrawal from City employment, death while in the employ of the City, retirement from City employment with a Pension payable from funds of the Retirement System, and death after retirement.
- (8) Final Compensation shall mean the annual rate of earnable compensation of a Member at the earlier of (i) the time of termination of employment or (ii) June 30, 2014. Effective July 1, 1992 and prior to July 1, 2014, compensation shall also include the value of the percentage reduction in compensation for non-union employees, pursuant to ordinance, resolution or executive order. In cases of any doubt regarding these values, the decisions of the Board of Trustees shall be

-80 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 10 of 85 controlling to implement the intention that no non-union employee will suffer a diminution of Pension benefits computation due to reduction in compensation because of fiscal emergency and that Pension benefits with respect to Fiscal Years beginning July 1, 1992 and ending June 30, 2014 should always be computed as if no reduction in compensation occurred due to ordinance, resolution or executive order or directive.

- (9) Fire Employees (formerly referred to as "Firemen") shall mean all employees of the Fire Department who have taken the oath of office as prescribed in Section 12 of Chapter XXI of Title IV of the 1918 Detroit City Charter employed therein prior to November 10, 1937, and who shall be in the employ of the Fire Department of the City of Detroit prior to the effective date of this amendment and restatement and, where the context requires, all persons who shall take the said oath of office and become members of the Fire Department thereafter.
- (10) *Fire Fighter* shall mean the rank in the Fire Department currently or previously classified by the civil service commission as Fire Fighter.
- (11) Member shall mean any member of the Retirement System who has not retired.
- (12) *Membership Service* shall mean the total service rendered as a Police Employee or Fire Employee prior to July 1, 2014.
- (13) New Plan shall mean the plan originally created by Title IX, Chapter VII, Article IV, Section 1(D) of the 1918 City of Detroit Charter as amended through June 30, 1974 and continued in effect through June 30, 2014 by Article 11, Section 102 of the City of Detroit Charter.
- (14) Old Plan shall mean the plan originally created by Title IX, Chapter VII, Article IV, Section 1(A) and (B) of the 1918 City of Detroit Charter as amended through June 30, 1974 and continued in effect through June 30, 2014 by Article 11, Section 102 of the City of Detroit Charter.
- (15) *Patrolman* shall mean the rank in the Police Department currently or previously known as patrolman.
- (16) *Pension* shall mean the portion of a Retirement Allowance which is paid for by appropriations made by the City and contributions made by any other entity.
- (17) *Pension Reserve* shall mean the present value of all payments to be made on account of any Pension, or benefit in lieu of any Pension, computed upon the basis of such mortality tables and Regular Interest as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees.
- (18) Police Employees (formerly referred to as "Policemen") shall mean all employees of the Police Department who have taken the oath of office as prescribed in Section 12 of Chapter XXI of Title IV of the 1918 Detroit City Charter, and who shall be in the employ of the Police Department of the City of Detroit prior to the

- 81 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 11 of 85 effective date of this amendment and restatement and, where the context requires, all persons who shall take the said oath of office and become members of the Police Department thereafter.

- (19) *Prior Service* shall mean service in the military rendered prior to July 1, 2014 as provided in Section E-3.
- (20) *Regular Interest* shall mean, for a period of five years from the effective date of the Retirement System interest at four per centum per annum, compounded annually. For the subsequent five year period, and each five year period beginning thereafter but prior to July 1, 2013, Regular Interest shall be such rate of interest as the Board of Trustees, in its discretion, may determine and adopt. For Fiscal Years beginning on and after July 1, 2013:
  - a. the annual rate of return for purposes of determining the Regular Interest to be credited to a Member's account in the Annuity Savings Fund shall not be less than zero and shall not be greater than the lesser of (i) 5.25% or (ii) the actual investment return net of expenses of the Retirement System's invested reserves for the second Fiscal Year immediately preceding the Fiscal Year in which the Regular Interest is credited; and
  - b. the rate(s) of Regular Interest adopted by the Board from time to time as necessary for the operation of the Retirement System on an actuarial basis shall not violate the Plan of Adjustment.
- (21) *Retiree* shall mean any Member who has retired with a Pension payable from funds of the Retirement System.
- (22) *Retirement* shall mean for any Member that such Member has retired, with a Pension payable from the funds of the Retirement System.
- (23) Retirement Allowance shall mean the sum of the Annuity and the Pension.
- (24) Retirement System or System shall mean the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit created and established by Title IX, Chapter VII of the 1918 Charter of the City as amended through June 30, 1974 and continued in effect by the provisions of the July 1, 1974 City Charter, and as set forth in the Combined Plan effective as of July 1, 2014 and this amendment and restatement of the Combined Plan.
- (25) Salary Factors shall mean the ratio between a Member's rate of compensation as of the date of an actuarial valuation of the Retirement System and his or her rate of compensation as of the earlier of (i) the date of his or her Retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014.
- (26) Service shall mean service with the City as a Police Employee or Fire Employee.

The following terms shall have the meanings given to them in the Sections of this Combined Plan Document set forth opposite such term:

2023 UAAL Amortization	Section K-3(3)
Accrued Liability Fund	Section G-4(a)
additional years	Section F-9(a)
Adjusted Pension Benefit	Section K-1(1)
Annuity Reserve Fund	Section G-3
Annuity Savings Fund	Section G-2(a)
ASF Return Excess	Section G-2(f)
Authority	Section K-2(1)
cash refund annuity	Section F-11(b
Cashable Sick Leave	Section B-1(f)
Certificate of Default	Section K-2(7)
COLA	Section K-1(1)
Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP)	Section B-1(h)
Disability Retirement Review Board/DRRB	Section F-12(b
Eligible Pensioner	Section K-2(5)
Estimated Adjusted Annual Household Income	Section K-2(3)
Expense Fund	Section G-7
Federal Poverty Level	Section K-2(6)
Freeze	Section R-2(0) Section B-1
Freeze Date	Section B-1
Frozen Accrued Benefit	Section B-1(d)
Funding Conditions	Section K-1(1)
Funded Level	Section K-3(2)
Funding Proceeds	Section G-4(a)
Funding Target	Section K-3(2)
Governor	Section K-3(2) Section K-3(5)
Income Stabilization Benefit	Section K-3(3) Section K-2(2)
Income Stabilization Benefit Plus	Section K-2(2) Section K-2(3)
Income Stabilization Fund	Section $K-2(3)$ Section $K-2(4)$
New Plan Member	Section F-2(4)
Old Plan Member	Section $F-2(a)$
Optional Forms	Section F-23
Option 1. Modified Cash Refund Annuity	Section F-23(a)
Option 2. Joint and Last Survivorship Retirement	Section F-23(a)
Allowance	Section F-25(a)
Option 3. Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor	Section F-23(a)
Allowance	Section F-25(a)
	Section E 22(a)
Option 3(A). Modified Joint and Last Survivorship Allowance	Section F-23(a)
	Section E 22(a)
Option 3(B). Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor	Section F-23(a)
Allowance	Contine 11
Participant Loan Program	Section J-1
Pension Accumulation Fund	Section G-5
Pension Funding Transaction	Section G-4(a)

3)b a) )(3) ) I) Ð ) b)(1) ') ) ), Article I **b**) i) -3)b 5) I) ) !)a ) z)a, K-3(3)a, K-3(4)a ) ) ) ) a)(1) a)(2) a)(3)· a)(4) a)(5)

- 83 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 13 of Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) Pension Reserve Fund Pension Restoration Agreement Pop-up Form Restoration Reserve Account Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger Restoration Target Sick Leave Election Standard Form State Treasurer Straight Life Retirement Allowance Survivors Benefit Fund Transition Cost UAAL Waterfall Classes Section F-14, K-1(1) Section G-6 Section K-3 Section F-23(b)(ii) Section K-3(2)a Section K-3(2)d, K-3(3)a, K-3(4)a Section K-3(2)a, K-3(3)a, K-3(4)a Section B-1(f) Section F-23(b)(i) Section F-23(b)(i) Section F-23(a) Section G-11 Section G-2(f) Section G-4(a) Section K-3(1)

#### **ARTICLE D. MEMBERSHIP**

#### Sec. D-1. Generally.

Subject to Section B-1, the membership of Component II of the Retirement System shall consist of the following:

- (a) All Police Employees and Fire Employees who were in service on or after July 1, 1941, but prior to January 1, 1969; provided, however, that any Police Employee or Fire Employee who, on or before July 1, 1941, shall have been in the employ of the Police or Fire Department for a period of twenty years, or who shall have a total of twenty years of creditable service, shall be excluded from the provisions hereof and shall retain for himself or herself, his or her wife, children, dependent mother and dependent sister all rights and privileges provided by Chapters XV and XXI of title IV of the 1918 Detroit City Charter, unless any such Police Employee or Fire Employee, on or before June 1, 1941, shall file with the City Controller his or her written election to become a Member of the Retirement System, in which event he or she shall be a Member; such excluded Police Employee not electing to become a Member, from and after July 1, 1941, while he or she remains an active member of the Police Department, shall pay five per cent of each salary payment into the fund for retired Police Employees, and any such excluded Fire Employee not electing to become a Member, from and after July 1, 1941, while he or she remains an active member of the Fire Department, shall pay five per cent of each salary payment into the Fire Department Pension and Retirement Fund, and such salary contributions shall hereafter be used toward the payments of Retirement Allowances provided for under Chapter XV, Section 14, subsections (1), (2), and (3) thereof. On retirement, the contributions of such excluded members shall cease.
- (b) All persons who became Police Employees or Fire Employees on or after July 1, 1941, but prior to January 1, 1969, and who are confirmed as Police Employees or Fire Employees according to the rules and regulations of the respective Departments shall thereupon become Members of the Retirement System, subject, however, to the following provisions:
  - (i) Any person who shall become a Police Employee or Fire Employee at an attained Age of thirty-one years or more may become a Member of the Retirement System only by vote of the Board of Trustees who shall fix the rate of contribution of such Member on a basis recommended by the Actuary for the attained Age of such Member.
  - (ii) Any appointive official of the Police Department or Fire Department appointed from the membership thereof shall be permitted to remain a Member of the Retirement System, paying contributions and entitled to benefits as though he or she had remained in the rank, grade or position held at the date of his or her appointment.

- 85 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 15 of

- (iii) Any Police Employee or Fire Employee who, prior to being confirmed, shall be killed or Totally Disabled as the result of the performance of active duty, shall be deemed to have been a Member of the Retirement System.
- (c) Any Member as defined in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section D-1 who shall be transferred to a civilian position in his or her Department shall continue as a Member, subject to all the obligations of a Member.
- (d) All persons who became Police Employees or Fire Employees on or after January 1, 1969 and prior to July 1, 2014 and who are not individuals re-employed with the Police and Fire Departments on or after January 1, 1969 and prior to July 1, 2014, and who are confirmed as Police Employees or Fire Employees according to the rules and regulations of the respective Departments shall thereupon become Members of Component II of the Retirement System subject, however, to the following provisions:
  - (i) Any person who shall become a Police Employee or Fire Employee at an attained Age of thirty-one years or more may become a Member of the Retirement System only by vote of the Board of Trustees who shall fix the rate of contribution of such Member on a basis recommended by the actuary for the attained Age of such Member.
  - (ii) Any appointive official of the Police Department or Fire Department appointed from the membership thereof shall be permitted to remain a Member of the Retirement System, paying contributions and entitled to benefits as though he or she had remained in the rank, grade or position held at the date of his or her appointment.
  - (iii) Any Police Employee or Fire Employee who, prior to being confirmed, shall be killed or Totally Disabled as the result of the performance of active duty, shall be deemed to have been a Member of Component II of the Retirement System.
  - (iv) Any Member as defined in Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) who was separated from service by resignation or dismissal or discharge who subsequently again becomes a Member prior to July 1, 2014 shall be considered a Member for all purposes under this Component II under Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) and shall not be considered a Member under Section D-1(d).
  - (v) Any Member as defined in Section D-1(d) who shall be transferred to a civilian position in his or her Department shall continue as a Member, subject to all the obligations of a Member.

## Sec. D-2. Membership election option prior to July 1, 2014.

Any person who is a Member as defined in Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) who was in active service on January 1, 1969, shall have had the option to elect to become a Member of the Retirement System as defined in Section D-1(d) by filing his or her written election with the Board of Trustees on or before January 31, 1969, or any Retiree who retired on or before

December 31, 1968, under the provisions of Article F, Part B, Section F-8, who returns to active service prior to July 1, 2014 shall have the option to elect to become a Member of Component II of this Retirement System as defined in Section D-1(d), by filing his or her written election with the Board of Trustees on or before the earlier of (i) thirty days after his or her return to active service and (ii) June 30, 2014. The election shall be effective on the date that it is filed with the Board of Trustees.

#### Sec. D-3. Cessation of membership.

- (a) Should a Member die or become a Retiree or be separated from service by resignation, dismissal, or disability, he or she shall thereupon cease to be a Member.
- (b) Any person who became a Member under Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) and ceases to be a Member, as provided in Section D-3(a), and who becomes a Police Employee or Fire Employee prior to July 1, 2014, shall again become a Member of Component II of the Retirement System, under section D-1(a), (b), or (c) subject to the provisions of Article G, Section G-2(d).
- (c) Any person who became a Member under Section D-1(d) and ceases to be a Member, as provided in Section D-3(a), and who becomes a Police Employee or Fire Employee prior to July 1, 2014, shall again become a Member of Component II of the Retirement System under Section D-1(d), subject to the provisions of Article G, Section G-2(d).
- (d) Any Member of the Retirement System from the Fire Department who retires as a Member of the Retirement System and who is rehired prior to July 1, 2014 as a civilian Member of the Fire Department may elect on or before June 30, 2014 to again become a Member of Component II of the Retirement System, subject to the provisions of Article G, Section G-2(d).

#### ARTICLE E. SERVICE CREDITABLE.

#### Sec. E-1. Members to file statement of service, etc.

Under such rules and regulations as the Board of Trustees shall adopt, each Police Employee and Fire Employee who shall become a Member prior to July 1, 2014 shall file a detailed statement of all prior service rendered by him or her as an employee of the Police Department or Fire Department, for which he or she claims credit, and of such other facts as the Board of Trustees may require, for the proper operation of the Retirement System.

## Sec. E-2. Credit for service.

The Board of Trustees shall fix and determine by appropriate rules and regulations how much service in any year is equivalent to a year of service, but in no case shall less than six months' service constitute one year, nor shall more than one year of service be creditable for all service in one calendar year. The Board of Trustees shall not allow credit as service for any period of more than one month during which the Member was or shall be absent without pay provided that if a Member shall be transferred prior to July 1, 2014 from his or her Department payroll to the payroll of any city, county or state government or the federal government by his or her Department head during peace times, then such Member shall continue to be a Member of the System and shall be required to make regular contributions into the Annuity Savings Fund; and provided further, that if a Member, so transferred, shall fail to make such contributions for three consecutive months, he or she shall cease to be a Member of the Retirement System four months (of 31 days each) after the due date of his or her first defaulted Annuity contribution; and provided further, that any Member who was or shall be suspended from duty and subsequently reinstated to duty without further disciplinary action, shall receive total credit for the time of such period or periods of suspension, but in no case shall credit be granted for any period after June 30, 2014.

#### Sec. E-3. Employees in military service commencing prior to July 1, 2014.

(a) If a Member of the Retirement System was drafted, or enlisted into military, naval, marine, or other service of the United States government during time of war, or if a Member was drafted into such service during time of peace, and prior to the earlier of (i) ninety days from the date of his or her separation from such government service or from the date peace was or shall be established by treaty, whichever date was or shall be earlier, and (ii) June 30, 2014 resumed or shall resume employment as a Police Employee or Fire Employee, then such government service rendered prior to July 1, 2014 shall be credited to him or her as a Member of the Retirement System. During the period of such government service of a Member, his or her contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund shall be suspended and the balance in the Annuity Savings Fund, standing to his or her credit as of the last payroll date preceding his or her leave of absence from the service of his or her Department shall be accumulated at Regular Interest. Prior to July 1, 2014, even though the applicant may have been unable to satisfy all the foregoing requirements, the Board of Trustees had the power to grant the privileges provided for by this section in exceptional or extraordinary cases.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 18 of

- (b) A Member on the City payroll on or after January 1, 1979 and prior to July 1, 2014 who, prior to employment in the City service, was called to or entered any full time military service of the United States during time of war, period of compulsory military service, or period of unusual emergency as defined in an ordinance of the City, shall have the required period of active duty which occurs prior to July 1, 2014 credited him or her as Membership Service, subject to the following conditions and limitations:
  - (1) The Member files a written election with the Board of Trustees, before the earlier of (i) 180 days following the effective date of this provision or 180 days from the date of his or her first employment in the City service, whichever is most recent, and (ii) June 30, 2014, to claim military service credit under the provisions of this section. A Member who is included in a collective bargaining unit shall file a written election to claim military service credit with the Board of Trustees within 180 days following the date of a negotiated approval and acceptance of this section by his or her duly authorized bargaining agent as transmitted to the Board of Trustees by the Labor Relations Director or, in the case of Members hired subsequent to the transmittal of approval and acceptance by his or her duly authorized bargaining agent, within 180 days from the date of his or her first employment in the City service; provided that any such election is required to be filed prior to July 1, 2014.
  - (2) The Member furnishes the Board of Trustees such information as the Board of Trustees determines necessary to verify the amount of military service claimed.
  - (3) The Member pays to the Pension Accumulation Fund of the Retirement System an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the Member's annual rate of compensation at the time of payment multiplied by the years or parts of years of military service claimed.
  - (4) The required payment shall be made under one of the following options:
    - a. Payment in full within 30 days of the election to claim military service.
    - b. Payment in equal bi-weekly installments by payroll deduction over a 36 month period starting 30 days following the election to claim military service. Interest shall accrue during the period of installment payments at the compound rate of 5 percent per annum. Payments must be completed prior to application for retirement.
    - c. If a Member has sufficient funds in the principal portion of his or her Annuity, he or she may authorize the Board to transfer such funds to the Pension Accumulation Fund to meet the required payment.
  - (5) In the event a Member who has filed the required election of this benefit, and who would be eligible for a Pension in all respects except for paying the full

amount, dies prior to completion of the payment required in paragraph (4) preceding, the person otherwise entitled to a Retirement Allowance may pay the full amount due within 30 days of the Member's death to become eligible for an additional Pension credit under this section.

- (6) Military service credited under the provisions of Section 54-30-3(c) of the 1964 Detroit City Code shall not be claimed or credited under the provisions of this section.
- (7) Military service which is or will be the basis of service credit under any other public employee retirement program shall not be claimed or credited under the provisions of this section.
- (8) In no case shall more than 3 years of pre-employment military service be credited a Member on account of military service. For the purpose of this limitation, military service credited pursuant to Section 54-30-3(a) of the 1964 Detroit City Code shall be combined with military service created pursuant to this section.
- (9) The required payments made to the Pension Accumulation Fund for military service credit pursuant to this section shall, upon application by the Member or his or her estate, be returned without interest to any Member who dies or leaves City employment prior to being eligible for a Pension.
- (10) Only honorable military service during the following periods shall be covered by this Section E-3(b):

World War II — December 8, 1941 to July 1, 1946.

Korean Conflict — June 27, 1950 to December 31, 1953.

Vietnam Conflict — August 5, 1964 to May 7, 1975.

- (11) The military service credit pursuant to this section shall not apply toward meeting the minimum service and age requirements for vesting, for a non-duty disability Pension or for a service Pension. Such service credit may be used in meeting the minimum time needed for an automatic Option Two Pension in case of death of a Member.
- (12) In no case shall benefits be based on the military service credit provided by this section unless the Member shall have been credited a minimum of eight years of service credit not including military service credit.
- (13) Special service, contractual, part time, seasonal and summer camp employees are not eligible for the military service credit.

- (14) In cases of doubt, the Board of Trustees will determine whether a Member is entitled to the benefits of this section consistent with the requirements and limitations herein.
- (15) Any member of DFFA, DPCOA or DPLSA who performed military service prior to employment by the City and membership in the Retirement System may, prior to July 1 2014, claim service credit as a Member of the Retirement System for time spent in the military service.
- (16) Effective December 15, 2008, any member of DFFA, DPCOA or DPLSA who has performed any honorable military service prior to July 1, 2014 may, prior to July 1, 2014, claim up to thirty-six (36) months service in Pension time for time spent in the military. However, the Member will be required to purchase this military service credit as provided above.
- (17) Effective March 8, 2007, all DPOA bargaining unit members who have served in the military prior to July 1, 2014 may, prior to July 1, 2014, purchase a maximum of three (3) years Pension time.

# Sec. E-4. Verification of service claimed.

Subject to the above restrictions and to such other rules and regulations as the Board of Trustees may adopt, the Board of Trustees shall verify, as soon as practicable after the filing of such statements of service, the service therein claimed.

# Sec. E-5. Prior Service certificates.

Upon verification of the statements of service, the Board of Trustees shall issue Prior Service certificates, certifying to each Member the length of Prior Service rendered, with which he or she is credited. A Prior Service certificate shall be final and conclusive for retirement purposes as to such service; provided, however, that within one year from the date of issuance or modification of such certificate the Board of Trustees on its own motion or on the request of a Member may modify or correct the Prior Service certificate.

## Sec. E-6. Creditable service at retirement.

Creditable service at retirement, on which the Retirement Allowance of a Member shall consist of the Membership Service rendered by him or her prior to July 1, 2014 and, if he or she has a Prior Service certificate in full force and effect as of July 1, 2014, the amount of service certified thereon.

#### **ARTICLE F. BENEFITS PROVIDED TO MEMBERS**

#### Part A - Service Retirement Allowance

#### Sec. F-1. Petition for retirement, mandatory age.

(a) Any Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1 (a), (b), or (c) in service may file with the Board of Trustees his or her written application for retirement setting forth the date not less than fifteen days nor more than ninety days subsequent to the filing thereof, on which he or she desires to be retired; and provided the Board of Trustees shall determine that the Member, at the date so specified for his or her retirement will have a total of twenty-five years or more of creditable service he or she shall on the date specified be retired, notwithstanding that during such period of notification he or she may have separated from service.

Provided, further, that in the case of any Fire Fighter as defined in Article D, Section D-1 (a), (b) or (c) having served twenty-five years or more of creditable service, upon recommendation of the Board of Fire Commissioners, the Fire Fighter shall be retired forthwith, by the Board of Trustees.

(b) Any Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1 (d) in service may file with the Board of Trustees his or her written application for retirement setting forth the date not less than fifteen days nor more than ninety days subsequent to the filing thereof, on which he or she desires to be retired; and provided the Board of Trustees shall determine that the Member, at the date so specified for his or her retirement, will have a total of twenty-five years (effective as of March 8, 2007, twenty years for members of DPOA and their fire equivalents) or more of creditable service and has attained Age fifty-five, he or she shall on the date specified be retired, notwithstanding that during such period of notification he or she may have separated from service.

Provided, further, that, effective July 1, 1983 for members of DPOA and fire equivalents and June 30, 1986 for DPLSA and fire equivalents and new Members, a Member described in Article D, Section D-1(d) shall be eligible to retire upon attainment of twenty-five years (effective as of March 8, 2007, twenty years for members of DPOA and their fire equivalents) or more of creditable service, regardless of Age. Effective July 1, 1998 (June 30, 2001 for DPOA members and their fire equivalents), the time on or before June 30, 2014 a Member is on layoff from service of the City shall be included in actual service rendered to the City for purposes of determining whether a Member has twenty-five years or twenty years of creditable service. Effective July 1, 2014. The Pension benefit to which such Member is entitled shall be based only on his or her actual years of creditable service. Effective July 1, 1989, the minimum Age requirement for deferred Pensions payable for post 1969 Members represented by DPOA and hired before June 30, 1985 shall be eliminated.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, effective October 15, 2014, a DPLSA member shall be eligible to terminate employment with the City and commence

receipt of a Retirement Allowance (or make an election to participate in the DROP program as provided in Article I) under this Component II provided the Member satisfies the following requirements:

Fiscal Year	Age and Service
2015	Age 45 and 24 years
2016	Age 46 and 23 years
2017	Age 47 and 23 years
2018	Age 48 and 22 years
2019	Age 49 and 23 years
2020 and thereafter	25 years of service

- (c) Effective June 30, 2001, any Member represented by DPOA and fire equivalents who has been laid off shall be eligible to retire at what would have been the Member's 25<sup>th</sup> anniversary. To determine eligibility for retirement, the Member's actual service time and time on lay off up to and including June 30, 2014 shall be combined. To calculate the Member's Retirement Allowance for members of DFFA, however, only actual service time through June 30, 2014 shall be used. For DFFA members having a parity relationship with the DPLSA and the DPCOA Inspector, only lay off time which occurred between July 1, 1973 and July 1, 1998 will be credited. Effective in accordance with the specific date and terms of the DPLSA award in Act 312 No. D98 F-0944, Members represented by DPCOA shall have the right to retire on their 25th anniversary date, notwithstanding any service time prior to July 1, 2014 they may have lost due to any layoffs, as provided in such award.
- (d) Any Member represented by DPOA who was hired on or after July 1, 1985 and who leaves City employment after being vested shall not be eligible for Pension benefits until said individual reaches his or her sixty-second birthday.
- (e) Any Member of the Retirement System as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), (c), and (d) who shall reach the Age of sixty years shall be retired forthwith, or on the first day of the calendar month next succeeding that in which the Member shall have reached Age sixty. On the written request of the Member and of the Commissioner of Police or the Board of Fire Commissioners, as the case may be, the Board of Trustees may continue such Member in active service for a period of two years beyond his or her sixtieth birthday, and on the expiration of such period, on like request, may continue such Member in active service for a further period of two years.
- (f) Any Member of the Retirement System who satisfies the requirements for a Pension as defined in Article F, Section F-5 shall be eligible upon ninety days notice to make an irrevocable election to receive an immediate Retirement Allowance, actuarially reduced for early commencement, in lieu of a deferred Retirement Allowance.
- (g) Any Member of the Retirement System who was in the service of the City on or after July 1, 1941 but prior to January 1, 1969 and who was still an active Member on July 1, 1983 for DPLSA and fire equivalents and July 1, 1986 for DPOA members and fire equivalents shall have the option of retiring under the Old Plan or the New Plan.

- 93 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 23 of 85 (h) Pursuant to Section 411(e) of the Internal Revenue Code, as in effect in 1974, an employee shall be 100 percent vested in his or her Retirement System accrued benefit upon attaining normal retirement hereunder while in service.

#### Sec. F-2. Old Plan/New Plan

Effective July 1, 1986, Members of the Retirement System as defined under the terms of the Retirement System in effect on July 1, 1977, who were in service on or after July 1, 1941 but prior to January 1, 1969, and are active Members on July 1, 1986 shall have the option of retiring under the Old Plan or the New Plan.

- (a) Amount of allowance Old Plan Members. Upon his or her retirement from service, a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) ("Old Plan Member") shall receive a straight life Retirement Allowance which shall consist of the benefits provided in paragraphs (1) and (2) below; and he or she shall have the right to elect an option provided for in Part H of this Article F:
  - (1) An Annuity which shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the Member's Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of his or her retirement; and
  - (2)A Pension which, when added to the Member's Annuity, will provide a straight life Retirement Allowance equal to two percent (2.0%) of his or her Average Final Compensation, multiplied by the number of years, and fraction of a year, of his or her creditable service through the earlier of (i) the date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014, not to exceed twenty-five years; provided, that the Retirement Allowance of a Police Employee shall in no case exceed fifteen twenty-seconds of the maximum earnable compensation of a Patrolman and the Retirement Allowance of a Fire Fighter shall not exceed fifteen twenty-seconds of the maximum earnable compensation of a Fire Fighter (and if either or both of the said ranks shall be hereafter abolished, the equivalent thereof), each as of the earlier of (i) the date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014. The foregoing Pension limitation shall not apply to any Police Employee or Fire Employee who on July 1, 1941, shall be entitled to a certificate for twenty years or more of prior service and who remains under the provisions of Chapter XV or Chapter XXI of Title IV of the 1918 Detroit City Charter.
- (b) Amount of allowance New Plan Members. Upon his or her retirement from service, a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d) ("New Plan Member") shall receive a straight life Retirement Allowance which shall consist of the benefits provided in paragraphs (1) and (2) below; and he or she shall have the right to elect an option provided for in Part H of this Article F:
  - (1) An Annuity which shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the Member's Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of his or her retirement; and

- 94 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 24 of 85

- (2) A Pension which, when added to his or her Annuity, will provide a straight life Retirement Allowance equal to:
  - a. two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the Member's Average Final Compensation multiplied by the number of years and fraction of a year of his or her creditable service each as of the earlier of (i) the date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014, for the first twenty-five (25) years of such service; and
  - b. two and one-tenths percent (2.1%) of the Member's Average Final Compensation multiplied by the number of years and fraction of a year of his or her creditable service each as of the earlier of (i) the date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014 in excess of twenty-five (25) years, subject to a maximum of thirty-five (35) years.

#### Sec. F-3. Pension Multiplier

- (a) Notwithstanding Section F-2(a)(2) and F-2(b)(2), effective July 1, 1992 each Member who retires on or after that date shall be entitled to a Pension which, when added to the Annuity, will provide a straight life Retirement Allowance equal to 2.1% of his or her Average Final Compensation, multiplied by the number of years and fraction of a year, of his or her creditable service each as of the earlier of (i) the date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014, not to exceed thirty-five (35) years of service for New Plan Members and twenty-five (25) years of service for Old Plan Members.
- (b) Effective July 1, 1997 or for DPCOA members the effective date of the CET-DPCOA, each Member who retires shall be entitled to a Pension which when added to the Annuity will provide a straight life Retirement Allowance equal to 2.5% (or 2.1% for DPCOA members) of his or her Average Final Compensation multiplied by the number of years and fraction of year of his or her creditable service each as of the earlier of (i) the date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014 for the first twenty-five (25) years or, in the case of a DPCOA member of his or her creditable service earned or accrued on or after the effective date of the CET-DPCOA and prior to July 1, 2014. For Members represented by DFFA, DPCOA and DPLSA, the multiplier shall be 2.1% for each year of service through June 30, 2014 over twenty-five (25) years. Maximum years of service for Pension credit shall be thirty-five (35) years for New Plan Members and twenty-five (25) years for Old Plan Members.
- (c) Effective September 1, 2011, each Member represented by DPOA who retires shall only be entitled to a Pension which, when added to the Annuity, will provide a straight life Retirement Allowance equal to 2.1% of his or her Average Final Compensation multiplied by the number of years and fraction of a year of his or her creditable service earned or accrued on or after September 1, 2011 and prior to July 1, 2014. Hence, for the first twenty-five (25) years of service accrued on or after September 1, 2011 and prior to July 1, 2014, the multiplier shall no longer be 2.5%; rather, 2.1%. Maximum years of service for Pension credit shall be thirty-five (35) years for New Plan Members and twenty-five (25) years for Old Plan Members.

- 95-13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 25 of Service credit accrued prior to September 1, 2011 will be unaffected by this Section F-3(c).

(d) Each DPLSA member who retires shall only be entitled to a Pension which, when added to the Annuity, will provide a straight life Retirement Allowance equal to 2.1% of his or her Average Final Compensation multiplied by the number of years and fraction of a year of his or her creditable service earned or accrued following the date of the Act 312 Award in D09 G-0786 and prior to July 1, 2014. Hence, for the first twenty-five (25) years of service accrued after the date of the Act 312 Award and prior to July 1, 2014, the multiplier shall no longer be 2.5% as stated in paragraph (b) above. Maximum years of service for Pension credit shall be thirty-five (35) years for New Plan Members and twenty-five (25) years for Old Plan Members.

#### Sec. F-4. Disposition of surplus benefits upon death of retired member.

In the event a retired Member dies before he or she has received in straight life Retirement Allowance payments an aggregate amount equal to his or her Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of his or her retirement, the difference between his or her said Accumulated Contributions and the said aggregate amount of straight life Retirement Allowance payments received by him or her shall be paid to such person or persons as he or she shall have nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board of Trustees. If there is no such designated person or persons surviving the said deceased Retiree such difference, if any, shall be paid to his or her legal representative. No benefits shall be paid under this Section F-4 on account of the death of such a retired Member if he or she had elected Option 1, 2, 3, 3A or 3B provided for in Part H of this Article F.

## Sec. F-5. Retirement allowance for certain persons leaving City employment after eight years service (40 & 8).

(a) Should any DPLSA member or any fire equivalent who (1) has attained age forty years of Age, and (2) has acquired eight or more years of credited service, or any Member who terminates employment with the City on or after August 29, 2003 with ten or more years of credited service leave the employ of the Police Department or Fire Department prior to the date he or she would have first become eligible to retire as provided in this Part A, for any reason except his or her retirement or death, he or she shall be entitled to a Retirement Allowance computed according to Section F-2 (a) or (b) of this Article F, whichever is applicable, as said Section was in force as of the earlier of (i) the date his or her employment with the City last terminated or (ii) June 30, 2014; provided, that he or she does not withdraw his or her Accumulated Contributions from the Annuity Savings Fund. The Member's Retirement Allowance shall begin the first day of the calendar month next following the month in which his or her application for benefits is filed with the Board of Trustees, on or after the date he or she would have been eligible to retire had he or she continued in City employment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, prior to March 3, 2008 the Retirement Allowance of a DPOA member or a fire equivalent hired on or after July 1, 1985 shall not begin prior to the date on which the Member reaches his or her sixty-second

-96 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 26 of birthday. Unless otherwise provided in this Component II, such person shall not receive service credit for the period of his or her absence from the City Police Department and/or Fire Department employ prior to July 1, 2014, nor shall his or her Beneficiary be entitled to any other benefit afforded in this Component II, except the benefits provided in Part A, Section F-2(a) or (b) or Part F of this Article F, whichever is applicable, subject to the above provisions, notwithstanding, his or her membership has terminated.

(b) Effective August 28, 2003, DPOA members and fire equivalents who terminate employment after ten (10) years of service shall be vested and shall have all options afforded to 40 & 8 Retirees.

#### Sec. F-6. Reduced Early Pension Benefits (40 & 8 Vesting Retirees)

- (a) Members who terminate employment and who are eligible for a Pension pursuant to Article F, Part A, Section F-5 of Component II (40 & 8) shall have the option of receiving an immediate, but reduced early Pension benefit in lieu of a deferred Pension.
- (b) This reduced early Pension benefit shall not result in an increase in City contribution rates; therefore, the value of the Reduced Early Pension Benefit shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the 40 & 8 Pension.
- (c) For employees represented by DFFA in ranks or classifications with a parity relationship to employees represented by the DPLSA and employees in higher ranks or classifications, upon termination, a vested employee must within 90 calendar days make an irrevocable election as to whether or not to take this option.
- (d) Individuals represented by DFFA, DPOA or DPLSA, who terminated employment prior to July 1, 1986, are not eligible for this option.
- (e) An employee who receives a lump sum payment for accumulated time upon termination is not allowed to have that time count towards his or her retirement service.
- (f) Since Members (other than DPOA and fire equivalents) are eligible to begin collecting their vested Pension as soon as they would have been eligible to retire had they continued their City employment, minimum retirement age (i.e., Age 55) shall not be a factor in computing the actuarially reduced Pension benefit.
- (g) All DFFA members, except those members in ranks or classifications with a parity relationship to employees represented by the DPOA, electing to receive the reduced early Pension benefits shall receive from the City upon separation full pay for fifty percent (50%) of the unused sick bank amounts. This provision shall have no effect on a Member electing to receive the deferred 40 & 8 vested Pension who shall continue to be reimbursed for unused sick time in accordance with an applicable collective bargaining agreement.

- 97 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 27 of 85

#### Part B — Total Disability Pension and Retirement Allowances

#### Sec. F-7. Duty disability.

If a Member shall become Totally Disabled for duty by reason of injury, illness or disease resulting from performance of duty and if the Board of Trustees shall find such injury, illness or disease to have resulted from the performance of duty, on written application to the Board of Trustees by or on behalf of such Member or by the head of his or her Department such Member shall be retired, notwithstanding that during such period of notification he or she may have separated from service; provided, the Medical Director, after examination of such Member shall certify to the Board of Trustees his or her Total Disability. If said Member was separated from service after filing of the written application, and he or she had attained twenty-five years or more of service prior to the date of separation, the Board of Trustees, shall retire said Member, under this Part B.

## Sec. F-8. Duty disability benefits; Members in service on or after July 1, 1941 but prior to January 1, 1969.

- (a) A Member, as defined under Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), or (c), shall receive the following benefits:
  - (1) Each such Member shall receive a disability Pension of fifty percent (50%), or such other higher percentage that is in effect and applies to such Member, of the Member's Average Final Compensation at the earlier of (i) the time of disability retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014. On the date that a Member, who retired under Section F-7 and who receives benefits under this Section F-8, would have accrued twenty-five years of creditable service had the Member continued in active service, or on the date that the Member reaches age sixty, whichever comes first, the Member shall be eligible for optional benefits as provided Part H of this Article F.
  - (2) In addition to the disability Pension provided for in Section F-8(a)(1), any Member who receives a disability Pension pursuant to Section F-8(a)(1) and has not accrued a total of twenty-five (25) years of creditable service as of the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's disability retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014 shall receive a supplemental disability payment in the amount of sixteen and two-thirds percent (16-2/3%) of the Member's Average Final Compensation at the earlier of (i) the time of disability retirement or (ii) June 30, 2014. This supplemental payment shall terminate upon the expiration of the period when a Member who retired under Section F-7 of this Part B and who receives benefits under Section F-8(a)(1) would have accrued twenty-five years of creditable service had the Member continued in active service, or on the date that the Member reaches Age sixty, whichever comes first.

Effective July 1, 1992 for DPLSA members, the Average Final Compensation used in this computation shall mean the current maximum salary for the rank(s), grade(s) or position(s) which would have been held by the Member over the sixty

months prior to the earlier of (i) the date of retirement (reduced disability/service retirement when the Member would have attained a total of twenty-five years of credited service) had he or she continued working in that classification which he or she held at the time of his or her disability or (ii) June 30, 2014. For Members who begin receiving such benefits on or after July 1, 1998 and before July 1, 2014, the amount of the Member's most recent full longevity payment shall be included in the definition of Average Final Compensation.

Effective July 1, 1992 for DFFA and DPOA members, the Average Final Compensation used in this computation shall be the highest average annual compensation that would have been received by such a Member had he or she continued working in the classification he or she held at the time of his or her disability, during any period of five consecutive years, selected by the Member, contained within the last ten years immediately preceding the earlier of (i) expiration of the period when the Member would have attained a total twenty-five years of creditable service and (ii) June 30, 2014.

Effective July 1, 2000, the Average Final Compensation used in this computation shall mean the current maximum salary, including the annual longevity payment provided above, for the rank(s), grade(s) or position(s) which would have been held by the Member over the thirty-six (36) months prior to the earlier of (i) the date of disability retirement or (ii) June 30, 2014.

- (3) In the case of a Member retired under Section F-8 who receives benefits under F-8(a)(1) and F-8(a)(2), the Accumulated Contributions standing to the Member's credit at the date of retirement shall continue to be held in the Annuity Savings Fund and Regular Interest shall be credited thereto. If such Member dies before the date upon which the Member would have achieved a total of twenty-five years of creditable service had the Member continued in active service and before such Member reaches Age sixty, the balance of the member's Annuity Savings Account including interest thereon shall be paid as provided in Part D and Part E of this Article F.
- (b) This Section shall be applicable only to those Members receiving benefits on the date of adoption of this Section who are not covered by the arbitration decision regarding the DPOA which became effective July 1, 1995, or the arbitration decision regarding the DPLSA which became effective June 30, 1998.
- (c) This Section does not rescind any substantive rights of disability Retirees from the Retirement System who retired prior to the July 1, 1995 arbitration award, or the substantive rights of disability Retirees from the DPLSA who retired prior to the June 30, 1998 arbitration award.
- (d) This Section does not amend any computations used to determine disability benefits payable under this Section F-8, or result in an increase or decrease in such disability benefits.

- 99 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 29 of 85

## Sec. F-9. Duty disability benefits; Members beginning service on or after January 1, 1969 and becoming disabled prior to the dates set forth in Section F-10.

- (a) A Member, as defined under Article D, Section D-1(d), who retired under Section F-7, shall receive the following benefits:
  - (1) Each such Member shall receive a disability Pension of fifty percent (50%), or such other higher percentage that is in effect and applies to such Member, of the Member's Average Final Compensation at the earlier of (i) the time of disability retirement or (ii) June 30, 2014. On the date that a Member who retired under Section F-7 of this Part B and who receives benefits under this Section would have accrued twenty-five years of creditable service had the Member continued in active service, or on the date that the Member reaches Age sixty, whichever comes first, the Member shall be eligible for optional benefits as provided Part H of this Article F.
  - (2) In addition to the disability Pension provided for in Section F-8(a)(1) of this Part B, any Member who receives a disability Pension pursuant to Section F-9(a)(1) of this Part B and who has not accrued a total of twenty-five years or more of creditable service as of the date of the Member's disability retirement shall receive a supplemental disability payment in the amount of sixteen and two-thirds percent (16-2/3%) of the Member's Average Final Compensation at the time of the Member's disability retirement. This supplemental payment shall terminate when a Member who retires under Section F-7 and who receives benefits under Section F-9(a)(1) would have accrued twenty-five years of creditable service had he or she continued in active service or on the date that the Member reaches Age sixty, whichever comes first.
  - (3) In addition to the disability Pension provided for in Section F-9, any Member who receives a disability Pension pursuant to Section F-9(a)(1) and who has accrued more than twenty-five years ("additional years") of creditable service as of the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's disability retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014 shall receive another supplemental disability payment equal to two percent (2%), or such other higher percentage that is in effect and applies to such Member, of the Member's Average Final Compensation as of the earlier of such dates, multiplied by the number of additional years of creditable service the Member has accrued; provided, however, that such supplemental disability payment shall not exceed twenty percent (20%), or such other higher percentage that is in effect and applies to such Member, of the Member shall not exceed twenty percent (20%), or such other higher percentage that is in effect and applies to such Member, of the Member's Average Final Compensation as of the date of the Member's Average Final Compensation as of the earlier of such dates percentage that is in effect and applies to such Member, of such other higher percentage that is in effect and applies to such Member, of the Member's Average Final Compensation as of the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's disability retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014.
  - (4) In the case of a Member who retires under Section F-7 and who receives benefits described under Section F-9(a)(1) through (3), the Accumulated Contributions standing to the Member's credit at the date of disability retirement shall continue to be held in a separate fund in the Annuity Savings Fund and Regular Interest shall be credited thereto. If such Member dies prior

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed  $02/14/25^{-100}$  Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 30 of

to the time when the Member would have achieved a total of twenty-five years of creditable service had the Member continued in active service and before such Member reaches Age sixty, the amount of the Member's Accumulated Contributions so set aside and interest thereon shall be paid as provided in Part D and Part E of this Article. F

- (5) The amendment of Section F-9(a)(1) shall not result in an increase or decrease in the amount of disability benefits payable to Members.
- (b) This Section shall be applicable to those Members receiving benefits on the effective date of this Section F who are not covered by the arbitration decision regarding the DPOA which became effective July 1, 1995, or the arbitration decision regarding the DPLSA which became effective June 30, 1998. This Section does not rescind any substantive rights of disability Retirees from the Retirement System who retired prior to the July 1, 1995 arbitration award, or the substantive rights of disability Retirees from DPLSA who retired prior to the June 30, 1998 arbitration award.
- (c) This Section does not amend any computations used to determine benefits under Section F-9 of this Part, or result in an increase or decrease in such benefits.

# Sec. F-10. Duty Disability benefits; DFFA, DPOA and DPLSA members beginning service on or after January 1, 1969 and becoming disabled on or after the dates set forth below.

- (a) This Section F-10 shall be applicable to:
  - (1) DFFA employees who file applications for disability retirement on or after July 1, 1995 and who have a parity relationship with the DPOA and on or after June 30, 1998, for DFFA employees with a parity relationship with the DPLSA and the DPCOA Inspector;
  - (2) all DPLSA employees who file applications for disability retirement on or after June 30, 1998; and
  - (3) all DPOA members who file applications for disability retirement on or after July 1, 1995.
- (b) A Member who retires as a result of duty disability shall receive for a period of twenty-four months the sum of:
  - (i) a basic benefit equal to 50% of the Member's Final Compensation at the earlier of (i) the time his or her duty disability retirement begins or (ii) June 30, 2014; and
  - (ii) a supplemental benefit equal to 16-2/3% of the Member's Final Compensation at the earlier of (i) the time his or her duty disability retirement begins or (ii) June 30, 2014.

- 101 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 31 of 85 Subject to Sections K-1 and K-3, on July 1st of each year, the benefits determined under paragraphs (i) and (ii) above then payable will each be increased by adding to said amounts the product of the initial amount of said benefit which was computed at the time the duty disability retirement began and the applicable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator).

- (c) After a Member receives benefits hereunder for a period of twenty-four months, the Board will determine whether the Member is disabled from any occupation. If the Member is disabled from any occupation, the Member shall continue to receive the benefit provided in paragraphs (b)(i) and (b)(ii) until such time as the Member would have attained twenty-five years of creditable service had he or she continued in active service with the City. At that time, the Member shall continue to receive the benefit described in paragraph (b)(i) above; however, benefits described in paragraph (b)(ii) above; will cease. If the Member is not disabled from any occupation, he or she shall continue to receive the benefit described in paragraph (b)(ii) above; benefits described in paragraph (b)(ii) will cease.
- (d) Duty disability retirement benefits shall continue to be paid to a Member on duty disability retirement after the Member has attained twenty-five years of creditable service, to the earlier of (i) the Member's attainment of Age sixty-five, or (ii) termination of disability as determined by the Board. Upon termination of disability or attainment of Age sixty-five, a Member with twenty-five years of creditable service shall be eligible to receive a service Retirement Allowance. The amount of such service Retirement Allowance shall be the same amount which would have been payable if the conversion from duty disability retirement to service retirement had occurred at the date of attaining twenty-five years of creditable service. In the event that the examinations and/or investigations conducted by the Police Department result in a determination that a DPOA Member is not qualified for reappointment as a Police Employee for medical reasons, disability benefits will be continued.
- (e) If a Member on duty disability retirement returns to active service and within a twenty-four month period re-qualifies for duty disability retirement for the same or related reasons he or she had been retired, then the disability shall be deemed a continuation of the prior disabling condition and the period of the return to work will not have caused the Member to be entitled to a new initial determination of benefit amounts as set forth in paragraph (b) above. Instead, such Member will return to retirement at the point he or she had reached in sub-paragraphs (b), (c) or (d) above as if there had not been a break in his or her period of placement on duty disability retirement.
- (f) Disability retirement benefits shall continue to be considered benefits provided by the City pursuant to the 1918 Detroit City Charter, as amended, which are paid instead of and not in addition to any benefits under the State Workers' Disability Compensation Act.
- (g) Survivor benefit coverage applicable to active Members shall be continued during the period a Member is eligible for a duty disability benefit. Upon conversion to a

service Retirement Allowance as provided in paragraph (d), automatic survivor benefit coverage shall terminate. At that time, the Member shall have the right to elect an optional form of payment in the same manner as if he or she had retired from active membership on the conversion date.

- (h) Pension Credit While on Duty Disability Status
  - (1) While a Member is eligible to receive duty disability benefits, the Member shall continue to accrue Pension service credit.
  - (2) The accrual of Pension service credit under paragraph (h)(1) will cease on the earlier of (i) the date the Member has twenty-five years of creditable service, or (ii) June 30, 2014.
- (i) Earnings Offset
  - (1) In the event that a recipient of a duty disability retirement benefit receives earned income from gainful employment during a calendar year, the amount of the Member's disability benefit payable during the next subsequent Fiscal Year will be adjusted so it does not exceed the difference between (i) the Member's base salary at the date of disability, increased by 2.25% times the number of full years from the date of disability to the year in which the earnings offset is applied, and (ii) the amount of remuneration from gainful employment during the prior calendar year.
  - (2) The earnings test shall be based on information the Board may periodically require from a duty disability benefit recipient or has secured from other reliable sources. Furnishing such information shall be a condition for a Member's continued eligibility for a duty disability benefit. In the event a Member's Retirement Allowance was not appropriately reduced for any period in which he or she is engaged in a gainful occupation, the Board shall adjust future benefit payments to such Member until the amount of the overpayment is recouped by the Retirement System.
- (j) The Annuity withdrawal provision of the Retirement System will continue to apply to Members on duty disability. If a duty disability recipient elects Annuity withdrawal after attaining twenty-five years of creditable service, the applicable benefit reduction will offset the duty disability benefit until the conversion date, after which it will offset the converted service Retirement Allowance.

#### Sec. F-11. Non-duty disability.

(a) On written application to the Board by or on behalf of a Member or by the head of his or her Department, a Member, who becomes Totally Disabled for duty by reason of injury, illness or disease not resulting from the performance of duty as determined by the Board of Trustees, shall be retired by the Board of Trustees. If said Member was separated from service after the filing of the written application and had attained

- 103 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 33 of 85 twenty-five years or more of creditable service prior to the date of separation, the Board shall retire said Member, under this Part B.

- (b) A Member retired under paragraph (a) above shall receive the following applicable benefits:
  - (1) If such Member has less than five years of creditable service at the time of his or her disability retirement, his or her Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund shall be returned to the Member, or at his or her option, he or she shall receive a cash refund annuity which shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of his or her Accumulated Contributions. For purposes of this Section F-11(b)(1), a "cash refund annuity" is an annuity that provides a death benefit equal to the positive difference, if any, between the original cost of the annuity and the sum of annuity payments received by the Member prior to his or her death.
  - (2) If such Member has five or more years of creditable service at the time of his or her disability retirement, he or she shall receive a disability Retirement Allowance computed in accordance with the provisions of this Article F, Part A, Section F-2(a) or (b), whichever is applicable, and he or she shall have the right to elect an Option provided for in Part H of this Article F. The Member's Straight Life Retirement Allowance shall not be less than twenty per cent of his or her Average Final Compensation as of the earlier of (i) the date of his or her disability retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014. Such Retirement Allowance shall be subject to Parts I and K of this Article F.
  - (3) If a Member receiving non-duty disability benefits has any Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund when the Member would have attained twenty-five years (effective as of March 8, 2007, twenty years for DPOA members and fire equivalents) of creditable service, such Member may withdraw the balance of such Accumulated Contributions at that time.
  - (4) If a Member receiving non-duty disability retirement benefits is or becomes engaged in a gainful occupation, business, or employment paying more than the difference between the disabled Member's Retirement Allowance and Average Final Compensation, the Member's Retirement Allowance shall be reduced by the amount of such difference. If the amount of the Member's earnings changes, the Retirement Allowance may be adjusted accordingly. The amount of income received by a Member shall be determined by the Board based upon information received from the Member or based upon information secured from other reliable sources. Furnishing such information to the Board at such times as the Board shall require shall be a condition for the Member's continued eligibility for non-duty disability benefits. In the event a Member's Retirement Allowance was not appropriately reduced for any period in which he or she is engaged in a gainful occupation, the Board

shall adjust future benefit payments to such Member until the amount of the overpayment is recouped by the Retirement System.

#### Sec. F-12. Disability retirement procedures.

- (a) The Board shall establish procedures for determining whether a Member is disabled. Such procedures shall be consistent with any collective bargaining agreements between the City and the unions covering Police Employees and Fire Employees.
- If a Member is determined to be disabled, the Board or its designee will examine the (b) pension file, including the submissions of the Member and the Police or Fire Department, to determine if there is any dispute as to whether the disability "resulted from the performance of duty" within the meaning of the Combined Plan. If it is undisputed that the disability did result from the performance of duty, the Board will grant duty disability retirement benefits. If it is undisputed that the disability did not result from the performance of duty, the Board will grant non-duty disability retirement benefits, provided the Member meets the other conditions of eligibility. If the performance of duty issue is in dispute, the Board will refer the matter to arbitration by a member of the Disability Retirement Review Board ("DRRB"). The decision of the DRRB member as to whether the disability resulted from the performance of duty shall be final and binding upon the Member, the Department and the Board. The DRRB shall consist of three qualified arbitrators who will be individually assigned in rotating order to decide the matters referred to arbitration by the Board. The three members of the DRRB shall be disinterested persons qualified as labor arbitrators and shall be selected in accordance with agreements between the City and the unions representing Members. The procedure for the termination of DRRB members and the selection of new DRRB members also shall be carried out in accordance with the agreements between the City and the unions representing Members.
- (c) The hearing before a member of the DRRB will be conducted in accordance with the following procedures:
  - (1) The Member and the City will have the right to appear in person or otherwise may be represented by counsel if they wish and will be afforded an equal opportunity to present evidence relevant to the issues;
  - (2) A court reporter will be present and make a stenographic record of the proceedings;
  - (3) The hearing will be closed to the public, except that the Member may select one person to be with him or her in the hearing room; provided, however, that person may not testify;
  - (4) The witnesses will be sequestered;
  - (5) The witnesses will be sworn by the court reporter and testify under oath;

- (6) The Member may not be called by the City as an adverse witness;
- (7) The DRRB member will apply the rules of evidence and follow the procedures which are customarily applied and followed in labor arbitration cases;
- (8) If the Member wishes to have an employee of the City released from duty to appear as a witness on his or her behalf, the Member may so inform the Board in writing which, in turn, will submit a written request to the appropriate Department for the release of the employee for the purpose of so testifying;
- (9) The DRRB member will afford the parties an opportunity for the presentation of oral argument and/or the submission of briefs;
- (10) The DRRB member will issue a written decision containing credibility resolutions as necessary, findings of fact and conclusions with respect to all relevant issues in dispute;
- (11) The authority of the DRRB member is limited to deciding whether or not the Member's disability "resulted from the performance of duty" within the meaning of the Combined Plan. The DRRB member shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, modify or disregard the terms of the Combined Plan; and
- (12) The costs associated with the hearing, including the arbitrator's fees and expenses and the court reporter's fees and expenses, will be paid by the Retirement System.
- (d) If a disabled Member is determined by the Board or its delegate to no longer be disabled, he or she may appeal that determination within seven (7) days thereof by filing a written request with the Board for a re-examination. The Board shall promptly arrange for such re-examination. The Member's disability benefits will be continued pending that final and binding medical finding, and if the finding is that the Member is no longer disabled, his or her disability benefits will be further continued while the Police or Fire Department conducts such examinations and/or investigations as necessary to determine whether the Member is qualified for reappointment to active duty. In the event that the examinations and/or investigations conducted by the Police Department result in a determination that a Member represented by DPLSA is not qualified, for medical reasons, for reappointment to active duty, disability benefits will be continued.
- (e) The Board shall not act upon or grant the application filed by a Member who, although he or she is not capable of performing the full duties of a Police Employee or Fire Employee, has not suffered any diminishment of his or her base wages or benefits because he or she is either:

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 36 of

- (1) regularly assigned to a position, the full duties of which he or she is capable of performing; or
- (2) assigned to a restricted duty position, unless the Member's Department advises that it intends to seek a disability retirement for the Member in the foreseeable future.
- (f) The provisions in paragraph (e) above are not intended to and will not:
  - (1) affect the right of a Member to seek a disability retirement when no restricted duty position is available; or
  - (2) restrict in any way the existing authority of the Chief of Police or the Fire Commissioner to seek a duty or non-duty disability retirement for a Member or for that Member, at that time, to request a duty or non-duty disability retirement.
- (g) DPCOA and DPLSA members who are retired on disability Pensions pursuant to this Part B prior to July 1, 2014 shall be entitled to lump sum payments of all accumulated time from the date that the Board of Trustees determines that they are entitled to such a Pension but not later than June 30, 2014. These members shall not be required to utilize such time delaying their retirement dates.

#### Part C — Escalation and Change in Compensation, Rank

#### Sec. F-13. Generally.

Subject to Sections K-1(1) and K-3, if hereafter the rate of compensation of the rank, grade or position on which the service Retirement Allowance, disability Pension or disability Retirement Allowance of a Member who was hired prior to July 1, 1969 or is a Beneficiary of such a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) is based shall be changed, his or her service Retirement Allowance, disability Pension, or disability Retirement Allowance shall be changed proportionately, and if such rank, grade, or position shall have been abolished, his or her service Retirement Allowance, disability Pension, or disability Retirement Allowance shall be changed in proportion to the change made in the compensation of the existing rank, grade, or position most nearly approximating the rank, grade, or position so abolished.

#### Sec. F-14. Increase of Benefits; Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator).

On and after July 1, 1969, and the first of July of each year thereafter until July 1, 1992, the Pension portion of any Retirement Allowance or death benefit of a Member or Beneficiary of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d), which is paid or payable under this Component II shall be increased at the rate of two per cent (2.0%) per annum computed on the basis of the amount of the Pension received at the time of retirement.

Subject to Sections K-1(1) and K-3, on or after July 1, 1992 and the first of July each year thereafter, the Pension portion of any Retirement Allowance or death benefit of a Member or Beneficiary of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d), (including those Members

## 13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 37 of 85

who opt to retire under the New Plan provisions) shall be increased at the rate of two and twentyfive one-hundredths per cent (2.25%) per annum computed on the basis of the amount of the Pension received at the time of retirement.

Subject to Sections K-1(1) and K-3, effective for Members who retire on or after July 1, 1997 (July 1, 1998 for DPCOA members, DPLSA members and DFFA members with a parity relationship with DPCOA and July 1, 2001 for DPOA members and their fire equivalents), the Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) described in this Section shall be re-computed each Fiscal Year on the basis of the amount of Pension received in the previous Fiscal Year (i.e., the 2.25% per annum escalation amount shall be compounded).

Pension benefits for DPCOA members under Component II based on service rendered after November 30, 2012 shall not be subject to any escalation amounts.

The Pension portion of any Retirement Allowance or death benefit of a Member, or Beneficiary of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d) of the Combined Plan provisions, and Article 51.G. of the DPLSA collective bargaining agreement or Article 3.K. of the DPOA collective bargaining agreement (to include those Members who opt out to retire under the New Plan provisions) earned after April 1, 2011 (for DPLSA members) or September 1, 2011 (for DPOA members), shall not be increased whatsoever, per annum or otherwise. Subject to Sections K-1(1) and K-3, the Pension portion of any Retirement Allowance or death benefit of a Member, or Beneficiary of a Member as defined herein, accrued prior to April 1, 2011 (for DPLSA members) or September 1, 2011 (for DPOA members), shall still be increased as provided herein. Hence, Pension benefits earned based on service rendered after April 1, 2011 (for DPLSA members) or September 1, 2011 (for DPOA members) will no longer receive the 2.25% per annum escalation amount. Subject to the Plan of Adjustment, the 2.25% per annum escalation amount shall continue to apply to Pension benefits earned based on service rendered before April 1, 2011 (for DPLSA members) or September 1, 2011 (for DPOA members) based on service rendered before April 1, 2011 (for DPLSA members) or September 1, 2011 (for DPOA members) will no longer receive the before April 1, 2011 (for DPLSA members) or September 1, 2011 (for DPOA members) based on service rendered before April 1, 2011 (for DPLSA members) or September 1, 2011 (for DPOA members).

#### Sec. F-15. Payment.

Subject to Sections K-1(1) and K-3, the escalation factor contained in Section F-14 above shall be payable to the Member or Beneficiary of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d), notwithstanding any Retirement Allowance or Pension amount limitation provisions in this Component II to the contrary.

#### Part D — Death Benefits.

#### Sec. F-16. Generally.

If a Member, or a Retiree who was a Member, is killed in the performance of his or her duty or dies as the result of illness contracted or injuries received while in the performance of his or her duty and such death, illness or injuries resulting in death, is found by the Board of Trustees to have resulted from the performance of his or her duty, the following applicable benefits shall be paid, subject to Part I, Section F-25, of this Article F.

(a) The Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of his or her death shall be paid to such person or persons as he or

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 38 of 85

she shall have nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board of Trustees. If there is no such designated person surviving, his or her said Accumulated Contributions shall be paid to his or her legal representative, subject to paragraph (e) of this Section F-16.

(b) A Member's surviving Spouse shall receive a Pension of five-elevenths of the maximum earnable compensation for the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter as the case may be determined as of the earlier of (i) the date of death or (ii) June 30, 2014. If his or her child or children under Age eighteen years also survive the deceased Member each such child shall receive a Pension of one-tenth of such maximum earnable compensation as of the earlier of (i) the date of death or (ii) June 30, 2014; provided, that if there are more than two such surviving children under Age eighteen years, each such child's Pension shall be an equal share of seven thirty-thirds of such maximum earnable compensation. Upon the death, marriage, adoption, or Attainment of Age eighteen years of any such child his or her Pension shall terminate and there shall be a redistribution by the Board of Trustees to the deceased Member's remaining eligible children, if any; provided, that in no case shall any such child's Pension exceed one-tenth of such maximum earnable compensation. In no case shall the total of the Pensions, provided for in this paragraph (b), payable on account of the death of a Member exceed two-thirds of the maximum earnable compensation for the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter, as the case may be, determined as of the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's death or (ii) June 30, 2014.

Effective July 1, 1986, widows of Police Department or Fire Department employees who have been receiving a flat monthly benefit of \$300.00 should receive an increase of \$500.00 per month thereby making the flat monthly benefit \$800.00.

- (c) If no Spouse survives the deceased Member or if his or her surviving Spouse dies or remarries before his or her youngest unmarried surviving child attains Age eighteen years, his or her unmarried child or children under age eighteen years shall each receive a Pension of one-fourth of the maximum earnable compensation for the rank of Police Employee or Fire Employee, as the case may be, as of the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's death or (ii) June 30, 2014; provided that if there are more than two such surviving children under Age eighteen years, each such child's Pension shall be an equal share of one-half of such maximum earnable compensation. Upon the death, marriage, adoption, or Attainment of Age eighteen years of any such child his or her Pension shall terminate and there shall be a redistribution by the Board of Trustees to the deceased Member's remaining eligible children, if any; provided, that in no case shall any such child's Pension exceed one-fourth of the maximum earnable compensation for the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter, as the case may be, determined as of the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's death, and (ii) June 30, 2014.
- (d) If there is no surviving Spouse and if there are no children under Age eighteen years surviving such deceased Member and if he or she leaves surviving either a father or mother or both, whom the Board of Trustees shall find to be actually dependent upon such Member for financial support, such dependent father and mother shall each

- 109 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 39 of 85 receive a Pension of one-sixth of the maximum earnable compensation for the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter, as the case may be, determined as of the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's death, and (ii) June 30, 2014.

- (e) If a Member dies intestate, without having designated a person or persons, as provided in sub-section (a) of this Section F-16, and without heirs, the amount of his or her Accumulated Contributions in the Annuity Savings Fund, not to exceed a reasonable sum, to be determined by the Board of Trustees, shall be used to pay his or her burial expenses, provided he or she leave no other estate sufficient for such purpose; any balance credited to such Member in the Annuity Savings Fund, and not used for burial expenses shall remain a part of the funds of the Retirement System and shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund.
- (f) If the maximum earnable compensation for the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter, as the case may be, is subsequently changed, the Pensions provided in this Section F-16 for Beneficiaries of Members as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) shall be proportionately changed; provided, however, that no increases shall be made after June 30, 2014.
- (g) The maximum earnable compensation for the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter, as the case may be, to be used in computing the Pensions provided in this Section for Beneficiaries of Members as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d) shall be the maximum earnable compensation of the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter as established by the City's budget for the Fiscal Year in which occurs the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's death, and (ii) June 30, 2014.

#### Part E — Nonduty Death.

#### Sec. F-17. Payment of Accumulated Contributions.

If a Member, or a Member who retires after June 30, 1965 under Part B, Section F-7 of this Article F, dies and no Pension or Pensions become payable under this Component II on account of his or her death, the Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of death shall be paid to such person or persons as he or she shall have nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board of Trustees. If there is no such designated person or persons surviving the said Member, his or her said Accumulated Contributions shall be paid to his or her legal representative. If such Member dies intestate, without having designated a person as above provided, and without heirs, his or her said Accumulated Contributions not to exceed a reasonable sum to be determined by the Board of Trustees, shall be used to pay his or her burial expenses, provided he or she leaves no other estate sufficient for such purpose; and any balance credited to such Member in the Annuity Savings Fund not so used for burial expenses shall be transferred to the Survivors Benefit Fund.

#### Sec. F-18. Allowances to surviving spouses.

Upon the death of a Member, or a Member who retires after June 30, 1965 under Part B, Section F-7 of this Article F, and such death is found by the Board of Trustees not to have resulted from the performance of his or her duty, the applicable Retirement Allowances provided

- 110 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 40 of 85 in paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) of Section F-1 shall be paid from the Survivors Benefit Fund, to the extent of available funding, and shall be subject to paragraphs (e), (f) and (g) of Section F-1.

- (a) His or her surviving Spouse shall receive a Retirement Allowance computed in the same manner in all respects as if the said Member had (1) regularly retired on the earlier of (i) the day preceding the date of his or her death, or (ii) June 30, 2014, notwithstanding that he or she might not have acquired twenty-five years of creditable service, in the case of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), or (c), or notwithstanding that he or she might not have acquired twenty-five years of service or more and had not attained age fifty-five, in the case of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d); (2) elected Option 2 provided for in Part H of this Article F; and (3) nominated his or her surviving Spouse as joint Beneficiary; provided, that in no case shall the Retirement Allowance payable to such joint Beneficiary be less than twenty per cent of said Member's Average Final Compensation as of the earlier of (i) the Member's date of death, and (ii) June 30, 2014. If a Member who had less than twenty-five years of creditable service dies prior to July 1, 2001, the Retirement Allowance payable to the surviving Spouse shall be terminated in the event the surviving Spouse remarries.
- (b) His or her unmarried child or children under Age eighteen years shall each receive a Retirement Allowance of one-seventh of the annual maximum earnable compensation of the rank of a Patrolman or a Fire Fighter, as the case may be determined as of the earlier of (i) the Member's date of death, and (ii) June 30, 2014; provided, that if there are more than two such children, each child shall receive a Retirement Allowance of an equal share of two-sevenths of said annual maximum earnable compensation. Upon any such child's adoption, marriage, death or Attainment of Age eighteen years, whichever occurs first, his or her Retirement Allowance shall terminate, and there shall be a redistribution by the Board of Trustees to the deceased Member's remaining eligible children under Age eighteen years; provided, that in no case shall the Retirement Allowance payable to any such child exceed one-seventh of the said annual maximum earnable compensation.
- (c) If, at the time of the said Member's death, there shall be neither a surviving Spouse nor children eligible for a Retirement Allowance provided for in this Section F-18, each of his or her parents shall receive a Retirement Allowance of one-seventh of the annual maximum earnable compensation of a Patrolman, or a Fire Fighter, as the case may be determined as of the earlier of (i) the Member's date of death, and (ii) June 30, 2014; provided, that the Board of Trustees finds that such parent was dependent upon the said Member for at least fifty per cent of his or her financial support. Upon the remarriage of any such parent, his or her Retirement Allowance shall thereupon terminate.
- (d) In the event all the Retirement Allowances provided for in this Section F-18, payable on account of the death of a Member terminate before there has been paid an aggregate amount equal to the said Member's Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of death, the difference

- 111 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 41 of 85 between his or her said Accumulated Contributions and the said aggregate amount of Retirement Allowances shall be paid to such persons as the said Member shall have nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board of Trustees. If there are no such designated person or persons surviving the said Member such difference, if any, shall be paid to his or her legal representative.

- (e) In no case shall any Retirement Allowance be paid under this Section F-18 on account of the death of a Member if any benefits are paid under Part D of this Article F on account of his or her death. The Retirement Allowance provided for in this Section F-18 shall be subject to Part I of this Article F.
- (f) All benefits provided in this Part E for Beneficiaries of Members as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) shall be based on the maximum earnable compensation of the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter, as the case may be determined as of the earlier of (i) the Member's date of death, or (ii) June 30, 2014. Subject to the Plan of Adjustment, if a Member died before July 1, 2014 and the compensation of such rank shall be changed prior to July 1, 2014, the benefits provided shall be changed proportionately. All benefits provided in this Part E for Beneficiaries of Members as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d) shall be based on the maximum earnable compensation of the rank of Patrolman or Fire Fighter as established in the City's budget for the year of the earlier of (i) the Member's death or (ii) June 30, 2014.
- (g) In the event a Member has withdrawn his or her Accumulated Contributions from the Annuity Savings Fund and has not returned in full all amounts due the fund by him or her, the survivors benefits provided in paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) of this Section F-18 shall be reduced to the proportion that the Member's Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund, at the time of his or her death bears to the amount his or her Accumulated Contributions would have been had he or she not made a withdrawal from the Annuity Savings Fund.

#### Part F — Termination of Membership Otherwise than by Retirement, Death or Becoming a Beneficiary.

## Sec. F-19. Payment of benefits to employees who became Members before January 1, 1969.

If the membership of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), or (c) shall terminate for any reason other than retirement, his or her becoming a Beneficiary, or death, the Member shall be paid the Accumulated Contributions standing to the credit of his or her individual account in the Annuity Savings Fund, such payment to be made within ninety days after such termination of membership; provided, however, that if a Member eligible for retirement shall resign or be dismissed from service, the Board of Trustees, on the written petition of such Member filed within one year from his or her separation from service and prior to the withdrawal of his or her Accumulated Contributions in the Annuity Savings Fund, shall grant such Member a service Retirement Allowance computed in accordance with Article F, Part A, Section F-2(a), subject to the provisions of Part G of this Article F.

## Sec. F-20. Payment of benefits to employees who became Members on or after January 1, 1969.

If the membership of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d) shall terminate for any reason other than retirement, his or her becoming a Beneficiary or death, he or she shall be paid the Accumulated Contributions standing to the credit of his or her individual account in the Annuity Savings Fund, such payment to be made within ninety days after such termination of membership; provided, however, that if a Member having twenty-five or more years of service and having attained age fifty-five shall resign or be dismissed from service, the Board of Trustees, on the written petition of such Member filed within one year from his or her separation from service and prior to the withdrawal of his or her Accumulated Contributions in the Annuity Savings Fund, shall grant such Member a service Retirement Allowance computed in accordance with Article F, Part A, Section F-2(b), subject to the provisions of Part G of this Article F.

#### Sec. F-21. Deferred vested benefits.

A Member (i) whose employment is terminated before August 28, 2003 and who is credited with eight or more years of creditable service and has attained Age forty, or (ii) whose employment is terminated after August 27, 2003 and who is credited with ten or more years of creditable service, but in each case less than twenty-five years (effective as of March 8, 2007, twenty years for DPOA members and fire equivalents) of creditable service shall be eligible to receive a full Retirement Allowance under Component II beginning on the date upon which the Member would have been eligible to commence a full Retirement Allowance had he or she continued in the service of the City until such date. Alternatively, such Member may elect to receive an actuarially reduced early Retirement Allowance at any time following his or her termination of employment with the City.

#### Part G — Conviction of Felony.

#### Sec. F-22. Forfeiture of rights.

If a Member or Retiree as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b), (c) or (d) shall be convicted of by a court of competent jurisdiction or enters a nolo contendere plea accepted by a court for a felony against the City arising out of his or her service as an employee of the City and while a Member of the Retirement System, the court may order the forfeiture of all or a portion of the rights of the Member to benefits hereunder, except the return of his or her Accumulated Contributions, as provided in the *Public Employee Retirement Benefits Forfeiture Act, MCL 38.2701, et. seq.* In such case, the Retirement System shall pay to an individual, if any, who would otherwise be a Beneficiary of the Member or Retiree whose retirement benefit is being forfeited under this Section F-22 an Actuarially Equivalent monthly Retirement Allowance at the Age that the Member or Retiree would have become eligible for unreduced retirement benefits under the Retirement System.

#### Part H — Option Elections.

#### Sec. F-23. Generally.

- (a) Prior to the first payment of any Retirement Allowance normally due, except a disability Pension payable under Part B, Sections F-8 and F-11 of this article, a Member may elect to receive his or her Retirement Allowance as a Straight Life Retirement Allowance payable throughout the Member's life, or the Member may elect to receive the Actuarial Equivalent, as of the date of the Member's retirement, of his or her Straight Life Retirement Allowance in a reduced Retirement Allowance payable throughout the Member's life and nominate a joint Beneficiary, in accordance with the provisions of Options 1, 2, 3, 3(A) or 3(B) as follows:
  - (1) OPTION 1. Modified Cash Refund Annuity. Under Option 1, a Member will receive a reduced Retirement Allowance. If a Member who selected Option 1 dies before full payment of the Annuity has been received, the person or persons nominated by that Member's written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board of Trustees shall receive in a single payment the difference between the present value of the Member's Annuity on the date the Member retired, minus the amount of Annuity payments already paid to the Member. If there is no such designated person(s) surviving the retired deceased Member, such difference, if any, shall be paid to the Member's legal representative.
  - (2) OPTION 2. Joint and Last Survivorship Retirement Allowance. Under Option 2, upon a Member's death, payment of a reduced Retirement Allowance shall be continued through the life of and paid the person having an insurable interest in the Member's life and nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board of Trustees prior to the first payment of the Member's Retirement Allowance is due.
  - (3) OPTION 3. Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor Allowance. Under Option 3, upon a Member's death, payment of seventy-five percent (75%) of the Member's reduced Retirement Allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the person having an insurable interest in the Member's life and nominated by that Member's written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board of Trustees prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance is due.
  - (4) OPTION 3(A). Modified Joint and Last Survivorship Allowance. Under Option 3(A), upon a Member's death, payment of one-half (50%) of the Member's reduced Retirement Allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the person having an insurable interest in the Member's life and nominated by that Member's written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board of Trustees prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance is due.

-114 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 44 of 85

- (5) OPTION 3(B). Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor Allowance. Under Option 3(B), upon a Member's death, payment of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Member's reduced Retirement Allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the person having an insurable interest in the Member's life and nominated by that Member's written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board of Trustees prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance is due.
- (b) The Joint and Survivor Optional Forms of Payment provided under Options 2, 3, 3(A) and 3(B) shall be made available in either the standard form or the pop-up form, as follows:
  - (i) Standard Form. Under the Standard Form, the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be paid throughout the lifetime of the Retiree.
  - (ii) Pop-up Form. Under the Pop-up Form, the reduced allowance shall be paid throughout the lifetime of the Retiree and the designated Beneficiary. In the event of the death of the designated Beneficiary during the lifetime of the Retiree, the amount of the allowance shall be changed to the amount that would have been payable had the Retiree elected the Straight Life Form of Payment. The actuarial cost of the change in benefit shall be borne by the Member who seeks change in his or her election.

In addition, a Member may elect to have all or part of his or her Accumulated Contributions paid to the Member in a single sum or used to purchase an annuity contract from an insurance company of his or her choice in which case, any annuity payments attributable to such amount under the Retirement System shall not be payable from the Annuity Reserve fund but shall be the responsibility of the insurance company. A Member's Retirement Allowance shall be reduced by the Actuarial Equivalent of the amount so paid or used.

- (c) This Section does not rescind any substantive rights of disability Retirees from the Retirement System who retired prior to the arbitration decision regarding DPOA members that became effective on July 1, 1995, or the arbitration decision regarding DPLSA members that became effective on June 30, 1998.
- (d) This Section does not amend any computations used to determine benefits under Part B, Sections F-8 and F-11 of this Component II, or result in an increase or decrease in such benefits.
- (e) Retirees of the Retirement System shall be entitled to change their Pension option from either Option 2, Option 3, Option 3(A) or Option 3(B) to a Straight Life Retirement Allowance after they have commenced collection of the Pension if the Member's Beneficiary predeceases the Member. The actuarial cost of the change in benefit shall be borne by the Member who seeks change in his or her option election. The pop-up option shall be based upon the investment return assumption as recommended by the Plan Actuary and adopted by the Board of Trustees.

- 115 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 45 of 85

#### Sec. F-24. Disposition of surplus benefits upon death of Member and Beneficiary.

In the event a Member elected Option 2, 3, 3(A) or 3(B) provided for in Section F-23 of this Part H and both the Member and his or her designated joint Beneficiary die before there has been paid in Retirement Allowances an aggregate amount equal to his or her Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of his or her retirement, the difference between his or her said Accumulated Contributions and the said aggregate amount of Retirement Allowances paid shall be paid to the said retired Member's Beneficiary or legal representative.

#### Part I — Pension Offset by Compensation Benefits.

#### Sec. F-25. Generally.

Any amounts which may be paid under the provisions of any workmen's compensation, or pension, or similar law to a Member, or to the dependents of a Member on account of any disability or death, shall be offset against and payable out of funds provided by the City under the provisions of the Retirement System on account of the same disability or death. In case the present value of the total commuted benefits under said workmen's compensation, pension, or similar law, is less than the Pension Reserve or benefits otherwise payable from the funds provided by the City under this Retirement System, then the present value of the commuted payments shall be deducted from the Pension Reserve, and such benefits as may be provided by the Pension Reserve, so reduced, shall be payable under the provisions of the Retirement System.

#### Part J — Monthly Payments.

#### Sec. F-26. Generally.

Unless otherwise herein provided, all benefits payable under this Retirement System shall be paid in equal monthly installments.

#### Part K — Re-Examination of Beneficiaries.

#### Sec. F-27. Authority of Board.

(a) Once each year during the retirement of a Member on a disability Pension or a disability Retirement Allowance and at least once in every three year period thereafter the Board of Trustees shall require any disability Retiree, if he or she would not then be eligible for a service Retirement Allowance had he or she remained in active service, to undergo a medical examination at a place to be fixed by the Board of Trustees. If the Retiree shall be required to travel more than twenty miles to reach such place, the Board of Trustees shall pay his or her reasonable traveling expenses. Should such disability Retiree refuse to submit to such examination, his or her disability Pension or disability Retirement Allowance may be discontinued until he or she shall submit to such examination and should such refusal continue for one year, all of the Member's rights in and to a Pension may be revoked by the Board of Trustees. If, on medical examination of a Beneficiary, the Board of Trustees determines that the Retiree is physically able and capable of resuming active duty, he

-116 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 46 of 85 or she shall be restored to such duty and his or her other disability Pension or disability Retirement Allowance shall cease. Such Member so restored to active duty shall be returned to duty in a rank or grade equivalent to or higher than the rank or grade in which he or she was serving at the time of his or her last retirement and his or her compensation shall be that provided for the rank or grade in which he or she is restored to service. It shall be the duty of the Commissioner of Police or the Board of Fire Commissioners to restore such Member to duty forthwith.

- (b) If the Board of Trustees determines that a disabled Old Plan Member is engaged in a gainful occupation, paying more than the difference between his or her Final Compensation as of the earlier of (i) the date of disability or (ii) June 30, 2014 and his or her disability Pension, or disability Retirement Allowance, the amount of his or her Pension or Retirement Allowance shall be reduced to an amount, which together with the amount earned by the Member, shall equal the amount of such Final Compensation. If the Board of Trustees determines that a disabled New Plan Member is engaged in a gainful occupation, paying more than the difference between his or her base salary at the earlier of (i) the date of disability or (ii) June 30, 2014, increased by two and twenty-five one hundredths percent (2.25%) for each full year from the date of disability and prior to July 1, 2014 and his or her disability Pension, or disability Retirement Allowance, the amount of his or her Pension or Retirement Allowance shall be reduced to an amount, which together with the amount earned by him or her, shall equal the amount of such base salary. Should his or her earnings be later changed, the amount of his or her Pension or Retirement Allowance may be further modified in like manner.
- (c) A disability Retiree who shall be reinstated to active service prior to July 1, 2014 as provided in this Section, shall from the date of such restoration again become a Member of the Retirement System, and he or she shall contribute to the Retirement System thereafter in the same manner and at the same rate as he or she paid prior to his or her disability retirement. A disability Retiree who shall be reinstated to active service after June 30, 2014, shall from the date of such restoration become an active Member of the Retirement System and shall accrue future benefits pursuant to Component I. He or she shall contribute to the Retirement System at the rate required of active Members pursuant to Component I. Any Prior Service and Membership Service on the basis of which his or her service was computed at the time of his or her disability retirement shall be restored to full force and effect, and he or she shall be given service credit under Component I or Component II, as applicable, for the period of time he or she was in retirement due to such disability, except in the case of nonduty disability.

#### Part L — Withdrawal of Accumulated Contributions

#### Sec. F-28. Member With Twenty or Twenty-Five Years of Service.

Effective July 1, 1982, a Member with twenty-five years or more of creditable service (effective as of March 8, 2007, twenty years for DPOA members and fire equivalents) shall be allowed to withdraw either a portion or the full amount of his or her Accumulated Contributions,

- 117 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 47 of 85 one time only, whether or not the Member retires. A Member shall make such election prior to the receipt of his or her first retirement benefit check.

#### Sec. F-29. Disabled Member

A Member who is receiving disability benefits (duty or non-duty) from the Retirement System and who has twenty-five years (effective as of March 8, 2007, twenty years for DPOA members and fire equivalents) or more of creditable service shall have the right to withdraw the full amount of his or her Accumulated Contributions. If such Member withdraws his or her Accumulated Contributions, his or her Retirement Allowance shall be actuarially reduced to reflect such withdrawal.

#### Sec. F-30. Optional Annuity Withdrawal

(a) A Member shall have the right to elect to receive on the effective date of his or her service retirement a partial or total refund of his or her Accumulated Contributions. If a Member makes such an election, an Annuity payable under any Retirement Allowance or reduced Retirement Allowance shall be reduced proportionally. If the total Accumulated Contributions are withdrawn, no Annuity shall be payable.

The limitation of fifteen twenty-seconds of the maximum earnable compensation of a Police Employee and Fire Employee continues in effect. For purposes of determining the fifteen twenty-seconds limitation, a computation based on the Annuity which is an Actuarial Equivalent of the Accumulated Contributions standing to a Member's credit in the Annuity Savings Fund prior to any partial or total refund will be used.

On or after July 1, 1974, Members or former Members who are entitled to begin to receive the 40 & 8 benefit provided under Section F-6 will be entitled to the Annuity refund withdrawal option.

On or after July 1, 1974, non-duty disability Retirees represented by DFFA, DPCOA and DPLSA who retired pursuant to Article D, Section D-1(a), (b) or (c) prior to having twenty-five years of service credit, shall be entitled to the Annuity refund withdrawal option on the date he or she would have had twenty-five years of service credit had he or she continued as an active employee. Said option shall only apply to the balance of Accumulated Contributions, if any, remaining to such Retiree's credit in accordance with the existing Annuity refund provisions.

Survivor benefit beneficiaries as defined in Title IX, Chapter VII, Article VI, Part E, Section 2, parts (a), (b) and (c) of the 1918 City Charter in effect as of June 30, 1974, and continued in effect by Section 11-102 of the City Charter shall be entitled to the Annuity withdrawal refund option subject to the same rules that would have been applicable to the deceased Member had he or she not died. Said option shall only apply to the balance of Accumulated Contributions, if any, remaining to the applicable Member's credit.

In any case of doubt, the Board of Trustees shall decide whether a Member or Beneficiary is entitled to an Annuity refund withdrawal option. (b) A Member shall have the right on or after the effective date of his or her becoming eligible for a full service Retirement Allowance (Members who have either twenty or twenty-five years of creditable service depending upon the applicable bargaining unit) to elect to receive a partial or total refund of his or her Accumulated Contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund. If a Member makes such an election, an Annuity payable under any Retirement Allowance or reduced Retirement Allowance shall be reduced proportionally. If the total Accumulated Contributions are withdrawn, no Annuity shall be payable.

If a Member makes such an election, the Retirement Allowance shall be reduced to reflect the value of the Annuity withdrawn. The amount of the Annuity at the time of such election shall be the amount used at the time of retirement for purposes of computing the Retirement Allowance.

All members (except DPOA members retiring prior to July 1, 1982) who complete their required years of service, shall have the right to withdraw all or part of their Accumulated Contributions whether they choose to retire or not.

Effective July 21, 2000 for DFFA members having a parity relationship with the DPOA and for the DPCOA Inspector, and effective July 1, 2003 for DPLSA members, and effective July 21, 2000 for DPOA members, a Member who has elected to retire and elected to withdraw his or her Annuity for the purposes of calculating his or her Retirement Allowance (thereby lowering the Retirement Allowance), may nevertheless choose to leave the Annuity in the Retirement System collecting Regular Interest with the option of a one-time withdrawal of the Annuity funds at a later date.

For a DPCOA, DPLSA or DFFA member or an employee with a parity relationship with the DPLSA and for the DPCOA Inspector who retires on or after July 1, 1990, and who has made or makes an election to receive a total or partial refund of his or her Accumulated Contribution to the Annuity Savings Fund, there shall be no reduction of Retirement Allowances due to the portion of withdrawal representing interest credits. For members of DFFA and DPLSA, this subsection shall be controlled by the requirements of the Act 312 arbitration award issued June 25, 1990 (MERC Case No. B89 C-0622, page numbers 22 and 23).

Effective January 15, 2010 for members of DPCOA and fire equivalents, or December 15, 2008 for DPLSA and fire equivalents, or March 8, 2007 for DPOA members and fire equivalents, a Member who retires and elects to leave a balance in the Annuity Savings Fund shall have the option of receiving a quarterly payment of interest earnings only or to take periodic withdrawals of principal, in addition to a one time complete withdrawal. Members of DPCOA and DPLSA and their fire equivalents must make their elections a minimum of thirty days before the beginning of a quarter; the beginning of a quarter is defined as March 1, June 1, September 1, and December 1.

An employee represented by DFFA, DPCOA or DPLSA who is entitled to a Retirement Allowance under Article F, Part A, Section F-5 of the Retirement System and who leaves the employ of the Police or Fire Department of the City on or after July 1, 1982 shall have the right to elect to receive on the effective date of termination a partial or total refund of his or her Accumulated Contributions. The Pension portion of his or her Accumulated Contributions from the Annuity Savings Fund until the date he or she was eligible to retire had he or she continued in City employment.

- (c) Effective in accordance with the specific date and terms of the DPOA award in Act 312 No. D98 E-0840 (Chairman Donald F. Sugerman, dated July 21, 2000), a DPOA member shall have the right to leave his or her withdrawn Annuity in the Retirement System and accumulating Regular Interest, as provided herein.
- (d) Effective July 1, 1974, a Member who holds the rank of police inspector and above and who is not covered by a collective bargaining agreement shall, notwithstanding any other provisions of Component II to the contrary, have the right to elect to receive on the effective date of his or her service retirement a partial or total refund of his or her Accumulated Contributions. Effective as of March 8, 2007, a DPOA and fire equivalent Retiree who elects not to withdraw his or her Accumulated Contributions as of the effective date of his or her service retirement shall have the option of receiving a quarterly payment of interest credited to his or her Accumulated Contributions or to receive periodic withdrawals of the contributions such Retiree made to Component II of the Retirement System. If a Member makes such an election, an Annuity payable under any Retirement Allowance or reduced Retirement Allowance shall be reduced proportionately. If the total Accumulated Contributions are withdrawn no Annuity shall be payable with respect to such withdrawn amounts.

#### **ARTICLE G. METHOD OF FINANCING.**

#### Sec. G-1. General.

The funds of Component II of the Retirement System shall be the Annuity Savings Fund, Annuity Reserve Fund, Pension Accumulation Fund, Pension Reserve Fund, Deferred Retirement Option Plan Fund, Expense Fund and the Survivors Benefit Fund.

#### Sec. G-2. Annuity Savings Fund.

- (a) The Annuity Savings Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated at Regular Interest, in accordance with the limitations that are contained in Section C-1(20) of this Component II, the contributions deducted from the compensation of Members prior to the first payroll date occurring in August 2014 to provide for their Annuities. Subject to Section B-1(c), the contributions of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(a), (b) or (c) shall be five percent of a Member's compensation until the Member has acquired twenty-five years of creditable service. Subject to Section B-1(c), the contribution of a Member as defined in Article D, Section D-1(d) shall be five percent of his or her compensation until he or she has acquired at least twentyfive years of creditable service (effective as of March 8, 2007, twenty years for DPOA members and fire equivalents) and attained age fifty-five. No Member shall have the option of choosing to receive the compensation required to be contributed hereunder directly instead of having such amounts paid by the City to the Annuity Savings Fund.
- (b) The City shall cause the contributions provided for in paragraph (a) above to be deducted from the compensation of each Member on each and every payroll, for each and every payroll period, from the date of his or her entrance in the System to the earlier of (i) the date he or she ceases to be a Member or (ii) the last payroll date occurring in July 2014.
- (c) The deductions provided for herein shall be made notwithstanding that the minimum compensation provided by law for any Member shall be reduced thereby. Every Member shall be deemed to consent and agree to the deductions made and provided for herein, and payment of his or her salary or compensation, less said deduction, shall be a full and complete discharge and acquittance of all claims and demands whatsoever for the services rendered by such person during the period covered by such payments, except as to the benefits provided under this Retirement System. The amounts to be deducted shall be deducted by the City Treasurer and when deducted shall be paid into the Annuity Savings Fund and shall be credited to the individual account of the Member from whose compensation said deduction was made.
- (d) If, under the provisions of this Component II, any person shall withdraw or be paid any part or all of his or her Accumulated Contributions and shall thereafter again become a Member on or before June 30, 2014, he or she shall, in addition to the contributions provided for in paragraph (a) above, redeposit in the Annuity Savings Fund, by an increased rate of contribution to be determined by the Board of Trustees,

-121 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 51 of 85 or by a single payment, such amount that his or her Accumulated Contributions at the date of his or her eligibility for retirement will be the same amount it would have been had no withdrawal or payment been made therefrom.

- (e) Except as is otherwise provided in this Component II, upon the death or retirement of a Member, his or her Accumulated Contributions shall be transferred from the Annuity Savings Fund to the Annuity Reserve Fund.
- In any Plan Year during the period beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and ending June (f) 30, 2023 in which the annual rate of return credited to the accounts of Members investing in the Annuity Savings Fund as provided in paragraph (a) is less than the actual rate of return net of expenses of the Retirement System's invested assets for the second Plan Year immediately preceding the Plan Year in which the annual rate of return is credited ("ASF Return Excess"), an amount equal to the value of the ASF Return Excess shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund maintained under Component I of the Combined Plan and shall be used to fund the Transition Cost relating to Component I. The Transition Cost is a measure of the liability that Component I of the Retirement System has at its inception; due to the fact that, at its inception, Members in Component I of the Retirement System receive vesting and eligibility credit under Component I for service that was earned prior to July 1, 2014 and is otherwise credited to Members under Component II of the Retirement System. as such Transition Cost is calculated by the Plan Actuary. In the event there is an ASF Return Excess for a Plan Year following the Plan Year in which such transfers have fully funded the Transition Cost relating to Component I, fifty percent (50%) of such ASF Return Excess shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund maintained under Component II and the remaining fifty percent (50%) of such ASF Return Excess shall be transferred to Component I and credited to the Rate Stabilization Fund maintained under Component I. "Transition Cost" shall be determined by the Plan Actuary.

#### Sec. G-3. Annuity Reserve Fund.

The Annuity Reserve Fund shall be the fund from which shall be paid all Annuities payable as provided in this Component II, except Annuities which are payable from the Survivors Benefit Fund. Should a disability Retiree be restored to active service, his or her Annuity Reserve at the time shall be transferred from the Annuity Reserve Fund to the Annuity Savings Fund and credited to his or her individual account therein.

#### Sec. G-4. Alternative Financing Method.

Except as provided regarding the Survivors Benefit Fund, the Pension Accumulation Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated reserves for the Pensions and other benefits payable from contributions made by the City and other third-party entities, and from which transfers shall be made as provided in this section.

(a) Accrued Liability Fund. Pursuant to Ordinance No. 05-05, which authorized the creation of the Detroit Police and Fire Retirement System Service Corporation, the

#### - 122 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 52 of

City entered into a transaction ("the Pension Funding Transaction") to obtain funds as an alternative to those available through the traditional funding mechanism described in Section G-5. The proceeds generated by the Pension Funding Transaction (or any Additional Pension Funding Transaction) that were deposited into the Retirement System will be termed the "Funding Proceeds." The Funding Proceeds were deposited into a new Fund in the Retirement System called the Accrued Liability Fund. The purpose of the Funding Proceeds is to fund all or part of the theretofore unfunded accrued liabilities ("UAAL") of the Retirement System. The Funding Proceeds are assets of the Retirement System and will be applied, together with all other assets of the Retirement System, to fund the Retirement System's obligation to pay accrued benefits, as adjusted in the Plan of Adjustment.

This Accrued Liability Fund shall contain only the Funding Proceeds of the Pension Funding Transaction, the Additional Pension Funding Transaction and any earnings thereon. Prior to Fiscal Year 2013, funds were transferred each Fiscal Year (or monthly portion thereof) from the Accrued Liability Fund to the Pension Accumulation Fund as provided in the documents governing the Retirement System, including *Ordinance No. 5-05*.

(b) As soon as practicable following the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, any amounts remaining credited to the Accrued Liability Fund shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund and the Accrued Liability Fund shall cease to exist.

#### Sec. G-5. Contributions to and payments from Pension Accumulation Fund.

Contributions to and payments from the Pension Accumulation Fund shall be made as follows:

- (a) For Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014, upon the basis of such assumptions as to future financial experiences as the Board of Trustees shall from time to time adopt, the Actuary annually computed the City's contribution, expressed as a percent of active Member contributions, to provide the Pension Reserves covering the Pensions or other City-financed benefits to which Members might be entitled or which might be payable at the time of their discontinuances of City employment under this Component II; provided, such contribution percents shall not be less than amounts which, expressed as percents of active Member compensation, will remain level from generation to generation of Detroit citizens. Upon the retirement or death of a Member, the Pension Reserve for any benefits payable on his or her behalf shall be transferred from the Pension Accumulation Fund.
- (b) Subject to the Plan of Adjustment, for Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014 and on and after July 1, 2023, the Board of Trustees annually ascertained and reported to the Mayor and the Council the amount of contributions due the Retirement System by the City, and the Council shall appropriate and the City shall pay such contributions to the Retirement System during the ensuing Fiscal Year. When paid, such contributions shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund.

- 123 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 53 of 85 (c) For Fiscal Years commencing after June 30, 2014 and prior to July 1, 2023, the City shall make contributions to the Pension Accumulation Fund only as provided in the Plan of Adjustment.

## Sec. G-6. Retiree payments from Pension Reserve Fund; reinstatement of disability Retirees to active service.

Except as to the Survivor's Benefit Fund, the Pension Reserve Fund shall be the fund from which shall be paid Pensions on account of Members. Should a disability Retiree be reinstated to active service, the Member's Pension Reserve, at that time, shall be transferred from the Pension Reserve Fund to the Pension Accumulation Fund.

#### Sec. G-7. Expense Fund.

The Expense Fund shall be the fund to which shall be credited all money provided by the City, if any, to pay the administration expenses of Component II, and from which shall be paid the expenses necessary in connection with the administration and operation of Component II.

#### Sec. G-8. Deferred Retirement Option Plan Fund.

The Deferred Retirement Option Plan Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated the amounts credited to the DROP Accounts of Members who have elected to participate in the DROP Program pursuant to Article I, together with earnings thereon, provided that the DROP Accounts are held and invested within the Retirement System.

#### Sec. G-9. Appropriations prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023.

- (a) The Board of Trustees shall certify to the City Council the amount of the appropriation necessary to pay to the various funds of Component II of the Retirement System the amounts payable by the City as enumerated in this Component II, according to legal budget procedure.
- (b) To cover the requirements of Component II prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023, such amounts as shall be necessary to cover the needs of Component II shall be paid into the Pension Accumulation Fund and the Expense Fund by special appropriations or transfers to the Retirement System; provided, however that no transfers can be made from the Accrued Liability Fund other than the annual transfer of the scheduled amortizing amount, or transfers under special circumstances pursuant to Section G-4 (as in effect prior to July 1, 2014).

#### Sec. G-10. Maintenance of reserves.

The maintenance of the Annuity Reserves in the Annuity Reserve Fund and the Pension Reserves in the Pension Reserve Fund are hereby made obligations of the Pension Accumulation Fund. Except as provided in Section G-2(f), all income, interest, and dividends derived from deposits and investments authorized by this Component II, which are not required for the allowance of interest to the funds of the Retirement System as provided herein, shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. Prior to July 1, 2014, the moneys credited to the Accrued

Liability Fund were credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund only to the extent authorized pursuant to the terms of the Retirement System as in effect prior to July 1, 2014. Any contributions by the City to the Retirement System from any fund impressed by law with a certain and definite purpose shall be accounted for separately.

#### Sec. G-11. Survivors Benefit Fund.

- (a) The Survivors Benefit Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated, at Regular Interest, the reserves for survivors benefits provided for in Article F, Part E, Section F-18, hereof, and from which such benefits shall be paid, but only to the extent sufficient assets are credited to the fund at the time a claim for benefits is made. In the event there are insufficient assets credited to the Survivor's Benefit Fund to pay the benefits provided under this Section G-10, such benefits thereafter shall be payable from the Pension Reserve Fund.
- (b) After June 30, 1965 and prior to July 1, 1986, each Member shall contribute to the Survivors Benefit Fund one per cent of his or her compensation paid by the City until he or she has acquired twenty-five years of creditable service. The City shall cause the said contributions to be deducted from the Member's compensation, on each and every payroll, for each and every payroll period so long as he or she remains a Member and has not acquired twenty-five years of creditable service. Each and every Member shall be deemed to consent and agree to the said deductions. Said contributions, when deducted, shall be credited to the Survivors Benefit Fund and shall in no case become a part of the said Member's Accumulated Contributions, nor be subject to refund.
- (c) Each Member who retires after June 30, 1965, under Part B, Section F-7 of Article F shall, prior to July 1, 1986, contribute to the Survivors Benefit Fund one per cent of his or her final compensation as defined until he or she would have had a total of twenty-five years of creditable service had he or she continued in active service. The Retirement System shall cause the said contribution to be deducted from the Pension of each such retired Member on each and every retirement roll, for each and every retirement roll period, so long as he or she is receiving a Pension under Part B, Section F-8(a) of Article F. Each and every such retired Member who is receiving a Pension under Part B, Section F-8(a) of Article F. Said contributions, when deducted, shall be credited to the Survivors Benefit Fund and shall in no case become a part of said Member's Accumulated Contributions, nor be subject to refund.
- (d) Effective July 1, 1986, the contributions, required by Article G, Section G-10(b) and G-10(c), to the Survivors Benefit Fund were eliminated for union members. For Fiscal Years ending prior to July 1, 2014, the City shall make the contributions necessary to maintain the benefit level by contributing that amount necessary to replace the contributions of members of DFFA and DPOA to the Survivor's Benefit Fund.

- (e) For Fiscal Years ending prior to July 1, 2014, upon the basis of such mortality and other tables of experience, and Regular Interest, as the Board of Trustees shall from time to time adopt, the Actuary shall annually compute the liabilities for benefits being paid from the Survivors Benefit Fund. The Board of Trustees shall report to the Mayor and the City Council the amount of contributions to be made by the City to the Survivors Benefit Fund, and the City Council shall appropriate and the City shall pay such amount to the Retirement System during the ensuing Fiscal Year. When paid, such appropriations shall be credited to the Survivors Benefit Fund. For Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014, if the balance in the fund is not sufficient to fully cover the liabilities so computed, the City shall appropriate and pay, in the ensuing Fiscal Year, the amount of such insufficiency. For Fiscal Years commencing on and after July 1, 2014, the City shall not make any contributions to the Survivor's Benefit Fund.
- (f) Upon the death of a Member on whose account survivors benefits become payable as provided in Article F, Part B, Section F-8, hereof, his or her Accumulated Contributions standing to his or her credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of his or her death shall be transferred from the Annuity Savings Fund to, and shall become a part of, the Survivors Benefit Fund, notwithstanding any provisions in this Component II to the contrary.

#### Sec. G-12. Computation of Annuity and Pension Reserve liabilities for Members, Retirees and Beneficiaries.

In computing the Annuity and Pension Reserve liabilities for Members, Retirees and Beneficiaries, the Board of Trustees shall cause the following annual Decrement Probabilities, Salary Factors and interest assumption to be used.

- (a) The annual Decrement Probabilities and Salary Factors to be used in evaluating the Annuity and Pension liabilities for Members shall be as shown in Tables 1 and 2 hereinafter set forth.
- (b) The total of active Member annual compensation shall be assumed to increase three percent per annum, compounded annually.
- (c) The mortality assumption for Retirees and Beneficiaries shall be the mortality rates contained in the 1971 group annuity male mortality table, without setback for men and set back five years for women.
- (d) The investment return assumption shall be five percent per annum, compounded annually, for Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014.
- (e) For Fiscal Years commencing on or after July 1, 2014, the Annuity and Pension Reserve liabilities shall be calculated in a manner which is consistent with the Plan of Adjustment.

#### TABLE 1.

#### City of Detroit Policemen and Firemen Retirement System Active Member Annual

#### Probabilities and Salary Factors

Age	Withdrawal from Service	Death in Service	Salary Factors
18	.04120	.00098	.10561
19	.04090	.04099	.11327
20	.04030	.00100	.12126
21	.04000	.00101	.12988
22	.03960	.00102	.13913
23	.03910	.00103	.14913
24	.03890	.00104	.15971
25	.03840	.00105	.17068
26	.03800	.00107	.18204
27	.03700	.00108	.19347
28	.03600	.00111	.20527
29	.03480	.00113	.21712
30	.03340	.00117	.22916
31	.03200	.00121	.24124
32	.03000	.00126	.25321
33	.02730	.00133	.26522
34	.02370	.00143	.27753
35	.01990	.00154	.29015
36	.01500	.00168	.30306
37	.01160	.00184	.31637
38	.00850	.00204	.32995
39	.00600	.00227	.34405
40	.00390	.00252	.35851
41	.00210	.00281	.37333
42	.00090	.00313	.38861
43	.00000	.00348	.40435
44	.00000	.00387	.42051
45	.00000	.00429	.43709
46	.00000	.00475	.45395
47	.00000	.00526	.47144
48	.00000	.00582	.48929
49	.00000	.00643	.50750
50	.00000	.00710	.52639
51	.00000	.00783	.54560
52	.00000	.00864	.56535

- 127 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 57 of

Age	Withdrawal from Service	Death in Service	Salary Factors
53	.00000	.00953	.58548
54	.00000	.01051	.60612
55	.00000	.01157	.62711
56	.00000	.01270	.64867
57	.00000	.01392	.67066
58	.00000	.01520	.69319
59	.00000	.01656	.71610
60	.00000	.01802	.73939
61	.00000	.01959	.76316
62	.00000	.02133	.78747
63	.00000	.02322	.81211
64	.00000	.02526	.83715
65	.00000	.02750	.86258
66	.00000	.03000	.88848
67	.00000	.03277	.91514
68	.00000	.03584	.94264
69	.00000	.03919	.97094
70	.00000	.04278	1.00000

#### TABLE 2.

## City of Detroit Policemen and Firemen Retirement System Annual Probabilities of Age and Service Retirement Applicable to Members Who Are Eligible to Retire

Age	Probabilities of Retirement
45	25%
46	25
47	25
48	25
49	25
50	25
51	25
52	25
53	25
54	20
55	20
56	15
57	10
58	15
59	30
60	100

## Sec. G-13. Determination of City's annual contribution — Disability Pension liabilities.

For Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023, the City's annual contribution, expressed as a percent of active Member compensation, to finance disability Pensions shall be determined by dividing the average of the Pension Reserve liabilities for disability retirements incurred during the three Fiscal Years ending with the date of the valuation by one percent of the active Members' annual compensation used in the valuation.

#### Sec. G-14. Determination of City's annual contribution — Death Pension liabilities.

For Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023, the City's annual contribution, expressed as a percent of active Member compensation, to finance death-inservice Pensions shall be determined by dividing the average of the Pension reserve liabilities for death-in-service claims incurred during the three Fiscal Years ending with the date of the valuation by one percent of the active Member's annual compensation used in the valuation.

# Sec. G-15. Determination of City's annual contribution — Actuarial evaluation of annuity and Pension Reserve liabilities.

The Annuity and Pension Reserve liabilities for Members, Retirees and Beneficiaries shall be actuarially evaluated as set forth in this Article G and the Plan of Adjustment.

#### Sec. G-16. Determination of City's annual contribution — Service Pension liabilities for Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023.

- (a) The service Pension liabilities for Members shall be determined using the entry agenormal cost method of actuarial valuation.
- (b) The City's annual contribution, expressed as a percent of active Member compensation, to finance the prospective service Pension liabilities shall be determined by dividing the total of the individual annual normal costs of the active Members by one percent (1%) of the active Members' annual compensation used in the valuation.
- (c) The City's annual contribution, expressed as a percent of active Member compensation, to finance any unfunded Accrued Service Pension liabilities, including instances in which assets exceed liabilities, shall be determined by dividing such unfunded Accrued Service Pension liabilities by one percent (1%) of the present value of future compensation payable during a period of future years. Such period of future years shall be thirty years for the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 1974, decreasing one (1) year at each subsequent June 30th until a twenty year period is reached, which twenty year period shall be used in each subsequent actuarial valuation until June 30th, 2004 when the period shall again be thirty years.

#### Sec. G-17. Board of trustees to compute City's annual contribution.

Based upon the provisions of this Article, including any amendments, the Board of Trustees shall compute the City's annual contributions for Fiscal Years commencing prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023, expressed as a percent of active Member compensation, to the Retirement System for the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 1975, using actuarial valuation data as of June 30, 1974, and for each subsequent Fiscal Year prior to July 1, 2014 and after June 30, 2023 using actuarial valuation data as of the June 30th date which date is a year and a day before the first day of such Fiscal Year. The Board shall report to the Mayor and to the City Council the contribution percents so computed, and such contribution percents shall be used in determining the contribution dollars to be appropriated by the City Council and paid to the Retirement System. For each Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 1975 and each Fiscal Year thereafter ending prior to July 1, 2014 and for each Fiscal Year beginning after June 30, 2023, such contribution dollars shall be determined by multiplying the applicable contribution percent for such Fiscal Year by the Member compensation paid for such Fiscal Year; provided that for the one Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 1975 and ending June 30, 1976, such Member compensation so used shall not exceed 106.09 percent of the active Members' annual compensation used in the actuarial valuation determining such contribution percent.

- 130 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 60 of 85

#### Sec. G-18. Employer Contribution

Effective January 1, 1987 for members of DFFA and DPLSA or upon issuance of the 1986-89 Act 312 Award for members of DPOA, the employee contributions to the Annuity Fund, although designated as employee contributions, shall be paid by the City in lieu of contributions by the employee. The employee shall not have the option of choosing to receive the contributed amount directly instead of having them paid by the City to the Annuity Fund. There shall be no additional contribution expense to the City, and the amounts so contributed by the City on behalf of the employee shall be treated, for tax purposes, as employer contributions and thus shall not be taxable to the employee until these amounts are distributed or made available to the employee.

This provision shall not affect the amount or benefit level of the Retirement Allowance, or the City's obligation with respect thereto.

#### **ARTICLE H. MISCELLANEOUS.**

#### Sec. H-1. Recall of Retirees during emergencies.

During an emergency declared by the Commissioner of Police or the Board of Fire Commissioners, the Commissioner or the Board of Fire Commissioners, as the case may be, shall have power, with the consent of a Retiree, to recall to active duty a Retiree for such period of service as the commissioner or the Board of Fire Commissioners shall deem advisable; provided, however, that the foregoing power shall not apply in the case of a Retiree who has reached the age of sixty-four years, and provided further, that any Retiree so recalled may, at any time, separate from active duty on his or her own application or by order of the Commissioner or the Board of Fire Commissioners. A Retiree so recalled shall serve in the rank at which he or she retired, or a higher rank, and shall receive the pay of such rank without deduction. On subsequent separation from active duty, such Retiree shall resume the Retiree status held by him or her prior to such recall.

## ARTICLE I. DEFERRED RETIREMENT OPTION PLAN.

### Sec. I-1. General provisions.

For periods on and after July 1, 2014, the Deferred Retirement Option Plan ("DROP") Program under Component II shall be available to Members who are covered by collective bargaining agreements with the City that permit such Members to participate in the DROP program and non-union executives of the Police Department and the Fire Department.

- (a) In lieu of terminating employment and accepting a Retirement Allowance under the Component II, any Member of the Retirement System who is eligible for the DROP program and who is eligible to immediately receive an unreduced Retirement Allowance may elect to participate in the DROP program and defer the receipt of his or her Retirement Allowance in accordance with the provisions of this Article I. Any such election shall be irrevocable.
- (b) Participation in the DROP program for Members for who elected to participate in the DROP program prior to July 1, 2014 shall be limited to ten years. Participation for Members who elect to participate in DROP program after June 30, 2014 shall be limited to five years. At the end of such five (or ten) year period of participation in the DROP program, the Member shall be retired from employment with the City.

### Sec. I-2. Conversion to Retirement Allowance

Upon the effective date of a Member's participation in the DROP program, the Member shall cease to accrue a Retirement Allowance under Component I and shall elect a form of payment for his or her Retirement Allowance pursuant to Part H of Article F. Seventy-five percent (75%) of the monthly Retirement Allowance (including applicable variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) increases) that would have been payable, had the Member elected to terminate employment with the City on the effective date of his or her DROP election and receive an immediate Retirement Allowance, shall be paid into a DROP Account established on behalf of the Member under the Retirement System or in an entity selected by the Board.

#### Sec. I-3. Investment of DROP assets

- (a) ING was previously selected by the Board as the DROP administration and investment entity for Members who elect to participate in the DROP program. ING shall continue to be the DROP administration and investment entity, unless and until such time as the Board terminates the agreement with ING as provided in paragraph (d) or determines that it is administratively feasible for the DROP program to be administered and invested under the Retirement System.
- (b) As soon as possible after July 1, 2014, the Board shall determine whether it is administratively feasible for the DROP program to be administered and the assets in DROP accounts to be invested under the Retirement System. If the Board determines that it is feasible to administer the DROP program under the Retirement System, the Board shall promptly take appropriate steps to implement such decision.

- 133 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 63 of 85

- (c) If amounts credited to DROP accounts are invested under the Retirement System, such amounts shall be comingled with the assets of the Retirement System for investment purposes and shall be invested by the Trustees. A Member's DROP account shall be credited with annual earnings at a rate equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of the actual net earnings rate of the assets of the Retirement System; however, in no event shall the earnings rate applied to a Member's DROP account for any Plan Year be less than zero percent (0%) nor greater than seven and three-quarters percent (7.75%).
- (d) The Board of Trustees previously entered into an administrative services agreement with ING. Such agreement shall remain in effect until such time as it is terminated by the Board as provided therein.
- (e) The Board of Trustees may replace ING with a trust-type vehicle or the Board may determine that amounts subject to a DROP election will be invested with Retirement System assets as provided above.
- (f) Any fees associated with the maintenance of DROP Accounts outside of the Retirement System shall be paid by the Members by means of deduction from their DROP Accounts.

### Sec. I-4. Distribution of amounts credited to DROP Account

A Member shall not receive a distribution of amounts credited to his or her DROP Account prior to his or her termination of employment with the City. Upon termination of employment, a Member who is a participant in the DROP program shall receive, at his or her option either a lump sum payment from the DROP Account equal to the amount then credited to the DROP Account or an annuity based upon the amount credited to his or her DROP Account. Any such annuity shall be subject to market rates of interest return and other market-related assumptions as adopted by the Board upon recommendation of the Investment Committee. In addition, one hundred percent (100%) of the Member's monthly Retirement Allowance that otherwise would have been paid as of the date the Member's participation in the DROP program commenced (together with any applicable variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) increases) shall commence to the Member in accordance with the form of payment selected by the Member at the commencement of his or her participation in the DROP program. Termination of employment includes termination of any kind, such as resignation, retirement, discharge or disability.

#### Sec. I-5. Death of Member while participating in the DROP program

If a Member dies while participating in the DROP program, a lump sum payment equal to the Member's DROP Account balance shall be paid to the Beneficiary named by the Member, or if no Beneficiary has been designated, to the Member's estate; provided, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Member's adjusted DROP Account balance under Component II upon the Member's death while participating in the DROP program shall not be less than total system DROP payments into his or her account (not including earnings and losses). In addition, one hundred percent (100%) of the Member's Retirement Allowance (together with any applicable variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) increases) that would have been paid to the Member but for the Member's decision to participate in the DROP program will be restored. Survivor benefits, if any, shall be paid in accordance with the payment option elected by the deceased Member at the time the Member elected to participate in the DROP program.

#### Sec. I-6. Disability of Member While Participating in the DROP Program

If a Member becomes Totally Disabled while participating in the DROP program and while still an Employee and his or her employment with the City is terminated because he or she is Totally Disabled, such Member (a) shall be immediately retired and one hundred percent (100%) of the Retirement Allowance that would have been paid to the Member as of the date the Member's participation in the DROP program commenced (together with any applicable variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) increases) will commence in accordance with the payment option selected by the Member at the commencement of the Member's participation in the DROP program as provided in Section I-2, and (b) shall be entitled to receive payment of the funds in his or her DROP Account (in the form of a lump sum or other Actuarially Equivalent form of payment described in Part H of Article F). Such Member shall not be entitled to disability retirement benefits under Article F hereof.

#### Sec. I-7. Cost Neutrality

- (a) The DROP program shall be effective only for as long as it is cost-neutral to the City, provided however, that the DROP program shall continue during the pendency of proceedings, described in paragraph (2) below, designed to restore the Retirement System to cost neutrality.
- (b) If the City contends that the DROP program is not cost-neutral, including, but not limited to, making the City's annual contribution to the Retirement System higher than it would be if the DROP program was not in effect, the Board and the City, along with the Plan Actuary and an actuary appointed by the City (who will be an associate or a fellow of the Society of Actuaries and a member of the American Academy of Actuaries) shall meet and confer in good faith regarding the cost. If the Board and the City are unable to reach an agreement as to cost, the matter shall be submitted to a third, independent, actuary, chosen or agreed upon by the Plan Actuary and the City's actuary. This actuary, when rendering a decision, will be limited to ordering implementation of changes necessary to make the DROP program costneutral. Upon the implementation of changes necessary to make the DROP program cost-neutral, Members shall have thirty days to elect to either (a) retire from active employment with the City, or (b) withdraw from the DROP program and resume active participation in Component I of the Retirement System. The Board shall notify DROP participants of these changes prior to implementation. Those DROP participants resuming participation in Component I of the Retirement System shall not accumulate Credited Service for any time that they were participating in the DROP program (under either Component I or Component II). Those not making either election shall continue to participate in the DROP program.

(c) In the event the DROP program cannot be changed to restore cost neutrality, it shall be discontinued and Members participating in the DROP program at that time shall have the option to either (i) retire, or (ii) continue active employment with the City and resume active participation in Component I of the Retirement System. DROP participants resuming participation in Component I of the Retirement System shall not accumulate Credited Service for the time during which such DROP participants participated in the DROP program (under either Component I or Component II).

## ARTICLE J. PARTICIPANT ANNUITY SAVINGS FUND LOAN PROGRAM

#### Sec. J-1. Participant Annuity Savings Fund Loan Program

A Participant Annuity Savings Fund Loan Program (Participant Loan Program) will be established and available to bargaining unit Members. Its terms will be as follows:

- (a) Any loans granted or renewed shall conform to the requirements of Section 72(p) of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations thereunder. Such loan program shall be established in writing by the Board of Trustees in conformity with the terms of the Combined Plan Document and applicable collective bargaining agreements, and must include, but need not be limited to the following:
  - (1) The identity of the administrator of the Participant Loan Program;
  - (2) A procedure to apply for loans, the amount of loan that will be approved or denied, and limitations, if any, on the types and amount of loans offered;
  - (3) The procedure under the program for determining a reasonable rate of interest;
  - (4) The events constituting default and the steps that will be taken to preserve plan assets.
- (b) The Participant Loan Program shall be contained in a separate written document copies of which shall be made available in the offices of the Retirement System for Members. The Board of Trustees is authorized to adopt rules and regulations, from time to time, to govern the administration and the operation of this program. Copies of the rules shall also be made available to prospective participating Members of the Retirement System in the offices of the Retirement System.
- (c) Subject to the rules and procedures established by the Board, loans may be made to Members from such Member's contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund. Former Members, Spouses of Members, and Beneficiaries are not eligible to receive any loans from the Retirement System. Subject to rules and procedures established by the Board, a Member who has been in the Retirement System for twelve months or more is eligible to apply for a loan. No Member shall have more than two outstanding loans from the Retirement System (Component I and/or Component II) at any time. A Member who has previously defaulted on a loan under either Component I or Component II of the Combined Plan shall not be eligible for a loan from the Retirement System.
- (d) A Member who has satisfied applicable rules and procedures may borrow from his or her Annuity Savings Fund account an amount, which does not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the Member's vested accumulated balance, up to fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000.00) reduced by: (1) the highest outstanding balance of loans from the Retirement System during the one year period ending on the day before the date on which the loan is made (under both Component I and Component II), or (2) the outstanding balance of loans from the Retirement System on the date on which the

- 137 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 67 of loan is made (under both Component I and Component II), whichever is less. The minimum loan amount shall be one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00).

- (e) In addition to such rules and procedures that are established by the Board, all loans shall comply with the following terms and conditions:
  - (1) Loan applications shall be in writing.
  - (2) All loans shall be memorialized by a promissory note made to the Retirement System and properly executed by the Member.
  - (3) Loan shall be repaid by equal payroll deductions over a period not to exceed five years, or, where the loan is for the purpose of buying a principal residence, a period not to exceed fifteen years. In no case shall the amount of the payroll deduction be less than twenty dollars (\$20.00) for any two-week period.
  - (4) Each loan granted under Component II shall be made against the assignment of the Member's entire right, title, and interest in and to the Annuity Savings Fund supported by the Member's collateral promissory note for the amount of the loan, including interest payable to the order of the Board of Trustees.
  - (5) Each loan shall bear interest at a rate determined by the Board. The Board shall not discriminate among Members in its determination of interest rates on loans. Loans initiated at different times may bear different interest rates, where, in the opinion of the Board, the difference in rates is supported by a change in market interest rates or a change in the Retirement System's current assumed rate of return. The loan interest rate shall bear a reasonable relationship to market rates for secured loans of a similar duration and shall bear a reasonable relationship to the costs to the Retirement System of administering the Retirement System. The loan interest rate shall be calculated in a manner that will not negatively affect the City's costs relating to the Retirement System or the return to Members.
  - (6) Loan repayments shall be suspended under this Retirement System as permitted by Section 414(u)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code. A Member who has an outstanding loan balance from the Retirement System who is absent from employment with the City, and who has satisfied the requirements of Section 414(u) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not be required to make loan repayments to the Retirement System during said periods of absence.
- (f) A Member's outstanding loan balance shall be considered a directed investment by the Member and interest payments shall be credited to the Member's account balance (provided that the interest credited shall be reduced appropriately to cover the administrative cost of the loan program and avoid negatively affecting the City's costs or the Retirement System's investment returns), and shall not be part of net investment income or part of the Member's account balance for the purpose of allocation of net investment income under Article G.

- 138 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 68 of 85

- (g) No distributions shall be made to a Member, former Member, or Beneficiary until all loan balances drawn on the applicable vested accumulated balance and applicable accrued interest have been repaid or offset against the distributable Annuity Savings Fund account balance.
- (h) The Retirement System shall include, in its annual report to all Members, an accounting of the loan program established by this Component II, which contains the number and amount of loans made, the costs of administering the program, the amount of payments made including interest received by the Retirement System, the amount of loans outstanding, including any defaults or delinquencies, and an evaluation as to whether the interest charged in the Fiscal Year covered the costs of administering the loan program.

#### ARTICLE K. SPECIAL PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT PROVISIONS

# Sec. K-1. Benefit Changes implemented in accordance with the terms of the Plan Of Adjustment

Notwithstanding anything in Articles A, C, D or E to the contrary, as of the effective dates set forth below and during the period that ends no earlier than June 30, 2023, the following changes in benefits provided under Component II of the Combined Plan shall be implemented:

(1)Reduction in Escalation. With respect to all Pension benefits payable on or after July 1, 2014, the Escalation or Pension Improvement Factor (for purposes of this Section K-1(1) each a "COLA") provided in Part C of Article F of this Component II that will be applied to the monthly Pension benefit of a Member, Retiree, surviving Beneficiary or vested former employee will be 45% of the COLA provided for in Part C of Article F of this Component II, any collective bargaining agreement applicable to Members, other contracts or ordinances; provided, however, that the Board and the Investment Committee shall determine on the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment and not less frequently than annually thereafter that the "Funding Conditions" as defined herein have been satisfied, and in the event that such Funding Conditions have not been satisfied then the COLA that will be applied to the monthly Pension benefit of a Member, Retiree, surviving Beneficiary or vested former employee will be reduced in proportion to the funding which is not received by the Retirement System ("Adjusted Pension Benefit").

For purposes of this Section K-1, the term "Funding Conditions" shall mean that (i) Class 10 and Class 11 voted in favor of the Plan of Adjustment in accordance with the procedures for such vote under the Plan of Adjustment, (ii) the Plan of Adjustment is confirmed by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court, and (iii) the funds that are pledged to be contributed to the Retirement System pursuant to the terms of the State Contribution Agreement and the DIA Settlement Documents have been received.

(2) <u>Effect of Payment Default</u>. In the event that all or a portion of the funds pledged to be contributed to the Retirement System pursuant to the terms of the DIA Settlement Agreement are not received by the Retirement System, the Board shall proportionately reduce the COLA to be applied to the monthly Pension benefit of any Member, Retiree, surviving Beneficiary, employee and former employee to the extent of such default.

#### Sec. K-2. Income Stabilization Benefits

(1) The provisions of this Section K-2 shall become effective only if each of the Conditions Precedent (as that term is defined in the State Contribution Agreement) have been met to the satisfaction of the Authority and the State Treasurer (each as defined in the State Contribution Agreement), unless any one

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed  $02/14/25^{-140}$  Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 70 of

or more of such conditions are waived in writing executed by the Authority and the State Treasurer.

- (2) Beginning not later than 120 days after the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, Component II of the Combined Plan shall pay, in accordance with this Section K-2, an annual supplemental pension income stabilization benefit ("Income Stabilization Benefit") to each Eligible Pensioner (as defined in Section K-2(5)) equal to the lesser of either (i) the amount needed to restore an Eligible Pensioner's reduced annual pension benefit to 100% of the amount of the annual pension benefit that the Eligible Pensioner received from the Retirement System in 2013; or (ii) the amount needed to bring the total annual 2013 household income of the Eligible Pensioner up to 130% of the Federal Poverty Level for 2013. The Income Stabilization Benefit as determined under this Section K-2(2) will not increase after the date on which the Income Stabilization Benefit is determined. The Income Stabilization Benefit payable to an Eligible Pensioner will terminate immediately at such time as the Eligible Pensioner ceases to qualify as an Eligible Pensioner.
- (3) To the extent an Eligible Pensioner's Estimated Adjusted Annual Household Income (as defined in this Section K-2) in any calendar year after the first year that the Eligible Pensioner receives a benefit under this Section K-2 is less than 105% of the Federal Poverty Level in that year, the Eligible Pensioner will receive an additional "Income Stabilization Benefit Plus" benefit commencing as of the next following July 1.
  - a. The Income Stabilization Benefit Plus benefit for a calendar year will be equal to the lesser of either (i) the amount needed to restore 100% of the Eligible Pensioner's Pension benefit, as increased by any Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator), under Component II of the Combined Plan; or (ii) the amount needed to bring the Eligible Pensioner's Estimated Adjusted Annual Household Income in that calendar year up to 105% of the Federal Poverty Level in that year.
  - b. An Eligible Pensioner's "Estimated Adjusted Annual Household Income" for any year will be the sum of (i) the Eligible Pensioner's 2013 total household income (per his or her (or in the case of a minor child, his or her legal guardian's) 2013 income tax return or equivalent documentation), less the Pension benefit paid to the Eligible Pensioner by the Retirement System in 2013, as adjusted for inflation or Social Security COLA increases; (ii) the Adjusted Pension Benefit that is payable to the Eligible Pensioner for that year as determined under Section K-1, (iii) any pension restoration payment to the Eligible Pensioner as determined under Section K-3; and (iv) the Eligible Pensioner's Income Stabilization Benefit.
- (4) A separate recordkeeping fund called the "Income Stabilization Fund" shall be established by the Board for the sole purpose of paying the Income Stabilization

Benefits and Income Stabilization Benefits Plus to Eligible Pensioners. Any funds received by the Retirement System that is designated by the City as UTGO Bond Tax Proceeds or a contribution to the Income Stabilization Fund shall be credited by the Board to the Income Stabilization Fund. The assets credited to the Income Stabilization Fund will be invested on a commingled basis with assets of the Retirement System and will be credited with a pro-rata portion of the earnings and losses of the Retirement System. Amounts credited to the Income Stabilization Fund may not be used for any purpose other than the payment of Income Stabilization Benefits and Income Stabilization Benefits to Eligible Pensioners, except as expressly provided in Section K-2(7).

- (5) For purposes of this Section K-2, an "Eligible Pensioner" is a Retiree or surviving Spouse who is at least 60 years of age or a minor child receiving survivor benefits, each as of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, whose benefit will be reduced as provided in Section K-1, and who is eligible to receive Income Stabilization Benefits because (i) such individual is receiving monthly pension benefits from the Retirement System as of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, and (ii) such individual has a total annual household income equal to or less than 140% of the federal poverty level in 2013 (per his or her (or in the case of a minor child, his or her legal guardian's) 2013 income tax return or equivalent documentation).
  - a. An eligible individual must apply for an Income Stabilization Benefit in accordance with procedures established by the Authority and provide such substantiation of the individual's aggregate annual household income as is required by the State in its sole discretion.
  - b. The initial determination of Eligible Pensioners, and amount of the Income Stabilization Benefit payable to each Eligible Pensioner shall be made by the State in its sole discretion. The State shall transmit the list of Eligible Pensioners to the Investment Committee and the Board. The Board, with the assistance of the Investment Committee shall be responsible for administering the Income Stabilization Fund and annually certifying to the State Treasurer that it has administered the requirements for eligibility and payment of benefits with respect to Eligible Pensioners in accordance with the terms of the State Contribution Agreement.
  - c. After the initial determination of Eligible Pensioners is made, no new individuals will be eligible to receive an Income Stabilization Benefit or an Income Stabilization Benefits Plus benefit at any time in the future.
  - d. An Eligible Pensioner will cease to be an Eligible Pensioner as of the earlier of (i) the Eligible Pensioner's death or (ii) with respect to any minor child receiving survivor benefits, the date the minor child reaches the Age of 18 years.

- (6) For purposes of this Section K-2, the "Federal Poverty Level" means the poverty guidelines published each year in the Federal Register by the United States Department of Health and Human Resources.
- (7) In the event that, in 2022 (provided that the State has not issued a Certificate of Default (as defined in the State Contribution Agreement) with respect to the Retirement System at any time prior to 2022), it is the opinion of at least 75% of the independent members of the Investment Committee that the assets of the Income Stabilization Benefits Plus benefits anticipated to be made to Eligible Pensioners by the Retirement System in the future ("Excess Assets"), the Investment Committee may, in its sole discretion, recommend to the Board that all or a portion of the Excess Assets, in an amount not to exceed \$35 million, be used to fund the Adjusted Benefits payable by the Retirement System. The Investment Committee shall have the right to engage professional advisers to assist in making this determination and such expenses shall be paid by the Retirement System.
- (8) In the event that any funds remain in the Income Stabilization Fund on the date upon which there are no Eligible Pensioners under the Retirement System, such funds shall be used to fund the Adjusted Benefits payable by the Retirement System.

#### Sec. K-3. Restoration of Pension Benefits

The following rules shall govern how COLA benefits (as described in Section K-1(1)), that are reduced as part of the Plan of Adjustment, shall be restored during the thirty year period following the confirmation order issued by the Bankruptcy court in *In Re City of Detroit, Michigan*, Case No. 13-53846. The pension restoration process shall be supervised, and restoration decisions undertaken by the Investment Committee and in accordance with the pension governance provisions set forth in the State Contribution Agreement and exhibits thereto. The pension restoration program shall be deemed a part of this Component II, but in the event of any conflict between the language set forth herein and the pension restoration agreement attached to and made a part of the Plan of Adjustment ("Pension Restoration Agreement"), the terms of the Pension Restoration Agreement will govern.

(1) Waterfall Classes.

There will be three Waterfall Classes:

- a. Waterfall Class 1 Retirees, in retirement benefit pay status as of June 30, 2014, and their surviving Spouses and Beneficiaries.
- b. Waterfall Class 2 Retirees, who entered into retirement benefit pay status after June 30, 2014, and their surviving Spouses and Beneficiaries, and who are in pay status as of the end of the Fiscal Year prior to the year in which the restoration decision is made.

- c. Waterfall Class 3 All Retirees, surviving Spouses, and Beneficiaries in pay status and all other Members who as of June 30, 2014 are not in retirement benefit pay status.
- (2) Restoration of Benefits Through June 30, 2023.
  - Each year in conjunction with the annual actuarial valuation report, the a. Plan Actuary will project the funded ratio of the Retirement System as of 2023 based upon the market value of plan assets relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities (the "Funded Level"). This projection will be further based upon a 6.75% assumed rate of investment return which is net of expenses (administrative and investment), future employer contributions as set forth in the Plan of Adjustment (subject to conditions in the Plan of Adjustment), and such other actuarial assumptions as utilized by the Plan Actuary. For purposes of restoration of benefits through June 30, 2023, the Funding Target will be a 75% funded ratio, and the Restoration Target will be a 78% funded ratio, both projected to June 30, 2023. For purposes of calculating the funded ratio, the assets in the Restoration Reserve Account will be excluded. Each year, if the Plan Actuary projects that the Funded Level as of 2023 (excluding Restoration Reserve Account assets to avoid double counting) exceeds the Restoration Target (i.e., exceeds 78%), a credit of assets for bookkeeping purposes will be made into a new notional Restoration Reserve Account. The notional credit will be an amount equal to the excess of assets above the amount projected to be needed to satisfy the Restoration Target. Once the Restoration Reserve Account is established, each year thereafter, Restoration Account assets will be credited with interest in an amount equal to the net return on Retirement System investments but capped at the actuarially assumed rate of investment return (i.e., 6.75% for the period through June 30, 2023). In the event of net losses, the credited asset value of the Restoration Reserve Account will be diminished to reflect such losses and any required transfer to the PFRS Pension Reserve Fund as provided herein.
  - b. Actual restoration payments and restoration credits will work as follows: each year, in conjunction with the preparation of the annual actuarial valuation report and following establishment of the Restoration Reserve Account, the Plan Actuary will determine whether there are sufficient funds in such account to restore COLA benefits in a minimum incremental amount of 10% or more. For example: if a Retiree's then current COLA benefit is a 1.0% annual compounded COLA, the minimum incremental restoration would increase the COLA benefit to 1.225%. COLA restoration only will occur if the funding level in the Restoration Reserve Account can fund 100% of the COLA increase over the actuariallyprojected lives of the eligible recipient Waterfall Class. If the Plan Actuary certifies that the Restoration Reserve Account as of the end of the prior Fiscal Year satisfies the required funding level for one or more increments of restoration, then in the next immediate Fiscal Year actual

- 144 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 74 of 85

COLA restoration payments will be made to PFRS Waterfall Class 1 members in such increments until an amount sufficient to fund 66% of the value of their future COLA payments (e.g., a 1.5% compound COLA, or as otherwise applicable) has been funded. At that juncture, and to the extent that additional assets in the Restoration Reserve Account would fully fund COLA restoration in at least one minimum 10% increment (i.e., amounts equal to 10% of the value of future COLA payments), Waterfall Class 2 members will receive COLA restoration, until an amount sufficient to fund 66% of the value of their future COLA payments has been funded. At that juncture, and to the extent that additional assets in the Restoration Reserve Account would fully fund COLA restoration in at least one minimum 10% increment (i.e., amounts equal to 10% of the value of future COLA payments), Waterfall Class 3 members will receive COLA restoration on a pro-rata basis. For Waterfall Class 3 members who are in pay status at that time of restoration, they will receive COLA payments; for active employees at the time of restoration, they will receive credits granting them a right upon retirement to receive COLA restoration equal to the 10% increments that are fully funded to Waterfall Class 3 members. For example: assume there are sufficient assets credited to the Restoration Reserve Account as of the end of a Fiscal Year to fully fund 66% of the value of the COLA for all Waterfall Class 1 and Class 2 members for their actuarially projected lives. To the extent additional assets remain in the Restoration Reserve Account to fully fund at least a 10% COLA increment for Waterfall Class 3 members for their actuarially projected lives, then (i) all Retirees would receive a restoration payment of 76% of the value of their COLAs (their having already received by virtue of their membership in Waterfall Classes 1 and 2 an increase to 66% of the value of their COLAs) and also a 10% COLA increment would be credited to eligible active employees which would be included in their benefit payments upon retirement (thus causing their COLAs to increase in value from 45% to 55%). Restoration amounts actually paid from the Restoration Reserve Account will be debited from such account. Restoration payments will be calculated and paid on a prospective basis only.

c. Once restoration payments and credits begin, as long as the Restoration Reserve Account continues to have assets to fund 100% of an incremental COLA restoration amount for such Waterfall Class for their actuarially projected lives, the restoration payments and credits will continue; provided, however, that in the event the Restoration Reserve Account, after having sufficient assets to fund 100% of two or more increments, falls below 100% for the second or greater increment, the annual amounts to pay such second or greater increment can continue until the Restoration Reserve Account lacks any assets to fund such additional increment. For example, assume a 10% increment in Waterfall Class 1 requires \$10 million in assets to be fully funded for the Waterfall Class members' actuarially projected lives, and that based on Fiscal Year 2018 results the

- 145 -

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 75 of

Restoration Reserve Account has assets of \$22 million so as to fund two increments of restoration in Fiscal Year 2019. Assume further that in the following year the Restoration Reserve Account drops in value to \$17 million; in such event two increments could still be paid, and the second increment would cease being paid only if the value of assets in the Restoration Reserve Account dropped to or below \$10 million (in the event they dropped below \$10 million, the first increment also would cease being paid). For purposes of restoration reduction, restoration increments will be taken away in reverse order in which they were granted (i.e. last in, first out).

- d. If the Funded Level (excluding Restoration Reserve Assets) projected to 2023 falls below 76% (hereinafter, "Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger"), then, until such time as the projected Funded Level in 2023 is 76% or above, further interest credits to the notional Restoration Reserve Account will cease notwithstanding the actual net Retirement System investment returns for the Fiscal Year in guestion. Furthermore, if the Funded Level projected to 2023 falls below the Funding Target (i.e., 75%) then restoration payments to Retirees and credits to active employees in the following year will be modified in the following manner: (1) funds previously credited to the Restoration Reserve Account will be notionally transferred and credited to the Pension Reserve Fund in sufficient amounts to restore the projected Funded Level in 2023 to 75%; (2) following such transfer, the remaining assets in the Restoration Reserve Account shall be applied to make restoration payments in accordance with and pursuant to the same mechanism described in paragraph c.
- e. In connection with preparation of the actuarial report for Fiscal Year 2023, the Plan Actuary will determine whether the Retirement System has satisfied the Permanent Restoration Target, which shall be 78%. Transfers from the Restoration Reserve Account for credit to the Pension Reserve Fund may be made in such amounts as are necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target. If following such transfers, the Funded Level as of June 30, 2023 has satisfied the Permanent Restoration Target (i.e., 78%), then the residual amounts, if any, in the Restoration Reserve Account (which will necessarily represent excess not necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target), and which fully fund one or more increments of COLA restoration payments for one or more Waterfall Classes for their actuarially projected lives, shall be transferred from the Restoration Reserve Account and credited to the Pension Reserve Fund and the applicable incremental COLA payments shall be permanently restored for the applicable Waterfall Class and shall no longer be variable from year to year.
- f. Following receipt of the actuarial reports for 2019, and in the event that the projected Funded Level of the Retirement System as of 2023 is less than 76%, the Plan Actuary shall revisit the restoration calculations that it

- 146 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 76 of 85

made during each of the prior four (4) years. It shall recalculate each such prior year's Funded Level projection, this time by assuming the lesser of (i) \$4.5 million in annual administrative expenses until 2023, or (ii) an amount of annual administrative expenses until 2023 equal to the average annual normal course administrative expenses in the prior four (4) years applicable to Component II, in addition to a net 6.75% annual investment return. If such retrospective recalculation indicates that fewer amounts would have transferred to the Restoration Reserve Account than actually were transferred during such look back period, then the Restoration Reserve Account shall be debited by the lesser of (i) this difference (plus interest at a rate equal to the rate that was credited to the Restoration Reserve Account during the look-back period or (ii) the dollars that were actually paid out in restoration payments during such look-back period (plus interest at a rate equal to the rate that was credited to the Restoration Reserve Account during the look-back period); or (iii) the amount required to increase the projected 2023 Funded Level to 76%.

(3) Restoration of Benefits from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2033.

 a. If and to the extent that all COLA payments have not been restored as of June 30, 2023 pursuant to Section (2)(e), then during this period and for purposes of variable restoration, the Funding Target, the Restoration Target, the Permanent Restoration Target and the Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger shall be as set forth below, all projected as of June 30, 2033:

2023 Funded Level	2033 Funding Target/Restoration Target
78%	81%/84%
77%	80%/83%
76%	79%/82%
75%	78%/81%
74% or lower	3% >than 2023 Funded Level %/81%

2033 Permanent Restoration Target - Same as 2033 Restoration Target

<u>2033 Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger</u> – 1% higher than the projected Funding Target for all time periods

 b. The same rules for restoration payments that applied during the period ending June 30, 2023 shall apply (including ceasing interest credits in the event of a Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger, and making Restoration Account asset transfers to the Pension Reserve Fund in the event the 2033 Funded Level falls below the 2033 Funding Target), except as follows. For purposes of determining whether the 2033 Restoration Target has been satisfied, the Plan Actuary shall project investment returns through June 30, 2033 using the then current investment return assumption

- 1**47** -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 77 of 85

which is assumed to be net of expenses (administrative and investment), and the then applicable actuarial assumptions as utilized in the annual actuarial valuation. Further, the Plan Actuary shall assume, merely for purposes of determining whether the Restoration Target is satisfied, that the annual City contribution amount shall be the annual amount necessary to fund the Retirement System based upon an amortization of the actual 2023 UAAL (using the market value of assets) over 30 years (hereinafter, the "2023 UAAL Amortization") and in such manner that the resulting annual contributions would achieve the applicable Funding Target (pursuant to paragraph b) as of 2033. Such projected, hypothetical contributions shall be for purposes only of making restoration determinations, and shall not necessarily be the actual contributions made or required to be made by the City or recommended during such period; all of which shall be determined independent of the restoration calculation process. For purposes of calculating the funded ratio, the assets in the Restoration Reserve account will be excluded.

- To the extent that the City's actual contributions to the Retirement System c. in any of the Fiscal Years 2024 (i.e., the year ending June 20, 2024) through 2033 are greater than the projected annual contribution under the 2023 UAAL Amortization, such amounts, and any investment earnings thereon, shall be notionally credited to a new bookkeeping account in the Retirement System called the Extra Contribution Account. In determining pension restoration during the period from Fiscal Year 2024 through 2033. none of the amounts in the Extra Contribution Account shall be considered for purposes of determining the projected Funded Level for purposes of determining whether the Retirement System has attained the Restoration Target or the Permanent Restoration Target. To the extent that the City's actual contributions in any of the Fiscal Years 2024 through 2033 are less than the City's projected annual contribution under the 2023 UAAL Amortization, such difference and any investment earnings thereon shall be notionally allocated to the Pension Reserve Fund.
- d. Each year, in addition to the notional credit of amounts that exceed the amount necessary to satisfy the Restoration Target, existing notional Restoration Account assets will be credited with interest equal to the net return on Retirement System investments; however, such interest shall not exceed the then investment return assumption. In the event of net losses on the Retirement System's investments, the notional assets credited to the Restoration Reserve Account will be reduced to reflect such losses.
- e. In connection with preparation of the actuarial report for Fiscal Year 2033, the Plan Actuary will determine whether the Retirement System has satisfied the applicable Permanent Restoration Target (i.e., the 2033 Restoration Target). Transfers from the Restoration Reserve Account for credit to the Pension Reserve Fund may be made in such amounts as are necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target. If following such

- 148 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 78 of transfers the funding level as of June 30, 2033 has satisfied the applicable Permanent Restoration Target, then the residual amounts in the Restoration Reserve Account, if any (which will necessarily represent excess not necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target), and which fully fund one or more increments of COLA restoration payments for one or more Waterfall Classes, shall be transferred from the Restoration Reserve Account and credited to the Pension Reserve Fund and the applicable incremental COLA payments shall be permanently restored for the applicable Waterfall Class and shall no longer be variable from year to year.

f. Following receipt of the actuarial report for 2028, and in the event that the projected Funded Level as of 2033 is less than 79%, the Plan Actuary shall revisit the restoration calculations that it made during each of the prior four (4) years. It shall recalculate each such prior year's Funded Level projection, this time by assuming the lesser of (i) \$4.5 million in annual administrative expenses until 2033, or (ii) an amount of annual administrative expenses until 2033 equal to the average annual normal course administrative expenses in the prior four (4) years applicable to Component II, in addition to a net 6.75% annual investment return. If such retrospective recalculation indicates that fewer amounts would have transferred to the Restoration Reserve Account than actually were transferred during such look back period, then the Restoration Reserve Account shall be debited by the lesser of (i) this difference (plus interest at a rate equal to the rate that was credited to the Restoration Reserve Account during the applicable look-back period) or (ii) the dollars that were actually paid out in restoration payments during such look-back period (plus interest at a rate equal to the rate that was credited to the Restoration Reserve Account during the applicable look-back period); or (iii) the amount required to increase the projected 2033 Funded Level to 79%.

#### (4) Restoration of Benefits from July 1, 2033 to June 30, 2043.

a. If and to the extent that all COLA payments have not been restored pursuant to Section (3)(f) as of June 30, 2033, then during the period ending June 30, 2043 and for purposes of variable restoration, the Funding Target, the Restoration Target, the Permanent Restoration Target and the Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger shall be as set forth below, all projected as of June 30, 2043.

2023 Funded Level	2043 Funding Target/Restoration Target
78%	84%/87%
77%	83%/86%
76%	82%/85%
75%	81%/84%
74% or lower	3% > than 2023 Funded Level %/84%

- 149 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 79 of

#### <u>2043 Permanent Restoration Target - Same as 2043 Restoration Target</u>

#### 2043 Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger – 1% higher than the projected Funding Target for all time periods

- b. The same rules for restoration that applied during the period ending June 30, 2033 shall otherwise apply (including ceasing interest credits in the event of a Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger, and the making of notional asset transfers from the Restoration Reserve Account to the Pension Reserve Fund in the event the 2043 Funded Level falls below the 2043 Funding Target) and shall be rolled forward. For example, for purposes of determining whether the 2043 Restoration Target has been satisfied, the Plan Actuary shall project annual contributions using the same 2023 UAAL Amortization. For purposes of calculating the funded ratio, the assets in the Restoration Reserve account will be excluded, and no Extra Contribution Account assets shall be included for purposes of determining whether the Funded Level meets the Restoration Target or Permanent Restoration Target, including any additions to such account after 2033.
- c. In connection with preparation of the annual actuarial valuation report for Fiscal Year 2043, the Plan Actuary will determine whether the Retirement System has satisfied the applicable Permanent Restoration Target, as set forth in paragraph a above. Transfers from the Restoration Reserve Account for credit to the Pension Reserve Fund may be made in such amounts as are necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target. If following such transfers the Funded Level as of June 30, 2043 is equal to or greater than the applicable Permanent Restoration Target, then the residual amounts in the Restoration Reserve Account, if any (which will necessarily represent excess not necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target), shall be transferred from the Restoration Reserve Account and credited to the Pension Reserve Fund and the applicable incremental COLA payments shall be permanently restored for the applicable Waterfall Class and shall no longer be variable from year to year.

#### (5) Modification of the Pension Restoration Program.

If at any time after July 1, 2026, the Investment Committee by vote of five of its seven Members, or the Board of Trustees by a greater than 66% vote, determines that a change in relevant circumstances has occurred, or there was a mutual mistake of fact in developing the Pension Restoration Agreement attached to and made a part of the Plan of Adjustment, such that the continued operation of the Pension Restoration Agreement and this Section K-3 without amendment will: (a) materially harm the long-term economic interests of the City or Retirement System; (b) materially impair the City's ability to fully fund over a reasonable period the then existing frozen benefit liabilities; or (c) materially hinder the Restoration Program, if as of that juncture (and for purposes of applying this

- 150 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-2 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 80 of 85

subsection K-3(5) annual funding levels (excluding the Extra Contribution Account) had materially exceeded the applicable Restoration Targets for a substantial period yet without any material actual restoration of benefits as contemplated herein having been made, the Investment Committee or the Board, as the case may be, shall provide written notice to the other entity of such a determination and of the need to amend the Pension Restoration Agreement and this Section K-3 (it being understood that the post-Chapter 9, 40-year amortization period (to 2053) to fully fund frozen liabilities is, unless the relevant facts demonstrate otherwise, presumptively reasonable). The Investment Committee and the Board shall then meet to negotiate amendments to the Pension Restoration Agreement that address the identified risk of harm or impairment, but which also considers the Agreement's objective of providing pension restoration. Such negotiations shall take into account reasonable actions the City has pursued or could pursue to mitigate such harm or impairment. Any such amendments shall require the approval of a majority vote of the combined members of the Investment Committee and Board (persons who sit on both the Board and Investment Committee shall have one vote). Such parties shall consult with the Mayor, City Council and the Governor in connection with such negotiation.

If the Board, acting through a majority, and the Investment Committee, acting through a majority, cannot agree to such amendments with the 90-day period following the provision of such notice by the determining party, then the Board and Investment Committee shall proceed to mediation upon demand from either the Board or the Investment Committee. In this regard, within 30-days following expiration of the 90-day period the Board and the Investment Committee shall each select a mediator from the list of approved mediators for the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan. The two selected mediators shall appoint a third neutral mediator from the approved list. Each party shall furnish a written statement to the mediators within 30 days of selection of the neutral mediator. Representatives of the Mayor and the Governor shall be consulted in connection with such mediations. If following a 90-day mediation period following submission of the written statements the matter is not settled, then either the Investment Committee or the Board can file an action in the United Stated District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan asking it to declare, *inter alia*, whether or in what manner to amend the Pension Restoration Agreement and this Section K-3.

#### **APPENDIX A**

The following provisions shall also have general applicability to the Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan:

#### MCLS Const. Art. IX, § 24 (2003)

#### § 24. Public pension plans and retirement systems, obligation.

Sec. 24. The accrued financial benefits of each pension plan and retirement system of the state and its political subdivisions shall be a contractual obligation thereof which shall not be diminished or impaired thereby.

Financial benefits arising on account of service rendered in each Fiscal Year shall be funded during that year and such funding shall not be used for financing unfunded accrued liabilities.

## Relevant Provisions of January 1, 2012 City of Detroit Charter

### ARTICLE 11. RETIREMENT PLANS

#### Sec. 11-101. City's Duties.

- 1. The City shall provide, by ordinance, for the establishment and maintenance of retirement plan coverage for city employees.
- 2. Financial benefits arising on account of service rendered in each Fiscal Year shall be funded during that year and that funding shall not be used for financing unfunded accrued liabilities.
- 3. The accrued financial benefits of active and retired city employees, being contractual obligations of the city, shall in no event be diminished or impaired.

#### Sec. 11-102. Continuation of Existing Plans.

The retirement plans of the city existing when this Charter takes effect, including the existing governing bodies for administering those plans, the benefit schedules for those plans and the terms for accruing rights to and receiving benefits under those plans shall, in all respects, continue in existence exactly as before unless changed by this Charter or an ordinance adopted in accordance with this article.

### Relevant Provisions of the Detroit City Code

#### Sec. 47-1-2. Detroit Police and Fire Retirement System.

Notwithstanding any collective bargaining agreement or other documents governing terms of employment to the contrary, effective as of July 1, 2014, the Detroit Police and Fire Retirement System shall hereinafter be memorialized in a separate written document entitled "Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan," which shall comprise the exclusive terms of the Detroit Police and Fire Retirement System and be kept in the Office of the City Clerk for the City of Detroit.

#### **Collective Bargaining Agreements.**

Except to the extent otherwise provided in the Plan of Adjustment, under Michigan Law if there is any conflict between the Retirement System provisions and collective bargaining agreement provisions, the terms of the collective bargaining agreement control.

- (a) The Board of Trustees shall administer the Retirement System consistent with the pension provisions of the 2014-2019 collective bargaining agreement between the City of Detroit and the Detroit Police Officers Association with respect to police officers covered by said collective bargaining agreement.
- (b) The Board of Trustees shall administer the Retirement System consistent with the pension provisions of the 2014-2019 collective bargaining agreement between the City of Detroit and the Detroit Police Lieutenants and Sergeants Association.
- (c) The Board of Trustees shall administer the Retirement System consistent with the pension provisions of the 2014-2019 collective bargaining agreement between the City of Detroit and the Detroit Police Command Officers Association.
- (d) The Board of Trustees shall administer the Retirement System consistent with the pension provisions of the 2014-2019 collective bargaining agreement between the City of Detroit and the Detroit Fire Fighters Association.

CLI-202268614v2

# EXHIBIT 6E

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 1 of 71

43248841.6/022765.00213

# COMBINED PLAN FOR THE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN

Amendment and Restatement Effective July 1, 2014

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

COMPONENT I	
ARTICLE 1. GENE	ERAL PROVISIONS
Sec. 1.1.	General Retirement System Established; Adoption of 2014 Combined Plan Document; Amendment and Restatement of 2014 Combined Plan Document
Sec. 1.2.	Retirement System Intended to be Tax-Qualified2
Sec. 1.3.	Compliance With Plan of Adjustment2
Sec. 1.4.	Board of Trustees
Sec. 1.5.	Board of Trustees - Membership; Appointment
Sec. 1.6.	Board of Trustees; Retiree Member Election
Sec. 1.7.	Board of Trustees; Oath; Term; Vacancies
Sec. 1.8.	Board of Trustees; Officers and Employees
Sec. 1.9.	Board of Trustees; Meetings; Rules of Procedure; Votes; Quorum
Sec. 1.10.	Board of Trustees; Compensation; Expenses
Sec. 1.11.	Rules for Administration of Funds
Sec. 1.12.	Board of Trustees; Certain Data to be Kept
Sec. 1.13.	Board of Trustees; Annual Audit Report
Sec. 1.14.	Board of Trustees; Legal Advisors
Sec. 1,15.	Designation of Actuary; Authority to Engage Additional Actuaries
Sec. 1.16.	Board of Trustees; Adoption of Mortality and Other Tables of Experience and Rates of Interest; Limitations on Payments by the Retirement System
Sec. 1.17.	Board of Trustees; Annual Actuarial Valuation of Assets and Liabilities
Sec. 1.18.	Board of Trustees; Powers and Duties; Fiduciary Status; Fiduciary Duties
Sec. 1.19.	Investment Committee; Establishment; Purpose; Fiduciary Status; Fiduciary Duties
Sec. 1.20.	Investment Committee; Membership; Appointment
Sec. 1.21.	Investment Committee; Term; Resignation and Removal; Vacancies
Sec. 1.22.	Investment Committee; Operation; Meetings; Quorum; Voting10

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

(continued)

Sec. 1.23.	Investment Committee; Compensation; Expenses; Employment of Advisors	11
Sec. 1.24.	Investment Committee; Special Reporting Obligations	11
ARTICLE 2. DEFI	NITIONS	13
Sec. 2.1.	Definitions	13
ARTICLE 3. MEM	BERSHIP	21
Sec. 3.1.	Eligible Employees	21
Sec. 3.2.	Cessation of Membership; Re-Employment by the Employer	21
Sec. 3.3.	Report of the Employer	23
ARTICLE 4. SERV	ICE CREDIT	24
Sec. 4.1.	Credited Service	24
Sec. 4.2.	Vesting Service	24
Sec. 4.3.	Service Credit; Military Service	24
Sec. 4.4.	Service Credit; Qualified Military Service	25
ARTICLE 5. ELIGI	BILITY FOR RETIREMENT BENEFITS	26
Sec. 5.1.	Eligibility for Unreduced Normal Retirement Benefit	26
Sec. 5.2.	Eligibility for Reduced Early Retirement Benefit	26
Sec. 5.3.	Eligibility for Deferred Vested Retirement Benefit	26
Sec. 5.4.	Eligibility for Retirement Benefit – Disabled Members	26
Sec. 5.5.	Return of Accumulated Mandatory Contributions to Member	26
	REMENT ALLOWANCE; VARIABLE PENSION OVEMENT FACTOR (ESCALATOR)	28
Sec. 6.1.	Retirement Allowance	28
Sec. 6.2.	Variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)	28
ARTICLE 7. DEAT	H BENEFITS	29
Sec. 7.1.	Accidental Death Benefit; Performance of Duty	29
Sec. 7.2.	Death Benefits for Surviving Spouses Generally	29
Sec. 7.3.	Refund of Accumulated Mandatory Contributions Upon Death of Member	29
Sec. 7.4.	Benefits Offset by Compensation Benefits; Subrogation	29

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

ARTICLE 8. FOR	MS OF PAYMENT	31
Sec. 8.1.	Retirement Allowance Options	31
Sec. 8.2.	Disposition of Surplus Benefits upon Death of Retiree and Beneficiary	32
ARTICLE 9. FUN	DING AND RESERVES	33
Sec. 9.1.	Funding Objective of the Retirement System	33
Sec. 9.2.	Funds	33
Sec. 9.3.	Method of Financing Retirement System Benefits	34
Sec. 9.4.	Member Contributions Picked-Up	35
Sec. 9.5.	Fiscal Responsibility: Increased Funding Obligations and Benefit Reductions	35
ARTICLE 10. VOL	UNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	37
Sec. 10.1.	Voluntary Employee Contributions; Amount; Vesting	37
Sec. 10.2.	Changing an Election to Contribute	37
Sec. 10.3.	Individual Member Accounting; Crediting of Earnings	37
Sec. 10.4.	Distribution of Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions	37
	N PROGRAM FOR VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE FRIBUTIONS	39
Sec. 11.1.	The Loan Program	39
Sec. 11.2.	Eligibility for Loan	39
Sec. 11.3.	Amount of Loan	39
Sec. 11.4.	Terms and Conditions	39
Sec. 11.5.	Loan Balance	40
Sec. 11.6.	Default	40
Sec. 11.7.	Distribution	41
Sec. 11.8.	Annual Report	41
ARTICLE 12. LIMI	FATION ON BENEFITS AND CONTRIBUTIONS	42
Sec. 12.1.	Compliance With Code Section 415(b) And Regulations	42
Sec. 12.2.	Compliance with Code Section 415(c) and Regulations	44
ARTICLE 13. RETII	REMENT SYSTEM ADMINISTRATION	46
Sec. 13.1.	Board of Trustees as Retirement System Administrator	46

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Sec. 13.2.	Powers and Duties of Board	46
Sec. 13.3.	Executive Director; Employees	48
Sec. 13.4.	Discretionary Authority	
Sec. 13.5.	Administrator's Decision Binding	49
ARTICLE 14. MA	NAGEMENT OF FUNDS	50
Sec. 14.1.	Board as Trustee of Retirement System Assets	
Sec. 14.2.	Maintenance of Segregated Funds	50
Sec. 14.3.	Custodian of Funds	50
Sec. 14.4.	Exclusive Purpose	50
Sec. 14.5.	Prohibited Conduct	50
ARTICLE 15. INV	ESTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEM ASSETS	
Sec. 15.1.	Investment Powers of the Board and the Investment Committee	52
Sec. 15.2.	Investment Management	53
Sec. 15.3.	Best Practices	54
Sec. 15.4.	Chief Investment Officer	54
Sec. 15.5.	Investment Consultants	55
ARTICLE 16. RET	TIREE MEDICAL ACCOUNT	57
Sec. 16.1.	Establishment of Account	57
Sec. 16.2.	Effective Date of Retiree Medical Account	57
Sec. 16.3.	Funding of Benefits	57
Sec. 16.4.	Limitation on Contributions	57
Sec. 16.5.	Impossibility of Diversion	
Sec. 16.6.	Administration	
Sec. 16.7.	Right to Amend or Terminate Medical Plans	58
Sec. 16.8.	Reversion	58
Sec. 16.9.	Limitation of Rights	58
ARTICLE 17. MIS	CELLANEOUS	59
Sec. 17.1.	Nonduplication of Benefits	59
Sec. 17.2.	Assignments Prohibited	59
Sec. 17.3.	Protection Against Fraud	59

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Sec. 17.4.	Errors	59
Sec. 17.5.	Amendment; Termination; Exclusive Benefit	59
Sec. 17.6.	Expenses of Administration; Forfeitures Not to Increase Benefits	60
Sec. 17.7.	Required Distributions - Compliance with Code Section 401(a)(9) and Regulations	60
Sec. 17.8.	Direct Rollovers	60
Sec. 17.9.	Construction	62
Sec. 17.10.	Severability	62
COMPONENT II		63
	MON PROVISIONS OF THE GENERAL RETIREMENT `EM	64
Sec. A-1.	Common Provisions	64
	ZE OF GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM AS OF JUNE 30,	66
Sec. B-1.	Freeze of Eligibility and Benefits Under General Retirement System	66
ARTICLE C. DEFI	NITIONS	68
Sec. C-1.	Definitions	68
ARTICLE D. SERV	ICE CREDIT	73
Sec. D-1.	Service Credit	73
Sec. D-2.	Service Credit; Former Employees of the Founder's Society— Detroit Institute of Arts	73
Sec. D-3.	Service Credit; Transfer to Other Governmental Service	73
Sec. D-4.	Service Credit; Military Service	73
Sec. D-5.	Service Credit; Qualified Military Service (Pre-Employment Service)	73
	NED BENEFIT/DEFINED CONTRIBUTION (ANNUITY) PLAN IE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM	75
Sec. E-1.	Membership	75
Sec. E-2.	Cessation of Membership; Re-Employment by the Employer	75
Sec. E-3.	Service Retirement	78
Sec. E-4.	Service Retirement Allowance	<b>8</b> 1

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Sec. E-5.	Disability Retirement	83
Sec. E-6.	Accidental Death Benefit; Performance of Duty	86
Sec. E-7.	Accumulated Contributions; Return of 1973 Defined Contribution Plan Amount	87
Sec. E-8.	Retirement Allowance Options	88
Sec. E-9.	Benefits for Surviving Spouses; Generally	89
Sec. E-10.	Benefits for Surviving Spouses; Disability Retirees	90
Sec. E-11.	Disposition of Surplus Benefits upon Death of Retiree and Beneficiary	90
Sec. E-12.	Pensions Offset by Compensation Benefits; Subrogation	91
Sec. E-13.	Disability Retirees; Reexamination; Authority of the Board	91
Sec. E-14.	Transfer of Department or Department Functions Prior to July 1, 2014; Generally	92
Sec. E-15.	Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)	93
Sec. E-16.	Adoption of Rates of Interest; Limitations on Payments By Retirement System; Transfer of Investment Returns in Excess of Crediting Rate	93
Sec. E-17.	Funds	94
Sec. E-18.	Method of Financing	95
Sec. E-19.	Determination of City's Annual Contribution	97
ARTICLE F. PART	ICIPANT LOAN PROGRAM	99
Sec. F-1.	Established	99
Sec. F-2.	The Loan Program	99
Sec. F-3.	Eligibility	99
Sec. F-4.	Amount of Loan	100
Sec. F-5.	Terms and Conditions	100
Sec. F-6.	Renewal of Loan	101
Sec. F-7.	Loan Balance	101
Sec. F-8.	Distributions	<b>10</b> 1
Sec. F-9.	Annual Report	101

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

## Page

ARTICLE G. SPEC	IAL PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT PROVISIONS	102
Sec. G-1.	Benefit Changes Implemented Pursuant to the Terms of the Plan Of Adjustment	102
Sec. G-2.	Annuity Savings Fund Recoupment	103
Sec. G-3.	Income Stabilization Benefits	106
Sec. G-4.	Restoration of Pension Benefits	109
ARTICLE H. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS OF THE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM		
Sec. H-1.	Enforcement; Civil Action	119
Sec. H-2.	Limitation of Other Statutes	119

# **COMPONENT I**

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 10 of 71

#### **ARTICLE 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS**

#### Sec. 1.1. General Retirement System Established; Adoption of 2014 Combined Plan **Document; Amendment and Restatement of 2014 Combined Plan Document**

Effective July 1, 1938, a General Retirement System for the employees of the City of Detroit was established for the purpose of providing retirement and survivor benefits for eligible City employees and their beneficiaries. The provisions of the Detroit General Retirement System, as in effect July 1, 2014, were set forth in a Combined Plan Document. As provided in Ordinance 19-14 and Ordinance 20-14 and Section 47-1-1 of the Detroit City Code, the Combined Plan Document replaced in its entirety Chapter 47 of the Detroit City Code as in effect on June 30, 2014 and any conflicting provisions in any collective bargaining agreements covering Members (including, without limitation, the City Employment Terms that applied to Members effective July 18, 2012). All resolutions and policies of the Retirement Board previously adopted which were inconsistent with the provisions of the Combined Plan Document were also repealed to the extent of such inconsistency.

The Combined Plan Document is hereby amended and restated effective July 1, 2014, in the form of this instrument. Component I of the Combined Plan Document applies to benefits accrued by Members on and after July 1, 2014 and to operation of the Detroit General Retirement System on and after July 1, 2014. Component II of the Combined Plan Document applies to benefits accrued by Members prior to July 1, 2014. Except as specifically provided in Component II, benefits provided under Component II of the Combined Plan Document are frozen effective June 30, 2014.

#### Sec. 1.2. **Retirement System Intended to be Tax-Qualified**

The Retirement System is a governmental plan under Section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code which is intended to be a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. The Board shall construe and administer the provisions of the Retirement System in a manner that gives effect to the tax-qualified status of the Retirement System.

#### Sec. 1.3. **Compliance With Plan of Adjustment**

The Retirement System is intended to comply with all relevant provisions (including Exhibits) of the Plan for the Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit, as approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court in In re City of Detroit, Michigan, Case No. 13-53846 ("Plan of Adjustment"). Component I and Component II of the Combined Plan shall be interpreted and construed by the City, the Board of Trustees and the Retirement System to give full effect to the Plan of Adjustment. To the extent that a conflict arises between the Combined Plan Document and the Plan of Adjustment, the City, the Board of Trustees, the Investment Committee and the Retirement System are directed to interpret any inconsistency or ambiguity to give full effect to the Plan of Adjustment.

#### Sec. 1.4. Board of Trustees

Effective July 1, 1938, a Board of Trustees of the Detroit General Retirement System was created. The Board is vested with responsibility for the general administration, management and operation of the Detroit General Retirement System and with the trust and investment powers conferred in this Combined Plan Document.

#### Sec. 1.5. Board of Trustees – Membership; Appointment

The Board of Trustees of the Detroit General Retirement System shall consist of ten Trustees, as follows:

- (1) The Mayor, ex officio, or the Mayor's designee;
- (2) One City Council member, ex officio, who is selected by the City Council;
- (3) The City Treasurer, ex officio;
- (4) Five active employee Members of the Retirement System to be elected by the Members in accordance with such rules and regulations as may be adopted by the Board. No more than one Trustee shall be elected from any one City Department;
- (5) One individual, appointed by the Mayor subject to the approval of the Board, who is neither an employee of the City nor is eligible to receive benefits under the Retirement System; and
- (6) One retiree who is receiving benefits under the Retirement System and who is elected by Retirees in accordance with procedures described in Section 1.6.

#### Sec. 1.6. Board of Trustees; Retiree Member Election

The procedures for the election of the Retiree member of the Board of Trustees shall be as follows:

- (1) *Notice*. Notice of a primary election shall be sent to each Retiree by United States Mail.
- (2) Nominating petitions. No candidate's name shall be placed on the primary election ballot unless a nominating petition containing the signatures of at least one hundred and twentyfive Retirees is filed with the executive director of the Retirement System. The form of the nominating petition, the filing of the petition, and the procedure for verification of signatures shall be in accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the Board. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an incumbent Retiree Trustee shall not be required to submit a nominating petition but instead shall submit a written communication indicating his or her intention to seek an additional term.

- (3) Ballot. Each candidate whose name appears on the ballot at any election held for the office of Retiree Trustee shall be identified by the title of the position held by the Retiree at the time of retirement and by the word "incumbent" if the candidate is a current trustee seeking re-election. No ballot shall contain any organizational or political designation or mark. Rotation and arrangement of names on the ballot shall be in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Board.
- (4) *Voting.* Procedures regarding mailing of ballots, poll lists, custody of ballots, marking of ballots, return of ballots, handling of return envelopes received, and sealed ballot boxes shall be the same as those adopted and followed by the Board in the immediately preceding election of an active employee Trustee.
- (5) *Procedures.* Procedures regarding the selection and certification of successful candidates for nomination, the selection of Trustees from nominees, tie votes, and the destruction of ballots shall be the same as those adopted and followed by the Board in the immediately preceding election of an active employee Trustee.
- (6) *Board Rules*. Any matters relative to the election of the Retiree member of the Board not covered by this Section 1.6 shall be handled in accordance with such rules and regulations as the Board may adopt.

#### Sec. 1.7. Board of Trustees; Oath; Term; Vacancies

Within ten days after appointment or election, each Trustee shall take an oath of office to be administered by the Detroit City Clerk.

The regular term of office for the elected Member Trustees and the Trustee appointed by the Mayor under Section 1.5(5) shall be for a period of six years, one such Trustee to be elected or appointed, as the case may be, each year. The term of office for the Retiree Trustee shall be two years.

If an active employee Trustee leaves the employ of the City, or if an elected or appointed Trustee fails to attend four consecutive scheduled Board meetings without being excused for cause by the Trustees attending such meetings, the Trustee shall be considered to have resigned from the Board. By resolution, the Board shall declare the office vacated as of the date of adoption of such resolution. If a vacancy occurs in the office of Trustee, the vacancy shall be filled at the next regular election held by the Board, or at any special election ordered by resolution adopted by the Board.

#### Sec. 1.8. Board of Trustees; Officers and Employees

The Board shall elect a chair and vice-chair from its members. The executive director of the Retirement System or its designee shall serve as secretary of the Board. The Board may employ such actuarial, medical and other contractors and employees as shall be required, subject to the powers and authority reserved to the Investment Committee and subject to the *Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.* 

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 13 of 71

#### Sec. 1.9. Board of Trustees; Meetings; Rules of Procedure; Votes; Quorum

- (1) The Board shall hold regular meetings, at least one in each month, and shall hold special meetings as necessary. The Board shall designate the time and place thereof in advance. The Board shall adopt its own rules of procedure, including provisions for special meetings and notice thereof, and shall keep a record of proceedings. All meetings of the Board shall be public and are subject to the *Michigan Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 et seq.* All Board meetings shall be held within the City of Detroit.
- (2) Each Trustee shall be entitled to one vote on each question before the Board. A majority vote of the Trustees present shall be necessary for a decision by the Trustees at any meeting of the Board.
- (3) Five Trustees shall constitute a quorum.

#### Sec. 1.10. Board of Trustees; Compensation; Expenses

Members of the Board of Trustees shall serve without additional compensation from the Employer, but they shall be compensated by the Retirement System as follows:

- (1) Stipend. Trustees are eligible for a meeting stipend, provided the Trustee attends one or more regular or special Board meetings during a month. The stipend amount shall be a minimum of sixty-seven dollars (\$67.00) per week multiplied by the Trustee's years of service. Eligibility rules and the amount of the stipend shall be set by Board resolution. However, the amount of the weekly meeting stipend shall not exceed two hundred dollars (\$200.00).
- (2) Ex Officio Trustees. Ex Officio Trustees are not eligible for a stipend payment.
- (3) Attendance. For purposes of this Section 1.10, attendance at a Board meeting shall include actual attendance at a meeting or being otherwise available to attend a Board meeting canceled for lack of a quorum.

Trustees shall be reimbursed from the Expense Fund for all actual, reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties as Trustees.

#### Sec. 1.11. Rules for Administration of Funds

Subject to the limitations contained in this Combined Plan Document, the Board of Trustees shall, from time to time, establish rules and regulations for the administration of the funds created by this Plan document and for the transaction of its business.

#### Sec. 1.12. Board of Trustees; Certain Data to be Kept

The Board shall keep, or cause to be kept, in convenient form, such data as shall be necessary for an actuarial valuation of the Retirement System and for checking and compiling the experience of the Retirement System. The ordinary actuarial, accounting and clerical services for the operation of the Retirement System shall be performed by the employees of the Retirement System.

#### Sec. 1.13. Board of Trustees; Annual Audit Report

The Board shall render a report to the Mayor, the City Council and the Investment Committee on or before the fifteenth day of January, showing the fiscal transactions of the Retirement System for the year ending on the preceding thirtieth day of June, the amounts of accumulated cash and securities in the various funds of the System, and the last balance sheet showing the financial condition of the Retirement System by means of an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Retirement System.

#### Sec. 1.14. Board of Trustees; Legal Advisors

- (1) The Board shall appoint legal advisors (including a general counsel) who shall be directly responsible to and shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees. Any legal advisor to the Board of Trustees shall be an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Michigan and shall be experienced in matters relating to pension systems. The qualifications of legal counsel shall be approved by the Board of Trustees.
- (2) Legal advisors to the Board of Trustees shall have such duties relative to pension matters as shall be assigned by the Board of Trustees.
- (3) Costs and expenses relative to the position of legal advisors to the Board shall be payable out of the assets of the Retirement System, subject to the provisions of the *Public* Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.

#### Sec. 1.15. Designation of Actuary; Authority to Engage Additional Actuaries

The Retirement System actuary as of July 1, 2014 shall continue to serve as such until resignation or removal by the Board. In the event the Board desires to retain a new actuary, the Board and the Investment Committee shall collectively participate in the evaluation and selection of a qualified actuary. The Retirement System actuary shall be responsible for assisting the Board and the Investment Committee in performing their actuarial duties and shall comply with all requests for information or modeling requested by the Board or the Investment Committee, and shall attend meetings of the Board and Investment Committee as requested, so as to allow the Board and Investment Committee to perform satisfactorily the rights and duties set forth in the Combined Plan, the term sheet regarding Investment Committee Governance for General Retirement System, attached to that certain agreement by and between the Michigan Settlement Administration Authority, a Michigan body public corporation (the "Authority"), the Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement System for the City of Detroit, Michigan ("PFRS") and the City (the "State Contribution Agreement") as Exhibit A (the "Governance Term Sheet") and the Plan of Adjustment. Furthermore, the Board shall not act on any recommendation made by the Retirement System's actuary based on any calculation, assumption or assessment rejected by the Investment Committee.

Nothing herein shall be interpreted as limiting the Investment Committee's authority to engage an actuarial consulting firm other than the Retirement System's actuary to perform actuarial services deemed necessary to fulfill its fiduciary and other duties to the Retirement System as set forth in the Governance Term Sheet and the Plan of Adjustment.

#### Sec. 1.16. Board of Trustees; Adoption of Mortality and Other Tables of Experience and Rates of Interest; Limitations on Payments by the Retirement System

- (1) Subject to Section 15.1, the Board shall adopt such mortality and other tables of experience, and a rate or rates of interest, as shall be necessary for the operation of the System on an actuarial basis, provided, that the authority granted by this section shall not permit or be used to provide for an interest rate which would violate the prohibitions of subsection (2) or (3) of this section.
- (2) The Retirement System and the Trustees charged with management of the System shall not make any payment to active or retired Members other than payments that are required by the governing documents of the Retirement System. This prohibition applies to all payments that are not authorized by this Combined Plan, whether such payments are those commonly referred to as a "thirteenth check" or by any other name.
- (3) Anything in this Combined Plan Document or any other document to the contrary notwithstanding, the annual actuarial interest rate assumption for the period commencing July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2023 shall be six and three-quarters percent (6.75%).

#### Sec. 1.17. Board of Trustees; Annual Actuarial Valuation of Assets and Liabilities

Subject to Section 15.1, each year, on the basis of such mortality and other tables of experience, and such rate or rates of regular interest as the Board shall adopt pursuant to Section 1.16, the Board shall cause to be made an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Retirement System.

#### Sec. 1.18. Board of Trustees; Powers and Duties; Fiduciary Status; Fiduciary Duties

The Board of Trustees shall have such powers and duties as are necessary for the proper administration of the Retirement System and the custody and investment of Retirement System assets, other than those powers and duties reserved to the Investment Committee. To the extent the Board exercises discretion with respect to investment of Retirement System assets, each member of the Board of Trustees shall be an investment fiduciary as defined in the *Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.*, and shall discharge his or her duties with respect to the Retirement System in compliance with the provisions of the *Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.* A member of the Board of Trustees shall discharge his or her duties with the care, skill and caution under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an activity of like character and purpose. Board members shall comply with all Board governance policies and procedures, including the Ethics and Code of Conduct Policies, unless such compliance would violate the member's fiduciary duties or conflicts with the provisions set forth in this Combined Plan Document.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 16 of

# Sec. 1.19. Investment Committee; Establishment; Purpose; Fiduciary Status; Fiduciary Duties

As of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, but subject to consummation of the State Contribution Agreement, an Investment Committee is hereby created for the purpose of making recommendations to the Board of Trustees and taking action under and with respect to certain investment management matters relating to the Retirement System. The creation and operation of the Investment Committee is controlled by the Governance Term Sheet. The Investment Committee shall remain in effect for a period of not less than twenty years following the date of confirmation of the Plan of Adjustment. The Investment Committee shall be an investment fiduciary as defined in the Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq. and shall have all powers granted fiduciaries under the first sentence of MCL 38.1133(5) and (6). The Investment Committee shall serve in a fiduciary capacity with respect to the investment management of Retirement System assets, determination of the investment return assumptions, and Board compliance with provisions of the governing documents of the Retirement System. An Investment Committee member shall discharge his or her duties with respect to the Retirement System in compliance with the provisions of the Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq. An Investment Committee member shall discharge his or her duties with the care, skill and caution under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an activity of like character and purpose. Investment Committee members shall comply with all Board governance policies and procedures, including the Ethics and Code of Conduct Policies, unless such compliance would violate the member's fiduciary duties or conflict with the provisions set forth in the Governance Term Sheet.

#### Sec. 1.20. Investment Committee; Membership; Appointment

The Investment Committee shall consist of seven (7) members, determined as follows:

(1) Five independent members, two of whom must be residents of the State of Michigan, and none of whom may be a party-in-interest with respect to the Retirement System, as defined in Section 38.1132d(4) of the Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq. Each independent Investment Committee member shall have expert knowledge or extensive experience with respect to either (a) economics, finance, or institutional investments, or (b) administration of public or private retirement plans, executive management, benefits administration or actuarial science. At least one of the independent Investment Committee members shall satisfy the requirements of (a) above and at least one of the independent Investment Committee members shall satisfy the requirements of (b) above. The initial independent Investment Committee members shall be selected by mutual agreement of the appropriate representatives of the State of Michigan, the City and the Board, in consultation with the Foundation for Detroit's Future (the "Foundation"), and shall be named in the Plan of Adjustment. If one or more of the five initial independent Investment Committee members are not selected by mutual agreement prior to confirmation of the Plan of Adjustment, then the United States Bankruptcy Court, Eastern District of Michigan shall designate such number of independent Investment Committee members as is necessary to bring the number of independent Investment Committee members to five (5);

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 17 of

- (2) One Retiree who is a Retiree member of the Board of Trustees who shall be appointed by the Board; and
- (3) One employee who is an active employee member of the Board of Trustees who shall be appointed by the Board.

#### Sec. 1.21. Investment Committee; Term; Resignation and Removal; Vacancies

The term of office for the independent members of the Investment Committee shall be six years; provided, however, that the initial term for the independent Investment Committee members shall be determined as follows:

Independent Member	<u>Term of Office</u>	
(1)	2 years	
(2)	3 years	
(3)	4 years	
(4)	5 years	
(5)	6 years	

The term of office for a Retiree or employee Investment Committee member shall be the number of years remaining on such individual's term of office as a member of the Board of Trustees. Each Investment Committee member shall serve until his or her successor is appointed at the expiration of his or her term of office, or until his or her death, incapacity, resignation or removal, if earlier. Notwithstanding any provision of this Combined Plan Document, an initial independent Investment Committee member shall not be prohibited from becoming a successor independent Investment Committee member after expiration of his or her initial term.

An Investment Committee member may resign at any time by giving ninety days' prior written notice to the Investment Committee, the City and the Board, which notice or time period may be waived by the Investment Committee. An Investment Committee member may be removed from office by majority vote of the remaining Investment Committee members for any of the following reasons: (a) the member is legally incapacitated from executing his or her duties as a member of the Investment Committee and neglects to perform those duties; (b) the member has committed a material breach of the provisions of the Retirement System or the policies or procedures of the Retirement System and the removal of the member is in the interests of the Retirement System or its Members and Beneficiaries; (c) the member is convicted of a violation of law and the removal is accomplished by a vote of the members of the Investment Committee in according with the voting procedure set forth in Section 1.22; or (d) if the member holds a license to practice and such license is revoked for misconduct by any State or federal government. A member who fails to attend four (4) consecutive scheduled meetings of the Investment Committee shall be deemed to have resigned, unless in each case his or her absence is excused for cause by the remaining members attending such meetings. In the event of any such removal or resignation, the Investment Committee shall by resolution declare the office of the member vacated as of the date such resolution is adopted.

Any vacancy occurring on the Investment Committee shall be filled within sixty (60) days following the date of the vacancy for the unexpired portion of the term, in the same manner in which the office was previously filled.

Successor independent Investment Committee members shall be recommended by a majority of the remaining independent Investment Committee members and shall be confirmed by the Board and the Treasurer of the State of Michigan ("State Treasurer"), in consultation with the Foundation, pursuant to such rules and regulations as may be adopted by the Investment Committee (provided that such rules are not inconsistent with the Governance Term Sheet or the Plan of Adjustment). In the event the Board and the State Treasurer cannot agree on a successor independent Investment Committee member within thirty (30) days of the receipt of the recommendation of the Investment Committee, the remaining independent Investment Committee members shall appoint the successor independent Investment Committee members.

In the event the United States Bankruptcy Court, Eastern District of Michigan appoints one or more of the initial independent Investment Committee members, a successor to any such independent Investment Committee member shall be appointed in the same manner as provided in the preceding paragraph following three (3) weeks' notice to the Board of the individuals appointed, in accordance with such rules and regulations as may be adopted by the Investment Committee (provided that such rules are not inconsistent with either the Governance Term Sheet or the Plan of Adjustment).

Successor Investment Committee members shall have the powers and duties conferred on Investment Committee members herein.

#### Sec. 1.22. Investment Committee; Operation; Meetings; Quorum; Voting

The Investment Committee members shall select from among the independent members a chair and a vice chair. The Investment Committee members shall select from among themselves a secretary. The Investment Committee shall hold regular meetings, not less frequently than once every other month, and shall hold special meetings as necessary. The Investment Committee shall designate the time and place thereof in advance. The secretary or his or her designee shall be responsible for providing meeting notices to the other Investment Committee members. The Investment Committee shall adopt its own rules of procedure and shall keep a record of its proceedings. Notice and conduct of all Investment Committee meetings, both regular and special, shall be subject to the *Michigan Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 et seq.* All Investment Committee meeting shall be held within the City of Detroit.

Five Investment Committee members shall constitute a quorum at any meeting, as long as at least three of the independent Investment Committee members are in attendance. Except as otherwise provided in the Governance Term Sheet, each Investment Committee member shall be entitled to one vote on each question before the Committee and at least four concurring votes shall be necessary for a decision by the Investment Committee.

An Investment Committee member may have his or her voting privileges temporarily suspended by a 70% or higher vote of the other members if the member is indicted or sued by a

state or federal government for an alleged violation of the law that relates to his or her service on the Investment Committee, or for other alleged financial crimes, including fraud.

#### Sec. 1.23. Investment Committee; Compensation; Expenses; Employment of Advisors

Investment Committee members shall not receive any compensation from the Retirement System for their services; Investment Committee members shall, however, be reimbursed for the reasonable, actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties. All reasonable and proper expenses related to the administration of the Investment Committee, including but not limited to the purchase of insurance, shall be payable out of the assets of the Retirement System. The Investment Committee may retain actuarial, legal counsel, audit or other professional or support personnel to provide advice to the Investment Committee as it deems reasonably necessary to perform its functions and such parties or persons may be reasonably compensated from the assets of the Retirement System. Such engagements shall not be subject to approval of the Board.

#### Sec. 1.24. Investment Committee; Special Reporting Obligations

- (1) Beginning in 2015, pursuant to Section 6 of the State Contribution Agreement, the Investment Committee shall provide compliance reports to the State Treasurer on a semiannual basis and at such other times as the State Treasurer reasonably may request (each, a "Compliance Report") that certifies that the Investment Committee is not aware of any defaults under the State Contribution Agreement, or, if the Investment Committee is aware of a default under the State Contribution Agreement, specifically identifying the facts of such default.
- (2) In the event the Retirement System receives a written notice from the State Treasurer declaring and specifically identifying the facts of an alleged default under the State Contribution Agreement ("Default Notice"), and such default is cured as provided in the State Contribution Agreement, the Investment Committee must provide to the State Treasurer a written certification that (i) the default has been cured, and (ii) that no material damages have been caused by the default that have not otherwise been remedied (the "Cure Certification").
- (3) Beginning in calendar year 2015, the Investment Committee shall provide to the City not later than December 31 of each year evidence reasonably necessary to show that the internal controls governing the investment of Retirement System assets are in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Plan of Adjustment.
- (4) Beginning in calendar year 2015 and for each calendar year thereafter, as of a date which is not later than December 31 of each such calendar year the Investment Committee shall provide to the Foundation the following information:
  - (a) a copy of the audited annual financial statement and the corresponding management letter for the Retirement System for the Fiscal Year ending June 30 of such calendar year, containing a non-qualified opinion of an independent external auditor to the Retirement System;

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 20 of 71

- (b) a certification from the Chair of the Investment Committee on behalf of the Investment Committee ("Pension Certificate") in a form reasonably acceptable to the Foundation that, as of the date of the annual report required to be provided by the City to the Foundation under the Omnibus Transaction Agreement by and among the City, The Detroit Institute of Arts and Foundation For Detroit's Future ("Annual Report"):
  - (i) the City is current in its obligation to contribute to Component II of the Combined Plan determined in accordance with the Plan of Adjustment;
  - (ii) the Investment Committee has been operated in accordance with the terms set forth in this Component I of the Combined Plan Document; and
  - (iii) the City continues to maintain the pension governance terms reflected in this Component I of the Combined Plan as of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, without modification or amendment during the twenty (20) year period following the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, except as required to comply with applicable federal law, including without limitation to maintain the tax qualified status of the Retirement System under the Internal Revenue Code, or to comply with the Plan of Adjustment;
- (c) a copy of (i) the Compliance Report covering the calendar year for which the Annual Report is made; (ii) any additional Compliance Reports provided during the calendar year for which the Annual Report is made as requested by the State Treasurer; (iii) either the certificate of compliance or the Default Notice, within the meaning of Section 6 of the State Contribution Agreement, as applicable, that was provided to the Investment Committee by the State Treasurer; and (iv) in the event that the State Treasurer issued a Default Notice, the Cure Certification, within the meaning of Section 6 of the State Contribution Agreement, provided by the Investment Committee. Notwithstanding anything in this paragraph (c) to the contrary, if the parties to the State Contribution Agreement agree to revise the requirements of Section 6 of the State Contribution Agreement or the information required in the Compliance Report, in order to meet the obligations of this paragraph (c), the Investment Committee shall be required only to provide documentation to the Foundation that meets such revised requirements; and
- (d) any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Foundation from time to time.
- (5) Beginning in calendar year 2016, before May 15<sup>th</sup> of each calendar year, the Investment Committee shall provide to the Chief Financial Officer of the City confirmation that, as of the date of the City's report to the Foundation, there has been no impairment or modification of the information contained in the most recent Pension Certificate since the date of such Pension Certificate.

#### **ARTICLE 2. DEFINITIONS**

#### Sec. 2.1. Definitions

Unless a different meaning is plainly required by context, the following words and phrases have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

- (1) Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions means the sum of all amounts deducted from the compensation of a Member and credited to the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund for periods on and after July 1, 2014.
- (2) Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions means the total balance in a Member's individual account under Component I of the Retirement System representing after-tax amounts deducted from the Compensation of the Member, together with earning on such contributions.
- (3) Actuarial Equivalent or Actuarially Equivalent means a Retirement Allowance or benefit amount having the same Actuarial Equivalent Value as another applicable benefit.
- (4) Actuarial Equivalent Value means the value of an applicable Retirement Allowance or benefit amount, where values are calculated under generally accepted actuarial methods and using the applicable tables, interest rates and other factors established by the Board upon recommendation of the Investment Committee. The rates of interest, tables and factors adopted by the Board from time to time to determine Actuarial Equivalence shall not violate the terms of the Plan of Adjustment.
- (5) Administrative Rules and Regulations means rules and regulations promulgated by the Board of Trustees for the administration of the Retirement System and for the transaction of its business.
- (6) Age, Attainment of means the age an individual reaches on the day of his or her birthday.
- (7) Average Final Compensation means the average Compensation received by a Member during the ten consecutive years of Credited Service under the Retirement System (for this purpose, both before and after July 1, 2014) which immediately precede the date of the Member's last termination of employment with the Employer. If a Member has less than ten years of Credited Service, the Member's Average Final Compensation shall be the average of the annual Compensation received by the Member during the Member's total years of Credited Service. If a Member is absent from service with the City for a period of not less than two consecutive months during his last two years of employment because of an unpaid leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act, such Member's Average Final Compensation will mean the average Compensation received by the Member during the ten consecutive year period out of the last twelve years of Credited Service which produces the highest average.
- (8) *Beneficiary* means any person or persons (designated by a Member pursuant to procedures established by the Board) who are entitled to receive a Retirement Allowance

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 22 of 71

or pension payable from funds of the Retirement System due to the participation of a Member.

- (9) Board of Trustees or Board or Retirement Board means the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System.
- (10) *City* means the City of Detroit, Michigan, a municipal corporation.
- (11) *City Council* or *Council* means the legislative body of the City.
- (12) *Combined Plan* means the Combined Plan for the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan, effective July 1, 2014 and as amended thereafter.
- (13) Compensation means a Member's base salary or wages actually paid to the Member for personal services rendered to the Employer, excluding bonuses, overtime pay, payment of unused accrued sick leave, longevity pay, payment for unused accrued vacation, the cost or value of fringe benefits provided to the Member, termination or severance pay, reimbursement of expenses, or other extra payment of any kind. Compensation will include any amount which is contributed by the City to a plan or program pursuant to a salary reduction agreement and which is not includable in the taxable income of the Member under Sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h) or 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code or which is contributed by the City on behalf of a Member as provided in Section 9.3(3) and 9.5 pursuant to a qualified "pick-up program".

For periods of time prior to July 1, 2014, the City shall provide to the Retirement System actual base salary or wages paid to Members using the best and most reliable sources of information available to the City. In the event the City is unable to provide actual base wages to the Retirement System, the City shall make reasonable estimates of each Member's base salary or wages for purposes of determining a Member's Compensation for periods prior to July 1, 2014.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, solely for purposes of determining a Member's Voluntary Employee Contributions, Compensation shall mean the gross salary or wages paid to the Member for personal services rendered to the Employer on and after July 1, 2014.

The annual Compensation of each Member taken into account for the purposes of determining all benefits provided under the Retirement System for any determination period shall not exceed the limitation set forth in Code Section 401(a)(17) (\$260,000 for the Plan Year commencing July 1, 2014). Such limitation shall be adjusted for the cost-of-living in accordance with Section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code. The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to any determination period beginning in such calendar year. If Compensation for any prior determination period is taken into account in determining a Member's benefits for the current determination period, the Compensation for such prior determination period. If a determination period consists of fewer than 12 months, the annual compensation limit is an amount equal to the otherwise applicable annual compensation limit multiplied by a fraction, the

numerator of which is the number of months in the short determination period, and the denominator of which is 12.

- (14) Component I means the portion of the Retirement System described in this Combined Plan and which consists of:
  - (a) the 2014 Defined Benefit Plan, which is a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code; and
  - (b) the 2014 Defined Contribution Plan, which is a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (15) Component II means the portion of the Retirement System described in this Combined Plan and which consists of:
  - (1) The Frozen 1973 Defined Benefit Plan, which is a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code; and
  - (2) the Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan, which is a qualified plan and trust pursuant to applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (16) Credited Service means service credited to a Member to the extent provided in Article 4 of Component I of this Combined Plan Document and, solely for purposes of Section 2.1(7), service credited to a Member prior to July 1, 2014 pursuant to Component II of this Combined Plan.
- (17) *Disability* or *Disabled* means that a Member has been determined to be eligible to receive long term disability benefits under a policy or plan of insurance or self-insurance maintained by the Employer.
- (18) *Employee* means any regular and/or permanent officer, agent, or person in the employ of the Employer, but does not include:
  - (a) individuals whose services for the Employer are compensated on a contractual or fee basis;
  - (b) persons who are not employed as Full-time Employees;
  - (c) any person during any period when such person is classified by the Employer as a non-common-law employee or an independent contractor for federal income tax and withholding purposes whose compensation for services is reported on a form other than Form W-2 or any successor form for reporting wages paid to and taxes withheld from employees, even if a court or administrative agency determines that such person is a common-law employee of the Employer;
  - (d) the medical director of the Retirement System; or

(e) any Police or Fire employee covered by the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan by virtue of such employment.

If a person described in (c) above is reclassified by the Employer as a common-law employee of the Employer and otherwise meets the definition of an Employee, the person will be eligible to participate in the Retirement System prospectively as of the actual date of such reclassification only (and only to the extent such individual otherwise qualifies as an Employee).

- (19) Employer means the City, or any board, commission, or court serving the City, to the extent that both the City, through the action of City Council, and the governing authority of such board, commission or court, shall mutually agree to include the employees of such board, commission, or court, as Employees under the provisions of this Retirement System at such time as they are eligible. To the extent that any employees of a board, commission, or court are considered Employees for this purpose, all employees of such board, commission, or court, shall be so included. However, only City board members and commissioners who are also Employees are eligible to participate in the Retirement System, unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Combined Plan Document. In all cases of doubt, the Board of Trustees shall decide who is an Employee.
- (20) *Family and Medical Leave Act* means the federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended, and regulations issued thereunder.
- (21) Fiscal Year means the twelve month period commencing each July 1 and ending on the following June 30.
- (22) Full-time Employee means an Employee who is employed in a position normally requiring six hundred hours of work or more per calendar year; provided, however, that an employee who is hired by an Employer as a part-time transit operator to work less than twenty-five hours per week shall not be a full-time employee under the Retirement System. Notwithstanding the general rule, a special service employee of the City shall be considered a full-time employee under the Retirement System upon completion of fourteen hundred and forty (1440) hours or more in a Fiscal Year. For purposes of Component I, once a special service employee has worked 1440 hours in a Fiscal Year, the employee will be deemed to be a full-time employee under the Retirement System for all subsequent Fiscal Years.
- (23) General Retirement System or Retirement System means the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit created and established by Title IX, Chapter VI, of the 1918 Detroit City Charter, as amended, continued in effect through the 1974, 1997 and 2012 Detroit City Charters, Article 47 of the Detroit City Code and this Combined Plan Document, as amended from time to time, which consists of:
  - (a) The 2014 Defined Benefit Plan, the terms of which are described in Component I hereof;
  - (b) The 2014 Defined Contribution Plan, consisting of the Voluntary Employee Contribution Account, the terms of which are described in Component I hereof;

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 25 of 71

- (c) The Frozen 1973 Defined Benefit Plan, the terms of which are described in Component II hereof; and
- (d) The Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan, the terms of which are described in Component II hereof.

References to the words Retirement System in Component I of the Combined Plan Document shall mean the provisions of the 2014 Defined Benefit Plan and/or the 2014 Defined Contribution Plan described in Component I, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context.

- (24) *Hour of Service* means (i) each hour for which a Member is paid or entitled to payment by the Employer for the performance of duties, and (ii) each hour for which a Member is directly paid or entitled to payment by the Employer for reasons other than the performance of duties (such as vacation, holiday, illness or approved leave of absence).
- (25) Internal Revenue Code or Code means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- (26) *Investment Committee* means the committee established pursuant to Section 1.19 which shall have the powers and duties described herein.
- (27) Mandatory Employee Contributions mean the contributions made by a Member to the Retirement System pursuant to Section 9.3(3).
- (28) *Medical Beneficiary* means a Member who has retired from employment with the Employers and the Spouses and dependants of such Member who are receiving post-retirement benefits in accordance with the terms of a retiree medical plan sponsored or maintained by an Employer.
- (29) Medical Benefits mean the provision of payments for certain sickness, accident, hospitalization and medical benefits within the meaning of Treasury Regulation section 1.401-14(a), including dental, vision and mental health benefits, as designated by the City.
- (30) *Medical Benefits Account* means the bookkeeping account established under Section 16.1 to provide for the payment of Medical Benefits on behalf of Medical Beneficiaries.
- (31) *Member* means any Employee who is included in the membership of the Retirement System and who has not retired or died.
- (32) Normal Retirement Age means Age sixty-two (62). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Normal Retirement Age of a Member who is an active Employee as of June 30, 2014 and who has 10 or more years of Vesting Service as of such date shall be as follows solely for purposes of this Component I:

-17 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 - Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 26 of 71 Age as of July 1, 2014

Normal Retirement Age

61 years	60 years and 0 months
60 years	60 years and 0 months
59 years	60 years and 3 months
58 years	60 years and 6 months
57 years	60 years and 9 months
56 years	61 years and 0 months
55 years	61 years and 3 months
54 years	61 years and 6 months
53 years	61 years and 9 months

(33) Normal Retirement Date means for any Member the later of the date the Member (i) attains 10 years of Vesting Service, or (ii) attains Normal Retirement Age.

Pursuant to Code Section 411(e), as in effect in 1974, a Member shall be 100% vested in his accrued benefit under the Retirement System upon attainment of his or her Normal Retirement Date while employed by an Employer.

- (34) Notice to Members, Beneficiaries, and Retirees means a mailing using First Class United States Mail to the Members, Beneficiaries, and Retirees at their last known addresses.
- (35) *Pension Reserve* means the present value of all payments to be made on account of any Retirement Allowance payable under Component I of the Combined Plan. Such Pension Reserve shall be computed upon the basis of such mortality and other tables of experience and interest, as provided herein until June 30, 2023 and, thereafter, as shall be adopted by the Board upon the recommendation of the Investment Committee.
- (36) *Plan Actuary* or *Actuary* means the enrolled actuary or actuarial firm appointed as provided in Section 1.15 to serve as technical advisor to the Investment Committee and the Board on matters regarding the funding and operation of the Retirement System and to perform such other duties as the Board or the Investment Committee may direct.
- (37) *Plan Document* or *Combined Plan Document* means this instrument, effective as of July 1, 2014, with all amendments hereafter adopted.
- (38) *Plan of Adjustment* means the Plan for the Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit, which has been approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court in *In re City of Detroit, Michigan, Case No. 13-53846*.
- (39) *Plan Year* means the twelve month period commencing on July 1 and ending on June 30.
- (40) *Prior Service* means the service credit awarded to a Member before July 1, 2014 under the terms of the Retirement System as in effect on June 30, 2014, as certified by the Board of Trustees.
- (41) *Retiree* means a former Member who is receiving a Retirement Allowance from the Retirement System.

-18 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 27 of 71

- (42) *Retirement* means a Member's withdrawal from the employ of the Employer with a Retirement Allowance paid by the Retirement System.
- (43) *Retirement Allowance* means an annual amount payable in monthly installments by the Retirement System, whether payable for a temporary period or throughout the future life of a Retiree or Beneficiary.
- (44) *Service* means personal services rendered to the Employer by a person as an Employee, provided such person is compensated by the Employer for such personal services.
- (45) Spouse means the person to whom a Member is legally married under applicable law at the time the determination is made.
- (46) Straight Life Retirement Allowance means payment of a Member's Retirement Allowance over the Member's lifetime.
- (47) *Vesting Service* means service credited to a Member to the extent provided in Article 4 of Component I of this Combined Plan Document.
- (48) *Voluntary Employee Contributions* mean the after-tax contributions made by a Member to the Retirement System pursuant to Section 10.1.
- (49) Voluntary Employee Contributions Account means the account established pursuant to Section 10.3 for a Member who elects to make Voluntary Employee Contributions.

The following terms shall have the meanings given to them in the Sections of this Combined Plan Document set forth opposite such term:

Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund	Section 9.2(1)
Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contribution Fund	Section 9.2(2)
Annual Addition	Section 12.2(1)
Annual Report	Section 1.24(4)(b)
Authority	Section 1.15
compensation	Section 12.1(11)
Compliance Report	Section 1.24(1)
Cure Certification	Section 1.24(2)
Default Notice	Section 1.24(2)
Direct Rollover	Section 17.8(2)(a)
Distributee	Section 17.8(2)(b)
Dollar Limit	Section 12.1(3)(b)
Eligible retirement plan	Section 17.8(2)(c)
Eligible rollover distribution	Section 17.8(2)(d)
Expense Fund	Section 9.2(6)
Foundation	Section 1.20(1)
funding level	Section 9.5(3)
Governance Term Sheet	Section 1.15
Income Fund	Section 9.2(7)

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed  $02/14/25^{-19}$  Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 28 of

investment management decision/investment management matter	Section 15.2
limitation year	Section 12.1(2)
Medical Benefits Account Fund	Section 9.2(5)
Medical Plans	Section 16.1
Option "A". Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor Allowance	Section 8.1(1)(c)
Option "B". Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor Allowance	Section 8.1(1)(e)
Option One. Modified Cash Refund Annuity	Section 8.1(1)(a)
Option Three. Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor	Section 8.1(1)(d)
Allowance	
Option Two. Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance	Section 8.1(1)(b)
Pension Accumulation Fund	Section 9.2(3)
Pension Certificate	Section 1.24(4)(b)
Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)	Section 6.2
PFRS	Section 1.15
Plan of Adjustment	Section 1.3
Pop-up Form	Section 8.1(2)(b)
Rate Stabilization Fund	Section 9.2(4)
Standard Form	Section 8.1(2)(a)
State Contribution Agreement	Section 1.15
State Treasurer	Section 1.21
Straight Life Retirement Allowance	Section 8.1(1)

#### **ARTICLE 3. MEMBERSHIP**

#### Sec. 3.1. Eligible Employees

The membership of the Retirement System shall consist of all persons who are Full-time Employees, except:

- (a) persons who are members of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan established under Title IX, Chapter VII of the 1918 Detroit City Charter, continued in the 1974, 1997 and 2012 Detroit City Charters, and continued in the form of the Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan; and
- (b) Any person who is an active member of any other public employee pension or retirement plan or retirement system adopted by the State of Michigan, other than the Michigan National Guard, or by any other political subdivision of the State of Michigan.

#### Sec. 3.2. Cessation of Membership; Re-Employment by the Employer

- (1) The following provisions shall apply to a non-vested Member who terminates employment with the Employer and is re-employed:
  - (a) Except as otherwise provided in this Article 3, if any non-vested Member leaves the employment of the Employer for any reason other than Retirement or death, such person shall continue to be a Member until such time as the Member receives a total distribution of his Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions and Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions. Upon receipt of his Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions, the Member's Credited Service and Vesting Service at that time shall be forfeited.
  - (b) If the Member is re-employed by an Employer (other than as a part-time transit operator) within a period of six years from and after the date employment with the Employer last terminated, any forfeited Credited Service and Vesting Service rendered on and after July 1, 2014 shall be restored for purposes of determining the Member's Retirement Allowance after re-employment, provided that within the two year period beginning on the Member's re-employment date, the Member re-contributes to the Retirement System any Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions that were distributed to the Member pursuant to Section 5.5.
  - (c) If a non-vested Member is re-employed (other than as a part-time transit operator) more than six years from and after the date employment with the Employer last terminated, the Member shall not be permitted to re-contribute to the Retirement System any Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions that were distributed to the Member pursuant to Section 5.5 and any forfeited Credited Service and Vesting Service shall not be restored at the time of the Member's reemployment.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 30 of 71

- (2) A former Employee who is vested but has not yet begun to receive a Retirement Allowance and who is rehired (other than as a part-time transit operator) prior to being separated for six years shall have his benefit pertaining to his total Credited Service earned on and after July 1, 2014 calculated in accordance with the terms of Component I of the Retirement System in effect at the time of his last separation from service, provided that, if such Employee received a distribution of his Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions following his termination, the Employee recontributes the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions to the Retirement System within two years of his rehire date. If an Employee who receives a distribution of his Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions fails to recontribute such amount to the Retirement System within two years of rehire, only the Credited Service earned on and after the Employee's rehire date shall be taken into consideration in determining his Retirement Allowance.
- (3) A former Employee who is vested but has not begun to receive a Retirement Allowance and who is rehired (other than as a part-time transit operator) after being separated for more than six years shall be entitled to two separate and distinct pension benefits under Component I, each to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of Component I of the Retirement System in effect at the time of each separation from service, provided that, if such Employee received a distribution of his Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions following his or her termination, the Employee recontributes the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions to the Retirement System within two years of his rehire date. If an Employee who receives a distribution of his Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions fails to recontribute such amount to the Retirement System within two years of rehire, only the Credited Service earned on and after the Employee's rehire date shall be taken into consideration in determining his Retirement Allowance.
- (4) Retirement benefits for a Retiree who returns to active full time employment with an Employer shall be subject to the following provisions:
  - (a) A Retiree who returns to work will have his Retirement Allowance suspended upon re-employment. The variable pension improvement factor (escalator) shall not be added to the amount of the original Retirement Allowance during the Retiree's re-employment period.
  - (b) A Retiree who returns to work will be entitled to receive a second Retirement Allowance in accordance with the provisions of the Retirement System in effect during his re-employment period.
  - (c) A Retiree's Average Final Compensation for purposes of determining the Retiree's second Retirement Allowance will be based upon the Compensation earned by the Retiree after he returns to work.
  - (d) An individual who retires for a second time will not be allowed to change the payment option selected by the Member with respect to the original Retirement

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 31 of 71

Allowance. However, the individual may select a separate payment option with respect to his second Retirement Allowance.

(e) The Coordination of Benefits (Equaled Social Security) option will not be available with respect to payment of the second Retirement Allowance.

#### Sec. 3.3. Report of the Employer

It shall be the duty of the Employer to submit to the Board of Trustees a statement showing the name, title, compensation, duties, date of birth, date of hire, and length of service of each Member, and such other information as the Board of Trustees may require or reasonably request for proper administration of the Retirement System.

### **ARTICLE 4. SERVICE CREDIT**

#### Sec. 4.1. Credited Service

- (1) The Board shall keep an accurate record of each Employee's accumulated Service credit from the date of commencement of employment with the Employer to the date of termination of employment with the Employer.
- (2) A Member shall be credited with one month of Credited Service for each calendar month during which he performs one hundred forty (140) or more Hours of Service for the Employer as an Employee, beginning on the later of July 1, 2014 or his date of hire with the Employer and ending on the date his employment with the Employer is terminated. Service shall be credited in years and twelfths (1/12<sup>th</sup>) of a year. Not more than one-twelfth (1/12<sup>th</sup>) of a year of Credited Service shall be credited to a Member on account of all Service rendered to the Employer in a calendar month. Not more than one year of Credited Service shall be credited to a Member on account of all Service rendered to the Employer in a calendar month. Not more than one year of Credited Service shall be credited to a Member on account of all Service rendered to the Employer in a calendar month.
- (3) A Member who does not perform Service for the Employer by reason of a Disability incurred in the line of duty which begins on or after July 1, 2014 shall be credited with Credited Service for the period of such Disability during which he is entitled to receive long-term disability benefits under the Employer's plan or policy.
- (4) Solely for purposes of determining eligibility for a retirement benefit under Section 5.2, a Member shall be credited with the sum of his Prior Service as determined by the Board and his Credited Service on and after July 1, 2014 determined under Section 4.1(2).

#### Sec. 4.2. Vesting Service

- (1) A Member shall be credited with a year of Vesting Service for each Plan Year commencing on or after July 1, 2014 during which the Member performs 1,000 or more Hours of Service for the Employer.
- (2) A Member's total Vesting Service shall be the sum of his Prior Service and his Service determined under Section 4.2(1).

#### Sec. 4.3. Service Credit; Military Service

An Employee who enters the military service of the United States while employed by an Employer shall have the period of such military service credited as Service in the same manner as if the Employee had served the Employer without interruption, provided that (1) the Employee's entry into such military service and re-employment thereafter shall be in accordance with applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations of the State of Michigan and the Employer; (2) he or she is re-employed by the Employer upon completion of such military service; and (3) the Member contributes to the Retirement System the Mandatory Employee Contributions that would have been made by the Member but for the Member's military service. The Member shall be permitted to make such contributions in accordance with Code Section 414(u) and regulations thereunder. During the period of military service and until return to employment with the

Employer, the Employee's Mandatory Employee Contributions to the Retirement System shall be suspended.

#### Sec. 4.4. Service Credit; Qualified Military Service

Notwithstanding any provision of this Combined Plan Document to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with respect to qualified military service under Component I, shall be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if a Member dies while performing qualified military service (as defined in Code Section 414(u)), to the extent required by Code Section 401(a)(37), the survivors of the Member are entitled to any additional benefits (if any, and other than benefit accruals relating to the period of qualified military service) provided under the Retirement System as if the Member had resumed and then terminated employment on account of death.

#### **ARTICLE 5. ELIGIBILITY FOR RETIREMENT BENEFITS**

#### Sec. 5.1. Eligibility for Unreduced Normal Retirement Benefit

Any Member who attains his Normal Retirement Date while employed by the City may retire upon written application filed with the Board setting forth the date on which the Member desires to be retired. The date of retirement shall be effective as of the first day following the later of (i) the Member's last day on the City payroll, or (ii) the date the Member executes and files an application for retirement, notwithstanding that the Member may have separated from Service during the notification period. Such a Member shall be entitled to receive an unreduced Retirement Allowance calculated as provided in Section 6.1 and payable in a form of payment selected by the Member pursuant to Section 8.1.

#### Sec. 5.2. Eligibility for Reduced Early Retirement Benefit

Any Member who has attained Age fifty-five, who is credited with thirty or more years of Credited Service, and who has not attained his Normal Retirement Date, shall have the option of retiring upon written application filed with the Board setting forth the date on which the Member desires to be retired. The Retirement Allowance payable to a Member who retires early shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the deferred Retirement Allowance that would be payable to the Member at his Normal Retirement Date pursuant to Section 6.1, assuming the Member terminated employment on his early retirement date, as determined by the Plan Actuary based upon factors, assumptions and methods adopted by the Board upon recommendation of the Investment Committee. A Member's early retirement benefit shall be payable in accordance with a form of payment selected by the Member pursuant to Section 8.1.

#### Sec. 5.3. Eligibility for Deferred Vested Retirement Benefit

Any Member who ceases to be an employee before satisfying the requirements for receipt of a retirement benefit under Section 5.1 or Section 5.2 and who is credited with ten or more years of Vesting Service upon his or her termination of employment (regardless of Age), shall be entitled to receive an unreduced Retirement Allowance commencing at any time following his attainment of Age sixty-two. Deferred vested retirement benefits shall be payable in accordance with a form of payment selected by the Member pursuant to Section 8.1.

#### Sec. 5.4. Eligibility for Retirement Benefit - Disabled Members

Any Member who becomes Disabled prior to his Normal Retirement Date shall be entitled to receive an unreduced Retirement Allowance commencing at any time following the Member's attainment of Age sixty-two. Disability retirement benefits shall be payable in accordance with a form of payment selected by the Member pursuant to Section 8.1.

#### Sec. 5.5. Return of Accumulated Mandatory Contributions to Member

If a Member ceases to be an Employee other than by reason of retirement, death or Disability, the Member may elect to receive distribution of the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions made to the Retirement System by such Member. If a Member elects to receive his Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions, such amounts shall be paid to the Member in a lump sum payment or in equal monthly installments for a period not to exceed three years, according to such rules and regulations as the Board may adopt from time to time. Other than as provided in Sections 3.2(2) and 3.2(3), a Member who receives a refund of his Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions shall not receive a Retirement Allowance from Component I of the Retirement System.

#### ARTICLE 6. RETIREMENT ALLOWANCE; VARIABLE PENSION IMPROVEMENT FACTOR (ESCALATOR)

#### Sec. 6.1. Retirement Allowance

The Retirement Allowance payable to a Member commencing at the later of his Normal Retirement Date or his actual retirement from employment with the Employer in the form of a Straight Life Retirement Allowance shall be equal to one and one-half percent (1.5%) of the Member's Average Final Compensation multiplied by the Member's years (computed to the nearest one-twelfth (1/12th) year) of Credited Service earned after June 30, 2014.

#### Sec. 6.2. Variable Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)

Except as provided in Section 9.5, beginning July 1, 2018 and effective the first day of each Plan Year thereafter, the Board may determine that a Retiree's annual Retirement Allowance under this Component I shall be increased by a factor of two percent (2.0%), computed each year on the basis of the amount of the original Retirement Allowance received at the time of Retirement; provided, that the recipient of said Retirement Allowance shall have attained Age sixty-two and shall have been receiving a Retirement Allowance for a period of not less than twelve months prior to the first day of such Plan Year. The Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator) shall not be compounded.

## **ARTICLE 7. DEATH BENEFITS**

#### Sec. 7.1. Accidental Death Benefit; Performance of Duty

- (1) If a Member is killed in the performance of duty in the service of the Employer, or dies as the result of illness contracted or injuries received while in the performance of duty in the service of the Employer, and such death, illness or injury resulting in death, is found by the Board to have resulted from the actual performance of duty in the service of the Employer, the Member's surviving Spouse shall be entitled to a monthly annuity benefit equal to the Member's Retirement Allowance at the time of his death, unreduced for early payment. Such benefit shall be payable until the surviving Spouse's death.
- (2) The minimum annual Retirement Allowance payable to a surviving Spouse under this Section 7.1 shall be equal to ten percent (10%) of the Member's Average Final Compensation determined as of the date of the Member's death.

#### Sec. 7.2. Death Benefits for Surviving Spouses Generally

- (1) If any Member who is not covered by Section 7.1 dies while in the employ of the Employer after the date such Member has earned ten or more years of Credited Service or while such Member is Disabled (provided such Disabled Member has not commenced receipt of his or her Retirement Allowance pursuant to Section 5.4), the Member's surviving Spouse shall be eligible to receive a Retirement Allowance.
- (2) The Retirement Allowance payable to the Spouse shall be computed in the same manner in all respects as if said Member had (i) retired effective the day preceding the Member's death, notwithstanding that the Member had not attained his or her Normal Retirement Date, (ii) elected a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance as described in Section 8.1, and (iii) nominated the surviving Spouse as Beneficiary.

#### Sec. 7.3. Refund of Accumulated Mandatory Contributions Upon Death of Member

If a Member dies while employed by the City or following termination of employment and the Member's surviving Spouse is not eligible for a benefit under Section 7.1 or 7.2, the Member's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions to the Retirement System at the time of death shall be paid to the Beneficiary nominated in a written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. In the event there is no such designated Beneficiary surviving, the Member's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions shall be paid to the Member's estate. If a Member who dies without a legal will has not nominated a Beneficiary, the Member's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions at the time of death may be used to pay burial expenses if the Member leaves no other estate sufficient for such purpose. Such expenses shall not exceed a reasonable amount as determined by the Board.

#### Sec. 7.4. Benefits Offset by Compensation Benefits; Subrogation

(1) Any amounts which may be paid or payable to a Beneficiary on account of a Member's death under the provisions of any Workers' Compensation, pension, or similar law, except federal Social Security old-age and survivors' benefits, shall be an offset against

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 38 of 71

any amounts payable from funds of the Retirement System on account of the Member's death. If the present value of the benefits payable under said Workers' Compensation, pension, or similar law, is less than the Pension Reserve for the Retirement Allowance payable by the Retirement System, the present value of the said Workers' Compensation, pension, or similar legal benefit shall be deducted from the amounts payable by the Retirement System, and such amounts as may be provided by the Retirement System, so reduced, shall be payable as provided in this Combined Plan Document.

(2) In the event a person becomes entitled to a pension payable by the Retirement System because of an accident or injury caused by the act of a third party, the Retirement System shall be subrogated to the rights of said person against such third party to the extent of the benefit which the Retirement System pays or becomes liable to pay.

#### **ARTICLE 8. FORMS OF PAYMENT**

#### Sec. 8.1. Retirement Allowance Options

- (1) Until the date the first Retirement Allowance payment check is issued, any Member may elect to receive a Straight Life Retirement Allowance payable throughout life, or the Member may elect to receive the Actuarial Equivalent of the Straight Life Retirement Allowance computed as of the effective date of retirement, in a reduced Retirement Allowance payable throughout life, and nominate a Beneficiary to receive benefit payments following the Member's death, in accordance with the options set forth below:
  - (a) Option One. Modified Cash Refund Annuity. If a Retiree who elected a Modified Cash Refund Annuity dies before payment of the Accumulated Contributions made to the Retirement System on and after July 1, 2014 has been received in an aggregate amount equal to, but not exceeding the Retiree's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions at the time of retirement, the difference between said Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions and the aggregate amount of annuity payments already received, shall be paid in a single lump sum to a Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. If there is no such designated Beneficiary surviving said Retiree, any such difference shall be paid to the Retiree's estate.
  - (b) Option Two. Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a Retiree who elected a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance, one hundred percent of the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be paid to and continued throughout the life of the Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance becomes due.
  - (c) Option "A". Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a Retiree who elected a Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor Allowance, seventy-five percent of the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance becomes due.
  - (d) Option Three. Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a Retiree who elected a Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor Allowance, fifty percent of the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance becomes due.
  - (e) Option "B". Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a Retiree who elected a Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor Allowance, twenty-five percent of the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be paid throughout the life of the Beneficiary nominated by written designation duly executed and

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14725 - Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 40 of 71

filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the Retirement Allowance becomes due.

- (2) Joint and Survivor Optional Forms of Payment. The Joint and Survivor Optional Forms of Payment provided under the Retirement System shall be made available in either the standard form or the pop-up form, as follows:
  - (a) *Standard Form.* Under the Standard Form, the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be paid throughout the lifetime of the Retiree.
  - (b) Pop-up Form. Under the Pop-up Form, the reduced Retirement Allowance shall be paid throughout the lifetime of the Retiree and the designated Beneficiary. In the event of the death of the designated Beneficiary during the lifetime of the Retiree, the amount of the Retirement Allowance shall be changed to the amount that would have been payable had the Retiree elected the Straight Life Retirement Allowance Form of Payment.
- (3) Coordination of Benefits. According to such rules and regulations as the Board shall adopt, until the first payment of a Retirement Allowance becomes due, but not thereafter, a Member under Age sixty-five may elect to have the Member's Straight Life Retirement Allowance provided for under Component I equated on an Actuarial Equivalent basis to provide an increased Retirement Allowance payable to Age sixty-two or Age sixty-five, and to provide a decreased Retirement Allowance thereafter. The increased Retirement Allowance payable to such Age shall approximate the total of the decreased Retirement Allowance payable thereafter and the estimated social security benefit. If a Member elects to receive increased and then decreased Retirement Allowance payments provided for in this paragraph, he or she may also elect to have such payments reduced by electing one of the optional forms of payment provided for in paragraph (1) of this Section 8.1. This coordination of benefits option shall not create any additional actuarial costs to the City.

#### Sec. 8.2. Disposition of Surplus Benefits upon Death of Retiree and Beneficiary

If under a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor allowance, a Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor allowance, a Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor allowance, or a Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor allowance as provided for under Section 8.1(1), both a Retiree and his Beneficiary die before they have received in Retirement Allowance payments an aggregate amount equal to the Retiree's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions at the time of retirement, the difference between the said Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions and the aggregate amount of Retirement Allowances paid to the Retiree and Beneficiary, shall be paid in a single lump sum to such person or persons nominated by written designation of the Retiree duly executed and filed with the Board. If there is no such person surviving the Retiree and the Beneficiary, any such difference shall be paid to the estate of the Retiree or Beneficiary, whichever of them is the last to die.

#### **ARTICLE 9. FUNDING AND RESERVES**

#### Sec. 9.1. Funding Objective of the Retirement System

The funding objective of Component I of the Retirement System is to establish and receive Employer and Member contributions during each Plan Year that are sufficient to fully cover the actuarial cost of benefits anticipated to be paid on account of Credited Service rendered by Members during the Plan Year (the normal cost requirements of the Retirement System), and to amortize the unfunded actuarial costs of benefits likely to be paid on account of Credited Service Service rendered on or after July 1, 2014 and before the first day of the Plan Year (the unfunded actuarial accrued liability of Component I of the Retirement System).

#### Sec. 9.2. Funds

Component I of the Retirement System shall consist of the Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund, the Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contribution Fund, the Pension Accumulation Fund, the Rate Stabilization Fund, the Medical Benefits Account Fund, the Expense Fund, and the Income Fund, as follows:

- (1) The Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contribution Fund shall be the Fund in which shall be accumulated the contributions of Members to provide their Retirement Allowances. Upon the Retirement, termination, or death of a Member with a vested Retirement Allowance, the Member's Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions shall be deemed to be part of the Pension Reserve which shall be used to pay the Member's Retirement Allowance.
- (2) The Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contribution Fund shall be the Fund in which shall be accumulated the voluntary after-tax contributions of Members together with earnings thereon.
- (3) The Pension Accumulation Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated reserves for the Retirement Allowances and other benefits payable from that portion of the Employer's annual contribution as is designated by the City to be utilized for payment of Retirement Allowances, and amounts transferred to Component I as provided in Section E-16(c) of Component II to finance Transition Cost (as defined in Section E-16(c) of Component II), and from which shall be paid Retirement Allowances and other benefits on account of Members.
- (4) The Rate Stabilization Fund shall be the Fund to which shall be credited Employer annual contributions in excess of the amount of the Employer's contribution which is credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund and amounts transferred to Component I as provided in Section E-16(c) of Component II.
- (5) The Medical Benefits Account Fund shall be the Fund in which shall be accumulated the amounts contributed to the Retirement System for the purpose of funding Medical Benefits.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 42 of 71

- (6) The Expense Fund shall be the fund to which shall be credited funds, if any, provided to the Retirement System by the Employers to pay the administrative expenses of Component I of the Retirement System, and from which shall be paid certain expenses incurred in connection with the administration and operation of the Retirement System.
- (7) The Income Fund shall be the Fund to which shall be credited all interest, dividends, and other income derived from the investments of the assets of Component I of the Retirement System and any earnings thereon, all gifts and bequests received by Component I of the Retirement System, and all other moneys credited to Component I of the Retirement System, the disposition of which is not specifically provided for in this Article 9. There shall be paid or transferred from the Income Fund, all amounts required to credit earnings and losses to the various Funds of the Retirement System in accordance with the provisions of Component I of this Combined Plan Document. Amounts credited to the Income Fund in excess of amounts needed to credit earnings and losses of the Retirement System as provided in this Component I for any Plan Year shall be used in the following manner in the following order: (i) to pay administrative expenses of Component I (to the extent there are insufficient funds for this purpose credited to the Expense Fund), and/or (ii) transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund and used to pay Retirement Allowances and other benefits on account of Members.

#### Sec. 9.3. Method of Financing Retirement System Benefits

- (1) The pension liabilities for Members under this Component I shall be determined by the Plan's Actuary using the Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method of actuarial valuation.
- (2) The Employers' annual contributions to finance the prospective pension liabilities for the nine Plan Year period commencing July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2023 shall be five percent (5%) of the Compensation of active Members for the applicable Plan Year. A portion of the Employers' annual contributions for each Plan Year shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund and a portion shall be credited to the Rate Stabilization Fund, each amount as determined by the City in its sole discretion. For Plan Years commencing July 1, 2023 and later, the accrued pension liabilities for Members shall be determined by the Actuary using reasonable and appropriate actuarial assumptions approved by the Board and the Investment Committee. The Employers' annual contributions to finance the normal cost of benefits and any unfunded accrued pension liabilities over such period or periods of future years as are established by the Board and approved by the Investment Committee.
- (3) Except as provided in Section 9.5, for each Plan Year, a Member shall contribute to the Retirement System an amount equal to four percent (4%) of his or her Compensation for such Plan Year. A Member's Mandatory Employee Contributions for the Plan Year beginning July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2015 shall commence as of the Member's first payroll date occurring in August 2014. The officer or officers responsible for processing the payroll shall cause a Member's Mandatory Employee Contributions to be deducted from the Member's Compensation on each and every payroll, for each and every payroll period, from the later of (i) the Member's first payroll date occurring in

- 34 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 43 of 71 August 2014, and (ii) the Member's date of hire to the date he ceases to be an active Member. The contribution shall be deducted from a Member's Compensation, notwithstanding that the minimum compensation provided by law for the Member shall be reduced thereby. Payment of compensation, less said Mandatory Employee Contributions, shall be a complete discharge of all claims and demands whatsoever for the services rendered by the said Member during the period covered by such payment. Member Mandatory Employee Contributions will be used for the purpose of funding the normal cost of the Retirement System.

#### Sec. 9.4. Member Contributions Picked-Up

- (1) The Employer shall pick up Member Mandatory Employee Contributions required pursuant to Sections 9.3(3) and 9.5 in accordance with Code Section 414(h).
- (2) The picked-up contributions, although designated as employee contributions shall be treated as Employer contributions for the purpose of determining a Member's tax treatment under the Internal Revenue Code. The Employers shall pay the contributions picked-up on behalf of a Member from the same source of funds that are used for paying compensation to the Member.
- (3) The Employer shall pick up Member Mandatory Employee Contributions by a reduction in the Member's cash salary or an offset against a future salary increase, or both. The Employer shall designate Mandatory Employee Contributions that are picked-up and paid to the Retirement System as employer contributions and not as employee contributions. No Member who participates in the Retirement System shall have the option of choosing to receive the contributed amounts directly instead of having those amounts paid by the Employers to the Retirement System.

#### Sec. 9.5. Fiscal Responsibility: Increased Funding Obligations and Benefit Reductions

- (1) To safeguard the long-term actuarial and financial integrity of the Retirement System, in the event the funding level of Component I of the Retirement System projected over a five year period falls below one hundred percent (100%), the following remedial action shall be required in the order set forth below, beginning with the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which such determination is made and continuing until the funding level is restored to not less than one hundred percent (100%):
  - (a) the Trustee may not award the variable pension improvement factor (escalator) described in Section 6.2 to any Retiree;
  - (b) all amounts credited to the Rate Stabilization Fund shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund for the purposes of funding benefits payable under Component I of the Retirement System; and
  - (c) Member Mandatory Employee Contributions shall be increased from four percent (4%) of Compensation to five percent (5%) of Compensation for up to the next following five Plan Years.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 44 of 71

- (2) In the event the funding level of Component I of the Retirement System determined as provided in Section 9.5(1) is projected to fall below eighty percent (80%), the following remedial action shall be required in the order set forth below, beginning with the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which such determination is made and continuing until the funding level is projected to be not less than eighty percent (80%) on a market value basis within the next five years:
  - (a) the remedial action required in Section 9.5(1) shall be implemented or continued;
  - (b) the Retirement Allowance payable to a Retiree shall not include the variable pension improvement factor (escalator) that was most recently added to the Retiree's Retirement Allowance for a Plan Year;
  - Member Mandatory Employee Contributions shall be increased from five percent (5%) of Compensation to six percent (6%) of Compensation for up to the next following five Plan Years;
  - (d) the Retirement Allowance payable to a Retiree shall not include the variable pension improvement factor (escalator) that was most recently added to the Retiree's Retirement Allowance for the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year referenced in paragraph (b) above; and
  - (e) the Retirement Allowance accrued by Members for up to the next five Plan-Yearperiod shall be determined as provided in Section 6.1, except that one percent (1%) shall be substituted for one and one-half percent (1.5%) wherever it appears in said Section 6.1.

In determining whether the eighty percent (80%) funding level under this Section 9.5(2) has been achieved, the Plan's Actuary shall calculate the funding percentage of the Retirement System after taking into account the elimination of the variable pension improvement factor (escalator) pursuant to Section 9.5(1)(a) but prior to taking into account the remedial steps provided in Sections 9.5(1)(b) and (c).

(3) For purposes of this Section 9.5, the "funding level" of Component I of the Retirement System shall mean the ratio of the market value of the assets of Component I of the Retirement System to the actuarial accrued liability of Component I of the Retirement System. The actuarial accrued liability shall be calculated by the Plan's Actuary utilizing an interest rate assumption of six and three-quarters percent (6.75%) and other reasonable assumptions as directed by the Board upon the recommendation of the Investment Committee. The market value of assets shall be determined on the basis of a three-year look back period of smoothed investment returns.

# **ARTICLE 10. VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS**

# Sec. 10.1. Voluntary Employee Contributions; Amount; Vesting

Subject to procedures established by the Board, a Member who either is a non-union employee or is covered by a collective bargaining agreement with an Employer that permits the Member to make Voluntary Employee Contributions to Component I of the Retirement System may elect to contribute a whole percentage equal to three percent (3%), five percent (5%) or seven percent (7%) of his Compensation for a Plan Year to a Voluntary Employee Contribution Account maintained on his behalf under Component I of the Retirement System. Voluntary Employee Contributions shall be made to the Retirement System on an after-tax basis. Amounts credited to a Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account shall be one hundred percent (100%) vested at all times.

# Sec. 10.2. Changing an Election to Contribute

A Member may change or revoke an election to make Voluntary Employee Contributions to the Retirement System pursuant to this Article 10 in such manner and with such advance notice as the City shall determine. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Member shall be permitted to change such election not less frequently than annually.

# Sec. 10.3. Individual Member Accounting; Crediting of Earnings

The Board shall maintain a Voluntary Employee Contribution Account on behalf of each Member who elects to make Voluntary Employee Contributions to the Retirement System. Each Plan Year, a Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account shall be credited with earnings at a rate equal to the actual net investment rate of return on the assets of the Retirement System for the second Plan Year immediately preceding the Plan Year in which the earnings are credited; in no event, however, shall the earnings rate credited to a Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account for any Plan Year be less than zero percent (0%) nor greater than five and one-quarter percent (5.25%).

# Sec. 10.4. Distribution of Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions

- (1) If a Member ceases employment with an Employer other than by reason of death, the Member may elect to receive distribution of the Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions credited to his or her Voluntary Employee Contribution Account. If a Member elects to receive his Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions, such amounts shall be paid to the Member in a lump sum payment or in equal monthly installments for a period not to exceed three years, according to such rules and regulations as the Board may adopt from time to time.
- (2) In lieu of receiving distribution of his Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions as provided in Section 10.4(1), a Member may elect to have the Actuarially Equivalent Value of his or her Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions added to his or her Retirement Allowance and paid in a form of annuity described in Section 8.1. Any such annuity shall be subject to market rates of investment return and other market-related

- 37 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 46 of 71 assumptions, as adopted by the Board upon recommendation of the Investment Committee.

(3) If a Member dies while employed by the Employer or following termination of employment but prior to receiving distribution of the Member's Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions, the amounts credited to the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account at the time of death shall be paid to the Beneficiary nominated in a written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. In the event there is no such designated Beneficiary surviving the Member, the Member's Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions shall be paid to the Member's estate. If a Member who dies without a legal will has not nominated a Beneficiary, the Member's Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions at the time of death may be used to pay burial expenses if the Member leaves no other estate sufficient for such purpose. Such expenses shall not exceed a reasonable amount as determined by the Board.

# ARTICLE 11. LOAN PROGRAM FOR VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS

#### Sec. 11.1. The Loan Program

A loan program shall be available to Members who have amounts credited to a Voluntary Employee Contributions Account under Component I of the Retirement System. The Board is authorized to adopt rules and regulations, from time to time, to govern the administration and the operation of the loan program. Copies of the rules shall be made available to eligible Members in the offices of the Retirement System. Any loans granted or renewed under the Retirement System shall be made and administered pursuant to and in compliance with Section 72(p) of the Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

# Sec. 11.2. Eligibility for Loan

Subject to the rules and procedures established by the Board, loans may be made to eligible Members from such Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account. An eligible Member is any Member who has participated in the Retirement System for twelve months or more. Former Members, Spouses and Beneficiaries are not eligible to receive any loans from the Retirement System. No Member shall have more than two outstanding loans from the Retirement System (Component I and/or Component II) at any time. A Member who has previously defaulted on a loan under either Component I or Component II shall not be eligible for a loan from the Retirement System.

#### Sec. 11.3. Amount of Loan

An eligible Member who has satisfied applicable rules and procedures established by the Board may borrow from his Voluntary Employee Contribution Account an amount which does not exceed the lesser of (i) fifty percent (50%) of the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account balance, and (ii) Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00), in each case reduced by the excess, if any, of: (1) the Member's highest outstanding loan balance under the Retirement System (both Component I and Component II) during the one year period ending on the day before the date on which the loan is made, or (2) the outstanding loan balance under the Retirement System (both Component I and Component II) on the date on which the loan is made, whichever is less. The minimum loan amount shall be One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00).

# Sec. 11.4. Terms and Conditions

In addition to such rules and procedures that are established by the Board, all loans shall comply with the following terms and conditions:

- (a) Each loan application shall be made in writing.
- (b) All loans shall be memorialized by a collateral promissory note for the amount of the loan, including interest, payable to the order of the Retirement System and properly executed by the Member.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 48 of 71

- (c) Each loan shall be repaid by substantially equal payroll deductions over a period not to exceed five years, or, where the loan is for the purpose of buying a principal residence, a period not to exceed fifteen years. In no case shall the amount of the payroll deduction be less than Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) for any two-week pay period. A Member receiving a loan will be required to authorize payroll deductions from his compensation in an amount sufficient to repay the loan over its term.
- (d) An amount equal to the principal amount of the loan to a Member (but not more than one half of the Member's vested interest in the Defined Contribution Plans of the Retirement System) will be designated as collateral for guaranteeing the loan.
- (e) Each loan shall bear interest at a rate determined by the Board. The Board shall not discriminate among Members in its determination of interest rates on loans. However, loans initiated at different times may bear different interest rates, where, in the opinion of the Board, the difference in rates is supported by a change in market interest rates or a change in the Retirement System's current assumed rate of return. The loan interest rate shall bear a reasonable relationship to market rates for secured loans of a similar duration and shall bear a reasonable relationship to the costs to the Retirement System of administering the loan. The loan interest rate shall be calculated in a manner that will not negatively affect either the Employers' costs with respect to the Retirement System or the investment return allocated to Members.
- (f) Loan repayments shall be suspended during a period of military service, as permitted by Section 414(u)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code. A Member who has an outstanding loan balance from the Retirement System who is absent from employment with the City, and who has satisfied the requirements of Section 414(u) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not be required to make loan repayments to the Retirement System during said periods of absence.

# Sec. 11.5. Loan Balance

A Member's outstanding loan balance shall be considered a directed investment by the Member and interest payments shall be credited to the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account (provided that the interest credited to the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account shall be reduced appropriately to cover the administrative costs of the loan program and avoid negatively affecting the Employers' costs or the Retirement System's investment returns), and shall not be part of the Retirement System's net investment income or part of the Member's Voluntary Employee Contribution Account balance for the purpose of allocation of net investment income under the Retirement System.

#### Sec. 11.6. Default

In the event a Member defaults on a loan before the loan is repaid in full, the unpaid balance thereof will become due and payable and, to the extent that the outstanding amount is not repaid by the end of the calendar quarter which follows the calendar quarter in which the last payment was received, such amount shall be deemed to have been distributed to the Member for tax purposes, consistent with Section 72(p) of the Internal Revenue Code.

#### Sec. 11.7. Distribution

No distribution shall be made to a Member, former Member, Spouse or Beneficiary from the Retirement System until all outstanding loan balances and applicable accrued interest have been repaid or offset against amounts distributable to the individual from the Retirement System.

# Sec. 11.8. Annual Report

The Retirement System shall include, in its annual report to all Members, an accounting of the Loan Program established by this Article 11, which contains the number and amount of loans made, the costs of administering the Loan Program maintained under this Component I, the amount of payments made including interest received by Component I of the Retirement System, the amount of loans outstanding, including any defaults or delinquencies, and an evaluation as to whether the interest charged in that Fiscal Year covered the costs of administering the Loan Program under Component I.

# **ARTICLE 12. LIMITATION ON BENEFITS AND CONTRIBUTIONS**

# Sec. 12.1. Compliance With Code Section 415(b) And Regulations

- (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Combined Plan Document, the defined benefit component of the Retirement System shall be administered in compliance with the provisions of Code Section 415(b) and regulations thereunder that are applicable to governmental plans.
- (2) The maximum annual benefit accrued by a Member during a "limitation year" (which shall be the Plan Year) and the maximum annual benefit payable under the Retirement System to a Member at any time within a Plan Year, when expressed as an annual benefit in the form of a straight life annuity (with no ancillary benefits), shall be equal to \$160,000 (as such amount is adjusted pursuant to Code Section 415(d) for such Plan Year).
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing:
  - (a) if the benefit under the Retirement System is payable in any form other than a straight life annuity, the determination as to whether the limitation described in Section 12.1(2) has been satisfied shall be made, in accordance with the regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, by adjusting such benefit to the Actuarially Equivalent straight life annuity beginning at the same time, in accordance with Section 12.1(8) or (9);
  - (b) if the benefit under the Retirement System commences before Age sixty-two, the determination of whether the limitation set forth in Section 12.1(2) (the "Dollar Limit") has been satisfied shall be made, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, by reducing the Dollar Limit so that the Dollar Limit (as so reduced) is equal to an annual benefit payable in the form of a straight life annuity, commencing when such benefit under the Retirement System commences, which is Actuarially Equivalent to a benefit in the amount of the Dollar Limit commencing at Age sixty-two; provided, however, if the Retirement System has an immediately commencing straight life annuity commencing both at Age sixty-two and the Age of benefit commencement, then the Dollar Limit (as so reduced) shall equal the lesser of (i) the amount determined under this Section 12.1(3)(b) without regard to this proviso, or (ii) the Dollar Limit multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing straight life annuity under the Retirement System and the denominator of which is the annual amount of the straight life annuity under the Retirement System, commencing at Age sixty-two; and
  - (c) if the benefit under the Retirement System commences after Age sixty-five, the determination of whether the Dollar Limit has been satisfied shall be made, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, by increasing the Dollar Limit so that the Dollar Limit (as so increased) is equal to an annual benefit payable in the form of a straight life annuity, commencing when

- 42 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 51 of 71 the benefit under the Retirement System commences, which is Actuarially Equivalent to a benefit in the amount of the Dollar Limit commencing at Age sixty-five; provided, however, if the Retirement System has an immediately commencing straight life annuity commencing both at Age sixty-five and the Age of benefit commencement, the Dollar Limit (as so increased) shall equal the lesser of (i) the amount determined under this Section 12.1(3)(c) without regard to this proviso, or (ii) the Dollar Limit multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing straight life annuity under the Retirement System and the denominator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing straight life annuity under the Retirement System and the denominator of which is the annual amount of the immediately commencing at Age sixty-five.

- (4) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 12.1, except as provided in Section 12.1(5), the maximum annual benefit specified in Section 12.1(2) above shall not apply to a particular Retirement System benefit if (a) the annual amount of such Retirement System benefit, together with the aggregate annual amount of any other pensions payable with respect to such Member under all other defined benefit plans maintained by an Employer, does not exceed \$10,000 for the Plan Year or any prior Plan Year and (b) the Member was not at any time a participant in a defined contribution plan maintained by an Employer.
- (5) In the case of a Member who has less than ten years of participation in the Retirement System, the limitation set forth in Section 12.1(2) shall be such limitation (without regard to this Section 12.1(5)), multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of years of participation in the Retirement System (or parts thereof) credited to the Member and the denominator of which is ten. In the case of a Member who has less than ten years of Vesting Service, the limitations set forth in Paragraph (b) of Section 12.1(3) and in Section 12.1(4) shall be such limitations (determined without regard to this Section 12.1(5)) multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of years of Vesting Service, or parts thereof, credited to the Member and the denominator of which is the numerator of which is the number of years of Vesting Service, or parts thereof, credited to the Member and the denominator of which is the numerator of which is the number of years of Vesting Service, or parts thereof, credited to the Member and the denominator of which is thereof.
- (6) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 12.1 to the contrary, if the annual benefit of a Member who has terminated employment with the Employer is limited pursuant to the limitations set forth in Section 12.1(2), such annual benefit shall be increased in accordance with the cost-of-living adjustments of Code Section 415(d).
- (7) For purposes of determining actuarial equivalence under Paragraph (b) or (c) of Section 12.1(3), the interest rate assumption shall be five percent (5%) and the mortality table used shall be the applicable mortality table specified by the Board.
- (8) The actuarially equivalent straight life annuity for purposes of adjusting any benefit payable in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) does not apply, as required by Paragraph (a) of Section 12.1(3), is equal to the greater of (a) the annual amount of the straight life annuity payable under the Retirement System commencing at the same annuity starting date as the form of benefit payable to the Member, or (b) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 52 of 71

the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, computed using the interest rate and mortality assumptions set forth in Section 12.1(7).

- (9) The actuarially equivalent straight life annuity for purposes of adjusting any benefit payable in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) applies, as required by Paragraph (a) of Section 12.1(3), is equal to the greatest of (a) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same Actuarial Equivalent present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, (b) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, computed using a five and one-half percent (5.5%) interest rate assumption and the applicable mortality table specified by the Board, or (c) the annual amount of the straight life annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, computed using a five and one-half percent (5.5%) interest rate assumption and the applicable mortality table specified by the Board, or (c) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit payable to the Member, divided by 1.05.
- (10) For purposes of applying the limitations set forth in this Section 12.1, all qualified defined benefit plans (whether or not terminated) ever maintained by an Employer shall be treated as one defined benefit plan.
- (11)For purposes of this Section 12.1, the term "compensation" shall include those items of remuneration specified in Treasury Regulation § 1.415(c)-2(b) and shall exclude those items of remuneration specified in Treasury Regulation § 1.415(c)-2(c), taking into account the timing rules specified in Treasury Regulation § 1.415(c)-2(e), but shall not include any amount in excess of the limitation under Code Section 401(a)(17) in effect for the year. The term "compensation" as defined in the preceding sentence shall include any payments made to a Member by the later of (a) two and one-half months after the date of the Member's severance from employment with an Employer or (b) the end of the limitation year that includes the date of the Member's severance from employment with an Employer, provided that, absent a severance from employment, such payments would have been paid to the Member while the Member continued in employment with the Employer and are regular compensation for services performed during the Member's regular working hours, compensation for services outside the Member's regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential pay), commissions, bonuses or other similar compensation.
- (12) This Section 12.1 shall be administered in conformity with the regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury interpreting Code Section 415 including, but not limited to, any regulation providing for the "grandfathering" of any benefit accrued prior to the effective date of such regulations or statutory provision.

#### Sec. 12.2. Compliance with Code Section 415(c) and Regulations

(1) The "Annual Addition" with respect to a Member for a limitation year (which shall be the Plan Year) shall in no event exceed the lesser of:

- (a) \$40,000 (adjusted as provided in Code Section 415(d)); or
- (b) One hundred percent (100%) of the Member's compensation, as defined in Code Section 415(c)(3) and regulations issued thereunder, for the limitation year.
- (2) The Annual Addition with respect to a Member for a limitation year means the sum of his Voluntary Employee Contributions for such limitation year to the Retirement System, and the employer contributions, employee contributions and forfeitures allocated to his accounts under any other qualified defined contribution plan (whether or not terminated) maintained by an Employer, and the amounts described in Code Sections 415(1)(2) and 419A(d)(2) allocated to his account.
- (3) In the event the Annual Addition to the Retirement System on behalf of a Member would otherwise exceed the amount that may be applied for his benefit under the limitation contained in this Section 12.2, the limitation shall be satisfied by reducing the Member's Voluntary Employee Contributions to the extent necessary and distributing such amounts to the Member.

# **ARTICLE 13. RETIREMENT SYSTEM ADMINISTRATION**

# Sec. 13.1. Board of Trustees as Retirement System Administrator

- (1) The Retirement Board shall have the power and authority to manage and administer the Retirement System in accordance with the provisions of the Combined Plan Document.
- (2) The Retirement Board shall provide procedures for the processing and review of benefit claims, corrections of errors, and similar matters, as further described in Section 13.2.
- (3) The Retirement Board and the Retirement System shall not make any payment to active or retired Members or Beneficiaries other than payments that are required by the Retirement System as established by this Combined Plan Document. This prohibition applies to all payments that are not authorized by this Combined Plan Document, whether such payments are those commonly referred to as a "thirteenth check" or payments by any other name.

# Sec. 13.2. Powers and Duties of Board

- (1) The Board shall have the following powers and duties:
  - (a) exclusive authority regarding the administration, management and operation of the Retirement System, including, but not limited to, the right to contract for office space, computer hardware and software, and human resource services (any or all of which may be obtained from the City), and to make rules and regulations with respect to the operation of the Retirement System not inconsistent with the terms of the Combined Plan Document and applicable law, and to amend or rescind such rules and regulations;
  - (b) to determine questions of law or fact that may arise as to the rights of any person claiming rights under the Retirement System;
  - (c) to determine the contributions to the Retirement System required of the Employer and Members pursuant to the documents governing operation of the Retirement System, including the Plan of Adjustment;
  - (d) to construe and interpret the provisions of the Retirement System and to reconcile any inconsistencies;
  - (e) to perform ministerial functions, whether or not expressly authorized, which the Board may deem necessary or desirable in carrying out its duties under the Retirement System;
  - (f) except to the extent authority is vested in the Investment Committee, authority to employ, contract and pay for professional services including, but not limited to, actuarial, investment, legal, accounting, medical, and any other services that the Board considers necessary for the proper operation of the Retirement System;

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 55 of 71

- (g) except to the extent authority or responsibility is vested in the Investment Committee, to arrange for annual audits of the records and accounts of the Retirement System by a certified public accountant or by a firm of certified public accountants pursuant to generally accepted auditing standards;
- (h) to prepare an annual report for the Retirement System for each Fiscal Year in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. The report shall contain information regarding the financial, actuarial, and other activities of the Retirement System during the Fiscal Year. The Board shall furnish a copy of the annual report to the Mayor and finance director of the City, to the chair of the City Council and to the Investment Committee. The report shall also contain a review of the latest actuarial valuation of the Retirement System;
- (i) to maintain or cause to be maintained such separate funds and accounts as are required to be maintained under the provisions of Components I and II of the Combined Plan Document and such additional accounts as the Board deems necessary or expedient for the proper administration of the Retirement System and the administration and investment of the assets of the Retirement System. The Board shall maintain suitable records, data and information in connection with the performance of its functions, including, but not limited to, accurate and detailed accounts of all investments, receipts, disbursements, and other actions, including the proportionate interest therein and contributions of each Member who has made contributions to the Retirement System;
- (j) to correct any error in the records of the Retirement System that results in overpayment or underpayment of contributions to the Retirement System by the Employer or a Member, or overpayment or underpayment of benefits to a Member, former Member, or Beneficiary by the Retirement System. In the event of overpayment to a Member, former Member or Beneficiary, the Board may, as far as practicable, adjust future payments to such individual, in such a manner that the Actuarial Equivalent of the benefit to which such individual was entitled shall be paid;
- (k) to the extent permissible under Michigan law (and consistent with the Retirement System's favorable tax qualified status under Code Section 401(a)), purchase one or more insurance policies to indemnify any person and such person's heirs and legal representatives who is made a party to (or threatened to be made a party to) any action, suit or proceeding whether brought by or in the right of the Board, the Investment Committee or the Retirement System or otherwise, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a Board member, Investment Committee member, director, officer, employee or agent of the Board (or an advisory body or committee of the Board) or the Retirement System. The insurance policies purchased by the Board shall not indemnify any person who is judicially determined to have incurred liability due to fraud, gross negligence or malfeasance in the performance of his duties; and

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 56 of 71

(1) except to the extent authority or responsibility is vested in the Investment Committee, to perform any other function that is required for the proper administration of the Retirement System.

# Sec. 13.3. Executive Director; Employees

The Board shall employ on behalf of the Retirement System an executive director and any other employees for which the Board establishes positions. The executive director shall do all of the following:

- (a) manage and administer the Retirement System under the supervision and direction of the Board;
- (b) annually prepare and submit to the Board for review, amendment, and adoption an itemized budget projecting the amount required to pay the Retirement System's expenses for the following Fiscal Year; and
- (c) perform such other duties as the Board shall delegate to the executive director.

The executive director, unless such power is retained by the Board, shall determine the compensation of all employees of the Retirement System (except the executive director, whose compensation shall be determined by the Board; and the chief investment officer, whose compensation shall be determined by the Investment Committee) and such compensation shall be payable from the Retirement System. Any person employed by the Retirement System may, but need not, be an employee of the City.

# Sec. 13.4. Discretionary Authority

The Board shall have discretion to:

- (a) interpret the provisions of the Retirement System;
- (b) make factual findings with respect to any and all issues arising under the Retirement System;
- (c) determine the rights and status of Members, Retirees, Beneficiaries and other persons under the Retirement System;
- (d) decide benefit claims and disputes arising under the Retirement System pursuant to such procedures as the Board shall adopt; and
- (e) make determinations and findings (including factual findings) with respect to the benefits payable hereunder and the persons entitled thereto as may be required for the purposes of the Retirement System.

# Sec. 13.5. Administrator's Decision Binding

The Board's decision on any matter arising in connection with administration and interpretation of the Retirement System shall be final and binding on Members, Retirees and Beneficiaries.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 58 of 71

#### **ARTICLE 14. MANAGEMENT OF FUNDS**

#### Sec. 14.1. Board as Trustee of Retirement System Assets

The Board of Trustees shall be the trustee of the funds held under the Retirement System, shall receive and accept all sums of money and other property paid or transferred to it by or at the direction of the City and, subject to the terms of Article 15, shall have the power to hold, invest, reinvest, manage, administer and distribute such money and other property subject to all terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions imposed on the investment of assets of public employee retirement systems or plans by *Act No. 314 of the Public Acts of 1965, being sections 38.1132 et seq.* of the *Michigan Compiled Laws, as amended.* 

#### Sec. 14.2. Maintenance of Segregated Funds

The Board of Trustees shall maintain separate funds as required for the proper administration of the Retirement System and shall not commingle the assets held under the Retirement System for the purpose of funding benefits accrued by Members prior to July 1, 2014, together with earnings and losses on such assets (or replacement assets), as more fully described in Component II of this Combined Plan Document, with the assets of the Retirement System held for the purpose of paying benefits accrued by Members on and after July 1, 2014 as described in this Component I of the Combined Plan Document. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the assets held under Components I and II of this Combined Plan Document may be commingled for investment purposes, and transferred as provided in Section E-16(c) of Component II.

#### Sec. 14.3. Custodian of Funds

The Board of Trustees shall appoint or employ custodians of the assets of the Retirement System. The custodians shall perform all duties necessary and incidental to the custodial responsibility and shall make disbursements as authorized by the Board.

#### Sec. 14.4. Exclusive Purpose

All money and other assets of the Retirement System shall be held by the Trustees and invested for the sole purpose of paying benefits to Members and Beneficiaries and shall be used for no other purpose other than payment of the reasonable expenses of maintaining the Retirement System. In exercising its discretionary authority with respect to the management of the money and other assets of the Retirement System, the Trustees shall exercise the care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing, that a person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an enterprise of like character with like aims.

#### Sec. 14.5. Prohibited Conduct

Members of the Board and employees of the Retirement System are prohibited from:

(1) Having any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any investment of the Retirement System;

- (2) Being an obligor or providing surety for any money loaned to or borrowed from the Retirement System;
- (3) Except as provided in Article 11, borrowing any money or other assets of the Retirement System; and
- (4) Receiving any pay or other compensation from any person, other than compensation paid by the Retirement System, with respect to investments of the Retirement System.

#### **ARTICLE 15. INVESTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEM ASSETS**

#### Sec. 15.1. Investment Powers of the Board and the Investment Committee

Subject to the requirements set forth in this Article 15, the Board shall have the power and authority to manage, control, invest and reinvest money and other assets of the Retirement System subject to all terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions imposed on the investment of assets of public employee retirement systems or plans by *Act No. 314 of the Public Acts of 1965*, *being sections 38.1132 et seq.* of the *Michigan Compiled Laws, as amended.* Notwithstanding anything in this Combined Plan Document to the contrary, for the twenty year period following the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, the Investment Committee shall make recommendations to the Board with respect to investment management matters as provided in this Article 15.

All investment management decisions made by the Board, as more fully described in Section 15.2, shall require a recommendation by an affirmative vote of the Investment Committee as provided in this Combined Plan Document. The Board shall take no action with respect to any matter for which the Investment Committee has responsibility and authority, including the investment management matters described in Section 15.2, unless and until such action has been approved by affirmative vote of the Investment Committee. All actions and recommendations of the Investment Committee shall be forwarded to the Board for consideration and are subject to Board approval. If (a) the Board fails to approve or disapprove an investment management decision that has been recommended by an affirmative vote of the Investment Committee, and such failure continues for forty-five days after the date that the recommendation was made to the Board, or (b) the Board disapproves an investment management decision within such forty-five day period but fails to provide to the Investment Committee within such forty-five day period a detailed written response outlining the reasons for such disapproval, then the Investment Committee and the chief investment officer are authorized to implement the decision.

If the Board disapproves an investment management decision within such forty-five day period and provides to the Investment Committee within such forty-five day period a detailed written response outlining the reasons for such disapproval, then the Investment Committee shall have forty-five days after the receipt of the Board response to either (a) withdraw the recommended investment management decision, or (b) request, in writing, a conference with the Board to be held within ten days, but not less than five business days, of the request by the Investment Committee to discuss the disapproval by the Board described in the written response. Any such conference shall be conducted with at least three independent Investment Committee members present in person or by phone. Within ten days of the commencement of the conference or twenty days following the Investment Committee's request for a conference if no conference is held, the Investment Committee shall either withdraw the recommended investment management decision or provide the Board with a written explanation of the Investment Committee's decision to proceed with the recommended Investment Management After delivery of such written explanation by the Investment Committee, the decision. Investment Committee and the chief investment officer are authorized to implement the decision. Any action taken by the Board or the Investment Committee in violation of the terms of this Article 15 shall constitute an *ultra vires* act and the Investment Committee or the Board is

granted the express right to seek to preliminarily enjoin such violation without the need to show irreparable harm.

# Sec. 15.2. Investment Management

- (1) For purposes of this Combined Plan, "investment management decisions" and "investment management matters" shall include:
  - (a) development of an investment policy statement with sound and consistent investment goals, objectives, and performance measurement standards which are consistent with the needs of the Retirement System;
  - (b) within 120 days after the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, placement of all of the assets of the Retirement System not already under qualified management with qualified investment managers selected by the Investment Committee;
  - (c) evaluation, retention, termination and selection of qualified managers to invest and manage the Retirement System's assets;
  - (d) review and affirmation or rejection of the correctness of any and all calculations, actuarial assumptions and/or assessments used by the Actuary including, but not limited to (i) those underlying the restoration of pension benefits, funding levels and amortization thereof, all in accordance with the pension restoration program attached to the Plan of Adjustment (as more fully described in Article G of Component II of this Combined Plan Document), (ii) those underlying the determination of annual funding levels and amortization thereof, and (iii) on or after Fiscal Year 2024, the recommended annual contributions to the Retirement System in accordance with applicable law;
  - (e) in accordance with approved actuarial work as provided in paragraph (d) above and based on the annual actuarial valuation reports and any other projections or reports as applicable from the Actuary or other professional advisors, the determination of the extent of restoration of pension benefits, including but not limited to the payment of all or a portion of the reduced base monthly pension amounts and the payment of all or a portion of lost COLA payments, all in conformance with the pension restoration program attached to the Plan of Adjustment;
  - (f) communication of the Retirement System's investment goals, objectives, and standards to the investment managers, including any material changes that may subsequently occur;
  - (g) determination and approval of the Retirement System's investment and asset allocation guidelines, taking into account the appropriate liquidity needs of the Retirement System;
  - (h) the taking of corrective action deemed prudent and appropriate when an investment manager fails to perform as expected;

- (i) interpretation of Retirement System governing documents, existing law, the Plan of Adjustment and other financial information that could affect funding or benefit levels;
- (j) review and approval, prior to final issuance, of the annual audit and all financial reports prepared on behalf of the Retirement System and meet and confer with the Auditor or other professional advisors, as necessary, prior to approval of the annual audit or other financial reports;
- (k) determination of the funding status of the Retirement System and any remedial action to be taken pursuant to Section 9.5; and
- (1) performance of an asset/liability valuation study for the Retirement System every three years, or more often as requested by the Investment Committee or the Board.

All actions of the Investment Committee shall comply with the provisions of pertinent federal, state, and local laws and regulations, specifically *Act No. 314 of the Public Acts of 1965*, *being Sections 38.1132 et seq.* of the *Michigan Compiled Laws*, as amended, and the Retirement System's investment guidelines.

# Sec. 15.3. Best Practices

Prior to adopting investment guidelines and asset allocation policies, selecting investment managers or adopting investment return assumptions, the Investment Committee shall have an understanding of and shall give appropriate consideration to the following:

- (a) the fiduciary best practices and institutional standards for the investment of public employee retirement system plan assets;
- (b) the objective to obtain investment returns above the established actuarial investment return assumption to support the restoration of benefits under the pension restoration program described in the Plan of Adjustment and Component II of this Combined Plan Document, to the extent that it is prudent and consistent with the overall funding, liquidity needs and actuarial assumptions governing the Retirement System; and
- (c) the liquidity needs of the Retirement System.

# Sec. 15.4. Chief Investment Officer

The Investment Committee shall have the exclusive power to select, retain and terminate the services of a chief investment officer for the Retirement System. The Investment Committee shall determine any and all compensation and other terms of employment of any chief investment officer hired by it. The chief investment officer shall report directly to the Investment Committee and the executive director of the Board. The chief investment officer shall be responsible for assisting the Investment Committee and the Board with respect to oversight of the Retirement System's investment portfolio. The chief investment officer shall

provide such periodic reports relating to the Retirement System's assets to the Investment Committee and the Board as it or they shall request.

# Sec. 15.5. Investment Consultants

The Board and/or Investment Committee may retain the services of one or more investment consultants who shall be responsible for assisting the Board and the Investment Committee with oversight of the Retirement System's investment portfolio. Any such investment consultant shall be a registered advisor with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and shall be a nationally recognized institutional investment consultant with expertise in the investment of public pension plan assets. Any such investment consultant shall acknowledge in writing its role as investment fiduciary with respect to the Retirement System as defined in the *Public Employee Retirement System Investment Act, as amended, MCL 38.1132 et seq.* The Board or the Investment Committee, as appropriate, shall determine the compensation and other terms of employment of any investment consultant hired by it. The duties of an investment consultant may include, but shall not be limited to:

- (a) providing an asset/liability valuation study for the Retirement System;
- (b) reviewing the Retirement System's asset allocation based on current market assumptions;
- (c) identifying and recommending to the Investment Committee and the Board appropriate investment strategies based on the financial condition of the Retirement System;
- (d) implementing the approved investment strategies, such as recommending to the Investment Committee, for Board approval, an asset allocation strategy, building an investment structure for the Retirement System, and identifying qualified investment managers (through an organized search process) to execute and implement investment strategies;
- (e) monitoring and evaluating the ongoing progress of the investment managers toward stated investment goals and objectives;
- (f) recommending to the Investment Committee and the Board any necessary corrective actions, including adjustments to the investment structure or investment management organizations, in the event of a deviation from expectations;
- (g) communicating the investment policies of the Retirement System to the investment managers;
- (h) reviewing the investment policies with the appropriate employees of the Retirement System;
- (i) aiding the Investment Committee in providing recommendations on issues relating to rebalancing and cash flow management, securities lending, transition management, cash equalization and other investment related topics;

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 64 of 71

- (j) attending Investment Committee and Board meetings in person, or telephonically, as needed or as requested;
- (k) meeting with the Investment Committee and the Board to provide detailed quarterly performance reports and executive summaries of performance;
- (1) meeting with the Investment Committee and the Board to review capital markets and inform the Board and Retirement System employees on the current investment environment; and
- (m) meeting with the Investment Committee and the Board to provide recommendations on asset allocation, investment structure, and manager selections.

#### **ARTICLE 16. RETIREE MEDICAL ACCOUNT**

#### Sec. 16.1. Establishment of Account

A Medical Benefits Account shall be established and maintained under the Retirement System out of which the Board shall pay the cost, which would otherwise be borne by the Employers, for certain medical and related benefits provided under the plans or programs maintained by the Employers to provide Medical Benefits (the "Medical Plans") for the benefit of the Medical Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Article 16 are intended to comply with Section 401(h) of the Code and shall be construed to comply therewith.

# Sec. 16.2. Effective Date of Retiree Medical Account

Medical Benefits may be paid from the Medical Benefits Account beginning October 19, 2014, or such other date recommended by an enrolled actuary (within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(35) of the Code) and approved by the Board and Investment Committee.

#### Sec. 16.3. Funding of Benefits

Subject to the Plan of Adjustment and the right reserved to the City to amend or terminate the provision of Medical Benefits under its general power to amend the Combined Plan Document under Section 17.5, the City expects and intends to make actuarially determined contributions under the Retirement System from time to time to fund the Medical Benefits Account. The assets of the Medical Benefits Account may be invested together with the other assets of the Retirement System, in which case earnings of the Retirement System shall be allocated to the Medical Benefits Account on a reasonable basis, or such assets may be invested separately. In any event, no part of the Retirement System, other than the assets of the Medical Benefits Account, shall be available to pay for any part of the cost of Medical Benefits.

The amount determined by the City to be contributed for any Plan Year by the Employers pursuant to the paragraph above shall be reasonable and ascertainable and shall not exceed the total cost for such Plan Year of providing Medical Benefits to the Medical Beneficiaries, determined in accordance with generally accepted actuarial methods and assumptions that are reasonable in view of the provisions and coverage of the medical and other welfare plans providing such benefits, the funding medium and any other applicable considerations. At the time any Employer makes a contribution to the Trustee, the Employer shall designate the portion thereof that is allocable to the Medical Benefits Account.

#### Sec. 16.4. Limitation on Contributions

At all times the aggregate of the contributions made by the Employers to provide Medical Benefits shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the sum of the aggregate contributions made by the Employers to the Plan under Sections 9.3, 9.4 and 9.5 other than the contributions to fund past service credits, plus the aggregate contributions to the Medical Benefits Account. In the event that a contribution under Section 16.3 shall exceed the amount described in the preceding sentence, such contribution shall be reduced by the excess amount.

#### Sec. 16.5. Impossibility of Diversion

In no event, prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities to provide Medical Benefits, shall the Medical Benefits Account be used for, or diverted to, any purpose other than the payment of such benefits and any necessary or appropriate expenses of administration associated therewith. Any amounts credited to the Medical Benefits Account following the satisfaction of all such liabilities shall be returned to the Employers.

# Sec. 16.6. Administration

The Medical Plans shall continue to be administered, and claims processed, under their respective terms. The interpretation and administration of the terms of this Article 16 shall be as provided in the Combined Plan Document.

#### Sec. 16.7. Right to Amend or Terminate Medical Plans

The Employers expressly reserve the exclusive right, retroactively to the extent permitted by law, to amend, modify, change, terminate or revoke any medical or other welfare plan or policy maintained by any such Employer that provides medical or other welfare benefits, including but not limited to Medical Benefits, and to require Members, former Members, their eligible Spouses and dependents to pay all or any portion of the cost of such medical benefits.

# Sec. 16.8. Reversion

At no time prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities under the Retirement System to provide Medical Benefits, shall any part of the Medical Benefits Account be used for any purpose other than providing Medical Benefits, and any necessary or appropriate expenses attributable to the administration of the Medical Benefits Account. If any residual assets remain in the Medical Benefits Account after the satisfaction of all obligations of the Employers to provide Medical Benefits to the Medical Beneficiaries, such assets shall be returned to the Employers. In the event a Medical Beneficiary's interest in the Medical Benefits Account is forfeited prior to the termination of the Retirement System, an amount equal to such forfeiture shall be applied as soon as possible to reduce the Employers' contributions to the Medical Benefits Account.

#### Sec. 16.9. Limitation of Rights

A Medical Beneficiary shall have no right, title or claim in any specific asset of the Medical Benefits Account, but shall have the right only to the Medical Benefits provided from time to time under the Medical Benefits Account.

#### **ARTICLE 17. MISCELLANEOUS**

#### Sec. 17.1. Nonduplication of Benefits

If any Member is a participant in another defined benefit pension plan, retirement system or annuity plan sponsored by an Employer (including Component II of this Retirement System) and the Member is or becomes entitled to accrue pension benefits under such plan or retirement system (including Component II of this Retirement System) with respect to any period of service for which he is entitled to accrue a benefit under Component I of this Retirement System, such Member shall not be eligible to accrue or receive payment of a benefit under Component I with respect to such period of service.

#### Sec. 17.2. Assignments Prohibited

The right of a person to a pension, annuity, the return of Accumulated Voluntary Employee Contributions and/or the return of Accumulated Mandatory Employee Contributions, the Retirement Allowance itself, to any optional form of payment, to any other right accrued or accruing to any person under the provisions of this Retirement System, and the monies in the various funds of the Retirement System shall not be assignable and shall not be subject to execution, garnishment, attachment, the operation of bankruptcy or insolvency law, or any other process of law whatsoever, except as specifically provided in this Combined Plan Document or by an eligible domestic relations order of a lawful court.

#### Sec. 17.3. Protection Against Fraud

A person who, with intent to deceive, makes any statements or reports required under this Retirement System that are untrue, or who falsifies or permits to be falsified any record or records of this Retirement System, or who otherwise violates, with intent to deceive, any terms or provisions of the Retirement System, shall be subject to prosecution under applicable law.

#### Sec. 17.4. Errors

If any change or error in the records results in any person receiving from the Retirement System more or less than the person would have been entitled to receive from the Retirement System had the records been correct, the Board shall correct such error and, as far as practicable, shall adjust the payment in such a manner that the actuarial equivalent of the benefit to which such person was correctly entitled shall be paid.

#### Sec. 17.5. Amendment; Termination; Exclusive Benefit

The City reserves the right to amend the Combined Plan Document created hereunder at any time; such amendments may include termination of the Retirement System; provided, however, that following the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, no amendment other than amendments permitted under the terms of the Plan of Adjustment (including amendments contemplated in Section G-4(5) of Component II) may be made to the terms, conditions and rules of operation of the Retirement System, or any successor plan or trust, that govern the calculation of pension benefits during the period ending June 30, 2023, nor may any amendment or termination deprive any Member, former Member or Beneficiary of any then vested benefit

under the Retirement System, except as provided in the Plan of Adjustment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City and the Board have the authority to amend the Combined Plan Document as necessary to retain the tax qualified status of the Retirement System under the Internal Revenue Code. The City shall make no amendment or amendments to the Retirement System which causes any part of the assets of the Retirement System to be used for, or diverted to, any purpose other than the exclusive benefit of Members, former Members or their Beneficiaries; provided, that the City may make any amendment necessary, with or without retroactive effect, to comply with applicable federal law. Any amendment of the Retirement System by the City must be approved by the Council or person standing in the stead of the Council.

Upon termination of the Retirement System or upon complete discontinuance of contributions to the Retirement System, the rights of all Members to benefits accrued to the date of such termination or discontinuance, to the extent then funded, shall be nonforfeitable.

# Sec. 17.6. Expenses of Administration; Forfeitures Not to Increase Benefits

All expenses relating to administration of Component I of the Retirement System shall be paid from the assets maintained under this Component I and all expenses relating to administration of Component II of the Retirement System shall be paid from the assets maintained under Component II. Any forfeitures arising under the Retirement System due to a Member's termination of employment or death, or for any other reason, shall be used to pay expenses of the appropriate Component of the Retirement System and shall not be applied to increase the benefits any Member would otherwise receive under the Retirement System at any time prior to termination of the Retirement System.

# Sec. 17.7. Required Distributions - Compliance with Code Section 401(a)(9) and Regulations

The Retirement System will apply the minimum distribution requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) in accordance with the final regulations issued thereunder, notwithstanding any provision in the Combined Plan Document to the contrary. Pursuant to Code Section 401(a)(9)(A)(ii), a Member's interest must begin to be distributed by the later of (i) the April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which he attains the Age of seventy and one-half (70-1/2), or (ii) April 1 of the calendar year following the year in which he retires. Distributions will be made in accordance with Regulations Sections 1.401(a)(9)-2 through 1.401(a)(9)-9. The provisions of this Section 17.7 and the regulations cited herein and incorporated by reference override any inconsistent plan distribution options.

# Sec. 17.8. Direct Rollovers

- (1) For purposes of compliance with Code Section 401(a)(31), a distribute may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Board, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distribute in a direct rollover.
- (2) For purposes of this Section 17.8, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

# - 60 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 69 of 71

- (a) "Direct rollover" means a payment by the retirement system to an eligible retirement plan specified by a distributee.
- (b) "Distributee" means a Member or former Member. It also includes the Member's or former Member's surviving Spouse, a Spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under an eligible domestic relations order, or a nonspouse beneficiary who is a designated beneficiary as defined by Code Section 401(a)(9)(E). However, a nonspouse beneficiary may only make a direct rollover to an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity established for the purpose of receiving the distribution, and the account or annuity will be treated as an "inherited" individual retirement account or annuity.
- (c) "Eligible retirement plan" means any of the following that accepts a distributee's eligible rollover distribution:
  - (i) a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a);
  - (ii) an annuity plan described in Code Section 403(a);
  - (iii) an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b);
  - (iv) an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a);
  - (v) an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b);
  - (vi) a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A; or
  - (vii) a plan eligible under Code Section 457(b) that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or a political subdivision of a state that agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into that plan from the Retirement System.
- (d) "Eligible rollover distribution" means any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of a distribute under the Retirement System, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or the life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code Section 401(a)(9); the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income; and any other distribution which the Internal Revenue Service does not consider eligible for rollover treatment, such as any distribution that is reasonably expected to total less than \$200 during the year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a portion of a distribution will not fail to be an "eligible rollover distribution" merely because the portion consists of after-tax contributions that are not includible in Member's gross income upon distribution from the Retirement System. However, such portion may be transferred only (i) to an individual retirement account or annuity

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-3 Filed 02/14725 - Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 70 of 71

described in Code Section 408(a) or (b) or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Code Section 401(a) that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred (and earnings thereon), including separately accounting for the portion of the distribution that is includible in gross income and the portion of the distribution that is not so includible; (ii) to a qualified defined benefit plan described in Code Section 401(a) or to an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b) that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred (and earnings thereon), including separately accounting for the portion of the distribution that is includible in gross income and the portion of the distribution that is not so includible; or (iii) to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A.

#### Sec. 17.9. Construction

Words in the singular should be read and construed as though used in the plural, and words in the plural should be read and construed as though used in the singular, where appropriate. The words "hereof", "herein", and "hereunder" and other similar compounds of the word "here", shall mean and refer to Component I and/or Component II of this Combined Plan Document or to the Combined Plan Document in its entirety, as the context may require, and not to any particular provision or section thereof. The table of contents, article and section headings are included for convenience of reference, and are not intended to add to, or subtract from, the terms of the Combined Plan Document or the Retirement System created hereunder.

#### Sec. 17.10. Severability

If any section or part of a section of this Combined Plan Document or provision relating to the Retirement System is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such holding shall not be construed as affecting the validity of the remaining sections of the Combined Plan Document or Retirement System or of the Combined Plan Document or Retirement System in its entirety.

# EXHIBIT 6F

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 1 of 58

43248841.6/022765.00213

# **COMPONENT II**

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 2 of 58

# **ARTICLE A. COMMON PROVISIONS OF THE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM**

#### Sec. A-1. Common Provisions

Certain provisions of the Combined Plan for the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan described below are common to both Component I and this Component II as in effect July 1, 2014. Those provisions are set forth in the following Articles and Sections of Component I:

- (a) Article I (General Provisions);
- (b) Article II (Definitions):

Actuarial Equivalent or Actuarially Equivalent

Actuarially Equivalent Value

Administrative Rules and Regulations

Age; Attainment of

Board of Trustees or Board or Retirement Board

City

City Council or Council

**Combined Plan** 

Component I

Component II

Employer

**Fiscal Year** 

General Retirement System or Retirement System

Internal Revenue Code or Code

Investment Committee

Member

Notice to Members, Beneficiaries and Retirees;

Plan Actuary or Actuary;

	Plan Document or Combined Plan Document;
	Plan of Adjustment;
	Plan Year;
	Spouse; and
	Straight Life Retirement Allowance;
(c)	Article 12 (Limitation on Benefits and Contributions);
(d)	Article 13 (Retirement System Administration);
(e)	Article 14 (Management of Funds);
(f)	Article 15 (Investment of Retirement System Assets); and
(g)	Article 17 (Miscellaneous).

# **ARTICLE B. FREEZE OF GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM AS OF JUNE 30, 2014**

#### Sec. B-1. Freeze of Eligibility and Benefits Under General Retirement System

Notwithstanding anything in Articles I, II, III, or IV of Chapter 47 of the 1984 Detroit City Code or this Combined Plan for the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan to the contrary, effective as of June 30, 2014 (the "Freeze Date"):

- (a) No new employee hired by an Employer on or after July 1, 2014 shall become a Member who is eligible to accrue a benefit under the terms of the General Retirement System in effect as of the Freeze Date;
- (b) No employee who is rehired by an Employer on or after July 1, 2014 shall become a Member who is eligible to accrue either a benefit or service credit for any purpose under the terms of the General Retirement System in effect as of the Freeze Date; provided, however, that a Member who is entitled to a Frozen Accrued Benefit as defined in subsection (c) of this Section B-1 and who is rehired by an Employer on or after July 1, 2014 but prior to the date the Member incurs a six-year break in service shall be eligible to accrue service credit following rehire solely for the purpose of determining the Member's vesting in and eligibility for payment of his Frozen Accrued Benefit;
- (c) Benefit accruals for Members with respect to service rendered prior to July 1, 2014 will be frozen based on a Member's years of service, Average Final Compensation, and the pension multiplier formulae in effect as of such Freeze Date under the terms of the General Retirement System ("Frozen Accrued Benefit");
- (d) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (e) of this Section B-1, compensation of a Member shall be frozen effective as of the Freeze Date for purposes of determining the Member's Frozen Accrued Benefit. No compensation of any type earned by a Member after the Freeze Date shall be taken into consideration for purposes of determining the Member's Frozen Accrued Benefit under the General Retirement System;
- (e) Any Member who, as of June 30, 2014, would have been eligible to elect to use a portion of his unused accrued sick leave to increase his Average Final Compensation ("Sick Leave Rollover") if the Member had been eligible to retire and had elected to retire as of June 30, 2014, shall have a one-time election ("Special Election") to add the value of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Member's unused sick leave accrued for purposes of the Sick Leave Rollover in accordance with the terms of the applicable collective bargaining agreement, City Employment Terms or Detroit Code of Ordinance to the earnings used in computing Average Final Compensation for purposes of determining the Member's Frozen Accrued Benefit; provided, however, that at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the Member's sick leave accrued for purposes of the Sick Leave Rollover in accordance with the terms of the applicable collective bargaining agreement, City Employment Terms or Detroit Code of Ordinance remains in the Member's sick leave bank at the time the completed Special Election form is received by the Retirement System and, provided further that the completed Special Election form is received by the Retirement System no later than August 22, 2014 or, if later, the date set forth in a collective bargaining

agreement between the City and a union whose members are eligible to make a Special Election. A Member's Special Election shall be made in the manner set forth by the Board of Trustees and the Retirement System. A Member may revoke a Special Election, as long as such revocation occurs on or before the latest date upon which such Member is permitted to make a Special Election. Notwithstanding anything in this subsection (e) to the contrary, a Member's Special Election will be void and the determination of the Member's Average Final Compensation for purposes of calculating the Member's Frozen Accrued Benefit will not take into account any of the Member's unused sick leave, if (i) the electing Member would not have been eligible to receive an immediate service retirement if he retired as of June 30, 2014, and (ii) the electing Member's employment with an Employer is terminated before the electing Member becomes eligible for an immediate service retirement under the Retirement System. In any such case, the value of the sick leave subject to the Sick Leave Rollover shall be restored to such Member;

- (f) Service earned after the Freeze Date shall be credited to a Member solely for purposes of determining the Member's vesting in and eligibility for payment of his or her Frozen Accrued Benefit. Service credit for all Members for benefit accrual purposes under the terms of the General Retirement System in effect as of the Freeze Date shall be frozen effective as of the Freeze Date and no Member shall earn service credit with respect to benefits payable under the terms of the General Retirement System in effect as of the Freeze Date (except for vesting and benefit payment eligibility purposes) after the Freeze Date; and
- (g) No Member shall make contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund under the General Retirement System in effect as of June 30, 2014 with respect to wages earned on or after the earliest date following June 30, 2014 that the City's payroll department can implement the freeze. All after tax contributions made on or after the date referenced in the preceding sentence shall be made to and in accordance with the terms of Component I of the Combined Plan.

The foregoing terms shall be referred to as the "Freeze" of the provisions of the General Retirement System as in effect on the Freeze Date and the provisions of Articles I, II, III, or IV of Chapter 47 of the 1984 Detroit City Code and this Component II of the Combined Plan shall be interpreted and construed by the Board of Trustees and the Retirement System to give full effect to the Freeze. To the extent that a conflict arises between this Section B-1, the provisions in Chapter 47, or any collective bargaining agreement or other document governing the terms of employment of any employee, the Board of Trustees and the Retirement System are directed to interpret any inconsistency or ambiguity to give full effect to the Freeze.

# **ARTICLE C. DEFINITIONS**

# Sec. C-1. Definitions

Unless a different meaning is plainly required by context, for purposes of this Component II the following words and phrases have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this Section C-1:

- (1) Accrued Service means a Member's credited service for employment with the Employer rendered before July 1, 2014.
- (2) Accumulated Contributions means the sum of all amounts deducted from the compensation of a Member and credited to the Member's individual account in the Annuity Savings Fund, together with regular interest thereon.
- (3) Annuity means the portion of the retirement allowance which is paid for by a Member's accumulated contributions.
- (4) Annuity Reserve means the present value of all payments to be made on account of any annuity or benefit in lieu of any annuity. Such annuity reserve shall be computed upon the basis of such mortality tables and regular interest as shall be adopted by the Board.
- (5) Average Final Compensation means:
  - a. On or before June 30, 1992. For those Members who retired or separated from active service with vested pension rights on or before June 30, 1992, the highest average compensation received by a Member during any period of five consecutive years of credited service selected by the Member from the ten years of credited service which immediately preceded the date of the Member's last termination of employment with the Employer. If a Member has less than five years of credited service, the Average Final Compensation shall be the average of the annual compensation received during the Member's total years of credited service.
  - b. On or after July 1, 1992 but before July 1, 1998. For those Members who retired or separated from active service with vested pension rights on or after July 1, 1992 but before July 1, 1998, the highest average compensation received by a Member during any period of four consecutive years of credited service during the ten years of credited service which immediately preceded the date of the Member's last termination of employment with the Employer. If a Member has less than four years of credited service, the Average Final Compensation shall be the average of the annual compensation received during the Member's total years of credited service.

- c. On or after July 1, 1998. For those Members who retire or separate from active service with vested pension rights on or after July 1, 1998, the highest average compensation received by a Member during any period of three consecutive years of credited service during ten years of credited service which immediately precede the earlier of (i) the date of the Member's last termination of employment with the Employer and (ii) June 30, 2014. If a Member has less than three years of credited service, the Average Final Compensation shall be the average of the annual compensation received during the Member's total years of credited service ending on or before June 30, 2014.
- d. Sick Leave Election. Subject to Section B-1, for those nonunion Members with a regular or early service retirement who retire on or after July 1, 1999, in computing the highest average compensation received by a Member, the Member shall have the option of adding the value of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Member's unused accrued sick leave at the time of retirement to the earnings used in computing the Average Final Compensation. Subject to Section B-1, bargaining unit members who retire on or after July 1, 1999 shall have the Unused Sick Leave On Retirement benefit provided for in the applicable bargaining agreement. For any Member choosing to exercise this option, the lump sum payment the Member will receive will be the remaining value of the unused accrued sick leave bank as provided in the bargaining agreement.
- (6) *Beneficiary* means any person or persons (designated by a Member pursuant to procedures established by the Board) who are entitled to receive a retirement allowance or pension payable from funds of the General Retirement System due to the participation of a Member.
- (7) *Compensation* means:
  - a. On or before June 30, 1992. For those Members retired or separated from active service with vested pension rights on or before June 30, 1992, all remuneration, excluding longevity payments, paid to a Member because of personal services rendered by the Member to the Employer. Compensation in excess of the limitations set forth in Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code shall be disregarded.
  - b. On or after July 1, 1992. Subject to Section B-1, for those Members who retire on or after July 1, 1992, all remuneration, including longevity payments, paid to a Member because of personal services rendered by the Member to the Employer. Compensation in excess of the limitations set forth in Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code shall be disregarded.
- (8) *Conversion* means that date on which a Member's benefits change from disability retirement benefits to normal retirement benefits.

- (9) *Credited Service* means membership service credited to a Member to the extent provided in this Component II.
- (10) *Final Compensation* means a Member's annual rate of compensation at the earlier of (i) the time employment with all Employers is last terminated and (ii) June 30, 2014.
- (11) *Pension* means, for purposes of this Component II, the portion of a retirement allowance which is paid for by contributions made by the Employers into the appropriate funds and any contributions made to such funds by another entity.
- (12) *Pension Reserve* means the present value of all payments to be made on account of any pension, or benefit in lieu of any pension. Such pension reserve shall be computed upon the basis of such mortality and other tables of experience, and regular interest, as shall be adopted by the Board.
- (13) *Regular Interest* means such rate or rates per annum, compounded annually, as the Board of Trustees shall determine in accordance with the limitations contained in Section E-16 of this Component II.
- (14) *Retiree* means a former Member who is receiving a retirement allowance from Component II of the Retirement System.
- (15) *Retirement* means a Member's withdrawal from the employ of the Employers with a retirement allowance or pension paid by Component II of the Retirement System.
- (16) *Retirement Allowance* means the sum of the annuity and the pension.
- (17) Service means personal services rendered to the Employer by a person as an employee of the Employer, provided such person is compensated by the Employer for such personal services.
- (18) Service credit for purposes of the Frozen 1973 Defined Benefit/Defined Contribution (Annuity) Plan means that, in accordance with such rules and regulations as the Board shall adopt, each Member shall be credited with service credit as follows: (1) One month of service credit is earned when the Member is paid for eighty hours of work during the month; (2) A full year of credit is earned for nine months of credit in any calendar year, except the Member's last year of work, which service credit shall be determined as of the Member's last day on the Employer's payroll. Less than nine months of service rendered in a calendar year shall not be credited as a full year of service, nor shall more than one year of service be credit to any Member for service rendered in any one calendar year. Service credit is used to determine eligibility for service retirement, vesting, nonduty disability and survivor benefits. Service credit is also earned by a Member while retired on a duty disability or while receiving Workers' Compensation benefits.

2023 UAAL Amortization	Section G-4(3)a
Accrued Liability Fund	Section E-18(d)
Actual Return	Section G-2(5)
Actual Return Adjusted Accrued Benefit	Section G-1(1)a
Adjusted Deferred Accrued Benefit	
	Section G-1(1)b
Annuity Reserve Fund	Section E-18(b)
Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount	Section G-2(1)
Annuity Savings Fund of the Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan	Section E-18(a)
ASF	Section G-2
ASF account	Section G-2(1)
ASF Recalculation Period	Section G-2
ASF Recoupment	Section G-2
ASF Return Excess	Section E-16(c)
Authority	Section G-3(1)
Cash Option Cap	Section G-2(4)
Cash Repayment Option	Section G-2(4)
Certificate of Default	Section G-3(7)
COLA	Section G-4
Determination Date	Section E-18(d)
Eligible Pensioner	Section G-3(5)
Estimated Adjusted Annual Household Income	Section G-3(3)b
Excess Assets	Section G-3(7)
Expense Fund	Section E-18(f)
Extra Contribution Account	Section G-4(3)b
Federal Poverty Level	Section G-3(6)
Final Payment Notice	Section G-2(4)
Freeze	Section B-1
Freeze Date	Section B-1
Frozen Accrued Benefit	Section B-1(c)
Funded Level	Section G-4(2)a
Funding Conditions	Section G-1(1)a
Funding Proceeds	Section E-18(d)
Funding Target	Sections G-4(2)a, G-4(3)a,
	Section G-4(4)a
Governor	Section G-4(5)
IME	Section E-5(a)
Income Fund	Section E-18(g)
Income Stabilization Benefit	Section G-3(2)
Income Stabilization Benefit Plus	Section G-3(3)
Income Stabilization Fund	Section G-3(4)
Monthly Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount	Section G-2(2)

The following terms shall have the meanings given to them in the Sections of this Component II set forth opposite such term:

Optional Forms	Section E-8(a)
Option "A". Joint and Seventy-Five Percent	Section E-8(a)
Survivor Allowance	
Option "B". Joint and Twenty-Five Percent	Section E-8(a)
Survivor Allowance	
Option One. Modified Cash Refund Annuity	Section E-8(a)
Option Three. Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor	Section E-8(a)
Allowance	
Option Two. Joint and One Hundred Percent	Section E-8(a)
Survivor Allowance	
Participant Loan Program	Section F-1
Pension Accumulation Fund	Section E-18(c)
Pension Funding Transaction	Section E-18(d)
Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)	Sections E-15, G-1(2)
Pension Reserve Fund	Section E-18(e)
Pension Restoration Agreement	Section G-4
Permanent Restoration Target	Section G-4(3)a, G-4(4)a
Pop-up Form	Section E-8(b)(2)
Restoration Reserve Account	Section G-4(2)a
Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger	Sections G-4(2)g, G-4(3)a, G-
	4(4)a
Restoration Target	Sections G-4(2)a, G-4(3)a, G-
	4(4)a
Sick Leave Rollover	Section B-1(e)
Special Election	Section B-1(e)
Standard Form	Section E-8(b)(1)
State Treasurer	Section G-3(1)
Straight Life Retirement Allowance	Section E-8(a)
Transition Cost	Section E-16(c)
UAAL	Sections E-18(d), G-4
Waterfall Classes	Section G-4(1)

# **ARTICLE D. SERVICE CREDIT**

#### Sec. D-1. Service Credit

The Board shall keep an accurate record of each employee's accumulated service credit from the date of commencement of employment with the Employers.

# Sec. D-2. Service Credit; Former Employees of the Founder's Society—Detroit Institute of Arts

Pursuant to Section 6-519 of the 1974 Detroit City Charter, and for the sole purpose of computing service credit to determine eligibility for a retirement allowance from the General Retirement System, a person who was inducted into the classified service of the City during the calendar year 1984 as a result of the transfer of certain functions at the Detroit Institute of Arts from The Founder's Society/Detroit Institute of Arts to the City, shall be credited with service credit equivalent to continuous time worked as a full time employee of the Founder's Society/Detroit Institute of Arts retroactive to January 1, 1984. Such Founder's Society/Detroit Institute of Arts service credit shall have no effect upon the amount of retirement benefits paid by the General Retirement System. Such Founder's Society/Detroit Institute of Arts service credit earned as a City employee only for purposes of meeting service credit eligibility requirements under the General Retirement System. The Board of Trustees of the General Retirement System shall make all determinations of crediting of such Founder's Society/Detroit Institute of Arts service credit nature of Arts service credit in accordance with the provisions of this Component II of the Combined Plan.

# Sec. D-3. Service Credit; Transfer to Other Governmental Service

Subject to Section B-1, a Member transferred from the City payroll by his or her department head to the payroll of any City, county, state, or federal government to serve the interests of the City during peace time shall continue to be a Member of the Retirement System for purposes of service credit in accordance with the ordinance or resolution passed to implement such transfer.

#### Sec. D-4. Service Credit; Military Service

An Employee of the Employer who enters the military service of the United States while so employed shall have such service credited as City service for purposes of this Component II in the same manner as if the employee had served the employer without interruption, provided that (1) the employee's entry into such service and re-employment thereafter shall be in accordance with applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations of the State of Michigan and the City, and (2) he or she is re-employed by the Employer upon completion of such service. During the period of service and until return to City employment, his or her contributions to the Retirement System shall be suspended and the fund balance shall be accumulated at regular interest.

# Sec. D-5. Service Credit; Qualified Military Service (Pre-Employment Service)

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Component II to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with respect to qualified military service, shall be provided in

accordance with Section 414(u) of the Internal Revenue Code. Up to three years of preemployment service credit may be purchased prior to June 30, 2014 for the following periods: service for a period of not less than ninety days between (1) the date of declaration of war by Congress and the recognized date of cessation of military hostilities; (2) the onset of World War II on December 8, 1941 to its conclusion on July 1, 1946; (3) the onset of the Korean Conflict on June 27, 1950 to its conclusion on December 31, 1953; (4) the onset of the Vietnam Conflict on February 28, 1961 to its conclusion on May 7, 1975, or (5) beginning on the date of the recognition of an emergency condition by the issuance of a presidential proclamation or a presidential executive order, during which emergency condition the Member received the Armed Forces Expeditionary or other Campaign Service Medal authorized by the Federal Government for the Expedition or Campaign. No service credit may be purchased under this Section D-5(a) after June 30, 2014; provided, however, that a Member who is in qualified military service which began prior to June 30, 2014 and ended on or after June 30, 2014 shall be provided a thirty day period following recommencement of his or her employment within which to purchase service credit through June 30, 2014 under this Section D-5(a).

- (b) The time purchased under paragraph (a) may be applied toward a Member's credited service and may be used in meeting the minimum time needed for an automatic Option Two or automatic Option Three pension.
- (c) This time shall not apply toward meeting the minimum service and Age requirements for vesting, for a non-duty disability pension, or for a service pension.

# ARTICLE E. DEFINED BENEFIT/DEFINED CONTRIBUTION (ANNUITY) PLAN OF THE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM

#### Sec. E-1. Membership

The membership of the General Retirement System 1973 Defined Benefit/Defined Contribution (Annuity) Plan – Component II of the Combined Plan - shall consist of all persons who are full time employees of the Employer except:

- (a) persons who are members of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Michigan, established under Title IX, Chapter VII of the 1918 Detroit City Charter and continued in the 1974, 1997 and 2012 Detroit City Charters and as continued in the form of the Combined Plan for the Police and Fire Retirement System for the City of Detroit, Michigan, effective July 1, 2014 and as thereafter amended;
- (b) persons who are hired or rehired by an Employer on or after July 1, 2014; and
- (c) persons who are active members of any other public employee pension or retirement plans adopted by the State of Michigan, other than the Michigan National Guard, or by any other political subdivision of the State of Michigan.

Special Service employees who worked more than fourteen hundred forty (1440) hours per Fiscal Year ending on or before June 30, 2014 will be eligible to participate in Component II of the Retirement System.

# Sec. E-2. Cessation of Membership; Re-Employment by the Employer

- (a) Any Member who retires under Section E-3(a), (b), or (c), or dies, shall have a non-forfeitable right to a benefit.
- (b) With respect to persons not on the active payroll prior to October 1, 2005, the following provisions of this subsection shall apply:
  - (1) Except as otherwise provided for in this Component II, if any non-vested Member leaves employment with the Employer for any reason other than retirement or death, such person shall thereupon cease to be a Member and his or her credited service at that time shall be forfeited. In the event of re-employment by the Employer prior to July 1, 2014, such person shall again become a Member of the Retirement System and shall accrue benefits pursuant to Component II of the Combined Plan. In the event of reemployment by the Employer on or after July 1, 2014, such person shall again become a Member of the Retirement System and shall accrue benefits pursuant to Component II of the Combined Plan. In the event of Component I of the Retirement System and shall accrue benefits pursuant to Component I of the Retirement System and shall accrue benefits pursuant to Component I of the Combined Plan. If reemployment occurs prior to July 1, 2014 and within a period of six (6) years from and after the date employment with the Employer last terminated, credited service last forfeited shall be restored to the employee's credit for purposes of accruing a benefit after re-employment.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 - Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 14 of

- (2) With respect to persons on the active payroll on or after October 1, 2005, reemployment prior to July 1, 2014 shall restore any previously forfeited service credit notwithstanding the time of re-employment.
- (c) Vested former employees rehired prior to receiving pension benefits and prior to July 1, 2014.
  - Former employees who are vested but have not yet begun to receive pension benefits who are rehired prior to July 1, 2014 and prior to being separated for six (6) years shall have their pensions calculated in accordance with the rules in effect at the earlier of (i) the time of their last termination of active service or retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014.
  - (2) Former employees who are vested but have not begun to receive pension benefits and are rehired after July 1, 1992 but prior to July 1, 2014 and after being separated for more than six (6) years who accumulate enough service credit to be eligible for a second pension shall be entitled to two (2) separate and distinct pensions, each to be calculated in accordance with the rules in effect at the earlier of (i) the time of each separation from service and (ii) June 30, 2014.
  - (3) Subject to Sections G-1(2) and G-4, an employee who becomes eligible to collect his or her previously vested pension while still working, shall not be eligible to receive his or her vested pension but will be entitled to have the pension improvement factor earned through June 30, 2014 added to the vested amount of the original pension for payment when the employee eventually retires. The basic pension amount of twelve dollars (\$12.00) per year for up to ten (10) years will only be included on the employee's original pension.
- (d) Vested former employees rehired prior to receiving pension benefits and on or after July 1, 2014.
  - (1) Former employees who are vested but have not yet begun to receive pension benefits who are rehired prior to being separated for six (6) years and on or after July 1, 2014 shall have their Component II pension calculated in accordance with the rules in effect on June 30, 2014 and their Component I pension calculated in accordance with the rules in effect at the time of their last termination of active service or retirement.
  - (2) Former employees who are vested but have not begun to receive pension benefits and who are rehired after July 1, 2014 after being separated for more than six (6) years who accumulate enough service credit to be eligible for a Component I pension shall be entitled to two (2) separate and distinct pensions under Component I and Component II. Their Component I pensions shall be calculated in accordance with the rules in effect at the time of separation from service and their Component II pensions shall be calculated in accordance with the rules in effect on June 30, 2014.

- 76 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 15 of 58

- (3) Subject to Sections G-1(2) and G-4, an employee who becomes eligible to collect his or her previously vested pension while still working, shall not be eligible to receive his or her vested pension but will be entitled to have the pension improvement factor earned through June 30, 2014 added to the vested amount of the original pension for payment when the employee eventually retires. The basic pension amount of twelve dollars (\$12.00) per year for up to ten (10) years will only be included on the employee's original pension.
- (e) Retirement benefits for retirees who return to active full time employment prior to July 1, 2014.
  - (1) Retirees who return to work will have their pension benefit amount suspended upon re-employment. However, retirees who have not withdrawn the amounts credited to their defined contribution account shall be entitled to continue to receive the monthly annuity from the 1973 Defined Contribution Plan. Subject to Sections G-1(2) and G-4, the pension improvement factor earned through June 30, 2014 shall continue to be added to the vested amount of the original pension but shall not be paid on the defined benefit amount until the employee again separates from service.
  - (2) Retirees who return to work prior to July 1, 2014 will be entitled to receive a second pension benefit in accordance with the rules in effect at the earlier of (1) their final separation, or (ii) June 30, 2014, with respect to service credit earned after the retiree returns to active employment. Previous service credit will be used to determine the retirement factors that will be credited to service time earned after return to active employment and used to calculate the new pension amount.
  - (3) Average Final Compensation will be based upon the amounts earned after the retiree returns to work through the earlier of (1) his or her final separation and (ii) June 30, 2014.
  - (4) Employees who retire under this Section E-2(e) for a second time will not be allowed to change the original option selection with respect to the original pension benefit. However, employees may make a separate option selection on their second pension benefit amount.
  - (5) The basic pension amount of twelve dollars (\$12.00) per year for up to ten (10) years will be included only on the employee's original pension.
  - (6) The coordination of benefits (equated Social Security) option will not be available on a second pension amount.
  - (7) If a retiree who returns to work and dies while working had an accumulated combined total service time of at least twenty years, the employee's Spouse will be eligible for automatic Option Two benefits, notwithstanding the option form of retirement originally elected.

- (8) If a retiree who returns to work and dies while working had an accumulated combined total service time of at least fifteen years but less than twenty years, the employee's Spouse will be eligible for automatic Option Three benefits, notwithstanding the option form of retirement originally elected.
- (9) If the employee returns to work and dies prior to accumulating a combined total of fifteen years of service credit, the original pension and benefit option chosen shall resume unless the employee had chosen the Straight Life Option which would result in no survivor pension benefits.
- (10) The Board of Trustees will determine all entitlements for re-employed individuals on a case by case basis consistent with this section and will resolve all issues based upon special circumstances or unique situations.

# Sec. E-3. Service Retirement

- (a) Retirement after thirty years of service. Any Member hired prior to January 1, 1996 who has accumulated at least thirty or more years of credited service regardless of Age, or any Member who was hired on or after January 1, 1996 who has accumulated at least thirty or more years of credited service and has attained Age fifty-five, may retire upon written application filed with the Board setting forth the date on which the Member desires to be retired. The date of retirement shall be effective on the first day following the Member's last day on the Employer's payroll. Upon retirement, the Member shall receive a retirement allowance as provided in Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan, subject to the provisions of Article G.
- (b) Retirement after twenty-five years of service. Any Member who is covered by the provisions of this Component II and who is a member of the International Union of Operating Engineers IUOE Local 324 (Principal Clerks), the International Brotherhood of Teamsters Teamster Local 214, the Police Officers Association of Michigan, or the Emergency Medical Service Officers Association, who on July 1, 1995, or later has twenty-five (25) or more years of credited service may retire upon his or her written application filed with the Board of Trustees setting forth the date on which the Member desires to be retired. The date of retirement shall be effective on the first day following the Member's last day on the Employer's payroll. Upon retirement the Member shall receive a Retirement Allowance as provided in Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan, subject to the provisions of Article G.
- (c) Retirement at Age sixty-five with eight years of service; at Age sixty with ten years of service.
  - (1) Sixty-five and eight. Any Member who has attained sixty-five years of Age and has at least eight years of credited service may retire upon written application filed with the Board setting forth an anticipated retirement date.
  - (2) Sixty and ten. Any Member who has attained sixty years of Age and has at least ten years of credited service may retire upon written application filed with the Board setting forth an anticipated retirement date.

-78 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 17 of 58 The date of retirement shall be effective on the first day following the Member's last day on the Employer's payroll. Upon retirement, the former Member shall receive the retirement allowance provided for in Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.

- (d) Conversion of Duty-Disability benefit to Retirement Allowance.
  - (1) Retirees who are members of the Emergency Medical Service Officers Association or the Police Officers Association of Michigan and who began receiving a duty disability pension after July 1, 1995 may choose to convert to a service retirement at the time they would have had twenty-five (25) years of service with the Employer.
- (e) Retirement after twenty-five years of service without attaining Age sixty years; reduced pension.
  - (1) Early retirement. Any Member of the Retirement System who is on the payroll of the Employer on or after July 1, 1992, and who has twenty-five years of credited service and has not attained sixty years of Age, shall have the option of early retirement by accepting a benefit equal to the Actuarial Equivalent of the deferred retirement allowance that would be payable to the Member at normal retirement date as provided in Sections E-3(a) through (d), assuming the Member terminated employment on the early retirement date, as determined by the Plan Actuary based upon factors, assumptions and methods adopted by the Board and approved by the Investment Committee, notwithstanding the Age of the Member who elects early retirement; provided however that any Member hired by an Employer on or after January 1, 1996 must have twenty-five years of credited service and have attained Age fifty-five to have such early retirement option. Said election shall be made within ninety days of separation from service with the Employer. Actuarial tables provided by the Plan Actuary shall always provide this actuarially reduced retirement allowance at no cost to the employee, provided the employee separates from service prior to July 1, 2014. The actuarially reduced retirement allowance payable to an employee who separates from service on and after July 1, 2014 shall be provided to the employee at no cost to the Employers.
  - (2) Fringe benefits. Employees utilizing the early retirement provision in Section E-3(e)(1) will not be entitled to the fringe benefits, if any, accruing to employees who qualify for a normal service retirement until such time as they would have qualified for a normal service retirement under Section E-3(a) or (b) of this Component II of the Combined Plan.
- (f) Vested retirement allowance; Age forty and eight years of service; ten years of service regardless of Age.
  - (1) Eligibility.
    - a. Any Member hired before July 1, 1980 who has reached forty years of Age and has acquired eight or more years of credited service shall be

-79 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 18 of 58 eligible to receive benefits provided by Section E-3(f)(2) of this Component II of the Combined Plan.

- b. Any Member hired on or after July 1, 1980 who has acquired ten years of credited service shall be eligible to receive the benefits provided by Section E-3(f)(2) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, regardless of Age.
- c. Any non-union Member hired on or after July 1, 1980 but before March 31, 1992 who has acquired ten years of credited service regardless of Age or has reached Age forty with eight or more years of credited service, whichever is earlier, shall be eligible to receive benefits provided by Section E-3(f)(2) of this Component II of the Combined Plan.
- (2) Benefits.
  - a. Any Member described in Section E-3(f)(1) of this Component II who left employment with the Employer on or before June 30, 1992 but prior to the date the Member would have first become eligible to retire as provided in Section E-3(a), (b) or (c) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, for any reason except discharge for reasons covered by the State Forfeiture Law, retirement or death, shall be entitled to a retirement allowance based upon one point five percent (1.5%) of Average Final Compensation for the first ten years of service and one point six three percent (1.63%) for service in excess of ten years. There shall be no change to the base pension upon which future increases are based.
  - b. Any Member described in Section E-3(f)(1) of this Component II of the Combined Plan who leaves employment with the Employer on or after July 1, 1992, but prior to the date the Member would have first become eligible to retire as provided in Section E-3(a), (b) or (c) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, for any reason except discharge for reasons covered by the State Forfeiture Law, retirement or death, shall be entitled to a retirement allowance computed according to Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.
- (3) Commencement of retirement allowance. The retirement allowance shall begin on the first day of the calendar month following the month in which a retirement application is filed with the Board, on or after that date on which the Member would have been eligible to retire with an unreduced service retirement under Section E-3(a) or (b) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, had employment with the Employer continued or on the date when Age sixty is reached, whichever is earlier. Unless otherwise provided in this Article, no service credit shall be earned for the period of absence from employment with the Employer and such person's beneficiary shall not be entitled to any other benefit afforded in this Article except those benefits afforded either in Section E-3 or in

- 80 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 19 of Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan, notwithstanding termination of membership.

(4) Withdrawal of accumulated contributions. Upon separation from employment with the Employer, Members who qualify for benefits pursuant to Section E-3(f)(1) of this Component II of the Combined Plan may withdraw their Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan accumulated contributions and all other funds standing to their credit in the Annuity Savings Fund at that time without affecting their benefits under Section E-3(f)(2) or E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.

In the event that any law, state or federal, is passed during the term of the collective bargaining agreement or City Employment Terms agreement which permits Employees to vest their pension prior to meeting the vesting requirements set forth in this Component II, any employee who vests his or her pension in such a manner shall not be eligible for any pension benefits until his or her sixty-second (62nd) birthday. This provision will not affect the current practice governing disabled employees.

### Sec. E-4. Service Retirement Allowance

Upon retirement, a Member who meets the qualifications set forth in section E-3(a), (b) or (c) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, shall receive a Straight Life Retirement Allowance, and shall have the right to elect to receive in lieu of the Straight Life Retirement Allowance, a reduced retirement allowance under an option provided for in E-8 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.

The Straight Life Retirement Allowance shall consist of:

- (a) An Annuity which shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the Member's accumulated contributions in the Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Annuity Savings Fund at the time of retirement; and
- (b) A Basic Pension of twelve dollars (\$12.00) per annum multiplied by the number of years, and fractions of years of credited service earned through June 30, 2014, not to exceed ten (10) years; and
- (c) A Membership Service Pension.
  - (1) For Members who retire on or before June 30, 1992, a membership service pension of one point five percent (1.5%) of Average Final Compensation for the first ten (10) years of service and one point six three percent (1.63%) for service in excess of ten (10) years.
  - (2) For Members who retire on or after July 1, 1992 but prior to July 1, 1998, a membership service pension of one point five percent (1.5%) of Average Final Compensation for each year of service for the first ten (10) years, plus one point seven percent (1.7%) of Average Final Compensation for each year of service in excess of ten (10) years up to twenty (20) years of service, plus one point nine

-81 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 20 of 58 percent (1.9%) of Average Final Compensation for each year of service in excess of twenty years. In no event shall benefits paid by the Retirement System exceed ninety percent (90%) of Average Final Compensation.

- (3) For Members who retire on or after July 1, 1998, a membership service pension for service rendered prior to July 1, 2012 of one point six percent (1.6%) of Average Final Compensation for each year of service for the first ten (10) years, plus one point eight percent (1.8%) of Average Final Compensation for each year of service in excess of ten (10) years, up to twenty (20) years of service, plus two percent (2%) of Average Final Compensation for each year of service in excess of twenty (20) years up to twenty-five (25) years, plus two point two percent (2.2%) of Average Final Compensation for each year of service in excess of twenty-five (25) years; plus, for service rendered after July 1 2012 and prior to July 1, 2014, one and one-half percent (1.5%) of Average Final Compensation for each year of service; plus twelve dollars (\$12) for each year of service not to exceed one hundred twenty dollars (\$120). Notwithstanding the foregoing, for members of the Michigan Council 25 of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO Local 2920 and the Detroit Senior Water Systems Chemists Association bargaining units, the effective date of the one and one-half percent multiplier was April 1, 2013 for all years of service rendered after that date and prior to July 1, 2014. In no case shall benefits paid by the Retirement System exceed ninety percent (90%) of Average Final Compensation.
- (d) With respect to regular service retirees under Section E-3(a) and (b) of this Component II of the Combined Plan only and excluding persons who receive vested benefits under Section E-3(c) and (d) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, in no case shall the total of the annual Straight Life Pension be less than three hundred sixty dollars (\$360.00) times each of the first ten (10) years of service at the earlier of (i) the date of retirement and (ii) June 30, 2014, plus one hundred twenty dollars (\$120.00) for each year of service in excess of ten (10) years as of such earlier date. Effective July 1, 2007, each year of service in excess of ten (10) years earned prior to July 1, 2014 shall be calculated using two hundred twenty-five dollars (\$225.00).
- (e) Subject to Sections G-1(2) and G-4, the recalculation of the pension benefit shall include previous pension improvement factors granted prior to July 1, 2014 but shall not include special increases granted by prior separate ordinances.
- (f) If a retiree dies before receipt of Straight Life Retirement allowance payments in an aggregate amount equal to, but not exceeding, the retiree's accumulated contributions in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of retirement, the difference between these accumulated contributions and the aggregate amount of Straight Life Retirement allowance payments received, shall be paid to such person or persons nominated by written designation duly executed by the retiree and filed with the Board. If there is no such designated person or persons surviving the retiree, such difference shall be paid to his or her estate. In no case shall any benefits be paid under this section because of the death of a retiree if the retiree had elected any of the Options provided for in Section E-8 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.

- 82 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 21 of 58

#### Sec. E-5. Disability Retirement

- (a) Duty Disability; Eligibility. Upon the application of a Member or the Member's department head, a Member who prior to July 1, 2014 becomes totally and permanently incapacitated for duty in the employ of the Employer shall be retired by the Board; provided, such incapacity is found by the Board to be the natural and proximate result of the actual performance of duty, without willful negligence on the part of the Member; provided further, that any employee who is seeking a duty disability retirement, shall have an examination conducted by an independent medical examiner ("IME"). If the IME concludes that the employee's physical or medical condition does not relate to his/her employment with the Employer, the employee shall not be eligible for the duty disability retirement.
- (b) Duty disability; Benefits. Upon retirement for disability as provided in Section E-5(a) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, a retiree who becomes totally and permanently disabled shall receive the following benefits:
  - (1) Any Member who is eligible for a service retirement under Section E-3(a) or (b) of this Component II of the Combined Plan shall receive a service retirement Allowance as provided in Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan and shall have the right to elect an option provided for in Section E-8 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.
  - (2)Any Member who becomes disabled prior to eligibility for a service retirement under Section E-3(a) or (b) of this Component II of the Combined Plan shall receive a disability retirement allowance to begin as of the date of disability. In no case shall the disability retirement allowance be retroactive to a date more than six months before the date the application for disability retirement is filed with the Board, or prior to the date the Member's name last appeared on an Employer's payroll with pay, whichever is later. The disability retirement allowance shall continue until the Member reaches eligibility for service retirement or recovers prior to that event. Upon reaching eligibility for service retirement, he or she shall receive a pension as provided in Sections E-4(b)-(e) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, together with an annuity which shall be the equivalent of the annuity which would have been received had contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund continued until the earlier of (i) the date he or she reaches eligibility for service retirement, or (ii) June 30, 2014. Said contributions are to be based on the Member's final compensation at the annuity percentage in effect for the employee on the earlier of (i) the July first prior to the effective date on which the employee is added to the disability retirement payroll, provided said July first is at least six months prior to the effective date that the employee is added to the regular retirement payroll and (ii) June 30, 2014, and provided further that no amounts shall be deemed contributed to the Annuity Savings Fund pursuant to this subsection (b)(2) for any period on and after July 1, 2014, irrespective of whether the Member became disabled prior to June 30, 2014 or on or after July 1, 2014. In computing the pension, membership service credit shall be given for the period a duty disability retirement allowance is received but no credit shall be

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 22 of

given for any period after June 30, 2014. The disability retirement allowance shall consist of:

- (i) Cash Refund Annuity which shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the Member's accumulated contributions in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of retirement. If a retiree dies before receipt of annuity payments in an aggregate amount equal to, but not exceeding, the retiree's accumulated contributions, the difference between the accumulated contributions and the aggregate amount of annuity payments received shall be paid in a single lump sum to such person or persons nominated by written designated person surviving the retiree, such difference shall be paid to the retiree's estate; and
- (ii) In addition to the annuity, a disability pension of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the Member's Average Final Compensation at the earlier of (i) the time of duty disability and (ii) June 30, 2014, subject to the provisions of Sections E-12 and E-13 of this Component II of the Combined Plan. A Member's total disability pension under Component II shall in no event exceed fifty-seven hundred dollars (\$5,700.00) per annum; or
- (iii) For Members who retired on disability on or after January 1, 1999 or on or after July 1, 2012 for members of the Emergency Medical Service Officers Association and Police Officers Association of Michigan bargaining units, in addition to the annuity, a disability pension of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the Member's average compensation at the earlier of (i) the time of duty disability or (ii) June 30, 2014, subject to the provisions of Sections E-12 and E-13 of this Component II of the Combined Plan. A Member's total disability pension under Component II shall in no event exceed nine thousand dollars (\$9,000.00) per annum.
- (c) Non-Duty Disability; Eligibility. Upon the application of a Member or the Member's department head, a Member who has at least ten years of credited service who becomes totally and permanently incapacitated for duty prior to July 1, 2014 as a result of causes which do not occur in the actual performance of duty to the Employer, may be retired by the Board if the IME certifies to the Board after examination that such Member is mentally or physically totally incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that such Member should be retired.
- (d) Non-Duty Disability; Benefits. Upon retirement for non-duty disability as provided in Section E-5(c) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, a Member shall receive the following benefits:
  - (1) After attaining sixty years of Age, a Member shall receive a service retirement allowance as provided in Section E-4 of this Component II and shall have the right to elect an option as provided in Section E-8 of this Component II.

- 84 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 23 of 58

- (2) Prior to Age sixty, a Member shall receive benefits as provided in Section E-5(d)(2)(i)-(iv) below:
  - i. A Cash Refund Annuity which shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the Member's accumulated contributions in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of retirement. In the event a retiree dies before the total of the Cash Refund Annuity payments received equals or exceeds the amount of his or her accumulated contributions at the time of retirement, the remainder shall be paid in a single lump sum to such person or persons nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. If there is no such designated person or persons surviving, any such remainder shall be paid to the retiree's estate.
  - ii. In addition to the annuity, a disability pension which shall be based on the service retirement factors in effect on the effective date of disability. The service retirement factors shall be multiplied by the Average Final Annual Compensation on the effective date of disability, multiplied by the number of years and fractions of years of service credited to the retiree as of such date. In addition, a basic pension of twelve dollars (\$12.00) per annum multiplied by the Member's credited service as of the effective date of disability, for a maximum of ten years of credited service shall be added for a total not to exceed one hundred twenty dollars (\$120.00) and adjustments thereto, as calculated pursuant to applicable provisions of this Component II of the Combined Plan. Said disability pension shall begin as of the date of the disability. However, in no case shall the disability pension begin more than six months before the date the application for disability retirement was filed with the Board, or prior to the date his or her name last appeared on an Employer's payroll with pay, whichever is later. Payment of the disability pension shall continue to Age sixty. Said disability pension shall not exceed thirty-nine hundred dollars (\$3,900.00) per annum, and shall be subject to the provisions of Sections E-12 and E-13 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.
  - iii. A Member who retired on disability on or after January 1, 1999 shall receive a disability pension as provided for in Section E-5(d)(2)(ii) of this Component II of the Combined Plan. Said disability pension shall not exceed six thousand dollars (\$6,000.00) per annum, and shall be subject to the provisions of Sections E-12 and E-13 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.
  - iv. Effective July 1, 1967, notwithstanding the limitations contained in Section E-5(d)(2)(ii) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, disability retirees under Section E-5(c) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, who retired (1) prior to August 13, 1953, shall receive a supplementary disability pension of forty dollars (\$40.00) per month; or (2) after August 13, 1956 and prior to July 1, 1966, shall receive a supplementary disability pension of twenty dollars (\$20.00) per month.

-85 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 24 of 58 v. Upon attaining Age sixty, the retiree shall receive a pension computed according to the provisions of Section E-4(b)-(e) of this Component II of the Combined Plan; provided, that no service credit shall be given for the time a disability pension provided for in Section E-5(d)(2)(ii) of this Component II of the Combined Plan was received. Upon attaining Age sixty, the retiree shall have the right to make an election under Section E-8 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.

# Sec. E-6. Accidental Death Benefit; Performance of Duty

If a Member is killed in the performance of duty in the service of the employer, or dies as the result of illness contracted or injuries received while in the performance of duty in the service of the employer, and such death, illness, or injuries resulting in death, is found by the Board to have resulted from the actual performance of duty in the service of the employer, the following benefits shall be paid, subject to Section E-12 of this Component II of the Combined Plan:

- (a) Annuity Savings Fund. Accumulated savings in the Member's Annuity Savings Fund at the time of death shall be paid in a single lump sum to such person or persons as the Member nominated in a writing duly executed and filed with the Board. In the event there is no designated person or persons surviving the Member, the accumulated contributions shall be paid to the Member's estate.
- (b) A Pension of one-third of the final compensation of said Member determined as of the earlier of (i) the date of death, and (ii) June 30, 2014 shall be paid to the surviving Spouse to continue until remarriage. If an unmarried child or children under Age eighteen also survive the deceased Member, each surviving child shall receive a pension of one-fourth of said final compensation, to be divided equally. Upon any such child's adoption, marriage, attainment of Age eighteen, or death, whichever occurs first, such child's pension shall terminate and there shall be a redistribution by the Board to the surviving eligible children under Age eighteen. In no event shall any child receive a pension of more than one-fourth of said final compensation.
- (c) No Surviving Spouse; Children. If there is no surviving Spouse, or if such surviving Spouse dies or remarries before the youngest surviving child of a deceased Member shall have attained the Age of eighteen, any unmarried child or children under Age eighteen, if any, shall receive a pension equal to one-fourth of the deceased Member's final compensation determined as of the earlier of (i) the date of death, and (ii) June 30, 2014; provided, that if there are more than two such surviving children, each shall receive a pension of an equal share of one-half of said final compensation. Upon any such child's adoption, marriage, attainment of Age eighteen, or death, whichever occurs first, the child's pension shall terminate and there shall be a redistribution by the Board to the surviving eligible children under Age eighteen. In no case shall any such child's Pension be more than one-fourth of the deceased Member's said final compensation.
- (d) Annual Limit. The total amount payable under Section E-6(b) and (c) of this Component II of the Combined Plan on account of the death of a Member, shall not exceed nine thousand dollars (\$9,000.00) per annum.

- 86 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 25 of 58

- (e) Dependent Father and/or Mother. If the deceased Member has no surviving Spouse or children eligible for a Pension under this section, a pension equal to one-sixth of the deceased Member's final compensation determined as of the earlier of (i) the date of death, and (ii) June 30, 2014 shall be paid to the Member's surviving dependent father and/or mother; provided that in no case shall either parent's pension exceed fifty dollars (\$50.00) per month. Payment to a dependent parent or parents shall be contingent upon a finding by the Board of Trustees after investigation that such parent or parents were actually dependent upon said deceased Member through a lack of earning power resulting from physical or mental disability.
- (f) Section E-12 of Component II of the Combined Plan Applicable. The benefits provided in Section E-6 of this Component II shall be subject to Section E-12 of this Component II.

# Sec. E-7. Accumulated Contributions; Return of 1973 Defined Contribution Plan Amount

- (a) Cessation of Employment.
  - (1) If a Member ceases to be an employee of the Employer before becoming eligible for a Pension paid out of Employer contributions to the Retirement System, such Member shall be paid all or part of the Member's Annuity Savings Fund, being the Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan amount, as the Member shall demand by written application filed with the Board.
  - (2) Except as otherwise provided in this Article, upon the death of a Member, the Member's Annuity Savings Fund shall be paid to such person or persons nominated in a written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. In the event there is no such designated person or persons surviving, the Member's said accumulated contributions shall be paid to the Member's estate.
  - (3) If a Member who dies without a legal will is not survived by a Spouse and has not nominated a beneficiary as provided in Section E-7(a)(2) of this Component II, the Member's accumulated Annuity Savings Fund contributions at the time of death may be used to pay burial expenses, if the Member leaves no other estate sufficient for such purpose. Such expenses shall not exceed a reasonable amount as determined by the Board.
  - (4) Accumulated contributions to be returned as provided in this section may be paid in equal monthly installments for a period not to exceed three years, according to such rules and regulations as the Board may adopt from time to time. After a Member ceases to be a Member, any balance in the Annuity Savings Fund which is unclaimed by the said Member or the Member's heirs, shall remain a part of the funds of the Retirement System and shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund.
- (b) One-Time Withdrawal; Twenty-Five Years. Prior to the receipt of the first retirement benefit check, an employee with twenty-five or more years of service shall be allowed to

- 87 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 26 of 58 withdraw either a partial or full amount of his or her accumulated contributions, one time only.

- (c) One-Time Withdrawal; Duty and Non-Duty Disability Retirees. Duty and non-duty disability retirees shall be allowed to withdraw either a partial or full amount of their accumulated contributions, one time only.
- (d) One-Time Withdrawal. Withdrawal by a Member under either (b) or (c) of this Section E-7 constitutes the one time withdrawal allowed.

# Sec. E-8. Retirement Allowance Options

(a) Election by Member. Until the earlier of the first time a retirement allowance payment check is cashed, or six months after the first payment check is issued, but not thereafter, any Member may elect to receive a Straight Life Retirement Allowance payable throughout life, or the Member may elect to receive the Actuarially Equivalent Value of the Straight Life Retirement Allowance computed as of the effective date of retirement, in a reduced retirement allowance payable throughout life, with the exception that there will be no reduction in the benefits received pursuant to Section E-4(e) of this Component II of the Combined Plan, and nominate a beneficiary to receive benefits following the Member's death, in accordance with the options set forth below:

*Option One. Modified Cash Refund Annuity.* If a retiree who elected a Modified Cash Refund Annuity dies before payment of the annuity portion of the reduced retirement allowance has been received in an aggregate amount equal to, but not exceeding the retiree's accumulated contributions in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of retirement, the difference between said accumulated contributions and the aggregate amount of annuity payments already received, shall be paid in a single lump sum to such person or person nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board. If no such designated person or persons survive the retiree, any such difference shall be paid to the retiree's estate.

*Option Two. Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance.* Upon the death of a retiree who elected a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance, one hundred percent of the reduced retirement allowance shall be paid to and continued throughout the life of the person nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the retirement allowance becomes due.

Option "A". Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor Allowance. Upon the death of a retiree who elected a Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor Allowance, seventy-five percent of the reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the person nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the retirement allowance becomes due.

*Option Three. Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor Allowance.* Upon the death of a retiree who elected a Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor Allowance, fifty percent of the reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the person

- 88 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 27 of 58 nominated by written designation duly executed by the Member and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the retirement allowance becomes due.

*Option "B". Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor Allowance.* Upon the death of a retiree who elected a Joint and Twenty-Five Percent Survivor Allowance, twenty-five percent of the reduced retirement allowance shall be paid throughout the life of the person nominated by written designation duly executed and filed with the Board prior to the date the first payment of the retirement allowance becomes due.

- (b) Joint and Survivor Optional Forms of Payment. The Joint and Survivor Optional Forms of Payment provided under Section E-8(a) of this Component II of the Combined Plan shall be made available in either the standard form or the pop-up form, as follows:
  - (1) Standard Form. Under the Standard Form, the reduced retirement allowance shall be paid throughout the lifetime of the retiree.
  - (2) *Pop-up Form.* Under the Pop-up Form, the reduced allowance shall be paid throughout the lifetime of the retiree and the designated beneficiary. In the event of the death of the designated beneficiary during the lifetime of the retiree, the amount of the allowance shall be changed to the amount that would have been payable had the retiree elected the Straight Life Retirement Allowance form of payment.
- (c) Coordination of Benefits. According to such rules and regulations as the Board shall adopt, until the first payment of a retirement allowance becomes due, but not thereafter, a Member under Age sixty-five may elect to have the Member's Straight Life Retirement Allowance provided for in Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan equated on an Actuarial Equivalent basis to provide an increased retirement allowance payable to Age sixty-two or Age sixty-five, and to provide a decreased retirement allowance thereafter. The increased retirement allowance payable to such Age shall approximate the total of the decreased retirement allowance payable thereafter and the estimated social security benefit. If a Member elects to receive the increased and then decreased retirement allowance payments provided for in this paragraph, he or she may also elect to have such payments reduced by electing one of the optional forms of payment provided for in paragraph (a) of this section. This coordination of benefits option shall not create any additional actuarial costs for the Employer.

# Sec. E-9. Benefits for Surviving Spouses; Generally

(a) The surviving Spouse of any Member who dies while in the employ of the Employer or in the employ of a second governmental unit as provided in Section E-14 of this Component II after the date such Member either (1) has earned twenty years of credited service regardless of Age, or (2) has earned eight years of credited service and has attained Age sixty-five, or (3) has earned ten or more years of credited service and has attained Age sixty, shall receive a retirement allowance. The Spouse's retirement allowance shall be computed according to Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan in the same manner in all respects as if the said Member had retired effective on the earlier of (i) the day preceding the Member's death, and (ii) June 30, 2014, notwithstanding that the Member had not attained Age sixty, elected a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor Allowance as provided for in Section E-8 of this Component II, and nominated the surviving Spouse as beneficiary. No payments shall be made under this Section E-9 on account of the death of a Member if any benefits are paid under Section E-6 of this Component II. If an Employee dies with twenty years of service and without a surviving Spouse, dependent children shall be paid a total of nine thousand dollars (\$9,000.00) per year which shall be divided equally among all eligible dependent children until the youngest child reaches Age nineteen, or for life, if a child is permanently physically or mentally impaired and such impairment occurred prior to the child's attainment of Age nineteen. There shall be no pension improvement factor for this payment.

(b) In addition to in-service death benefits which existed prior to July 1, 1998 for Members with twenty or more years of service, if a Member dies on or after July 1, 1998 or such later date as provided in a collective bargaining agreement, after having attained fifteen or more but less than twenty years of creditable service at any Age below sixty, the surviving Spouse will be paid a Fifty Percent Joint and Survivor benefit. If there is no eligible surviving Spouse, dependent children shall be paid a total of six thousand dollars (\$6,000.00) which shall be divided equally among all eligible dependent children until the youngest child reaches Age nineteen, or for life if a child is permanently physically or mentally impaired.

#### Sec. E-10. Benefits for Surviving Spouses; Disability Retirees

The surviving Spouse of a disability retiree who retired under the provisions of Section E-5 of this Component II and who died before the Age of sixty shall receive a retirement allowance computed in the same manner as if the disability retiree had been a Member who became eligible for death benefits under Section E-9 of Component II of the Combined Plan, provided the disability retiree had earned fifteen or more years of credited service as of June 30, 2014. In the case of a non-duty disability retiree, credited service shall be determined on the earlier of (i) the effective date of the non-duty disability retirement, and (ii) June 30, 2014. In the case of a duty disability retiree, credited service shall be determined on the earlier of (a) the disability retiree assuming employment with the Employer had continued until the date of death, or (ii) June 30, 2014.

#### Sec. E-11. Disposition of Surplus Benefits upon Death of Retiree and Beneficiary

If under a Joint and One Hundred Percent Survivor allowance, a Joint and Seventy-Five Percent Survivor allowance, a Joint and Fifty Percent Survivor allowance, or a Joint Twenty-Five Percent Survivor allowance as provided for under Section E-8 of this Component II of the Combined Plan, both a retiree and beneficiary die before they have received in retirement allowance payments, an aggregate amount equal to the retiree's accumulated contributions in the Annuity Savings Fund at the time of retirement, less withdrawals, the difference between the said accumulated contributions and the said aggregate amount of retirement allowances paid the retiree and beneficiary, shall be paid in a single lump sum to such person or persons nominated by written designation of the retiree duly executed and filed with the Board. If there is no person or persons surviving retiree and beneficiary, any such difference shall be paid to the estate of the retiree or the beneficiary, whichever of them is the last to die.

# Sec. E-12. Pensions Offset by Compensation Benefits; Subrogation

- (a) Generally. Any amounts which may be paid or payable to a Member, retiree, or to the dependents of a Member or retiree on account of any disability or death under the provisions of any Workers' Compensation, pension, or similar law, except federal Social Security old-age and survivors' and disability insurance benefits, shall be offset against any pensions payable from funds of the Retirement System on account of the same disability or death. If the present value of the benefits payable under said Workers' Compensation, pension, pension, or similar law, is less than the Pension Reserve for said pension payable by the Retirement System, the present value of the said Workers' Compensation, pension, or similar legal benefit shall be deducted from the Pension Reserve, and such pensions as may be provided by the Pension Reserve so reduced shall be payable as provided in this Article E.
- (b) The Employer's right of subrogation. In the event a person becomes entitled to a pension payable by the Retirement System because of an accident or injury caused by the act of a third party, the Employer shall be subrogated to the rights of said person against such third party to the extent of the benefit which the Employer or the Retirement System pays or becomes liable to pay.

### Sec. E-13. Disability Retirees; Reexamination; Authority of the Board

- (a) *Medical examination.* At least once each year during the first five years following the retirement of a Member with a disability retirement allowance or disability pension, and at least once in every three year period thereafter, the Board may, and upon the retiree's application shall, require that any disability retiree who has not attained Age sixty undergo a medical examination, to be made by, or under the direction of, the Medical Director. Should any such disability retiree who has not attained Age sixty refuse to submit to at least one such medical examination in any such period, the retiree's retirement allowance or pension may be discontinued by the Board until withdrawal of such refusal. Should such refusal continue for one year, all of the disability retiree's rights in and to the pension portion of the retirement allowance may be revoked by the Board. If upon such examination of a disability retiree, the Medical Director reports that the retiree is physically able and capable of resuming employment, and such report is concurred in by the Board, the retiree shall be restored to active service with the Employer and the disability retirement allowance shall terminate.
- (b) Other employment. If such disability retiree is or becomes engaged in a gainful occupation, business, or employment paying more than the difference between the retiree's disability retirement allowance and final compensation, the pension portion of the disability retirement allowance shall be reduced by the amount of such difference. If the amount of the earnings changes, the pension may be adjusted accordingly.

(c) *Reinstatement to active service*. A disability retiree who has been, or shall be, reinstated to active service in the employ of the Employer as provided in this Section, shall again become a Member of the Retirement System. All credited service at the time of the disability retirement shall be restored to full force and effect and a duty disability retiree shall be given membership service credit for the period prior to July 1, 2014 that said retiree was out of service due to such duty disability.

# Sec. E-14. Transfer of Department or Department Functions Prior to July 1, 2014; Generally

In the event a function or functions of a City Department or the Department itself is transferred to the federal or state government, or to a political subdivision of the State of Michigan (second governmental unit) prior to July 1, 2014, a Member of the Retirement System whose employment is transferred from the City to the second governmental unit prior to July 1, 2014 shall be entitled to a retirement allowance payable by the Retirement System subject to the following conditions:

- (a) *Employment within sixty days of transfer*. The employee enters the employment of the second governmental unit within sixty days from and after the effective date of the transfer of the function or functions of a City Department or the Department itself to the second governmental unit.
- (b) Credited service combined; ten year minimum. The employee's credited service as a Member of the Retirement System prior to July 1, 2014 plus any credited service acquired in the employ of the second governmental unit prior to July 1, 2014 totals at least ten years.
- (c) Retirement; second governmental unit. If the employee retires from employment with the second governmental unit on account of Age and service, the employee's retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with Section E-3(b) or Section E-4 of this Component II of the Combined Plan, whichever is applicable. If the employee retires from employment in the second governmental unit prior to July 1, 2014 because of total and permanent disability arising from non-service connected causes, the retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with Section E-5(d) of this Component II of the Combined Plan. In computing the retirement allowance, the basic pension shall not exceed twelve dollars (\$12.00) per year of credited service prior to July 1, 2014 for a maximum of ten years for a total amount to not exceed one hundred twenty dollars (\$120.00), and the membership service pension shall be based only upon credited service with the Employer existing at the earlier of (i) the time of transfer, and (ii) June 30, 2014. In determining the Average Final Compensation defined in Section C-1 of this Component II of the Combined Plan, the compensation received as an employee of the second governmental unit on or before July 1, 2014 shall be regarded as compensation paid by the Employer. If the employee leaves the employ of the second governmental unit with a deferred retirement allowance, no retirement allowance shall be paid under the Retirement System unless the employee has met the requirements of Section E-3(d)(1) of this Component II of the Combined Plan.

(d) Allowance starting date. The retirement allowance shall begin upon retirement from the employment of the second governmental unit, but in no event prior to the date the employee would have become eligible for retirement had the employee continued in City employment. If retirement is because of total and permanent disability arising from non-service-connected causes, the retirement allowance, if any, shall begin upon the approval of retirement by the Board.

### Sec. E-15. Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator)

- (a) Increase of pension. Subject to Article G, on or after July 1, 1992 and prior to July 1, 2014, effective as of the first day of July of each year, the pension portion of any retirement allowance or duty death benefit which is paid or payable under this Article shall be increased by a factor of two and one quarter percent (2.25%), computed on the basis of the amount of the original pension received at the time of retirement, including, if applicable, any supplemental pensions provided under this Article; provided, that the recipient of said pension shall have been on the retirement rolls at least one year prior to said July first date. If the recipient has been on the retirement payroll less than one year prior to said July first date, the amount of the increase shall be prorated accordingly.
- (b) Payment. Except as provided in paragraph (c) below, the pension improvement factor of two and one quarter percent (2.25%) provided for in Section E-15(a) of this Component II, shall be payable for periods prior to July 1, 2014 notwithstanding any retirement allowance or pension amount limitation provisions in this Article to the contrary.
- (c) After the effective date of the City Employment Terms between the City of Detroit and Police Officers Association of Michigan presented to the union on July 18, 2012, employees represented by the union will no longer receive the two and one-quarter percent (2.25%) per annum escalation.
- (d) Effective April 1, 2013, the post-retirement escalator factor for all service after that date shall be eliminated for any employee who is a member of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO Local 2920.

# Sec. E-16. Adoption of Rates of Interest; Limitations on Payments By Retirement System; Transfer of Investment Returns in Excess of Crediting Rate

- (a) The Retirement System and the Board of Trustees shall not make any payment to active or retired Members other than payments that are required by the Retirement System as established by this Combined Plan to govern the Retirement System or the Plan of Adjustment. This prohibition applies to all payments that are not authorized by this Combined Plan, whether such payments are those commonly referred to as a "thirteenth check" or by any other name.
- (b) The Retirement System and the Board of Trustees shall not provide any savings plan, annuity plan, or other Member investment or savings vehicle that provides an annual return to investing Members which in any year is greater than the actual investment return net of expenses of the Retirement System's invested reserves for the year in which the return is earned and accrued, provided that such return shall neither be greater than

-93 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 32 of 58 the assumed annual return as expressed in the Retirement System's valuation for that year nor less than zero. This prohibition shall apply to all annual returns credited to accounts of investing Members in the Annuity Savings Fund of the Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan from the effective date of Ordinance 37-11 to June 30, 2013. Notwithstanding anything in this Section E-16 to the contrary, effective for Plan Years beginning on and after July 1, 2013, the annual rate of return credited to a Member's account in the Annuity Savings Fund of the Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan shall be no less than zero and no greater than the lesser of (i) 5.25% or (ii) the actual investment return net of expenses of the Retirement System's invested reserves for the second Plan Year immediately preceding the Plan Year in which the annual return is credited.

(c) In any Plan Year during the period beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2023 in which the annual rate of return credited to the accounts of Members investing in the Annuity Savings Fund as provided in paragraph (b) is less than the actual rate of return net of expenses of the Retirement System's invested assets for the second Plan Year immediately preceding the Plan Year in which the annual rate of return is credited ("ASF Return Excess"), an amount equal to the value of the ASF Return Excess shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund maintained under Component I of the Combined Plan and shall be used to fund the Transition Cost relating to Component I. The Transition Cost is a measure of the liability that Component I of the Retirement System has at its inception; due to the fact that at its inception, Members in Component I of the Retirement System receive vesting and eligibility credit under Component I for service that was earned prior to July 1, 2014 and is otherwise credited to Members under Component II of the Retirement System, as such Transition Cost is calculated by the Plan Actuary. In the event there is an ASF Return Excess for a Plan Year following the Plan Year in which such transfers have fully funded the Transition Costs relating to Component I, fifty percent (50%) of such ASF Return Excess shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund maintained under Component II and the remaining fifty percent (50%) of such ASF Return Excess shall be transferred to Component I and credited to the Rate Stabilization Fund maintained under Component I. "Transition Cost" shall be determined by the Plan Actuary.

#### Sec. E-17. Funds

The Frozen 1973 Defined Benefit/Defined Contribution (Annuity) Plan shall consist of the Annuity Savings Fund, the Annuity Reserve Fund, the Pension Accumulation Fund, the Pension Reserve Fund, and the Income Fund.

# Sec. E-18. Method of Financing

- (a) Annuity Savings Fund of the Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan.
  - (1) The Annuity Savings Fund of the Frozen 1973 Defined Contribution Plan shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated at regular interest, in accordance with the limitations that are contained in Section E-16 of this Component II, the contributions of Members made prior to the first payroll date occurring in August 2014 to provide their annuities. At the election of the Member, the amount of the basic contribution of a Member to the Retirement System prior to the first payroll date occurring in August 2014 were zero percent (0%), three percent (3%), five percent (5%), or seven percent (7%) of annual compensation. If a Member elected three percent (3%), his or her contribution shall be that amount which is subject to taxation under the provisions of the *Federal Insurance Contribution Act, 26 USC 3101 et seq. (Act)*, plus five percent (5%) of the portion of annual compensation, if any, which exceeds the amount subject to taxation under that *Act.*
  - (2) The contribution rate elected by the Member under Section E-18(a)(1) of this Component II of the Combined Plan were deducted from the Member's compensation for periods prior to the first payroll period beginning in August 2014 notwithstanding that the minimum compensation provided by law for any Member were reduced thereby. Payment of compensation, less said deductions, constituted a complete discharge of all claims and demands whatsoever for the services rendered by the said Member during the period covered by such payment, except as to benefits provided under this Article E.
  - (3) Upon retirement of a Member with a retirement allowance, the Member's accumulated contributions shall be transferred from the Annuity Savings Fund to the Annuity Reserve Fund, refunded to the Member, or a combination thereof.
- (b) Annuity Reserve Fund. The Annuity Reserve Fund shall be the fund, from which all annuities and benefits in lieu of annuities payable as provided in this Article E, shall be paid. If a disability retiree is reinstated to active service with the Employer, the retiree's Annuity Reserve at that time shall be transferred from the Annuity Reserve Fund to the Annuity Savings Fund and credited to his or her individual account therein.
- (c) Pension Accumulation Fund. The Pension Accumulation Fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated reserves for the pensions and other benefits payable from the contributions made by the Employer, including various departments thereof, the Detroit Public Library, and certain third parties pursuant to the Plan of Adjustment and from which shall be paid pensions and other benefits on account of Members with prior service credit, and transfers as provided in this Section E-18. Contributions to the Pension Accumulation Fund from the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment through Fiscal Year 2023, shall be made only in the amounts and from the sources identified in the Plan of Adjustment.

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 34 of

For Fiscal Years beginning after June 30, 2023, contributions to fund pension benefits (adjusted as provided in the Plan of Adjustment) shall be made as follows:

- (1) Certain amounts shall be contributed by certain third parties as provided in the Plan of Adjustment.
- (2) The Employer's annual contribution shall be calculated by the Actuary as provided in Section E-19.
- (3) Upon the retirement of a Member without prior service credit, or upon a Member's death in the performance of duty, the Pension Reserve Fund for the pension or pensions to be paid on the Member's account shall be transferred from the Pension Accumulation Fund to the Pension Reserve Fund.
- (4) Upon the basis of such mortality and other tables of experience and interest as the Board shall adopt from time to time consistent with Section 1.16 of Component I, the Actuary shall compute annually the pension reserve liabilities for pension benefits being paid to retirees and beneficiaries.
- (5) On an annual basis, the Board shall ascertain and report to the Mayor and the Council the amount of City contributions due to the Retirement System. The Council shall appropriate and the City shall pay such contributions during the appropriate Fiscal Year. Each other Employer whose employees are entitled to a retirement allowance under Component II shall pay contributions due to the Retirement System during the appropriate Fiscal Year. When paid, such contributions shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund.
- (6) If the amount appropriated by the Employer and paid to the Retirement System for any Fiscal Year is insufficient to make the transfers and pay the pensions, as adjusted in the Plan of Adjustment, from the Pension Accumulation Fund as provided in this Section E-18, the amount of such insufficiency shall be provided by the appropriating authorities of the Employer.
- (d) Accrued Liability Fund. Pursuant to Ordinance No. 5-05, which authorized the creation of the Detroit General Retirement Service Corporation, the City previously entered into a transaction (the "Pension Funding Transaction") to obtain funds as an alternative to those available through the traditional funding mechanism described above in Subsection (c). The proceeds generated by the Pension Funding Transaction (or any Additional Pension Funding Transactions) that were deposited into the System are termed the "Funding Proceeds." The Funding Proceeds were deposited into a new fund in the System to be called the Accrued Liability Fund. The purpose of the Funding Proceeds was to fund all or part of the theretofore unfunded actuarial accrued liability ("UAAL") of the Retirement System, as determined as of a date certain, that is, the "Determination Date," pursuant to the Retirement System's actuarial valuation as of that date. The Funding Proceeds are assets of the Retirement System, to fund the Retirement System's obligation to pay pension benefits, as adjusted in the Plan of Adjustment.

- 96 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 35 of 58 This Accrued Liability Fund shall contain only the Funding Proceeds of the Pension Funding Transaction, the Additional Pension Funding Transaction, and any earnings thereon. Prior to Fiscal Year 2013, funds were transferred each Fiscal Year (or monthly portion thereof) from the Accrued Liability Fund to the Pension Accumulation Fund as provided in *Chapter 47 of the 1984 Detroit City Code* and *Ordinance No. 5-05*.

As soon as practicable following the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, any amounts remaining credited to the Accrued Liability Fund shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund and the Accrued Liability Fund shall cease to exist.

- (e) *Pension Reserve Fund.* The Pension Reserve Fund shall be the fund from which pensions shall be paid to retirees and beneficiaries. Should a disability retiree be reinstated to active service, the retiree's Pension Reserve at that time shall be transferred from the Pension Reserve Fund to the Pension Accumulation Fund.
- (f) *Expense Fund.* The Expense Fund shall be the fund to which shall be credited funds, if any, provided by the Employer to pay the administrative expenses of Component II of the Retirement System, and from which shall be paid expenses necessary in connection with the administration and operation of Component II of the Retirement System.
- (g) Income Fund. The Income Fund shall be the Fund to which shall be credited all interest, dividends, and other income derived from the investments of the Retirement System (other than those derived from the investments credited to any Accrued Liability Fund), all gifts and bequests received by the Retirement System, and all other moneys the disposition of which is not specifically provided for in this Article E. There shall be paid or transferred from the Income Fund, all amounts required to credit regular interest to the various Funds of the Retirement System, except for the Accrued Liability Fund which is to be credited with interest, dividends and other earnings pursuant to Section E-18(d) of this Component II of the Combined Plan in accordance with the limitations that are contained in Section E-18 of this Component II of the Combined Plan.
- (h) Maintenance of Reserves.
  - (1) The maintenance of proper reserves in the various Funds of the Retirement System except the Expense Fund is hereby made an obligation of the Pension Accumulation Fund.
  - (2) Employer contributions to the Retirement System to the extent necessary to provide pensions on account of Members who are employees of a revenue-supported division of the City shall be made from the revenues of the said division. Any City contribution to the Retirement System from any fund by law with a certain and definite purpose shall, at the direction of the Finance Director, be accounted for separately.

# Sec. E-19. Determination of City's Annual Contribution

(a) For the period commencing July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2023, the Employer shall make only those contributions to the Retirement System as are set forth in the Plan of

Adjustment. The exclusive sources for such contributions shall be certain pension related, administrative and restructuring payments received from the Detroit Water and Sewer District, a portion of the State Contribution, certain DIA Proceeds, a portion of the Assigned UTGO Bond Tax Proceeds and certain revenues from City departments, the Detroit Public Library and the Detroit Regional Convention Facility Authority (all as defined in the Plan of Adjustment).

- (b) For Fiscal Years beginning on and after July 1, 2023, the annuity and pension reserve liabilities for Members, retirees, and beneficiaries, shall be actuarially evaluated as set forth in this Article for each division as is accounted for separately pursuant to Section E-18(h)(2) of this Component II of the Combined Plan.
  - (1) *Pension Liabilities.* 
    - a. The pension liabilities for Members shall be determined by the Actuary using reasonable and appropriate actuarial assumptions approved by the Board and the Investment Committee.
    - b. Each Employer's annual contribution to finance any unfunded accrued pension liabilities shall be determined by amortizing such unfunded accrued pension liabilities as a level percentage of such compensation over a period or periods of future years as established by the Board and approved by the Investment Committee.
  - Pension Accumulation Fund. Based upon the provisions of this Article E (2)including any amendments, the Board shall compute each Employer's annual contributions to the Retirement System, expressed as a percentage of active Member compensation each Fiscal Year, using actuarial valuation data as of the June thirtieth date which date is a year and a day before the first day of such Fiscal Year. The Board shall report to the Mayor and Council the contribution Such contribution percentages shall be used in percentages so computed. determining the contribution dollars to be appropriated by Council and the Employers and paid to the Retirement System. Such contribution dollars shall be determined by multiplying the applicable contribution percentage for such Fiscal Year by the Member compensation paid for such Fiscal Year. Such contribution dollars for each Fiscal Year shall be paid to the Retirement System in such Fiscal Year in a manner to be determined by the City, provided that contributions shall be made not less frequently than annually.

# **ARTICLE F. PARTICIPANT LOAN PROGRAM**

#### Sec. F-1. Established.

Any loans granted or renewed shall be made pursuant to a Participant Loan Program which shall conform with the requirements of Section 72(p) of the Internal Revenue Code. Such loan program shall be established in writing by the Board of Trustees, and must include, but need not be limited to the following:

- (1) The identity of the administrator of the Participant Loan Program;
- (2) A procedure to apply for loans, the amount of loan that will be approved or denied, and limitations, if any, on the types and amount of loans offered;
- (3) The procedures under the program for determining a reasonable rate of interest; and
- (4) The events constituting default and the steps that will be taken to preserve plan assets.

# Sec. F-2. The Loan Program.

- (1) This Loan Program shall be contained in a separate written document copies of which shall be made available in the offices of the Retirement System for prospective participants in the Loan Program. The Board of Trustees is authorized to adopt rules and regulations, from time to time, to govern the administration and the operation of this program. Copies of the rules shall also be made available to prospective Members in the offices of the Retirement System; and
- (2) All collective bargaining agreements which accept the terms of this section are specifically agreeing to be subject to the Board's authority to modify or amend the Participant Loan Program from time to time, including during the effective terms of the applicable labor agreement and no such modification or amendment shall be deemed a violation of said labor agreement and no grievance or other form of action shall be effective to overturn or alter the Board's decision.

# Sec. F-3. Eligibility.

Subject to rules and procedures established by the Board, loans will initially be made only to non-union Members of the Retirement System. Union employees will be eligible when their respective bargaining unit has accepted the Loan Program. Former Members, Spouses of Members, and beneficiaries are not eligible to receive any loans from the Retirement System. Subject to rules and procedures established by the Board, a Member who has been in the Combined Plan for twelve months or more is eligible to apply for a loan under this Component II. No Member shall have more than two outstanding loans from the Retirement System (Component I and/or Component II) at any time. A Member who has previously defaulted on a loan (under either Component I or Component II) shall not be eligible for a loan from the Retirement System.

### Sec. F-4. Amount of Loan.

A Member who has satisfied applicable rules and procedures may borrow from his or her annuity savings account an amount, which does not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the Member's vested accumulated balance in such account, or ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) reduced by the excess, if any, of: (1) the highest outstanding balance of loans from the Retirement System (both Component I and Component II) during the one year period ending on the day before the date on which the loan is made, or (2) the outstanding balance of loans from the Retirement System (both Component I and Component II) on the date on which the loan is made, whichever is less. The minimum loan amount shall be one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00).

#### Sec. F-5. Terms and Conditions.

In addition to such rules and procedures that are established by the Board, all loans shall comply with the following terms and conditions:

- (1) Loan applications shall be in writing;
- (2) Loans shall be repaid by equal payroll deductions over a period not to exceed five years, or, where the loan is for the purpose of buying a principal residence, a period not to exceed fifteen years. In no case shall the amount of the payroll deduction be less than twenty dollars (\$20.00) for any two-week period;
- (3) Each loan shall be made against the assignment of the Member's entire right, title, and interest in and to the Member's annuity savings account, supported by the Member's collateral promissory note for the amount of the loan, including interest payable to the order of the Board of Trustees;
- (4) Each loan shall bear interest at a rate determined by the Board. The Board shall not discriminate among Members in its determination of interest rates on loans. Loans initiated at different times may bear different interest rates, where, in the opinion of the Board, the difference in rates is supported by a change in market interest rates or a change in the Retirement System's current assumed rate of return. The loan interest rate shall bear a reasonable relationship to market rates for secured loans of a similar duration and shall bear a reasonable relationship to the costs to the Retirement System of administering the Combined Plan. The loan interest rate shall be calculated in a manner that will not negatively affect the Employers' costs with respect to the Retirement System or the investment return allocated to Members;
- (5) Loan repayments shall be suspended under this plan as permitted by Section 414(u)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code. A participant who has an outstanding loan balance from the plan who is absent from employment with the Employer, and who has satisfied the requirements of Section 414(u) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not be required to make loan repayments to the Retirement System during said periods of absence.

#### Sec. F-6. Renewal of Loan.

Any loans granted or renewed shall be made pursuant to the Participant Loan Program and Section 72(p) of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations thereunder.

#### Sec. F-7. Loan Balance.

A Member's outstanding loan balance shall be considered a directed investment by the Member and interest payments shall be credited to the Member's account balance, and shall not be part of net investment income or part of the Member's annuity savings account balance for the purpose of allocation of net investment income under the Retirement System.

#### Sec. F-8. Distributions.

No distributions shall be made to a Member, former Member, or beneficiary until all loan balances drawn on the applicable vested accumulated annuity savings account balance and applicable accrued interest have been liquidated.

# Sec. F-9. Annual Report.

The Retirement System shall include, in its annual report to all Members, an accounting of the Loan Program established by this Article F, which contains the number and amount of loans made under this Component II, the costs of administering the Loan Program under Component II, the amount of payments made including interest received by Component II of the Retirement System, the amount of loans outstanding, including any defaults or delinquencies, and an evaluation as to whether the interest charged in that Fiscal Year covered the costs of administering the Loan Program maintained under this Component II.

### **ARTICLE G. SPECIAL PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT PROVISIONS**

### Sec. G-1. Benefit Changes Implemented Pursuant to the Terms of the Plan Of Adjustment

Notwithstanding anything in Articles A, C, D or E of Component II to the contrary, as of the effective dates set forth below and during the period that ends no earlier than June 30, 2023, the following provisions to comply with the terms of the Plan of Adjustment shall be implemented:

### (1) *Reduction in monthly pension payments.*

- For a retiree or a surviving beneficiary who is receiving a monthly pension a. benefit as of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, as soon as practicable following such effective date such retiree's or surviving beneficiary's monthly pension benefit will be reduced to an amount that is equal to 95.5% of the monthly pension benefit being paid to such retiree or surviving beneficiary as of the date immediately preceding the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment ("Adjusted Accrued Benefit"); provided, however, that the Board and the Investment Committee shall determine on the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment and not less frequently than annually thereafter that the "Funding Conditions" as defined herein have been satisfied, and in the event that such Funding Conditions have not been satisfied then such retiree's or surviving beneficiary's Adjusted Accrued Benefit will be reduced in proportion to the funding which is not received by the Retirement System but not below an amount that is equal to 73% of the monthly pension benefit being paid to such retiree or surviving beneficiary as of the date immediately preceding the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment.
- b. The Frozen Accrued Benefit that will be paid as a monthly Retirement Allowance upon the retirement or death of an active employee Member or a vested former employee Member on or after the Effective Date, will be reduced to an amount that is equal to 95.5% of the monthly pension benefit that would otherwise have been paid to the active employee or vested former employee under the terms of this Component II of the Combined Plan without taking into account this Section G-1 ("Adjusted Deferred Accrued Benefit"); provided, however, that the Board and the Investment Committee shall determine on an annual basis that the "Funding Conditions" as defined herein have been satisfied, and in the event such Funding Conditions have not been satisfied then such active employee Member's or vested former employee Member's Adjusted Accrued Benefit will be reduced in proportion to the funding which is not received by the Retirement System but not below an amount that is equal to 73% of the monthly pension benefit that would otherwise have been paid to the active employee or vested former employee under the terms of this Component II of the Combined Plan without taking into account this Section G-1.

- 102 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 41 of c. Cap on Benefit Reductions for Certain Retirees. With respect to any retiree or surviving beneficiary receiving monthly pension benefits from the Retirement System as of June 30, 2014, such retiree's or surviving beneficiary's Adjusted Accrued Benefit, as further reduced to take into account any ASF Recoupment under Section G-2, shall not be less than 80% of the monthly pension benefit being paid to such retiree or surviving beneficiary as of the date immediately preceding the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment.

For purposes of this Sec. G-1, the term "Funding Conditions" shall mean that (i) Class 10 and Class 11 voted in favor of the Plan of Adjustment in accordance with the procedures for such vote under the Plan of Adjustment, (ii) the Plan of Adjustment is confirmed by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court, and (iii) the funds that are pledged to be contributed to the Retirement System pursuant to the terms of the State Contribution Agreement and the DIA Settlement Documents have been received.

- (2) Elimination of Pension Improvement Factor. For all pension benefits payable after June 30, 2014, the pension improvement factor (escalator) that will be applied to the monthly Adjusted Accrued Benefit or Adjusted Deferred Accrued Benefit of a Member, retiree, surviving beneficiary or vested former employee will be equal to 0%.
- (3) Recoupment of Excess Returns on Annuity Savings Fund Account. The terms of Section G-2 Annuity Savings Fund Recoupment shall apply to the Annuity Savings Fund account of Members, retirees and vested former employees as provided in Section G-2.
- (4) *Future Disability Pensions Eliminated.* The duty disability retirement allowance and non-duty disability retirement allowance are eliminated with respect to Members who become disabled on or after July 1, 2014.
- (5) *Effect of Payment Default.* In the event that all or a portion of the funds pledged to be contributed to the Retirement System pursuant to the terms of the State Contribution Agreement and/or the DIA Settlement Agreement are not received by the Retirement System, the Board shall automatically reduce the monthly pension benefits payable to Members, retirees, surviving beneficiaries, and former employees to the extent of such default.

# Sec. G-2. Annuity Savings Fund Recoupment

Notwithstanding anything in Articles A, B, C, D or E to the contrary, upon the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, Members, retirees or vested former employees who were identified by the City as a Class 11 Holder under the Plan of Adjustment and who participated in the Annuity Savings Fund ("ASF") at any time during the period that began on July 1, 2003 and ended on June 30, 2013 ("ASF Recalculation Period") are subject to the following provisions:

- (1) Recoupment from Members, retirees and vested former employees who maintain an Annuity Savings Fund account ("ASF account") as of the Effective Date. For each Member, retiree or vested former employee who maintains an ASF account in the Retirement System as of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, such individual's ASF account balance will be reduced by such individual's Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount, as determined by the City in accordance with this Section G-2 (1).
  - a. For a Member, retiree or former vested employee who did not receive any distribution or loan from such individual's ASF account during the ASF Recalculation Period, the Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount means the difference between the value of such individual's ASF account as recalculated using the Actual Return (as defined in paragraph (3) below) and the actual value of such individual's ASF account as of June 30, 2013; provided, however, that an individual's Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount shall not exceed 20% of the highest value of such individual's ASF account balance (including any unpaid loan balance relating to the ASF account) during the ASF Recalculation Period.
  - b. For a Member, retiree or vested former employee who during the ASF Recalculation Period has received a distribution (other than a total distribution) or loan from the ASF, the Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount means the difference between (i) the sum of (A) the value of such individual's ASF account as of June 30, 2013 and (B) all distributions (including any unpaid loans) received by such individual from his or her ASF account during the ASF Recalculation Period, and (ii) the value of such individual's ASF account as of June 30, 2013 as recalculated using the Actual Return; provided, however, that an individual's Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount shall not exceed 20% of the highest value of such individual's ASF account balance (including any unpaid loans made to the individual) during the ASF Recalculation Period.
- (2) Recoupment from Members, retirees and former employees who previously took total Annuity Savings Fund account distributions. Except as provided in paragraph (4) below, for each Member, retiree or vested former employee who has received a total distribution of the individual's ASF account during the ASF Recalculation Period, the individual's monthly pension benefit (and the survivor monthly pension benefit payable to the Member's survivor, if any) will be reduced by the individual's "Monthly Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount" as determined by the City in accordance with this Section G-2(2).

A Monthly Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount means the difference between (i) the value of the ASF account of a Member, retiree or vested former employee as of the date of distribution to such individual from the ASF, provided such date falls within the ASF Recalculation Period, and (ii) the value of the individual's ASF account as of such date, as recalculated using the Actual Return; provided, however, such difference shall not exceed 20% of the highest value of

- 104 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 43 of 58 such individual's ASF account balance (including any unpaid loan balance) during the ASF Recalculation Period; provided, further, such amount will be calculated and converted into monthly annuity amounts based on common actuarial assumptions (such as the individual's life expectancy, and, if the individual has not already retired, expected date of retirement) and amortized using a 6.75% interest rate.

- (3) Recoupment from Members, retirees and former employees who received partial Annuity Savings Fund account distributions. A Member, retiree or vested former employee who previously received a distribution of a portion but not the entirety of the Member's Annuity Savings Account shall be subject to paragraph (1) to the extent of any funds then credited to the Member's Annuity Savings Fund account and shall be subject to paragraph (2) to the extent of any Excess Amount that cannot be recovered pursuant to paragraph (1).
- (4) Cash repayment option. Notwithstanding paragraphs (2) and (3) above and subject to the Cash Option Cap described below, a Member, retiree, employee or former employee whose monthly pension benefit will be reduced pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) may elect to make a single lump sum cash payment to the Retirement System of the Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount by cashier's check or wire transfer ("Cash Repayment Option"). Each individual eligible for the Cash Repayment Option shall be provided by first-class U.S. mail an election notice and an election form no later than seven days following the Effective Date. The individual shall have thirty-five days from the date on which the election form is mailed to return the election form as directed on the form. An election of the Cash Repayment Option shall be effective only if it is received by the deadline set forth on the election form.

No later than fourteen days following the election deadline, the Board shall notify each individual who timely elects the Cash Repayment Option of the amount to be repaid to the Retirement System ("Final Payment Notice"). Such amount must be paid to the Retirement System on or before the later of (i) ninety days after the Effective Date, or (ii) fifty days following the date on which the Final Payment Notice is mailed to the individual.

If payment is not timely received, the monthly pension benefit of an individual who elects the Cash Repayment Option shall be reduced as provided in paragraph (2) or (3).

The Cash Repayment Option shall be limited to an aggregate amount of \$30 million (the "Cash Option Cap"). In the event the Retirement System receives timely and properly completed election forms representing an aggregate recovery amount in excess of the Cash Option Cap, then each individual who made a timely election of the Cash Repayment Option shall be permitted to repay an amount equal to his pro rata share of the Cash Option Cap. Any Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount that is not repaid under the Cash Repayment Option shall be repaid as provided in paragraph (2) or (3).

- (5) *Definition of Actual Return.* "Actual Return" means the actual net return percentage on the Retirement System's invested assets for each Fiscal Year during the ASF Recalculation Period; provided, however, that for any such Fiscal Year the net return shall not be greater than 7.9% nor less than 0%.
- (6) *Limitation on recoupment*. Notwithstanding anything in this Section G-2 to the contrary:
  - a. a Member's ASF account value after recoupment of the Member's Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount will never be less than the contributions made to the ASF by such Member and will reflect all interest credited by the Board to the Member's ASF account for the Fiscal Years ending prior to July 1, 2002; and
  - b. in no event shall the amount recovered from a Member described in Section G-2(2) (or G-2(3), with respect to amounts that may not be recovered pursuant to Section G-2(1)) exceed the Member's Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amount plus interest on such amount at a rate of 6.75%. Upon the Member's repayment of such amount in full, the Member's monthly pension benefit in effect immediately prior to adjustment as provided in Section G-2(2) (adjustment as provided in Section G-1), increased as provided in Section G-4, if applicable, shall be fully restored.
- (7) Cap on benefit reductions for certain retirees. With respect to any retiree or surviving beneficiary receiving monthly pension benefits from the Retirement System as of June 30, 2014, the Adjusted Accrued Benefit of such retiree or surviving beneficiary, as further reduced to take into account any ASF Recoupment under Section G-2, shall not be less than 80% of the monthly pension benefit being paid to such retiree or surviving beneficiary as of the date immediately preceding the Effective Date.

Annuity Savings Fund Excess Amounts of Members described in paragraphs (1) and (3) shall be transferred from the Annuity Savings Fund to the Pension Accumulation Fund and shall be used to pay pensions and other benefits to Members as provided in Component II of the Combined Plan.

# Sec. G-3. Income Stabilization Benefits

- (1) The provisions of this Section G-3 shall become effective only if each of the Conditions Precedent (as that term is defined in the State Contribution Agreement) have been met to the satisfaction of the Authority and the State Treasurer (each as defined in the State Contribution Agreement), unless any one or more of such conditions are waived in a writing executed by the Authority and the State Treasurer.
- (2) Beginning not later than 120 days after the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, Component II of the Combined Plan shall pay, in accordance with

- 106 -

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 45 of

this Section G-3, an annual supplemental pension income stabilization benefit ("Income Stabilization Benefit") to each Eligible Pensioner (as defined in Section G-3(5)) equal to the lesser of either (i) the amount needed to restore an Eligible Pensioner's reduced annual pension benefit to 100% of the amount of the annual pension benefit that the Eligible Pensioner received from the Retirement System in 2013; or (ii) the amount needed to bring the total annual 2013 household income of the Eligible Pensioner up to 130% of the Federal Poverty Level for 2013. The Income Stabilization Benefit as determined under this Section G-3(2) will not increase after the date on which the Income Stabilization Benefit is determined. The Income Stabilization Benefit payable to an Eligible Pensioner will terminate immediately at such time as the Eligible Pensioner ceases to qualify as an Eligible Pensioner.

- (3) To the extent an Eligible Pensioner's Estimated Adjusted Annual Household Income (as defined in this Section G-3) in any calendar year after the first year that the Eligible Pensioner receives a benefit under this Section G-3 is less than 105% of the Federal Poverty Level in that year, the Eligible Pensioner will receive an additional "Income Stabilization Benefit Plus" benefit commencing as of the next following July 1.
  - a. The Income Stabilization Benefit Plus benefit for a calendar year will be equal to the lesser of either (i) the amount needed to restore 100% of the Eligible Pensioner's pension benefit, as increased by any Pension Improvement Factor (Escalator), under Component II of the Combined Plan; or (ii) the amount needed to bring the Eligible Pensioner's Estimated Adjusted Annual Household Income in that calendar year up to 105% of the Federal Poverty Level in that year.
  - b. An Eligible Pensioner's "Estimated Adjusted Annual Household Income" for any year will be the sum of (i) the Eligible Pensioner's 2013 total household income (per his or her (or in the case of a minor child, his or her legal guardian's) 2013 income tax return or equivalent documentation), less the pension benefit paid to the Eligible Pensioner from the Retirement System in 2013, as adjusted for inflation or Social Security COLA increases; (ii) the Adjusted Accrued Benefit that is payable to the Eligible Pensioner for that year as determined under Section G-1, (iii) any pension restoration payment to the Eligible Pensioner as determined under Section G-4; and (iv) the Eligible Pensioner's Income Stabilization Benefit.
- (4) A separate recordkeeping fund called the "Income Stabilization Fund" shall be established by the Board for the sole purpose of paying the Income Stabilization Benefits and Income Stabilization Benefits Plus to Eligible Pensioners. Any funds received by the Retirement System that is designated by the City as UTGO Bond Tax Proceeds or a contribution to the Income Stabilization Fund shall be credited by the Board to the Income Stabilization Fund. The assets credited to the Income Stabilization Fund will be invested on a commingled basis with assets of

- 107 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 46 of 58 the Retirement System and will be credited with a pro-rata portion of the earnings and losses of the Retirement System. Amounts credited to the Income Stabilization Fund may not be used for any purpose other than the payment of Income Stabilization Benefits and Income Stabilization Benefit Plus benefits to Eligible Pensioners, except as expressly provided in Section G-3 (7).

- (5) For purposes of this Section G-3, an "Eligible Pensioner" is a retiree or surviving Spouse who is at least 60 years of Age or a minor child receiving survivor benefits, each as of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, whose benefit will be reduced as provided in Section G-1, and who is eligible to receive Income Stabilization Benefits because (i) such individual is receiving monthly pension benefits from the Retirement System as of the effective date of the Plan of Adjustment, and (ii) such individual has a total annual household income equal to or less than 140% of the federal poverty level in 2013 (per his or her (or in the case of a minor child, his or her legal guardian's) 2013 income tax return or equivalent documentation).
  - a. An eligible individual must apply for an Income Stabilization Benefit in accordance with procedures established by the Authority and provide such substantiation of the individual's aggregate annual household income as is required by the State in its sole discretion.
  - b. The initial determination of Eligible Pensioners, and amount of the Income Stabilization Benefit payable to each Eligible Pensioner shall be made by the State in its sole discretion. The State shall transmit the list of Eligible Pensioners to the Investment Committee and the Board. The Board, with the assistance of the Investment Committee, shall be responsible for administering the Income Stabilization Fund and annually certifying to the State Treasurer that it has administered the requirements for eligibility and payment of benefits with respect to Eligible Pensioners in accordance with the terms of the State Contribution Agreement.
  - c. After the initial determination of Eligible Pensioners is made, no new individuals will be eligible to receive an Income Stabilization Benefit or an Income Stabilization Benefits Plus benefit at any time in the future.
  - d. An Eligible Pensioner will cease to be an Eligible Pensioner as of the earlier of (i) the Eligible Pensioner's death, or (ii) with respect to any minor child receiving survivor benefits, the date the minor child reaches the Age of 18 years.
- (6) For purposes of this Section G-3, the "Federal Poverty Level" means the poverty guidelines published each year in the Federal Register by the United States Department of Health and Human Resources.
- (7) In the event that in 2022 (provided that the State has not issued a Certificate of Default (as defined in the State Contribution Agreement) with respect to the

Retirement System at any time prior to 2022), it is the opinion of at least 75% of the independent members of the Investment Committee that the assets of the Income Stabilization Fund exceed the Income Stabilization Benefits and Income Stabilization Benefits Plus benefits anticipated to be made to Eligible Pensioners by the Retirement System in the future ("Excess Assets"), the Investment Committee may, in its sole discretion, recommend to the Board that all or a portion of the Excess Assets, in an amount not to exceed \$35 million, be used to fund the Adjusted Accrued Benefits or Adjusted Deferred Accrued Benefits, as applicable, payable by the Retirement System. The Investment Committee shall have the right to engage professional advisers to assist in making this determination and such expenses shall be paid by the Retirement System.

(8) In the event that any funds remain in the Income Stabilization Fund on the date upon which there are no Eligible Pensioners under the Retirement System, such funds shall be used to fund the Adjusted Accrued Benefits or Adjusted Deferred Accrued Benefits, as applicable, payable by the Retirement System.

# Sec. G-4. Restoration of Pension Benefits

The following rules shall govern how accrued pensions, including Pension Improvement Factor ("COLA") benefits, that are reduced as part of the Plan of Adjustment, shall be restored during the thirty year period following the confirmation order issued by the Bankruptcy court in *In Re. City of Detroit, Michigan*, Case No. 13-53846. The pension restoration process shall be supervised, and restoration decisions undertaken by the Investment Committee and in accordance with the pension governance provisions set forth in the State Contribution Agreement and exhibits thereto. The pension restoration program shall be deemed a part of this Component II, but in the event of any conflict between the language set forth herein and the pension restoration agreement attached to and made a part of the Plan of Adjustment ("Pension Restoration Agreement"), the terms of the Pension Restoration Agreement will govern.

(1) Waterfall Classes.

There will be three Waterfall Classes:

- a. Waterfall Class 1 Retirees, in retirement benefit pay status as of June 30, 2014, and their surviving Spouses and beneficiaries.
- b. Waterfall Class 2 Retirees, who entered into retirement benefit pay status after June 30, 2014, and their surviving Spouses and beneficiaries, and who are in pay status as of the end of the Fiscal Year prior to the year in which the restoration decision is made.
- c. Waterfall Class 3 All other Members who as of June 30, 2014 are not in retirement benefit pay status.

#### (2) Restoration of Benefits Through June 30, 2023.

- Each year in conjunction with the annual actuarial valuation report, the a. Plan Actuary will project the funded ratio of the Retirement System as of 2023 based upon the market value of plan assets relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities (the "Funded Level"). This projection will be further based upon a 6.75% assumed rate of investment return which is net of expenses (investment and administrative), future Employer contributions as set forth in the Plan of Adjustment (subject to the conditions in the Plan of Adjustment) and such other actuarial assumptions as utilized by the Plan Actuary. For purposes of restoration of benefits through June 30, 2023, the Funding Target will be a 70% funded ratio, the Restoration Target will be a 75% funded ratio, and the Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger will be a 71% funded ratio, all projected to June 30, 2023. For purposes of calculating the funded ratio, the assets in the Restoration Reserve Account will be excluded. Each year, if the Actuary projects that the projected Funded Level as of June 30, 2023 (excluding Restoration Reserve Account assets to avoid double counting) exceeds the Restoration Target (i.e., exceeds 75%), a credit of assets for bookkeeping purposes will be made into a new notional "Restoration Reserve Account". The notional credit will be in an amount equal to the excess of assets above the amount projected to be needed to satisfy the Restoration Target. Once the Restoration Reserve Account is established, each year thereafter, Restoration Reserve Account assets will be credited with interest in an amount equal to the net return on Retirement System investments, but capped at the actuarially assumed rate of investment return (i.e., 6.75% for the period through June 30, 2023). In the event of net losses, the credited asset value of the Restoration Reserve Account will be diminished to reflect such losses and any required transfer to the Pension Reserve Fund.
- b. To the extent that the City's (including DWSD or a successor authority) actual contributions in any of the Fiscal Years 2015 through 2023 are less than the contributions provided for in the Plan of Adjustment, such difference and any investment earnings thereon shall be notionally allocated to the Pension Reserve Fund.
- c. Actual restoration payments and credits will work as follows: each year in conjunction with preparation of the annual actuarial valuation report and following establishment of the Restoration Reserve Account, the Plan Actuary will determine whether there are sufficient funds in such account to restore a portion of the 4.5% across the board pension cuts in one or more minimum incremental amounts equal to ½% of the monthly benefit for each member of Waterfall Class 1 (i.e. reducing the initial across the board cut to 4.0%). This restoration only occurs if the funding level in the Restoration Reserve Account can fund 100% of each incremental increase over the remaining actuarially projected lives of the eligible recipients in

- 110 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 49 of 58

Waterfall Class 1. If the Restoration Reserve Account satisfies the required funding level, then in the next Fiscal Year, actual restoration payments will be made to Waterfall Class 1 members in amounts equal to the benefit associated with each increment that have been fully funded in the Restoration Reserve Account. Once Waterfall Class 1 has sufficient assets in the Restoration Reserve Account to fully fund and restore the 4.5% cut in their monthly benefits, and to the extent that additional assets in the Restoration Reserve Account remain and will fully fund at least 1/2% of the monthly benefit for each member of Waterfall Class 2 over their remaining actuarially projected lives, then Waterfall Class 2 members will receive pension restoration in minimum 1/2% benefit increments until an amount equal to the 4.5% cuts in their monthly benefits has been fully funded. At that juncture, and to the extent that additional assets in the Restoration Reserve Account remain and will fund at least a minimum 1/2% of the monthly benefit of each member in Waterfall Class 3 over their remaining actuarially projected lives, then each such member of Waterfall Class 3 shall receive a credit granting them a right upon retirement to receive pension restoration equal to the benefit increments that are fully funded. Restoration payments will be calculated and paid on a prospective basis only.

- d. After the full 4.5% across the board pension cuts are restored for all three Waterfall Classes, and to the extent there are additional assets in the Restoration Reserve Account to fully fund COLA benefits over the actuarially-projected lives of the eligible recipient Waterfall Class, such assets will be used to fully fund and restore a portion of the COLA values that were eliminated as part of the Plan of Adjustment. COLA will be restored in minimum 10% COLA value increments up to 50% of the future COLA values for each member of Waterfall Class 1 (i.e., a 50% future COLA value will constitute a 1.25% simple COLA), then up to 50% of the future COLA values for each member of Waterfall Class 2, and then up to 50% of the future COLA values for each member of Waterfall Class 3 until all members of the three Waterfall Classes have had 50% of the value of their COLAs fully funded and restored. After 50% of the future values of COLA have been fully funded and restored, and to the extent there are additional assets in the Restoration Reserve Account for each of the three Waterfall Classes, then a second 50% COLA restoration will be made, first to members of Waterfall Class 1, then Waterfall Class 2, and then Waterfall Class 3. Classes will be restored in minimum 10% COLA value increments. Restoration payments will be calculated and paid on a prospective basis only.
- e. If the amounts in the Restoration Reserve Account are sufficient to fullyfund the 4.5% across the board pension cuts for all three Waterfall Classes and 100% COLA restoration for all three Waterfall Classes, then any additional assets in the Restoration Reserve Account shall be used to increase the frozen accrued benefits of active and other Members whose

13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 50 of 58

Annuity Savings Fund accounts were diminished as part of the Annuity Savings Fund Recoupment (described in Section G-2), such that they receive treatment equal to the 20%/20% ceiling applied to retirees in pay status under the Plan of Adjustment. If after such pension restoration there are additional assets in the Restoration Reserve Account to fully fund benefit increments over their remaining actuarially projected lives, Waterfall Class 1 members will receive pension restoration in ½% benefit increments of the reductions to their monthly pension due to Annuity Savings Fund Recoupment, and once such pension benefits are restored, Waterfall Class 2 members will receive pension restoration in ½% benefit increments in connection with the reductions to their monthly pensions due to Annuity Savings Fund Recoupment. Restoration payments will be calculated and paid on a prospective basis only

- f. Once restoration payments to applicable retirees and restoration credits to active employees begin, as long as the Restoration Reserve Account continues to have assets sufficient to fund 100% of an incremental pension restoration amount for such Waterfall Class members for their actuarially projected lives, such restoration payments and credits will continue; provided, however, that in the event the Restoration Reserve Account, after having sufficient assets to fund 100% of two or more increments (over their actuarially projected lives), falls below 100% for the second or greater increment, the annual amounts to pay such second or other additional increment can continue until the Restoration Reserve Account lacks any assets to fund it. For example, assume a  $\frac{1}{2}$ % increment in Waterfall Class 1 requires \$10 million in assets to be fully funded for the Waterfall Class members' actuarially projected lives, and that based on Fiscal Year 2018 results the Restoration Reserve Account has assets of \$22 million so as to fund two increments of restoration in Fiscal Year 2019, (i.e., a 1% pension increase). Assume further that in the following Fiscal Year the Restoration Reserve Account drops in value to \$17 million; in such event two increments could still be paid, and the second increment of 1/2% would cease being paid only if the value of assets in the Restoration Reserve Account dropped to or below \$10 million (in the event they dropped below \$10 million, the first increment also would cease being paid). For purposes of restoration reduction, restoration increments will be taken away in reverse order in which they were granted (i.e. last in, first out).
- g. In the event the Funded Level (not including the assets in the Restoration Reserve Account) falls below 71% (hereinafter, "Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger"), then, until such time as the projected Funded Level in 2023 is 71% or above, further interest credits to the notional Restoration Reserve Account will cease notwithstanding the actual net investment returns for the Retirement System for the Fiscal Year in question. Furthermore, if the Funded Level projected to 2023 falls below the Funding Target (i.e., 70%) then restoration payments and credits in the

- 112 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 51 of 58 following year will be modified in the following manner: (1) funds previously credited to the Restoration Reserve Account will be notionally transferred and credited to the Pension Reserve Account in sufficient amounts to restore the projected Funded Level in 2023 to 70%; (2) following such transfer, the remaining assets in the Restoration Reserve Account shall be applied to make restoration payments in accordance with and pursuant to the same mechanism described in paragraph f.

- h. Following receipt of the actuarial reports for 2019, and in the event that the projected Funded Level as of 2023 is less than 71%, the Plan Actuary shall revisit the restoration calculations that it made during each of the prior four (4) years. It shall recalculate each such prior year's Funded Level projection, this time by assuming the lesser of (i) \$4.5 million in annual administrative expenses until 2023, or (ii) an amount of annual administrative expenses until 2023 equal to the average annual normal course administrative expenses in the prior four (4) years applicable to Component II, in addition to a net 6.75% annual investment return. If such retrospective recalculation indicates that fewer amounts would have transferred to the Restoration Reserve Account than actually were transferred during such look back period, then the Restoration Reserve Account shall be debited by the lesser of (i) this difference (plus interest at a rate equal to the rate that was credited to the Restoration Reserve Account during the look-back period) or (ii) the dollars that were actually paid out in restoration payments during such look-back period (plus interest at a rate equal to the rate that was credited to the Restoration Reserve Account during the look-back period); or (iii) the amount required to increase the projected 2023 Funded Level to 71%.
- (3) Restoration of Benefits from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2033.
  - a. During this period, the Funding Target, the Restoration Target, the Permanent Restoration Targets and the Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger shall be as set forth below:

2023 Funded Level	2033 Funding Target/Restoration Target
75%	75%/78%
74%	74%/77%
73%	73%/76%
72%	72%/75%
71%	71%/74%
70%	70%/73%
69% or lower	the % = to 2023 Funded Level %/73%

2033 Permanent Restoration Target 75%, or if greater, 1% more than 2033 Restoration Target

2033 Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger 1% more than the projected Funding Target for all time periods

- 113 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 52 of 58

The same rules for variable restoration payments and credits that applied during the period ending June 30, 2023 shall apply during the period ending June 30, 2033 (including ceasing interest credits in the event of a Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger, and making Restoration Reserve Account asset transfers to the Pension Reserve Fund in the event the 2033 Funded Level falls below the 2033 Funding Target), except as follows. For purposes of determining whether the 2033 Restoration Target has been satisfied, the Plan Actuary shall project investment returns through June 30, 2033 at the then current investment return assumption which is assumed to be net of expenses (administrative and investment) and the applicable actuarial assumptions as utilized in the annual actuarial valuation. Further, the Plan Actuary shall assume, merely for purposes of determining whether the Restoration Target is satisfied, that the annual City contribution amount shall be the annual amount necessary to fund the Retirement System based upon an amortization of the actual 2023 UAAL at market value over 30 years (hereinafter, the "2023 UAAL Amortization") and in such manner that the resulting annual contribution stream would achieve the Funding Target set forth above as of 2033. (Such projected, hypothetical contributions shall be for purposes only of making restoration determinations, and shall not necessarily be the actual contributions made or required to be made by the City or recommended during such period; all of which shall be determined independent of the restoration calculation process.). For purposes of calculating the funded ratio, the assets in the Restoration Reserve Account will be excluded.

- To the extent that the City's actual contributions to the Retirement System b. in any of the Fiscal Years 2024 (the year ending June 30, 2024) through 2033 are greater than the projected annual contribution under the 2023 UAAL Amortization, such amounts, and any investment earnings thereon, shall be notionally credited to a new bookkeeping account in the Retirement System called the Extra Contribution Account. In determining pension restoration during the period from Fiscal Year 2024 through 2033, none of the amounts in the Extra Contribution Account shall be considered for purposes of determining the projected funded level for the Restoration Target or Permanent Restoration Targets. To the extent that the City's (including for this purpose DWSD or a successor authority) actual contributions in any of the Fiscal Years 2024 through 2033 are less than the projected annual contribution under the 2023 UAAL Amortization, such difference and any investment earnings thereon shall be notionally allocated to the Pension Reserve Fund.
- c. Each year, in addition to the credit of assets that exceed the amount necessary to satisfy the Restoration Target, existing Restoration Account assets will be credited with interest equal to the net return on Retirement System investments, but capped at the then investment return assumption. In the event of net losses, the credited asset value of the Restoration Reserve Account will be diminished to reflect such losses.

- 114 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 53 of 58

- d. In connection with preparation of the actuarial report for Fiscal Year 2028, the Plan Actuary will determine whether the Retirement System has satisfied the applicable Permanent Restoration Target, which shall be 75%. Transfers from the Restoration Reserve Account for credit to the Pension Reserve Fund may be made in such amounts as are necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target. If following such transfers the Funded Level as of June 30, 2028 has satisfied the Permanent Restoration Target (75%), then the amounts in the Restoration Reserve Account, if any (which will necessarily represent excess not necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target), and which fully fund one or more increments of restoration payments for one or more Waterfall Classes over such Waterfall Class members' actuarially projected lives, shall be transferred from the Restoration Reserve Account and credited to the Pension Reserve Account and the applicable incremental payments shall be permanently restored for the applicable Waterfall Class and shall no longer be variable from year to year. Variable restoration payments will continue to be paid or credited during the period from July 1, 2028 through June 30, 2033 based on the applicable Restoration Target set forth in paragraph a and otherwise in accordance with this Section G-4, notwithstanding whether the Restoration Target during this period is less than the Permanent Restoration Target as of June 30, 2028 of 75%.
- In connection with preparation of the annual actuarial valuation report for e. Fiscal Year 2033, the Plan Actuary will determine whether the Retirement System has satisfied the Permanent Restoration Target for 2033, as set forth in paragraph a. Transfers from the Restoration Reserve Account for credit to the Pension Reserve Account may be made in such amounts as are necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target. If following such transfers the Funded Level as of June 30, 2033 has satisfied the applicable Permanent Restoration Target, then the amounts in the Restoration Reserve Account if any (which will necessarily represent excess not necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target), and which fully fund one or more increments of restoration payments for one or more Waterfall Classes over such Waterfall Class members' actuarially projected lives, shall be transferred from the Restoration Reserve Account and credited to the Pension Reserve Account and the applicable incremental payments shall be permanently restored for the applicable Waterfall Class and shall no longer be variable from year to year.
- f. Following receipt of the actuarial reports for 2028, and in the event that the projected Funded Level of the Retirement System as of 2033 is less than 71%, the Plan Actuary shall revisit the restoration calculations that it made during each of the prior four (4) years. It shall recalculate each such prior year's Funded Level projection, this time by assuming the lesser of (i) \$4.5 million in annual administrative expenses until 2033, or (ii) an amount of annual normal course administrative expenses until 2033 equal to the average annual administrative expenses in the prior four (4) years

-115 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 54 of applicable to Component II, in addition to a net 6.75% annual investment return. If such retrospective recalculation indicates that fewer amounts would have transferred to the Restoration Reserve Account than actually were transferred during such look back period, then the Restoration Reserve Account shall be debited by the lesser of (i) this difference (plus interest at a rate equal to the rate that was credited to the Restoration Reserve Account during the look-back period) or (ii) the dollars that were actually paid out in restoration payments during such look-back period (plus interest at a rate equal to the rate that was credited to the Restoration Reserve Account during the look-back period); or (iii) the amount required to increase the projected 2033 Funded Level to 71%.

- (4) Restoration of Benefits from July 1, 2033 to June 30, 2043.
  - a. During this period, the Funding Target, the Restoration Target, the Permanent Restoration Target and the Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger shall be as set forth below:

2043 Funding Target/Restoration Target
75%/78%
74%/77%
73%/76%
72%/75%
71%/74%
70%/73%
the % = to 2023 Funded Level %/73%

2043 Permanent Restoration Target 75%, or if greater, 1% more than 2043 Restoration Target

2043 Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger 1% more than the projected Funding Target for all time periods

The same rules for restoration that applied during the period ending June 30, 2033 shall otherwise apply (including ceasing interest credits in the event of a Restoration Reserve Suspension Trigger, and making Restoration Account asset transfers to the Pension Reserve Fund in the event the 2043 Funded Level falls below the 2043 Funding Target). For example, for purposes of determining whether the 2043 Restoration Target has been satisfied, the Plan Actuary shall project annual contributions using the same 2023 UAAL Amortization. For purposes of calculating the funded ratio, the assets in the Restoration Reserve Account will be excluded, and no Extra Contribution Account assets shall be included for purposes of determining whether the Funded Level meets the Restoration Target or Permanent Restoration Target, including any additions to such account after 2033.

b. In connection with preparation of the annual actuarial valuation report for Fiscal Year 2043, the Plan Actuary will determine whether the Retirement System has satisfied the applicable Permanent Restoration Target, as set

- 116 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 55 of 58 forth in paragraph a. Transfers from the Restoration Reserve Account for credit to the Pension Reserve Account may be made in such amounts as are necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target. If following such transfers the Funded Level as of June 30, 2043 is equal to or greater than the applicable Permanent Restoration Target, then the amounts in the Restoration Reserve Account if any (which will necessarily represent excess not necessary to satisfy the Permanent Restoration Target), shall be transferred from the Restoration Reserve Account and credited to the Pension Reserve Account and the applicable payments for the applicable Waterfall Class shall be permanently restored and shall no longer be variable.

#### (5) Modification of the Pension Restoration Program.

If any time after July 1, 2026, the Investment Committee (by vote of 5 of its 7 members), or the Board of Trustees (by a greater than 66% vote) determines that a change in relevant circumstances has occurred, or there was a mutual mistake of fact in developing the Pension Restoration Agreement, such that the continued operation of the Pension Restoration Agreement without amendment will: (a) materially harm the long-term economic interests of the City, or Retirement System; (b) materially impair the City's ability to fully fund over a reasonable period the then existing frozen benefit liabilities; or (c) materially hinder the restoration program, if as of that juncture (and for purposes of applying this subsection 5) annual funding levels (excluding the Extra Contribution Account) had materially exceeded the applicable Restoration Targets for a substantial period yet without any material actual restoration of benefits as contemplated herein having been made, the Investment Committee or the Board, as the case may be, shall provide written notice to the other entity of such a determination and of the need to amend the Pension Restoration Agreement and this Section G-4 (it being understood that the post-Chapter 9, 40-year amortization period (to 2053) to fully fund the Retirement System's frozen liabilities is, unless the relevant facts demonstrate otherwise, presumptively reasonable). The Investment Committee and the Board shall then meet to negotiate amendments to the Pension Restoration Agreement that address the identified risk of harm or impairment, but which also considers the Pension Restoration Agreement's objective of providing pension restoration. Such negotiations shall take into account reasonable actions the City has pursued or could pursue to mitigate such harm or impairment. Any such amendments shall require the approval of a majority vote of the combined members of the Investment Committee and Board (persons who sit on both the Board and Investment Committee shall have one vote). Such parties shall consult with the Mayor, City Council and the Governor of the State of Michigan ("Governor") in connection with such negotiation.

If the Board, acting through a majority, and the Investment Committee, acting through a majority, cannot agree to such amendments with the 90-day period following the provision of such notice by the determining party, then the Board and Investment Committee shall proceed to mediation upon demand from either

- 117 -13-53846-tjt Doc 13933-4 Filed 02/14/25 Entered 02/14/25 19:25:12 Page 56 of the Board or the Investment Committee. In this regard, within 30-days following expiration of the 90-day period the Board and the Investment Committee shall each select a mediator from the list of approved mediators for the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan. The two selected mediators shall appoint a third neutral mediator from the approved list. Each party shall furnish a written statement to the mediators within 30 days of selection of the neutral mediator. Representatives of the Mayor and the Governor shall be consulted in connection with such mediations. If following a 90-day mediation period following submission of the written statements the matter is not settled, then either the Investment Committee or the Board can file an action in the United Stated District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan asking it to declare, inter alia, whether or in what manner to amend the Pension Restoration Agreement and this Section G-4.

# ARTICLE H. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS OF THE GENERAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM

#### Sec. H-1. Enforcement; Civil Action.

A civil action for relief against any act or practice which violates the state law, the 1997 Detroit City Charter, 1984 Detroit City Code or the terms of this Plan, may be brought by:

- (1) A Plan participant who is or may become eligible to receive benefit;
- (2) A beneficiary who is or may become eligible to receive a benefit;
- (3) A Plan fiduciary, including a Trustee;
- (4) The Finance Director, on behalf of the City as Plan sponsor.

#### Sec. H-2. Limitation of Other Statutes.

No other provision of law, charter, or ordinance, which provides pensions or retirement benefits wholly or partly at the City expense, exclusive of federal Social Security old-Age and survivors' insurance benefits for City employees, their surviving Spouses and other dependents, shall apply to Members, retirees or beneficiaries of the Retirement System, their surviving Spouses or other dependents.

CLI-202267933v1 Last Edited: 12/4/14

# EXHIBIT 6G

43248841.6/022765.00213



November 21, 2024

Mr. David Cetlinski, Executive Director General Retirement System of the City of Detroit Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit One Detroit Center 500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 3000 Detroit, Michigan 48226

# Re: \$10 Million One-Time Supplemental Checks

Dear Mr. Cetlinski:

Per your request, this letter discusses the financial impact of a proposal for the City to provide \$10 million in supplemental checks to the General Retirement System (GRS) and the Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) Component II (Legacy) retirees/beneficiaries.

Our understanding is that the City intends to remit a combined \$10 million to the GRS and the PFRS so that those Systems can then pay their retirees/beneficiaries a combined \$10 million. The Systems would essentially be acting as a pass-through for the City (the City first gives the Systems the \$10 million and the Systems then gives the retirees/beneficiaries the \$10 million). The \$10 million remitted to the Systems by the City would be in addition to the Actuarially Determined Employer Contributions made by the City during the fiscal year for the funding of the Systems. It is further our understanding that once the \$10 million is paid to the retirees/beneficiaries, the benefits paid to such retirees/beneficiaries will revert back to what was being paid before the additional payment. The payment will be treated as an extra one-time payment, similar to a 13<sup>th</sup> check.

Based on the conditions described above, we believe the financial impact to the Systems will be de-minimis.

If you would like our help in determining an algorithm for how the extra payments will be distributed to retirees/beneficiaries (i.e., based on years retired and/or years of service), please let us know.

Mr. David Cetlinski General Retirement System of the City of Detroit Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit November 21, 2024 Page 2

# **Additional Comments:**

# Comment 1:

A determination of administrative costs to implement the proposed payments is outside of our (actuarial) area of expertise. It was assumed there would be no additional administrative costs incurred by the Retirement Systems.

# Comment 2:

We have not been informed of how long the Systems intend to hold the \$10 million before paying the retirees/beneficiaries. If the \$10 million received by the Systems is invested before payment to the retirees/beneficiaries occurs, then the Systems would be subjecting themselves to potential investment risks/rewards.

# Comment 3:

Under the accounting principles set by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), the pension liability reported in the financial statements should include projected substantively automatic ad-hoc benefit changes. Based on our professional judgement, at this time we do not believe that this one-time payment necessitates a projection of future similar payments under GASB financial reporting. However, we note that a continuing pattern of supplemental payments may necessitate a projection of future similar payments under GASB financial reporting.

#### Comment 4:

If the actual implementation of payments differs from what is described, results could be different than presented above.

# Comment 5:

We have not evaluated whether or not the Plan of Adjustment (POA) would be operative at this time and/or would allow for implementation of the payments.

#### Comment 6:

If you have reason to believe that the information provided in this report is inaccurate, or is in any way incomplete, or if you need further information in order to make an informed decision on the subject matter of this report, please contact the authors of this report prior to making such decision.

#### Comment 7:

No statement in this report is intended to be interpreted as a recommendation in favor of the proposed payment option, or in opposition to it.

# Comment 8:

This report is intended to describe the financial effect of the proposed extra payments on the Retirement Systems. Except as otherwise noted, potential effects on other benefit plans were not considered.



Mr. David Cetlinski General Retirement System of the City of Detroit Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit November 21, 2024 Page 3

This information should not be relied on for any purpose other than the purposes described herein. Determinations of results, for purposes other than those identified above, may be significantly different.

The signing actuaries are independent of the plan sponsor.

Please contact us if you have any questions or need anything further.

Sincerely, Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Company

Judice A. Fernons

Judith A. Kermans, EA, FCA, MAAA

Jon L. Janke James R. Sparks, ASA, FCA, MAAA

JAK/JRS:dj

cc: Kelly Tapper, City of Detroit Retirement Systems Gail Oxendine, City of Detroit Retirement Systems

